

Thèse de doctorat présentée à l'École nationale d'administration publique dans le cadre du programme de doctorat en administration publique pour l'obtention du grade de Philosophiæ Doctor (Ph. D.)

Thèse intitulée Technical criteria for the procurement of architectural services in Brazil

> Présentée par Leonardo Lima e Sá

> > Août, 2021

© Leonardo Sá, 2021

La thèse intitulée

Technical criteria for the procurement of architectural services in Brazil

Présentée par

Leonardo Lima e Sá

Est évaluée par les membres du jury de thèse suivants :

Nicholas Jobidon, professeur adjoint et président César Garzon, professeur agrégé et directeur de thèse Pierre Cliche, professeur associé et évaluateur François Dufaux, professeur agrégé, Université Laval et évaluateur externe Alejandro Romero-Torres, professeur agrégé, Université du Québec à Montréal et évaluateur externe "It's all very much more complicated than you would imagine at first sight." Wittgenstein

Remerciements

Je remercie le professeur César Garzon, mon directeur, ainsi que les membres du jury, les professeurs Nicholas Jobidon, Pierre Cliche, François Dufaux et Alejandro Romero-Torres.

Je remercie Banco Central do Brasil pour la bourse offerte pour ce doctorat.

Je remercie aussi Anézia Gusmão Lima, Élodie Marion, Francisco Landim, Gabriela Tenório, Giselle Barnache, Hugo Séguin, Jean-Louis Denis, Jocelyn Caron, Joyce Chen, Jussara Zottmann, Karine Lamontagne, Louis Demers, Marie-Claude Prémont, Marie Dumollard, Michael Lipsky, Naïma Bentayeb, Nancy Bouchard, Newma Gusmão Lima, Nicholas Bautista-Beauchesne, Nina Vohnsen, Paulo José Coelho, Pedro Heuss, Philippe Dumas et Susan Usher. Vous avez tous contribué, directe ou indirectement, à cette thèse.

Abstract

Public procurement accounts for up to 15% of the world's gross domestic product. Because of this sheer volume of spending, the OECD recommends that clear guidelines be developed to handle procurement procedures, aiming to foster efficiency, prevent corruption and establish trust. Most particularly, the OECD identifies a need for the development of sound technical criteria for the awarding process in public contracts. This need is even more important for public infrastructure, for which governments spend, annually, more than ten trillion US dollars. It is not clear, though, what are sound technical criteria.

To date, research on technical criteria for public infrastructure procurement has been more than scarce, with only a handful of articles having been written on the subject. Scholars have overlooked the confusion surrounding how to incorporate technical criteria into procurement procedures, confusion that may generate delays, inefficient public expenditure, and mediocre quality of work. In Brazil only, reports from the Federal Audit Office found irregularities in more than 75% of procurement procedures for construction, a majority of those being linked to the poor quality of technical documentation given to contractors working on public infrastructure. Moreover, audits conducted by the Brazilian federal government on delayed infrastructure works showed that the low quality of technical documentation was the root cause of those delays in 47% of the cases.

This research looks at an often-disregarded phase in the procurement process for public infrastructure, namely the provision of architectural services that precedes construction work itself. It identifies the discretion enjoyed by procurement officials in the interpretation of the country's confusing regulatory framework pertaining to technical criteria as an important factor leading to the high level of irregularities and delays in infrastructure work.

The study of public procurement is interdisciplinary by nature. Borrowing concepts from the literature on public procurement, administrative law and architecture, this research uses street-level bureaucracy theory, and especially the concept of administrative discretion, as a framework for assessing everyday practices related to the choice of technical criteria for architectural services in Brazil's public service.

This is a descriptive study in which documentary research was employed for collecting data, whilst content analysis and pattern coding were employed for analyzing the data. Results provide a detailed portrait of current practices, organized around technical criteria and the interrelated concepts of services procured and solicitation methods. They confirm that misuse of existing regulations on technical criteria is widespread in the procurement of architectural services in Brazil, which could explain the large numbers of irregularities, cost-overruns and delays.

Grounded in practice, this research also (1) confirms the usefulness of street-level bureaucracy theory as a framework applicable to other types of public officials; (2) introduces a method for analyzing and collecting data on technical criteria for architectural services and other types of services; and (3) makes recommendations for policy makers and practicians regarding technical criteria. Furthermore, the portrait of current practices drawn here enables future comparative studies concerning different jurisdictions or different services.

Keywords: public procurement, street-level bureaucracy, administrative law, architecture, discretion, *Comprasnet*

Résumé

La valeur des contrats publics compte pour près de 15% du PIB mondial. En raison de l'ampleur de ces dépenses, l'OCDE recommande que soient développées des balises claires afin de guider les processus d'appels d'offres publics de manière à améliorer l'efficience des investissements publics, combattre la corruption et établir la confiance des parties prenantes. Plus particulièrement, l'OCDE identifie le besoin d'établir des critères techniques rigoureux applicables tout au long du processus d'attribution des contrats publics. Ceci est d'autant plus pertinent en matière d'infrastructures, pour lesquelles les gouvernements dépensent, annuellement, plus de 10 000 milliards de dollars américains.

Jusqu'à présent, la recherche sur ce que pourraient constituer de tels « critères techniques rigoureux » pour les contrats publics d'infrastructures s'est avérée plus que discrète, seulement un petit nombre d'articles ayant été publiés sur la question. Peu de chercheurs se sont intéressés à la difficile question de l'intégration des critères techniques, qui est liée aux délais dans la livraison des projets, à une inefficience dans les investissements publics et à des projets de qualité médiocre. Au Brésil, des analyses du Bureau des enquêtes du gouvernement fédéral révèlent des irrégularités dans plus de 75% des procédures d'appels d'offres pour les projets de construction, une majorité de celles-ci étant attribuables à la faible qualité des documents techniques reçus par les entrepreneurs responsables de la construction des ouvrages. De plus, un audit récent mené par le gouvernement fédéral du Brésil au sujet des délais dans la livraison des travaux d'infrastructures montrait que la piètre qualité de la documentation technique constituait la cause première des délais de livraison dans 47% des cas.

Cette recherche analyse un aspect peu documenté du processus d'appels d'offre en matière d'infrastructures publiques, à savoir la fourniture des services d'architectures (plans et devis), une étape précédant la construction des ouvrages. Cette recherche suggère que la discrétion dont jouissent les responsables des processus d'appels d'offres dans l'interprétation du cadre réglementaire brésilien – un cadre marqué par la complexité et par l'incohérence – est un des facteurs à l'origine d'irrégularités et de délais dans les travaux d'infrastructures publics.

L'étude des processus d'appels d'offres publics est par nature interdisciplinaire. Empruntant des concepts à la littérature sur les marchés publics, le droit administratif et le domaine de l'architecture, cette recherche mobilise la théorie de *street-level bureaucracy*, et en particulier le concept de discrétion administrative, comme cadre d'analyse des pratiques usuelles en matière de choix des critères techniques dans le domaine des services d'architecture au sein de la fonction publique brésilienne.

La présente recherche doctorale peut être décrite comme une étude descriptive. Une recherche documentaire extensive dans les bases de données du gouvernement fédéral brésilien a été utilisée pour collecter des données, tandis que l'analyse du contenu et le *pattern coding* ont été utilisés pour les analyser. Les résultats fournissent un portrait des

pratiques actuelles, organisés autour des critères techniques employés, ainsi que des concepts interreliés de services et de méthodes de sollicitation. L'analyse de ces pratiques révèle que le mauvais usage du cadre réglementaire brésilien pourrait expliquer une bonne partie des irrégularités, des dépassements de coûts et des délais courants dans la livraison des projets d'infrastructures publiques au Brésil.

Ancrée dans la pratique, cette recherche (1) confirme l'applicabilité de la théorie de *street-level bureaucracy* à d'autres catégories d'employé.es de l'État que ceux et celles œuvrant en première ligne ; (2) propose une méthode pour extraire et analyser les données portant sur les critères techniques pour les services d'architecture et d'autres types de services et; (3) élabore des recommandations, pour les décideurs politiques ainsi que pour les praticiens, concernant le choix de tels critères techniques. Finalement, la recherche brosse un tableau des pratiques courantes au Brésil, tableau pouvant offrir un éclairage en vue d'autres études dans d'autres juridictions ou même sur d'autres services faisant l'objet d'appels d'offres publics.

Mots-clés: marchés publics, *street-level bureaucracy*, droit administratif, architecture, discretion, *Comprasnet*

Technical criteria for the procurement of architectural services in Brazil

Table of contents

FOR	EWORD	XVI
1	INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	Research boundaries	3
1.2	Overview of chapters	5
2	RESEARCH PROBLEM	7
2.1	Research purpose	7
2.2	Technical criteria	12
2.3	Architectural services	13
2.4	On judgement	14
	2.4.1 Definition of judgement	15
	2.4.2 Types of judgement	15
2.5	Synthesis of the research problem	17
3	LITERATURE REVIEW ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT	19
3.1	Definition of public procurement	19
3.2	Theoretical lens in public procurement	22
3.3	Procurement system	23
	3.3.1 Procurement environment	23
	3.3.2 Regulatory framework	26
3.4	Objectives in public procurement	29
3.5	Transparency in public procurement	30
3.6	Project delivery methods	31
3.7	Phases of public procurement	33
3.8	Solicitation methods	34
3.9	Typology of criteria in procurement	35
	3.9.1 Qualification and evaluation criteria	35
	3.9.2 Price and non-price criteria	37
3.10	Typology of procurement procedures	38
	3.10.1 Price-, value- and quality-based procedures	38
	3.10.2 Pre-qualification and post-qualification procedures	41
3.11	Considerations on public procurement concepts	42
4	LITERATURE REVIEW ON PROCUREMENT	
	OF ARCHITECTURAL SERVICES	43
4.1	Nature of architectural services	43
	4.1.1 Characteristics of architectural services	43
	4.1.2 Dimensions in architecture	44
4.2	Solicitation methods for procurement of architectural services	46
4.3	Technical criteria in practice	48

4.4	Co	nsiderations on procurement of architectural services	51
5	THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK AND RESEARCH QUESTIONS		53
5.1	Co	ncepts of theoretical framework and theory	53
5.2	Teo	chnical criteria as administrative discretion	54
	5.2.1	Discretion in public administration	55
	5.2.2	Discretion in administrative law	56
	5.2.3	Formal discretion and operational discretion	57
5.3	The	eory of street-level bureaucracy	58
5.4	Ap	plicability of the street-level bureaucracy theory	60
	5.4.1	Categorizing procurement officials	60
	5.4.2	Relevance for the work of procurement officials	61
	5.4.3	Street-level bureaucracy theory at street-level and beyond	62
5.5	Me	thods in street-level bureaucracy theory	64
5.6	Str	eet-level bureaucracy theory and technical criteria	66
5.7	Res	search questions	67
6	AN	ALYSIS OF THE PROCUREMENT SYSTEM IN BRAZIL	69
6.1	Pro	curement environment in Brazil	69
	6.1.1	Enforcement	69
	6.1.2	Organization	70
	6.1.3	Personnel	71
	6.1.4	Comments on the procurement environment	72
6.2	Reg	gulatory framework in Brazil	73
	6.2.1	Brazilian Constitution	74
	6.2.2	Law 8.666 – Public procurement and contracts	74
	6.2.3	Law 10.520 – Reverse auctions for public procurement	83
	6.2.4	Law 12.462 – Differentiated regime for public procurement – RDC	85
	6.2.5	Other regulations on procurement	86
	6.2.6	IN-5 – Normative Instruction 5	88
	6.2.7	Comments on procurement regulations	91
	6.2.8	Proposed bill for public procurement in Brazil	94
	6.2.9	Regulations on architectural services	97
	6.2.10	Transparency regulations	98
6.3	Co	nsiderations on the Brazilian procurement system	101
7	INT	TENDED POLICY ON PROCUREMENT	
	OF	ARCHITECTURAL SERVICES	104
7.1	Sol	icitation methods	104
	7.1.1	Common service	105
	7.1.2	Service of predominantly intellectual nature	107
	7.1.3	Specialized technical professional service	107
	7.1.4	RDC actions	109
	7.1.5	Estimated values	109
7.2	Teo	chnical criteria	109
7.3	Ser	vices procured	111
7.4	Co	nsiderations on intended policy	112
8	RE	SEARCH DESIGN	115

8.1	Ge	neral research approach – descriptive study	115
8.2	M	ethods and data	116
8.3	Da	ta-collection and data-analytic strategies	118
	8.3.1	Sources of data	120
	8.3.2	Structure of data	121
8.4	Do	ocumentary research	122
	8.4.1	Preliminary data selection	122
	8.4.2	Gathering documents	130
	8.4.3	Secondary data selection	136
8.5	Ba	sic content analysis	143
	8.5.1	Establishing categories	144
	8.5.2	Assembling units of meaning	149
	8.5.3	Coding	150
8.6	Ca	se studies	152
8.7	Pa	ttern coding	153
8.8	En	suring reliability	153
	8.8.1	Wrong inclusion of service	154
	8.8.2	Mismatched coding in the category <i>type of building</i>	154
	8.8.3	Mismatched coding in the category <i>capacity</i>	154
	8.8.4	Mismatched coding in the category <i>specific capacity</i>	156
	8.8.5	Summary of reliability issues	157
8.9	Co	mments on the research design	158
9	RF	SULTS – PRACTICES ON PROCUREMENT	
	OF	ARCHITECTURAL SERVICES	160
9.1	Tr	ansparency	163
	9.1.1	Availability of documents	163
	9.1.2	Information on protests	164
	9.1.3	Collecting RDC documents	164
	9.1.4	Practices on transparency	165
9.2	So	licitation methods	165
	9.2.1	Solicitation methods and classification of services	166
	9.2.2	Awarding process	167
	9.2.3	Formalized price system – SRP (Sistema de registro de preços)	169
	9.2.4	Value of procedures	169
	9.2.5	Practices concerning solicitation methods	171
9.3	Se	rvices procured	173
	9.3.1	Bundling architectural and engineering services	173
	9.3.2	Type of service as classified by procurement officials	174
	9.3.3	Type of assignment and phases of design	176
	9.3.4	Type of service – Resolution 21 Art. 2	177
	9.3.5	Type of service – type of buildings	179
	9.3.6	Values of services	181
	9.3.7	Practices concerning services procured	183
9.4	Cr	iteria – capacities	185
	9.4.1	Criteria according to capacities demanded	185

	9.4.2	Typology of criteria	187
	9.4.3	Criteria and services	189
	9.4.4	Practices concerning capacities demanded	193
9.5	Cri	teria – quantity	194
	9.5.1	Availability of information	194
	9.5.2	Criteria according to quantities demanded	195
	9.5.3	Practices concerning quantities demanded	197
9.6	Pro	otests	198
	9.6.1	Reasons for protests	198
	9.6.2	Protests regarding price feasibility	199
	9.6.3	Protests regarding technical criteria	200
	9.6.4	Practices on protests	207
9.7	Car	ncelled procedures	208
	9.7.1	Procedures cancelled due to lack of suitable bids	208
	9.7.2	Practices in cancelled procedures	211
9.8	Syı	nthesis of practices	212
	9.8.1	Summary of practices	212
	9.8.2	Arbitrary practices	213
	9.8.3	Frequency of arbitrary practices	214
9.9	Cas	ses	221
	9.9.1	Reverse auction 200108 0008/2017	222
	9.9.2	Reverse auction 158720 0004/2017	224
	9.9.3	Reverse auction 787700 0006/2016	228
	9.9.4	Request for proposals 443001 0001/2017	231
	9.9.5	Lessons from the cases	232
9.10) Fro	om practices to policy	233
	9.10.1	Not policy and grey zone	233
	9.10.2	Actual policy	234
10	DIS	SCUSSION	237
10.1	Ac	tual policies diverging from intended policies	237
	10.1.1	Actual policy related to solicitation methods	237
	10.1.2	Actual policies related to services procured	240
	10.1.3	Actual policy related to technical criteria	241
	10.1.4	The matter of reflective judgement	242
10.2	2 Ne	gative effects of actual policies	243
10.3	B Co	nditions for discrepancy	245
	10.3.1	Legal context	245
	10.3.2	Shortfall of needed skills	245
	10.3.3	Scant oversight	246
10.4	A Ree	commendations for policy makers	246
	10.4.1	Enforcement	247
	10.4.2	Organization	247
	10.4.3	Personnel	248
	10.4.4	Regulatory framework	249
10.5	5 Ree	commendations for practitioners	250

11	CONCLUSION	253
11.1	Summary of main results	253
11.2	Implications for street-level bureaucracy theory	255
11.3	Contributions to research on technical criteria in public procurement	256
11.4	Research originality	258
11.5	Research limitations	259
11.6	Future research	260
12	REFERENCES	263
APPENDIX	1: LIST OF UASGS	302
APPENDIX	2: DATA EXTRACTION FOR CATSERV TABLE	305
APPENDIX	3: ACCESSING PROCUREMENT DOCUMENTS FROM PAINEL DE PREÇOS	306
APPENDIX	4: LIST OF SELECTED SOLICITATION DOCUMENTS	312
APPENDIX	5: DOWNLOADING MANDATORY DOCUMENTS	318
APPENDIX	6: DOWNLOADING ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS: REVERSE AUCTIONS	324
APPENDIX	7: DOWNLOADING ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS: LAW 8.666	330
APPENDIX	8: DOWNLOADING ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS: RDC	334
APPENDIX	9: DOWNLOADING ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS FROM PROCURING ENTITIES' WEBSITE	339
APPENDIX	10: DOWNLOADING ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS FROM THE TRANSPARENCY PORTAL	344
APPENDIX	11: REQUEST FOR INFORMATION OF ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS	349
APPENDIX	12: MATRIX REPORT	351
APPENDIX	13: TYPE OF BUILDING CODES	407
APPENDIX	14: SERVICES FROM CATSER TABLE	408
APPENDIX	15: ITEMS AND VALUES	409

List of tables

Table 1 - Categories of criteria according to their use	37
Table 2 - Features of solicitation methods for architectural services	93
Table 3 - Review of concepts from the regulatory framework	105
Table 4 - Technical criteria according to awarding process	110
Table 5 - Number of records resulting from searches	
in Comprasnet and Painel de precos	129
Table 6 - Number of records by solicitation method and year	129
Table 7 - Source of additional documents by solicitation method	134
Table 8 - Available documents	134
Table 9 - Procedures without architectural services	137
Table 10 - Procedures regarding integrated contracting	138
Table 11 - Number of processes by situation and solicitation method	139
Table 12 - Procedures excluded due to their situation	139
Table 13 - Number of items by type of assignment	141
Table 14 - Number of items by type of acting and the service	141
Table 15 - Research questions and categories	144
Table 16 - Units of meaning on procedures	146
Table 17 - Units of meaning for items and criteria	149
Table $18 - 1$ ist of procedures items and criteria	161
Table 19 - Number of procedures lacking information on protests	164
Table 20 - Number of procedures by solicitation method and corresponding law	166
Table 21 - Number of procedures by solicitation method	100
classified by awarding process	168
Table 22 - Descriptive statistics - estimated value	169
Table 23 - Bundled services	173
Table 24 - Classification of items according to the CATSER table	175
Table 25 - Nature of services and design phases	176
Table 26 - Items and values by type of service	177
Table 27 - Items by type of building and type of service	180
Table 28 - Descriptive statistics for differences between	100
estimated and contracted values	181
Table 29 - Items with great discrepancy between estimated and contracted values	183
Table 30 - Number of criteria by capacities demanded	186
Table 31 - Typology of criteria	187
Table 32 - Number of evaluation and qualification criteria	188
Table 32 - Criteria by type of service and type of building	190
Table 34 - Number of defined and undefined criteria	192
Table 35 - Number of criteria for which a quantity of service was informed	192
Table 36 - Number of qualification criteria for which a quantity of item was informed	195
Table 37 - Canacities without minimum quantity	106
Table 38 - Procurement officials' judgements of protests	100
Table 39 - Cancelled procedures	208
Table 40 - Summary of notentially arbitrary practices	200
Table 41 - Procedures and noncompliant practices	213 215
rable +1 - 1 rocedures and noncompliant practices	213

Table 42 - Intended policies and actual policies	236
Table 43 - Research needed, contribution and originality	259

List of figures

Figure 1 - Effects of bad selection criteria	8
Figure 2 - Choices for obtaining goods and services	20
Figure 3 - Systems model applied on public procurement	23
Figure 4 - Paradox of regulatory framework approaches	28
Figure 5 - Phases of procurement	33
Figure 6 - Types of awarding process according to type of criteria	39
Figure 7 - Architectural design process	46
Figure 8 - Relationship between technical dimension and criteria	52
Figure 9 - Discretionary powers and related concepts	57
Figure 10 - Taxonomy of discretion	58
Figure 11 - Street-level bureaucracy framework, based on Lipsky's theory	59
Figure 12 - Street-Level Bureaucracy theory and technical criteria	67
Figure 13 - Possible sequences of procurement procedures for construction	77
Figure 14 - Relation between procedures, items and criteria	121
Figure 15 - Quantity and value of items procured	125
Figure 16 - Comprasnet screen: results of textual search using the keyword arquitetura	127
Figure 17 - Access to solicitation documents and reference terms from Comprasnet	131
Figure 18 - Access to additional procurement documents from Comprasnet	132
Figure 19 - Documents regarding reverse auction 200207 0013/2017	135
Figure 20 - Documents regarding request for quotations 170008 0001/2017	136
Figure 21 - Review of data selection	143
Figure 22 - Frequency of procedures by estimated value	170
Figure 23 - Values by solicitation method	171
Figure 24 - Number of items by type of service	179
Figure 25 - Estimated and contracted values (in R\$ thousands - log scale)	182
Figure 26 - Quantity of criterion / quantity of item	196
Figure 27 - Number of procedures by reason of protests	198
Figure 28 - Frequency of noncompliant practices by number of procedures	220
Figure 29 - Auction report for 158720 0004/2017 (excerpt)	228
Figure 30 - Auction report for 787700 0006/2016 (excerpt)	231

List of acronyms

AGU:	Office of the Attorney General (Advocacia-Geral da União)
API:	Application Programming Interface
BCB:	Brazilian Central Bank (Banco Central do Brasil)
CAU-BR:	Brazilian Council of Architecture and Urban Planning (Conselho de Arquitetura e Urbanismo do Brasil)
CATSER:	Services catalogue (Catálogo de serviços)
CREA:	Brazilian Council of Engineering and Agronomy (<i>Conselho Regional de Engenharia e Agronomia</i>)
DB:	Design-build approach
DBB:	Design-bid-build approach
Demap:	BCB's Department of Infrastructure (<i>Departamento de Infraestrutura</i>)
Enap:	National School of Public Administration – Brazil (<i>Escola Nacional de Administração Pública</i>)
ENAP:	National School of Public Administration – Québec (École nationale d'administration publique)
IAB:	Brazilian Institute of Architects (Instituto de Arquitetos do Brasil)
IBRAOP:	Brazilian Institute of Public Works Auditing (Instituto Brasileiro de Auditoria de Obras Públicas)
IN-5:	Normative Instruction 5 (Instruçao Normativa 5)
IPHAN:	Institute of National Historical and Artistic Heritage (Instituto do Patrimônio Histórico e Artístico Nacional)
MP:	Ministry of Planning, Development and Management (<i>Ministério do Planejamento, Desenvolvimento e Gestão</i>)
MPOG:	Ministry of Planning, Budget and Management (<i>Ministério do Planejamento, Orçamento e Gestão</i>)
OECD:	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
PAC:	Program for Economic Acceleration (<i>Programa de Aceleração do Crescimento</i>)
PPP:	Public-private partnership
RDC:	Differentiated regime for public procurement (<i>regime diferenciado de contrataçoes</i>)
SRP:	Formalized price system (sistema de registro de preços)
STJ:	Superior Court of Justice (Superior Tribunal de Justiça)
TCU:	Federal Audit Office (Tribunal de Contas da Uniao)
UASG:	Administrative unit for public procurement (Unidade administrativa de serviços gerais)
UNCITRAL:	United Nations Commission on International Trade Law

Foreword

I have a degree in architecture and I have worked for more than twenty years for the Brazilian Central Bank (BCB), the public organization whose mission is "to ensure the stability of the currency's purchasing power and a solid and efficient financial system" (BCB 2018). Throughout my career at BCB, I have served in different fields, from an administrative law analyst to an information technology coordinator. From 2013 to 2015, I resumed my original profession working as an architect and procurement official in BCB's Department of Infrastructure (Demap). In this position, I performed two main duties: providing architectural services in the form of projects and producing procurement documents to obtain architectural services and construction.

One of the major problems I confronted concerning this second task is the difficulty to devise technical criteria to select architects in public procurement. This research is about these criteria.

While drafting this thesis, I faced problems with translation and different meanings of procurement terminology in Portuguese, English and French. To improve harmonization of procurement terms, I employed, whenever possible, the terminology proposed by the United Nations in their Model Law on Public Procurement (UNCITRAL 2014, Art. 2). Otherwise, I have employed terms proposed by specialized dictionaries, two in particular: *Dicionário de Direito, Economia e Contabilidade Português-Inglês / Inglês-Português* (Castro 2010) and *Black's Law Dictionary* (Garner 2014).

In this study, I often refer to monetary values in Brazilian currency. Exchange rates may vary substantially. To provide a reference for the reader, I calculated the mean value of the exchange rate between Brazilian reais (R\$) and Canadian dollars (C\$) for year 2017: C\$ 1,00 = R\$ 2,46¹.

¹ Source: https://www.bcb.gov.br/estabilidadefinanceira/historicocotacoes

I also frequently refer to laws and governmental regulations. For citing these sources, I followed ENAP's *Guide de présentation des citations et des références bibliographiques* (Sylvain 2006, 20), which provides detailed instructions on the matter.

Finally, on April 1st, 2021, after the completion of this thesis, a new law on public procurement was enacted in Brazil – Law 14.133². The features of this law which concern this research are discussed in Section 6.2.8. The promulgation of Law 14.133 does not invalidate the results of this research, since it establishes that extant laws on public procurement will be revoked only in two years. This time span provides an essential period for the adoption of necessary regulations and for the administration to get acquainted with the new procedures. Thus, it may take a long time for desired changes in practices regarding public procurement to happen. Furthermore, the enactment itself of Law 14.133 can be seen as a corroboration of the excessive complexity of the extant regulatory framework. In this vein, one of the main issues revealed in this research was the contradiction between laws and regulations. The recommendations I present in Section 10.4 concerning the regulatory framework may help policy makers in devising regulations drawn on Law 14.133. I intend to submit these recommendations to the ongoing consultations on this subject. Until new regulations are adopted, existing contradictions will remain.

² http://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/_Ato2019-2022/2021/Lei/L14133.htm

1 Introduction

The subject of technical criteria for selection of providers of architectural services may seem like an obscure issue involving a technicality that hardly stirs interest. However, it surfaces on newspapers occasionally, in Brazil as well as in Canada (Fabrini and Boldrini 2018; Caillou 2018; Myles 2018). In both cases, it has been argued that proposed changes in current criteria for selection of bidders might backfire, preventing most skilled bidders from winning the contracts. An inquiry on these criteria in the Brazilian context is more so opportune, given that a proposition updating federal regulations on the matter is under study (Senado Federal 2020).

Technical criteria for procurement of architectural services are important because they improve the chances of good architectural projects, which in turn will result in greater satisfaction for users of a building. Moreover, the quality of an architectural project has an impact on the cost of construction and on the cost of maintenance of buildings, which are significant governmental expenditures.

In general, procurement officials hold discretion for devising technical criteria. However, devising criteria for architectural services is challenging due to the inherent complexity of these services. This challenge concerns not only choosing a criterion that is relevant to the service procured, but also establishing how much of this criterion should be required. There are few scholarly studies on the matter, but none of them in the Brazilian context.

Since technical criteria can be seen as a matter of discretion, I will employ street-level bureaucracy theory for analyzing this subject. This theory focuses on discretion as a generator of discrepancies between intended policies and actual policies, the latter understood as the dominant patterns of discretionary decisions. I will thus base my investigation on these concepts.

Public administration is inherently an interdisciplinary field (Raadschelders 2013, 202). Accordingly, public procurement of architectural services is a phenomenon that cannot be limited to the discipline of public administration. In this research, the nature of services procured stems from the field of architecture, and public procurement is a highly regulated activity, which calls for the field of administrative law. This inquiry can thus be seen as an interdisciplinary study (Klein 2010, 16), linking theory from public administration to concepts from administrative law with a focus on architectural services.

The main question, drawn from street-level bureaucracy theory, is *which actual policies concerning technical criteria for procurement of architectural services deviate from intended policies on procurement*? To unveil these actual policies, I had to explore the current regulatory framework and investigate practices in procurement that diverge from the regulatory framework, focusing on the expected coherence between criteria employed, services procured and solicitation methods.

The research approach I took for disclosing these discrepancies was a descriptive study, based on a documentary research as main data-collection strategy. The documents used come from a governmental database. Although these documents are public and accessible, retrieving the information relevant for this study was an elaborate task. This study provides a detailed account on how these documents can be obtained and sorted out, which can be of great service for future studies on public procurement in Brazil. For analyzing the data, I employed basic content analysis and pattern coding. These methods made possible describing current practices in public procurement and unveiling the discrepancies between intended policies and actual policies. Furthermore, I investigated selected cases of procurement procedures, which afforded meaningful insights on the negative outcomes of arbitrary practices.

Results have confirmed that there are discrepancies between intended policies and actual policies, and that such discrepancies are widespread in procurement of architectural services in Brazil. Some practices revealed in this study may lead to the choice of unskilled, underpaid bidders, which in turn will hardly produce high-quality projects. These practices include the use of imprecise criteria, the arbitrary use of solicitation methods, the procurement of different services as if they were only one service, and the incomplete

2

specification of services. This situation is likely to yield a negative effect on procuring entities' outcomes. The roots of these problems seem to be procurement officials' unbounded administrative discretion, coupled with a complex legal context, a shortage of needed skills and little oversight.

The main contribution of this thesis is the portrait of current practices in procurement, drawing attention to practices that are not in line with intended policies. This portrait enables recommendations for policy-makers, with the goal of improving the Brazilian procurement system, as well as for procurement officials, aiming to reduce decisions that could be considered arbitrary. In what regards research design, this research proposes a method for collecting data that can also be used for other types of services. The main source of data are documents which are publicly available, but which had not been used for academic research. These documents were a valuable source of information, revealing potential problems stemming from procurement officials' discretion. Concerning the theory used, this work endorses employing street-level bureaucracy theory as an efficient framework for analyzing practices of other types of bureaucrats, such as procurement officials. The successful use of this theory in conjunction with concepts from administrative law and architecture reinforces its utility in public procurement research. Finally, I propose a conceptual framework for analyzing technical criteria in relation to one of architecture's dimensions. From this framework, it can be argued that relevant criteria for architectural services are those that correctly translate the technical dimension of architecture into technical criteria.

1.1 Research boundaries

At the outset, it might be helpful for the reader to make clear some limitations concerning the data analyzed in this thesis, as I describe below.

I realized this research on technical criteria for procurement of architectural services in Brazil by analyzing procurement documents available in a governmental public database named *Comprasnet*. This database holds information on all procurement procedures undertaken by the three branches – legislative, executive and judiciary – of the federal administration. To assure the feasibility of this research, I had to limit this inquiry to procedures carried out in 2017. Furthermore, architectural services in this inquiry will be limited to services that, according to Brazilian regulations, can only be performed by architects, thus excluding services that could also be performed by engineers or other professionals.

Although architectural services may encompass an aesthetic dimension, as I will discuss in Section 4.1.2, this study does not touch on aesthetic criteria for such services. This research is focused instead on technical criteria, which are of a different nature than aesthetic criteria. Moreover, in the literature review I made on public procurement for architectural services, aesthetic criteria did not show up as an issue in Brazil. This is probably because, according to the framework law regulating public procurement, aesthetic criteria may only be employed in prize competitions, which are very rare – there were no prize competitions for architectural services in the *Comprasnet* database during the period studied. Finally, the study of aesthetic criteria would require an assessment of subjective judgements that seem most fit for research in aesthetics or in history of art, not in public administration (Wittgenstein in Monk 1990, 404; Foisy, Thérien, and Trépanier 2009, 9).

This research also excludes procurement that involves public-private partnerships (PPP) for construction. They were excluded because, in this type of arrangement, it is the private partner who will engage the architects. The public entity will only choose the private partner responsible for the whole contract. Furthermore, in Brazil, Law 11.079 (Brasil 2010a, Art. 2) bans PPPs for public construction works.

As a last limitation of this study, I focus on what technical criteria procurement officials devise, but I do not delve into how procurement officials evaluate bidders' compliance with the criteria devised. In *Comprasnet*, all documents submitted by bidders are public. Such documents not only are assessed by the procuring entities but also by the unsuccessful bidders, who may protest when submitted documents are not compliant. Hence, it seems reasonable to consider that, when there are no protests, procurement officials correctly

judged submitted documents. Although inquiry on the matter, not necessarily restricted to architectural services, could provide additional knowledge on procurement officials' practices, it would be outside the scope of this research³.

1.2 Overview of chapters

This thesis is divided in eleven chapters, including this introduction.

In *Chapter 2* I present the issue and the purpose of this study. Drawing on scholarly literature, I also introduce its two main concepts, namely technical criteria and architectural services, alongside the notion of judgement, which permeates the concept of technical criteria.

In *Chapter 3* I provide an overview of the literature on public procurement, discussing the main background concepts that will be employed in this research. Here I describe how a procurement procedure is carried out, and I elaborate on the notion of procurement system, which will be useful for analyzing the Brazilian context.

Chapter 4 is dedicated to previous research on procurement of architectural services. I examine the nature of these services and how this nature can be translated into criteria. I also review the literature dealing specifically with technical criteria for procurement of architectural services.

In *Chapter 5* I present the theoretical framework of this study. I start by outlining the concept of discretion and then I review the theory of street-level bureaucracy, which calls for an examination of intended policies and actual policies. In addition, I discuss the application of the theory in this research, and I present the research questions developed from this application.

³ Still, in this study, I analyzed submitted documents in relevant cases, as I will describe in Sections 9.6 and 9.10).

In *Chapter 6* I assess the Brazilian procurement system, using the concepts presented in *Chapter 3*. This chapter is organized into two parts. Part one is dedicated to the procurement environment, while part two is dedicated to the regulatory framework, encompassing rules on procurement, architecture and transparency. These analyses are based on scholarly and grey literature, as well as on the sources of law in Brazil. This chapter is intended to portray the context in which this research was carried out.

In *Chapter 7* I address intended policies on procurement for architectural services in Brazil, drawing on the street-level bureaucracy theory and on the regulatory framework.

Chapter 8 is dedicated to the research design used for the empirical inquiry on practices in procurement of architectural services. I present the data-collection strategy as well as the data-analytic strategies. I also suggest how the research design employed could be used for other types of services.

Chapter 9 describes the results of the empirical inquiry, reviewing practices in procurement of architectural services in light of intended policies. This review focuses on choices of technical criteria and the interrelated concepts of services procured and solicitation methods.

In *Chapter 10* I discuss the results, underlining discrepancies between intended policies and actual policies, as suggested by the theoretical framework. Additionally, I provide recommendations for policy-makers and for practitioners concerning procurement of architectural services in Brazil.

Finally, I conclude in *Chapter 11*, assessing the implications of this inquiry for street-level bureaucracy theory and contributions to the literature on public procurement. Furthermore, I report on the original aspects of this study as well as on its limitations, and I propose some avenues for future research.

2 Research problem

In the first section of this chapter, I describe the purpose of my research, drawing from scholarly and grey literature. Then I present the two main concepts of this inquiry, namely technical criteria and architectural services. Finally, I take on the concept of judgement, which is intrinsic to criteria and which is particularly troublesome for the procurement of architectural services.

2.1 Research purpose

Public procurement is a major driver of economies, accounting for up to 15% of the world's gross domestic product (Thai 2001, 24; Transparency International 2006, 7; Nakabayashi 2009, 111; Bergman and Lundberg 2011, 2; Chong, Staropoli, and Yvrande-Billon 2014, 2; Cernat and Kutlina-Dimitrova 2015, 1). One important item in procurement is construction, in which public and private clients spend roughly ten trillion US dollars annually, according to a 2017 study (Barbosa et al. 2017, 4).

In Brazil, the government's budget for construction in 2017 foresaw an expenditure of R\$ 81.4 billion (Rêgo 2017). Nevertheless, there are signs that a good chunk of this money is wasted, and not only due to the corruption scandals to which Brazilians became used (Albuquerque, Mendes Primo, and Pereira 2015, 836; Watts 2017; Carneiro 2018). In its 2016 yearly report, the Federal Audit Office – TCU (*Tribunal de contas da União*) found irregularities in 75% of procurement procedures for construction, and 24% of these irregularities regarded technical documentation (TCU 2017). These numbers worsened in 2017, when 80% of procurement procedures for construction had irregularities and 54% of these irregularities concerned technical documentation (TCU 2018). Furthermore, an audit of paralyzed construction works financed by the Brazilian federal government showed that the low quality of technical documentation was the root of the paralysation in 47% of the cases in 2018 (TCU 2019a). That is not surprising, since deficient or non-existent drawings, specifications, budgets and schedules seem to be a chronic problem in public

procurement for construction in the country (Zanferdini 2011, 141; Amaral 2014, 1; Fiuza and Medeiros 2014, 24; Fernandes 2016, 139).

The issue of low-quality documentation for construction is not restricted to the Brazilian context. In general, the bad quality of technical documentation finds its roots in unskilled professionals – architects or engineers – responsible for the project (Sporrong 2011, 59; Fernandes 2016, 134). In turn, when the project is contracted out, the assignment of a skilled or unskilled professional depends on the criteria used to select bidders in a procurement procedure (Sporrong 2011, 60; Volker 2012, 757; Ogachi 2014, 84; TCU 2019b, 27). Unskilled professionals producing low-quality documentation may lead not only to low-quality construction, but also to costly administrative or judicial protests, which in many cases invalidate the entire procurement procedure (Radziszewska-Zielina 2011, 274; Rajeh, Tookey, and Rotimi 2015, 244). I illustrate these issues on Figure 1.



Figure 1 - Effects of bad selection criteria

Selecting a professional – responsible for the project – that is technically capable is thus a critical activity preceding procurement for construction (Ochrana and Hrnčířová 2015, 43; Shalwani 2017, 10). Nevertheless, this critical activity is a very challenging task for procurement officials, as I describe below (Transparency International 2006, 42; Chong, Staropoli, and Yvrande-Billon 2014, 5; Ruparathna and Hewage 2015, 7; Dodd, Garbarino, and Caldas 2016, 16).

It is suggested that procurement officials should select service providers by means of objective, evidence-based criteria (Gershon 1999, 11; Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 440; Dobbs et al. 2013, 5; Costa Jr 2016, 109). However, devising objective, evidence-based criteria may already be difficult in procurement of goods, and it is way more problematic in procurement of services (Simon [1947] 1997, 239; McCue, Prier, and Steinfeld 2020, 13). In what concerns procurement of architectural services, objective criteria are, in some cases, considered useless for the selection of skilled architects (Volker 2012, 756; Volker and Meel 2012, 20). This uselessness may be explained by the fact that, in architecture, every service presents different technical challenges, including physical and legal constraints, limited budget, and client's capacity. Thus, each service would call upon specific competencies, such as knowledge of the legal framework in force on the site that will be developed, or interpersonal skills for dealing with ill-informed clients (Lewis 1985, 222; Larson 1993, 7; Schaik 2010, 14). This type of ability cannot always be translated into objective criteria (Holt 2010, 317; Tschumi 2012, 747). Hence, depending on the service, even frequently used criteria, such as architects' experience or structure of the bidding firm, may not be suitable for selecting the most skilled architect (Lewis 1985, 199; Volker and Meel 2012, 24; McCue, Prier, and Steinfeld 2020, 13).

Procurement officials have generally responded to this difficulty by adopting two strategies. They may ignore all subjectivity inherent to architecture and select their providers by the lowest price; in such cases, only minimum qualifications, experience, or financial viability may be judged (Strong 1996, 20; Sporrong 2011, 71). Otherwise, procurement officials may reuse criteria that were adopted in past procurement processes, usually without questioning these criteria's suitability to the specific service being procured (Moreira 2000, 8). Arguably, these two strategies will hardly result in the selection of the most skilled provider available (Anechiarico and Jacobs 1996, 132; Sclar 2000, 109; Fernandes 2016, 133).

As an alternative solution for this conundrum, scholars have suggested that procurement officials should evaluate critically what criteria have already worked in order to base

decisions regarding their own procedures (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 679; Hudon 2011, 270; Dobbs et al. 2013, 8). This critical evaluation must consider the characteristics and the context of each service being procured (Holt 2010, 318–19).

It may be argued that investing in better procedures and criteria is too demanding for public organizations, which are usually confronted to limited budgets and are under pressure for showing results (Huitink 2017, 76–77). Still, the cost of the procurement process is low if compared to the cost of construction itself (Sporrong and Kadefors 2014, 626; TCU 2019b, 26). Not investing in selection of bidders is thus a waste of public money when construction is involved (Ochrana and Hrnčířová 2015, 57; Ruparathna and Hewage 2015, 9).

Given that the quality of architectural projects has significant consequences on construction works, some jurisdictions have implemented regulations establishing that public procurement for architectural services ought to account primarily for technical criteria. Some instances of such approach are Québec Government's *Règlement sur certains contrats de services des organismes publics* and the *U.S. Federal regulations on procurement of architect-engineer services* (Québec 2008, Art. 19; GSA 2018, Art. 36.602).

In Brazil, the regulatory framework's main objective is not assuring the quality of contracted services or acquired goods; instead, it focus on preventing corruption (Motta 2010, 161). As a result, Brazilian rules are unclear regarding the role of technical criteria in public procurement of services, including architectural services. Some regulations establish that technical criteria should be the main criteria in procurement of these services (Brasil 1993), whereas other regulations establish that price should be the main criterion (MP 2017b)⁴.

Partly due to the contradiction mentioned above, the regulatory framework grants, to procurement officials, a great deal of discretion for procuring services, especially in what

⁴ I will further discuss this topic in Section 6.2.7.

concerns the range of possible technical criteria for selecting bidders (Justen Filho 2009, 164). This discretion can be seen as a positive feature, given that different services may demand different skills. However, the World Bank noted that, in Brazil, decisions concerning the selection of bidders are "by far the greatest source of protests" (2004, 5). Indeed, companies often submit protests in public procurement procedures targeting technical criteria for selection of bidders (Fernandes 2005, 98). Moreover, the discretion afforded by the Brazilian regulatory framework regarding technical criteria could be used as a tool for illicit practices in procurement, such as favoritism (Castro and Lopes 2004, 223). These points hint that technical criteria are a salient problem in Brazilian procurement. Indeed, jurists and the Federal Audit Office acknowledge that technical criteria are one of the most troublesome issues in the Brazilian public procurement system (Justen Filho 2009, 413; TCU 2010b, 366).

In regard to procurement of architectural services, official statistics suggest that most of the time procurement officials select architects by the lowest price (Fiuza and Medeiros 2014, 49; MPOG 2017a). Such practice, as already mentioned, is bound to compromise the quality of the service procured (Fernandes 2016, 133; Guarnieri and Gomes 2019, 2). Furthermore, the Brazilian government has recognized the need of reducing risks associated with public procurement (MP 2017a, 30). In this regard, it seems useful to expand the knowledge on technical criteria for architectural services, not only because this matter can be the subject of administrative or judicial protests, but also because it has an effect on the quality of the final constructed product. Finally, the Brazilian law imposes a self-binding principle on administrative procedures (Faganello 2011, 168). This means that similar criteria are expected to be used in procurement procedures for similar services. Knowledge of past criteria is thus fundamental in the choice of future criteria.

There is little literature regarding empirical studies on sector-specific procurement, such as procurement of architectural services, and on issues related to selection of bidders, such as technical criteria (Patrucco, Luzzini, and Ronchi 2017, 246–47; Trammell, Abutabenjeh, and Dimand 2020, 665). Scholars and the Federal Audit Office have noted the lack of empirical studies about technical criteria in Brazil, underlining the need of such studies for

improving the selection of bidders (Lotta, Pires, and Oliveira 2014, 465; Fernandes 2016, 428; TCU 2019b, 49). Therefore, my purpose in this study is to analyze technical criteria used by procurement officials in Brazil to select providers of architectural services.

In the following sections I will introduce the main concepts of this study, namely technical criteria and architectural services, followed by a discussion on the concept of judgement.

2.2 Technical criteria

To start the discussion on technical criteria, I must approach the general concept of criterion in public procurement. A criterion can be defined as a standard by which something can be judged, decided or compared (Baggini and Fosl 2003, 84; Garner 2014b). Procurement officials use criteria for judging submissions, comparing them and, accordingly, deciding who is the winning bidder in a procurement procedure (Carvalho Filho 2009, 277; Bergman and Lundberg 2011, 5).

There are many types of criteria that can be employed in the selection of bidders in public procurement. Some examples are price, legal, financial, technical, ethical, fiscal and criminal criteria (Manoliadis and Tsolas 2009, 251; UNCITRAL 2014, Art. 9; Semple 2015, 98). Technical criteria are thus one type amongst many types of criteria in procurement.

Scholarly literature defines technical criteria as the set of requirements related to: (a) the qualities of the item being offered by bidders⁵ (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 599, 611; Semple 2015, 98) – for instance, the adequacy of a proposed architectural design to the client's needs; or (b) the technical capacities of the bidder (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 688; Motta 2000, 121; Arrowsmith 2003, 251) – for instance, personnel experience or past performance.

⁵ The item or set of items being procured can refer to construction, goods or services (UNCITRAL 2014, Art. 10).

In Brazil, the framework law on public procurement determines that technical criteria are mandatory in all procurement procedures (Brasil 1993, Art. 27). Thus, even in price-based procedures (which will be discussed in Section 3.10.1), at least one technical criterion must be assessed during the selection of bidders, otherwise the procedure would be illegal. These criteria must be relevant to the item being procured and they must also be as little restrictive as possible in order to foster economic competition⁶ (TCU 2010b, 366). In Section 6.2.2.6 I will present a thorough review of the Brazilian regulatory framework on technical criteria.

2.3 Architectural services

Since I am dealing with procurement of architectural services, it is important to make clear what these services are. Below I provide an overview of what is considered architectural service in the context of this study.

The practice of architecture involves different tasks, from client relations to supervision of construction (Lewis 1985, 185; Chappel and Dunn 2016, 141). The task that is unique to architecture, distinguishing architects from other construction professionals, is spatial design, which can be understood as the organizing of physical spaces for social use (Lemos 1986, 40; Santos 1988, 17; Holanda 2013, 46; Kohlsdorf and Kohlsdorf 2017, 28). The final product of spatial design is the project (IAB 2013b, 3; Rapoport in Kohlsdorf and Kohlsdorf 2017, 35).

It is necessary to clarify the concept of project since it will be often mentioned in this research. In architecture (as well as in engineering, for that matter), the term project has a more specific meaning than the way it is used in public administration. In the latter, it is employed to convey any set of organized activities intended to produce specific objectives (Banki 1986c; Law 2016). In the former, project is a set of drawings and models indicating

⁶ According to the Cambridge dictionary, "competition" may refer to "a situation in which someone is trying to win something or be more successful than someone else" or to "an organized event in which people try to win a prize by being the best, fastest, etc." (Cambridge Dictionary 2018). In this thesis, I employ both meanings. To differentiate them, I will refer to the former as "economic competition" and to the latter as "prize competition".

measurements of the object that will be constructed by the builder, as well as instructions on how to construct it; it is the result of a design activity (Zevi 1957, 23; Hillier, Musgrove, and O'Sullivan 1972, 6; Kohlsdorf and Kohlsdorf 2017, 35). When I use the term *project* in this research, I refer to the way it is employed in architecture.

Architectural services in this study are those related to the practice of spatial design, the product of this practice being the architectural project. In English-speaking countries, architecture is mainly associated with the design of buildings (Murray 1994). In Brazil, however, Law 12.378 establishes that the profession of architect also encompasses the profession of urban planner⁷. Thus, a professional working in these fields is officially named "architect and urban planner" (*arquiteto e urbanista*) and their profession, "architecture and urban planning" (*arquitetura e urbanismo*) (Brasil 2010). For conciseness, I will refer to the professionals simply as architects, and to the profession as architecture. That is the way these terms are employed in everyday language in Brazil. In Section 6.2.9 I will examine Brazilian regulations concerning architectural services.

2.4 On judgement

One important concept that is connected to technical criteria and to architectural services is judgement. As mentioned in Section 2.2, the concept of judgement is intrinsic to the concept of criterion. In public procurement, procurement officials must use their judgement at least when performing two tasks. First, for choosing a bidder, they must devise relevant criteria, considering different and sometimes contradictory objectives, which I will review in Section 3.4. Second, they must evaluate and decide whether a bidder complies with the adopted criteria.

Procurement officials should aim for objective judgement in public procurement (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 440; Sampaio et al. 2011, 584); however, objective judgement in procurement for architectural services may be elusive due to

⁷ In this sense, Brazil is different from some jurisdictions, such as the USA and Canada, where architects and urban planners are distinct professionals, working under the supervision of distinct professional orders.

the nature of these services (Lemos 1986, 7), as I will discuss further in Section 4.1. Hence a survey on this matter is necessary.

2.4.1 Definition of judgement

The term judgement does not hold a universal meaning. In philosophy, judgement traditionally refers to the application of a general concept to a particular instance (Aquinas 1960, 18; Kant [1793] 1949, 412; [1790] 2007, 270; Bennett 1966, 144). The act of judging would then imply two levels: first, the perception level, in which the person judging identifies the object under scrutiny; second, the logical level, in which the person judging applies a concept to that object (Husserl [1948] 1973, 20–21). The truth or falsity of a judgement would depend on its conformity to external reality (Aquinas 1960, 18). However, philosopher Hannah Arendt pondered that determining the conformity to external reality may not be straightforward, thus the validity of a judgement would be derived from its potential agreement by other people – in other words, a correct judgement would be based on common sense (Arendt [1961] 2006, 217). Philosopher Julian Baggini proposed a yet more restrictive meaning. He argues that judgement is the act of reaching conclusions or forming theories beyond the limits of rational arguments (2016, 61). Hence, in Baggini's view, a judgement is only necessary when conformity to external reality is difficult to assess. In this sense, the truth or falsity of a judgement "cannot be determined by an appeal to facts and/or logic alone" (Baggini 2016, 57). A good judgement would be based on practical wisdom (Baggini 2016, 47). In this thesis, I will adopt the traditional definition mentioned above, for it encompasses all types of judgement. Still, the different perspectives on the matter already suggest that there are different types of judgement, as I will review in the next section.

2.4.2 Types of judgement

As suggested above, it is not possible to base all judgements only on logic and rationality (Mills 1967, 167; Simon [1947] 1997, 95; Thaler 2015, 252). Accordingly, it is argued that there is a continuum ranging from completely objective to completely subjective judgements (Simon [1947] 1997, 119; Baggini 2016, 113; Pigliucci 2017b). The objectivity

or subjectivity of a judgement would stem from the thing or phenomenon under scrutiny (Nagel 1986, 5). For instance, judging the taste of different types of coffee is different from judging whether a rod is long enough for accomplishing a particular task with it; the certainty produced by these two judgements are not of the same nature (Wittgenstein [1953] 2009, 235).

For the sake of simplicity, I will adopt in this thesis the classification proposed by Kant. For him, judgements can be objective, subjective or reflective ([1783] 1949, 71; [1790] 2007, 388). An objective judgement is not based on someone's perception; it depends only on a particular feature of the thing being judged (Kant [1783] 1949, 71). In other words, the tool for assessing the thing being judged is independent from the judge (Wittgenstein [1953] 2009, 236). For instance, any person can reasonably measure the length of a rod by means of a ruler.

A subjective judgement, on the other hand, is based on someone's perception (Kant [1783] 1949, 71; [1790] 2007, 204). In this case, the measuring tool and the judge are the same entity (Wittgenstein [1953] 2009, 236). Someone's perception of pleasure, for instance, can only be assessed by the person feeling the pleasure. It would be difficult to argue about the certainty or legitimacy of such judgements, for there are no universally agreed standards for them (Wittgenstein in Monk 1990, 405; Baggini 2016, 51). Some concepts in public administration theories, such as perception of red tape or mission valence, can be a matter of subjective judgements (Loon et al. 2016, 664; Wright and Pandey 2011, 36).

Finally, reflective judgements would be those in between objective and subjective judgements. They regard things and phenomena for which there is no universal law applicable to them, but they are not entirely dependent on someone's perception (Kant [1790] 2007, 388–89). The judge is expected to create a mental image of what the concept being judged ought to be, but such image is not universally accepted (Kant [1790] 2007, 278; Wittgenstein [1953] 2009, 239). Thus, in such cases, the judge must use his thinking faculties, based on his interpretation of the thing or phenomenon being judged, to apply a concept to it (Kant [1790] 2007, 234; Coleman 2018, 158). The legitimacy of reflective

judgements depend on how versed the judge is on the matter under scrutiny (Wittgenstein [1953] 2009, 239). Moral questions are typically the matter of reflective judgements (Kant [1788] 1949, 252). For instance, it is not possible to judge the fairness of so-called racial quotas in Brazilian universities based on facts and logic alone, but it is not a matter of individual perception either (Velasco 2009, 136; Baggini 2014, 126).

For clarifying the classification above, it might be helpful to provide some examples in the context of public procurement. In procurement for professional services, it is often required that bidders prove they are members of their professional order. Evaluating this criterion requires an objective judgement, no interpretation is needed for such assessment. On the other hand, evaluating the aesthetic qualities of a proposed design implies a subjective judgement, for each person may perceive these qualities differently. Finally, devising a criterion that is relevant to the item being procured requires a reflective judgement, for there is the need for an interpretation of what would be a relevant criterion.

2.5 Synthesis of the research problem

In this chapter, I argued that technical criteria for procurement of architectural services are an important issue, given the amount of public money spent in construction works. Scholars and the Federal Audit Office have noted the need of empirical studies concerning criteria for the choice of bidders used in procurement procedures in Brazil. The purpose of this study is thus to analyze technical criteria used by procurement officials in Brazil to select providers of architectural services.

As reviewed above, I will use the term technical criteria as the set of requirements in a procurement procedure that is related to the characteristics of the service being offered or to the capacities of the bidders. Architectural services in this inquiry are those services related to spatial design, which in Brazil must be performed by architects. Technical criteria must be relevant to the service procured. Therefore, procurement officials must judge what would be a relevant criterion given the service procured. However, this judgement may not be an objective judgement; it often requires procurement officials' interpretation of

17
relevance and of different procurement objectives. This interpretation affords a great deal of discretion to procurement officials. Given the issue of discretion, the theory of streetlevel bureaucracy seems to provide a useful framework for this research. But at this point, we have no systematic knowledge on which architectural services are procured, how they are procured, or what technical criteria are employed. I intend to fulfill this gap with this study.

In the following chapters, I will provide a panorama of concepts related to public procurement, and I will take on the matter of what technical criteria are in the context of architectural services. I will then present the street-level bureaucracy theory, which emphasizes the discrepancy between intended policy and practices. According to this theory, such discrepancy is afforded by officials' discretion. Research questions drawn from this theory focus on this discrepancy. Hence, I will review intended policy on procurement of architectural services, followed by a review of practices in procurement of architectural services. To obtain information on practices, I performed documentary research followed by content analysis. Results confirmed the expected discrepancy and corroborated the usefulness of the theory in public procurement research.

3 Literature review on public procurement

Public procurement is a complex subject by its own nature (OECD 2006, 4; Prier and McCue 2009, 352). Philosopher Bertrand Russell contended that a good way to deal with a complex subject is by identifying its components and analyzing them separately (in Eames 1969, 58). Thus, in this chapter I propose to introduce separately the concepts related to public procurement which are relevant to this research. I will proceed from the general definition of public procurement to the specific concept of types of criteria in procurement, including the necessary concepts in between. The concepts presented therein are drawn from my review of the literature on public procurement. They will be used elsewhere in this research, especially in the analysis of the Brazilian procurement system.

3.1 Definition of public procurement

An important question arises in public administration prior to the matter of public procurement, which is either a public organization should obtain items by contracting out or by means of in-house production (McAfee and McMillan 1988, 146; Sclar 2000, 128; Deis et al. 2009, 152). Public procurement starts when the choice of contracting out is made (McCrudden 2007, 3; Alencastro, Fuertes, and Wilde 2017, 11). It can thus be seen as an interface between the public domain and the private domain, by means of which the state is capable of obtaining items that are necessary for delivering policy goals (Castro and Lopes 2004, 33; Hudon 2013, 59). In Figure 2 I illustrate these choices and the relation between public and private domains. Yet, it would be too restrictive to imply that the public domain only contracts out with the private sector. Non-profit organizations and other public entities may also be providers of goods and services for the state (Sclar 2000).



Figure 2 - Choices for obtaining goods and services

Scholars generally define public procurement as the set of activities by which public organizations buy items needed for their functions (Gershon 1999, 3; Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 12; Thai 2001, 16; Arrowsmith 2003, 2; McCrudden 2007, 3; Prier and McCue 2009, 330; Arsenault 2012; Ibem and Laryea 2014, 13; Chong, Staropoli, and Yvrande-Billon 2014, 2). The items to be procured are referred to as the *subject matter of procurement* (UNCITRAL 2014, Art. 10). There are three categories of subject matter of procurement that can be procured: construction, goods and services (Beviglia-Zampetti 1997, 278; Arrowsmith 2003, 2; UNCITRAL 2014, 5; Massamba-Débat 2017, 20–21). Each category comprises items with very different levels of complexity. For instance, the category *goods* straddles from sophisticated items, such as defense airplanes, to common objects, such as toilet paper. The process for procuring a simple item should usually be different from the process for procuring a complex one. Nevertheless, judging the limits between simple and complex is not straightforward, and

such judgements are often the result of procurement officials' interpretation on the matter (Schapper and Malta 2011, 1–2).

The term *procurement* may encompass the general concept of activities to acquire items, or it may designate one specific procedure for acquiring items (Banki 1986b). To avoid confusion, when I refer to the latter in this thesis, I will call it a *procurement procedure*, or simply *procedure*.

Public procurement is led by *procurement officials*, who are the civil servants in charge of buying items and of making sure their organizations comply with procurement regulations (Thai 2001, 29; World Bank 2016, 13). Although their responsibilities may vary from one jurisdiction to another, their goal is "is to ensure that organizations' needs are met in terms of production and supply chain management so that operations can run smoothly and continuously without failure or interruption" (Steinfeld 2017, 312). Procurement officials may be in technical positions as well as in management positions (Thai 2001, 30–31). They work for governmental organizations, which are designated *procuring entities* (UNCITRAL 2014, Art. 2).

In the field of public administration, some authors see public procurement only as an implementation tool, comprising standard procedures designed by the government to achieve its goals (Wilson 2000, 133; Howlett 2011, 25). Other authors, however, argue that, because public procurement offers plenty of room for procurement officials' discretion, each procurement procedure could be seen as a second design phase of procurement policies (Brown, Potoski, and Van Slyke 2006, 325; Vohnsen 2017, 137). The concept of discretion is very important here, for it is embedded in public procurement (UNCITRAL 2011). Procurement officials' discretion would depend primarily on the regulatory framework in place (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 75). I will elaborate on these concepts in sections 3.3 and 5.2.

3.2 Theoretical lens in public procurement

Given the complexity of public procurement, a theoretical lens on the matter may help understand it. Research in public procurement often bypass theoretical models; when a theory is used, scholars most often employ economic theories (Flynn and Davis 2014, 150; Koala and Steinfeld 2018, 282; Trammell, Abutabenjeh, and Dimand 2020, 661). It is argued, nonetheless, that an appropriate theoretical model to explain any organizational activity (Simon [1947] 1997, 149) and, more specifically, public procurement, would be the systems model (Thai 2001, 17; Snider and Rendon 2008, 321). This model explains any process by a sequence of elements, comprising inputs, conversion, outputs and outcomes. Applied to public procurement, the systems model offers an overarching framework encompassing the most important elements of the procurement process: inputs would be public money and public officials' efforts; conversion would be the procurement procedure itself, which can be subdivided in many steps (more on this subject in Section 3.7); outputs would be the goods or services available to the procuring entity by the end of a procurement procedure; while outcomes would be the achievement of the procuring entity's goals, thus improving its legitimacy – for instance, distributing medicine to the less fortunate and consequently reducing mortality rates.

The systems model is easy to understand, but it downplays the role of policies and regulations in public procurement. As shapers of the procurement process (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 13), policies and regulations have a strong influence on the outcomes. For this reason, Thai (2001, 18) and Snider and Rendon (2008, 320) propose theoretical models, drawn on the systems model, which incorporate policies and regulations. Such models suggest two types of inputs in procurement procedures. The first would be policies and regulations on procurement which are imposed by policymakers, while the second would be the allocation of money and of workers' efforts to carry out procurement procedures. I provide a synthesis of these models on Figure 3.



Figure 3 - Systems model applied on public procurement (based on Thai 2001 and Snider and Rendon 2008)

The synthesis above, however, still does not account for all complexities in public procurement. Workforce skills and enforcement, for instance, are factors that may steer procurement procedures' outcomes. Some scholars propose to include all elements that influence procurement procedures as parts of a *procurement system* (not to be confused with the systems model). I take on this subject in the next section.

3.3 Procurement system

A procurement system can be defined as the set of instruments which establishes and influences how procurement procedures are carried out in a jurisdiction (Prier and McCue 2009, 332; Armeanu 2011, 181). Scholarly literature usually includes laws, the workforce, organization and activities as instruments of a procurement system (Thai 2009, 20; Prier and McCue 2009, 333). Arrowsmith, Linarelli and Wallace Jr propose to analyze procurement systems by organizing them into two concepts: *procurement environment* and *regulatory framework* (2000, 18). I will employ this division in this research, for it gives proper attention to the regulatory framework, which is regarded as the most important element of procurement systems.

3.3.1 Procurement environment

An adequate procurement environment is supposed to bear three features: enforcement of the regulatory framework, functional organization of procurement, and capable personnel with good working conditions (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 18–19; Thai 2009, 9–10). I review these features below.

3.3.1.1 Enforcement

In what concerns enforcement of the regulatory framework, two enabling factors stand out in the literature: the presence of an independent oversight entity for procurement (Estache and Foucart 2016, 22) and the provision of transparent procedures (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 75; Haber 2017, 146; Tran, Molenaar, and Kolli 2017, 785). Manifestly, these factors depend on political will to implement them, which means procuring entities and procurement officials usually have limited influence over them (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 18; Estache and Foucart 2016, 22).

3.3.1.2 Organization

With respect to the organization of the public procurement system, it concerns how procurement is structured in terms of administrative units and how activities are performed (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 19). Two characteristics of the organization of procurement appear as desirable. First, centralization of procurement is regarded as a way to improve efficiency, since it would reduce duplication and fragmentation of activities (Glas, Schaupp, and Essig 2017, 583). It is suggested that centralization should be implemented by means of a central office for all public purchasing (OECD 2015, 10; Haber 2017, 149). Second, keeping procurement proceedings as simple as possible is seen as a way to encourage the participation of new bidders and thus strengthen economic competition (Gershon 1999, 4; Dini, Pacini, and Valletti 2006, 302; Nakabayashi 2009, 96; Lahdenperä 2013, 415; OECD 2015, 8; World Bank 2016, 19; Saad 2016, 439). Simplicity could be achieved by means of standard practices and performance measures (Gershon 1999, 4; Schapper, Malta, and Gilbert 2006, 12; Watermeyer 2009, 1), as well as objective criteria for selecting bidders (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 440; Lynch 2011). However, centralization and simplicity conflict with policy studies underlining the need for context-sensitive policies (Fischer 1990, 217; Wilson 2000, 342; Coletti 2013, 89). Since each procurement procedure may be regarded as a second design phase of procurement policies (Alexander and Richmond 2007, 54; Kosar 2011, 300; Vohnsen 2017,

137), procurement officials can be caught between these contradictory needs (Wilson 2000, 315; Murray 2009, 94).

3.3.1.3 Personnel

In regard to personnel, scholars mention that independent, skilled procurement officials holding a high level of integrity as well as specialized knowledge and experience are a necessary condition for a well-functioning procurement system (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 20; Cox and Ireland 2002, 414; Sporrong and Bröchner 2009, 26; Tran, Molenaar, and Kolli 2017, 783). In this line, there is a tendency to consider that procurement officials ought to be highly trained professionals (Erridge 2000, 22). In many jurisdictions, however, the work of procurement officials is still regarded as a clerical task, consequently little attention is given to improving their skills (Callender and Matthews 2000, 281; Thai 2001, 40–41).

Reflecting this lack of adequate training, there is often a mismatch between procurement officials' skills and their responsibilities (Feldman 1989, 70). Furthermore, procurement officials are often overworked (OECD 2000, 13) and they have difficulty in dealing with the extent and complexity of most procurement regulations (Borg et al. 2006, 240; Prier and McCue 2009, 352), as well as with the contradictions between primary and secondary procurement objectives (Beviglia-Zampetti 1997, 274; Flynn and Davis 2015, 116), which I will discuss in Section 3.4. It is revealing of these difficulties that procurement officials consider as their most important tasks those related to compliance with rules and assuring coherence within their procedures (McCue, Prier, and Steinfeld 2020, 10).

As discussed above, implementing an adequate procurement environment can be very challenging. In reality, procurement officials, usually overworked and lacking skills, have to balance between respecting their budgets, reaching primary and secondary objectives, and complying with complex laws (Thai 2009, 2; Bergman and Lundberg 2011, 5; Schapper and Malta 2011, 10; Hudon 2013, 62; McCue, Prier, and Steinfeld 2020, 13).

3.3.2 Regulatory framework

Regulatory framework can be defined as the set of legal rules in a jurisdiction applicable to a certain subject (NRGI 2015, 2). Public procurement regulatory framework is considered the determining shaper of the procurement system in each jurisdiction (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 13; Thai 2001, 17; Prier and McCue 2009, 333). Since public procurement is framed by administrative law, procurement officials' actions must be bounded by the procurement regulatory framework (Forges 1991, 77; Castro and Lopes 2004, 32; Mello 2010, 76; McCue, Prier, and Steinfeld 2020, 4). For this reason, I will discuss this topic in further detail.

Regulatory frameworks vary on their level of prescription for procurement procedures. They may be situated in a continuum going from a maximalist approach, reflecting a highly regulated and detailed framework, to a minimalist approach, reflecting a deregulated framework that leaves a lot of discretion in the hands of procurement officials (Schapper, Malta, and Gilbert 2006, 21; Rosilho 2011, 21). The ideal framework should strike a balance between two issues that are inherent in public procurement: preventing corruption and reducing red tape (Sclar 2000, 155,157; Wilson 2000, ix; Thai 2001, 26; Armeanu 2011, 181; Saad 2016, 428). I discuss these two concepts below, drawing from scholarly literature on these matters.

3.3.2.1 Corruption and red tape

Although not consensual, a standard scholarly definition of corruption is the misuse of public funds for private gains (Garzon 2006, 400; Atkinson 2011, 447). Since procurement is one of the principal ways by which governments spend public funds, it is fertile ground for corruption, and corrupt activities may take place in any phase of a procurement procedure (Low, Mattoo, and Subramanian 1997, 226; Rose-Ackerman 1997, 31; Thomas et al. 2000, 229; Dorée 2004, 147; Transparency International 2006, 7; OECD 2009, 9; Hudon 2011, 269; Sanchez-Graells 2014, 5,11; Boisvert and Lacroix 2015, 12; Reeves-Latour 2017, 257). Due to the vulnerability of procurement to corruption, a strict regulatory framework, determining how each activity should be done and establishing heavy oversight

procedures, may be preferred (Burguet and Che 2004, 61; Berkovich 2015, 16; Reeves-Latour 2017, 267). However, too much legal prescription leads to red tape (Anechiarico and Jacobs 1996, xv; Schapper, Malta, and Gilbert 2006, 6; Prier and McCue 2009, 352).

Red tape is usually defined in the academic literature as rules that impose a burden but that are ineffective (Kaufman 1977, 5; Bozeman 2000, 2; Pandey and Scott 2002, 567; Bozeman and Feeney 2015, 46). Like corruption, it is also seen as an intrinsic characteristic of public procurement (Kelman 2005, 10). Red tape in procurement may be created not only for fighting corruption, but also for reaching secondary procurement goals of the public administration (Wilson 2000, 315, 326; Walker and Brewer 2009, 425; Schapper and Malta 2011, 1). Red tape increases transaction costs for bidders, which in turn reduces economic competition (Nakabayashi 2009, 97; Mamavi 2015, 53; World Bank 2016, 33).

3.3.2.2 Finding a balance

The quest for a balance between too much and too little regulation has been going on for centuries (Mill [1859] 1978, 5). From the preceding discussion, one may understand that the focus of maximalist approaches in public procurement is preventing corruption, whereas in minimalist approaches, it is reducing red tape. Critics of the maximalist approach note that it reduces the flexibility of the process, so goods and services that are not standard, such as architectural services, must be procured by the same methods used for standard ones, such as office supplies (Anechiarico and Jacobs 1996, 132; Schapper, Malta, and Gilbert 2006, 10; Rosilho 2011, 203). The maximalist approach is also accused of reducing the efficiency of the procurement process (Rose-Ackerman 1997, 46; Fenech and Petit 1998, 31; Gershon 1999, 14; Wilson 2000, 323; Pandey and Moynihan 2006, 130; Schapper and Malta 2011, 3; Lahdenperä 2013, 415) and of limiting innovation (Obwegeser and Müller 2015, 2). Moreover, the costly formalities imposed by maximalist approaches may not always be efficient in reducing corruption (Anechiarico and Jacobs 1996, 172; Hira 2016, 13).

Given the arguments above, some scholars suggest that the future of procurement is in the hands of minimalist approaches (Lawther and Martin 2005, 212; Kelman 2005, 16;

Schapper and Malta 2011, 3). However, without oversight, minimalist approaches may worsen the problems related to corruption (Hudon 2011, 270; Schapper and Malta 2011, 14; Stazyk, Pandey, and Wright 2011, 608), which would point back to a focus on its prevention. I illustrate this paradox on Figure 4.



Figure 4 - Paradox of regulatory framework approaches

To circumvent this issue, Hira (2016, 3) proposes a minimalist approach based on reinforced accountability, meaning that managers will be given ample discretionary powers, but their decisions will be audited. Nevertheless, audits also reduce public sector performance (Anechiarico and Jacobs 1996, 149; Estache and Foucart 2016, 23), so the solution for an ideal regulatory framework may lie outside the level of prescriptions.

It is generally accepted that too much control leads to a focus on activities that are not the primary activities of public organizations (Anechiarico and Jacobs 1996, 149; O'Neill 2013). Decreasing control implies enlarging the discretionary powers of public officials. However, scholars warn that an increase in discretionary powers ought to be provided only to public officials whose level of professionalism is high (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 20; Fabre 2014, 172). Therefore, the balance between maximalist and minimalist approaches for regulatory frameworks would depend primarily on procurement officials' level of professionalism.

Because organization members have different levels of professionalism in a jurisdiction (Coêlho and Fernandes 2017, 694), it is very difficult to devise a regulatory framework that would address the needs of every procuring entity. This difficulty has led to never-ending regulatory reforms that oscillate between the maximalist and the minimalist approaches (Wilson 2000, 342; Schapper, Malta, and Gilbert 2006, 13; Pegnato 2009, 68). The constant reforms of procurement regulatory framework come with additional problems related to the learning curve costs of new rules (Sclar 2000, 44–45). Some scholars suggest thus that policy-makers should invest in improving procurement officials' integrity and skills instead of endlessly reforming the regulatory framework in their jurisdiction (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 22; Beth 2005, 106; Schiele and Mccue 2006, 317; Lipsky 2019b).

3.4 Objectives in public procurement

One important characteristic of public procurement, which distinguishes it from private procurement, is that one of the parties involved – the procuring entity – is expected to represent the public interest (Dewey [1927] 2016; McCrudden 2007, 3; Dotti, Lopes, and Villac 2014, 35). Policy-makers can thus use public procurement as a tool for the implementation of policies that have no direct relation to the subject matter of procurement – in other words, outcomes of procurement procedures may go beyond the procuring entity's organizational goals (Thai 2001, 27; McCrudden 2007, 375; Alencastro, Fuertes, and Wilde 2017, 11). Accordingly, policies on procurement may require that procurement officials reach two types of objectives: primary and secondary objectives (Arrowsmith 2003, 325; Richard 2003, 105; Fabre 2014, 172; Guarnieri and Gomes 2019, 2).

Primary objectives are those related to the price and to the quality of the subject matter of procurement (Arrowsmith 2003, 325; Armeanu 2011, 186). In this regard, it is consensual

amongst scholars that public procurement main primary objective should be the purchase of items that offer optimal value for procuring entities, and that a high level of economic competition is the best way to achieve such efficient allocation of resources (Mill [1859] 1978, 94; Beviglia-Zampetti 1997, 274; Sclar 2000, 9; Collins, Trebilcock, and Winter 2003, 18, 143; Abramo 2005, 127; Chong, Staropoli, and Yvrande-Billon 2014, 2; Boland 2017, 40).

Secondary objectives are those related to policy objectives aiming the common good, without necessarily having a relation with the subject matter of procurement (Beviglia-Zampetti 1997, 275; Arrowsmith 2003, 325; Guarnieri and Gomes 2019, 2). In this vein, public procurement has been increasingly employed as a means for reaching organizations' strategic goals (Staples and Dalrymple 2016, 222; Glas, Schaupp, and Essig 2017, 573; Guarnieri and Gomes 2019, 12). Some examples of secondary objectives are economic development, fostering innovation, improving sustainability or affirmative actions (Transparency International 2006, 17; Chong, Staropoli, and Yvrande-Billon 2014, 2; Dodd, Garbarino, and Caldas 2016, 1; Guarnieri and Gomes 2019, 20). Different organizations and jurisdictions have different priorities concerning their primary and secondary procurement objectives (Schapper, Malta, and Gilbert 2009, 100; Ruparathna and Hewage 2015, 4; Glas, Schaupp, and Essig 2017, 594–95; McCue, Prier, and Steinfeld 2020, 12). Therefore, procurement procedures for the same subject matter of procurement may vary from one procuring entity to another.

3.5 Transparency in public procurement

Transparency is an issue that permeates all spheres of the public administration (Bernier 2012). It refers to providing to the public "the objectives of policy, its legal, institutional, and economic framework, policy decisions and their rationale, data and information related to monetary and financial policies, and the terms of agencies' accountability" (OECD 2002).

Although transparency is not the main focus of this research, it is an intrinsic element in public procurement (Armeanu 2011, 186; Thai 2017, 15). It is usually seen as a positive trait, not only because it is related to reducing corruption (Garzon and Hafsi 2007, 71; Hira 2016, 3; Mourão and Cantu 2014, 76), but also for its beneficial effects on democracy and society (Arendt [1948] 2002, 529; Crick 2002, 92). In this regard, the Brazilian government stated that the main goal of its procurement regulations is transparency (Brasil 2018c).

Yet, to yield positive results, transparency must go beyond just providing data; it must provide information in a timely manner that is accessible by the public (O'Neill 2013). In other words, concerned parties should not only be able to get the information they want when they need it, they should also be able to understand this information (Bernier 2012).

Regulations for providing transparency in public procurement are usually associated with a maximalist regulatory framework (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 75). They are thus related to a reduction in procurement officials' discretion, which may lead to less efficiency in procurement procedures (Epstein 2008, 20; Keeler 2013, 184).

3.6 Project delivery methods

One specific feature of procurement for construction and its corresponding architectural and engineering services is that there may be different possible *project delivery methods*, depending on the regulatory framework in place. A project delivery method can be defined as "the process by which a construction project is comprehensively designed and constructed" (Touran et al. 2011, 3). Project delivery methods should not be confused with solicitation methods, which will be explained on Section 3.8. Project delivery methods in public procurement concern the choice of outsourcing design and construction separately or together (Park and Kwak 2017, 281).

Two project delivery methods stand out in practice for public procurement: the design-bidbuild approach (DBB) and the design-build approach (DB)⁸ (Touran et al. 2011, 10; Park

⁸ In the Brazilian regulatory framework, DB is referred to as integrated contracting (*contratação integrada*).

and Kwak 2017, 281). These two methods bespeak the relation between construction and design: construction presupposes a preliminary design of the infrastructure or building to be constructed (Regan, Love, and Smith 2015, 411; IAB 2013b, 1). In this context, design refers to the production of architectural and engineering drawings and specifications – in other words, it refers to the production of a project.

DBB is regarded as the traditional approach for procurement of construction (Hudon 2011, 271; Touran et al. 2011, 3). By means of DBB, procuring entities can decide whether to produce the project in house or to contract it out. When they decide to contract out the project, the procurement procedure is split in two, one for the project and one for the construction. In this case, a professional or a firm is selected for producing the project, while a contractor is selected in a later procurement procedure for the construction (Davis, Love, and Baccarini 2008, 8; Touran et al. 2011, 3; Ruparathna and Hewage 2015, 3; Alencastro, Fuertes, and Wilde 2017, 12). Using DBB, procuring entities are supposed to have a good notion of what the building or infrastructure will cost before engaging in the procurement of construction (Park and Kwak 2017, 280). The main drawbacks are that the delivery of the infrastructure or building may take too long, since DBB implies two procurement procedures, and that DBB does not encourage the combination of skills amongst the design and the construction teams (Ruparathna and Hewage 2015, 4).

In DB, design and construction are one integrated process, which should be based on the needs specified by the procuring entity. In this case, there is only one procurement procedure, in which procurement officials choose the firm responsible for both the design and the construction, usually referred to as the design-builder (Davis, Love, and Baccarini 2008, 10; Touran et al. 2011, 4; Alencastro, Fuertes, and Wilde 2017, 12). Since in DB there is only one procurement procedure, this approach is seen as a way to produce results more quickly (Touran et al. 2011, 18). Nevertheless, DB implies more risk for the procuring entity, given that the absence of a project when the process is started means ample opportunity for extra claims by the design-builder (Ruparathna and Hewage 2015, 4). The choice between DBB and DB depends not only on the acceptable level of risk, but also on what is legally feasible given the regulatory framework in place (Touran et al. 2011, 23; Park and Kwak 2017, 281). Despite its potential benefits, DB was not allowed under Brazilian regulations until the adoption of Law 12.462, in 2011, and it remains restricted to certain needs of the government (Brasil 1993, Art. 9, 2011a; Albuquerque, Mendes Primo, and Pereira 2015, 835). This topic will be further reviewed on Section 6.2.4.

3.7 Phases of public procurement

The process of public procurement can be quite complex, especially in jurisdictions adopting a maximalist approach. For a better understanding of the process, scholars propose to divide it into phases (Ruparathna and Hewage 2015, 9; Alencastro, Fuertes, and Wilde 2017, 11). The phases of procurement are sets of activities that the procuring entity has to take sequentially to obtain the subject matter of procurement (Ruparathna and Hewage 2015, 3). These phases may be summarized in three main steps: pre-contractual phase, selection phase and administration phase (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 1), as I illustrate in Figure 5.



(based on Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000)

The pre-contractual phase involves needs assessment, specification of the subject matter of procurement, determining solicitation methods, determining awarding process, devising selection criteria, securing of funds, and preparation of procurement documents.

The selection phase involves soliciting bidders, selecting submissions presented by bidders, as well as negotiating and signing the contract — this phase is referred to as *procurement proceedings*. The administration phase comprises monitoring the delivery of the subject matter of procurement, arranging for payment and applying sanctions if needed (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 1; Fazekas, Toth, and King 2013, 10; Ibem and Laryea 2014, 16; UNCITRAL 2014, Art. 2; Ruparathna and Hewage 2015, 4; Alencastro, Fuertes, and Wilde 2017, 11). Procurement officials devise criteria during the pre-contractual phase, including them in the procurement documents, and they judge bidders' compliance with criteria during the selection phase.

3.8 Solicitation methods

Solicitation methods refer to the way the procuring entity solicits proposals from bidders (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 459). Depending on the regulatory framework, there may be a large spectrum of methods available (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 459; Thai 2009, 18). The most common methods are (1) open tendering, which is open to any person or firm interested in submitting a bid; (2) request for proposals, in which the procuring entity invites a restricted number of pre-qualified bidders to submit a proposal; (3) request for quotations, in which firms are invited to submit a price for a specified off-the-shelf good; (4) single source procurement, in which there is only one person or firm available for providing the good or service procured; (5) electronic reverse auctions, in which firms successively submit bids using an online tool during a period of time; and (6) prize competitions, which are used in some jurisdictions for the purchasing of services that demand creative input (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 459–60; Arrowsmith 2003, 295; UNCITRAL 2014, Art. 27).

The best method would depend on the nature of the subject matter of procurement, within the limits provided by the regulatory framework (Thai 2009, 31). For instance, the Brazilian law allows open tendering for the procurement of any subject matter (Brasil 1993, Art. 23 § 4). However, procurement officials may prefer to employ reverse auctions, which are simpler than open tendering, for buying off-the-shelf goods; or they may be better off using single source procurement for the restoration of a work of art. Both methods are also provided by the Brazilian law in such cases, granting discretion to procurement officials on this matter. The choice of solicitation method is an important task in procurement, for it determines the pool of possible bidders and how the winner will be selected, including the technical criteria used for selecting them (Ruparathna and Hewage 2015, 6).

3.9 Typology of criteria in procurement

According to scholarly literature, criteria for selecting bidders and awarding a contract in public procurement may be classified in two dimensions: (1) according to their use, they can be qualification or evaluation criteria; and (2) according to their nature, they can be price and non-price criteria. I review these categories in this section.

3.9.1 Qualification and evaluation criteria

According to their use, criteria in public procurement may be classified in two categories: qualification criteria and evaluation criteria (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 585, 600; Mello 2010, 583–84; UNCITRAL 2014, Art. 9, Art. 11).

Qualification criteria are those used to filter out bidders who would not be able to deliver the item being procured⁹. Thus, these criteria are applied on the past or present situation of bidders to determine their eligibility to a particular procurement procedure (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 689; Manoliadis and Tsolas 2009, 251; UNCITRAL 2014, Art. 9). *Experience of the workforce* would be an example of qualification criterion applied to the past situation of a bidder, while *structure and available tools* is an example of qualification criteria applied to the present situation of a bidder (Motta 2000, 121; Semple 2015, 98). Qualification criteria are very important because they have a strong influence in the degree of economic competition in procurement (Beviglia-Zampetti 1997, 281; Stake 2017, 1160).

⁹ In Québec, qualification criteria correspond to *conditions d'admissibilité*, according to the *Règlement sur certains contrats de services des organismes publics* (Québec 2008, Art. 6).

Many types of qualification criteria can be employed in public procurement, depending on the regulatory framework (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 587; Fiuza and Medeiros 2014, 11). For instance, the European Union rules on public procurement establish that legal, financial and technical criteria should be used to qualify bidders (Semple 2015, 98). The United Nations, in their model law for public procurement, proposes the inclusion of ethical, fiscal and criminal criteria as qualification criteria, in addition to the aforementioned ones (UNCITRAL 2014, 9–10).

Evaluation criteria¹⁰, on the other hand, are used to assess which submission offers the best value for money for the procuring entity (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 598; Burger and Hawkesworth 2011, 92; UNCITRAL 2014, Art. 11). Evaluation criteria comprise mainly price and technical criteria, but in some cases they may also include factors such as bidders' financial capabilities or socioeconomic policy goals (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 600, 674; UNCITRAL 2014, Art. 11).

Arrowsmith, Linarelli and Wallace Jr provide a clear explanation of the difference between qualification criteria and evaluation criteria: "Evaluation criteria are used in a relative sense, in order to compare or rank offers. Qualification factors are not applied in this fashion. A firm's qualifications are judged against some standard and not relative to the qualifications of other firms" (2000, 689). Evaluation criteria are thus applied on bidders' submissions for a procurement procedure, whereas qualification criteria are applied on bidders themselves. I provide a summary of the categories of criteria according to their use on Table 1.

¹⁰ In Québec, technical evaluation criteria correspond to *critères d'évaluation de la qualité*, according to the *Règlement sur certains contrats de services des organismes publics* (Québec 2008, Art. 5, 6°).

Table 1 - Categories of criteria according to their use

Categories \rightarrow	Qualification	Evaluation
Function	To filter out bidders who would not be	To assess which submission offers
	able to deliver the item being procured	the best value for the procuring entity
Types	• Legal	
	Financial	
	Technical	Price
	Ethical	Technical
	Fiscal	
	Criminal	

The terminology reviewed above, however, is not consensual amongst scholars. For instance, Manoliadis and Tsolas name qualification criteria as "selection criteria", and evaluation criteria as "award criteria" (2009, 251); Holt employs the term "selection criteria" for both types of criteria (2010, 318); Volker and Meel apply the term "suitability criteria" to qualification criteria, and "award criteria" to evaluation criteria (2012, 26–27); Semple refers to qualification criteria as "eligibility criteria" (2015, 98). To minimize confusion in the application of these concepts, I will stick to the terminology suggested by the United Nations in their model law on public procurement (UNCITRAL 2014, Art. 9, Art. 11). Therefore, in this research, I will refer to criteria used to filter out bidders who would not be able to deliver the item being procured as *qualification criteria* and to criteria used to assess which submission offers the best value for money for the procuring entity as *evaluation criteria*.

3.9.2 Price and non-price criteria

According to their nature, criteria may be classified in two categories: price and non-price criteria. Price simply refers to the value proposed by bidders for an item being procured. All other criteria are non-price criteria. Examples of non-price criteria are legal, financial, technical, ethical, fiscal and criminal criteria (Manoliadis and Tsolas 2009, 251; UNCITRAL 2014, Art. 9; Semple 2015, 98).

Non-price criteria may include factors related to secondary procurement goals (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 674). For instance, they may include margins of preference for the benefit of certain suppliers (UNCITRAL 2014, Art. 11). The inclusion

of such factors increases the level of complexity of a procurement procedure (Snider and Walkner 2009, 616).

Non-price criteria may involve objective judgement, such as fiscal compliance, but also reflective judgement, such as technical quality or experience of the bidder. The use of non-price criteria implying reflective judgement may increase the risk of administrative and legal protests (Snider and Walkner 2009, 616; Scott et al in Tran, Molenaar, and Kolli 2017, 776), which are costly and time-consuming (Pegnato 2009, 75). Furthermore, non-price criteria can be used to direct the contract to a favoured bidder in a corrupt process (Transparency International 2006, 42; Fazekas, Toth, and King 2013, 21; Stake 2017, 1147). Despite the need for reflective judgement and their complexity, the use of non-price criteria is related to good results in procurement (Deis et al. 2009, 173).

3.10 Typology of procurement procedures

The choice of criteria in a procedure is associated with what type of procedure is employed. Procurement procedures may be classified in two dimensions, which are closely related to technical criteria: (1) according to the awarding process employed, they can be price-based, value-based or quality-based; and (2) according to the point when qualification of bidders is assessed, they can be pre-qualification or post-qualification procedures. I review these categories in the paragraphs below.

3.10.1 Price-, value- and quality-based procedures

Procurement procedures may be classified according to the awarding process they employ. Awarding process¹¹ refers to the way price and non-price criteria are used for selecting submissions and awarding a contract to the winning bidder (Armeanu 2011, 183). There are three main types of awarding processes, as shown on Figure 6. The first is price-based

¹¹ I use the term *awarding* as a translation for *adjudicação*, in Portuguese, and its equivalent *adjudication*, in French. Although the words "adjudicate" and "adjudication" exist in English (Merriam Webster 1996; Garner 2014a), the term *awarding* is more common in the context of public procurement (Castro 2010).

selection, in which the contract is awarded to the bidder asking for the lowest price. The second is quality-based selection, in which the contract is awarded to the bidder offering the highest quality, measured by a set of non-price criteria. The third is valuebased selection, in which the contract is awarded to the bidder offering an optimal combination of price and non-price criteria (Thai 2001, 17; Ruparathna and Hewage 2015, 6; Alencastro, Fuertes, and Wilde 2017, 12).



Figure 6 - Types of awarding process according to type of criteria

The types of awarding process and evaluation criteria are closely related. As seen in Section 3.9.1, price can only be used as an evaluation criterion. Therefore, price-based procedures imply that procurement officials do not judge evaluation criteria other than price. The winner of a price-based procedure will be the qualified bidder offering the lowest price. In such cases, procurement officials only need to devise qualification criteria. On the other hand, quality-based and value-based procedures imply that procurement officials need to devise qualification and evaluation criteria, for non-price evaluation criteria will be assessed.

Price-based selection is praised for its objectivity and for its simplicity, which are supposed to increase economic competition and consequently reduce corruption (Chong, Staropoli, and Yvrande-Billon 2014, 2; Boland 2017, 40; Stake 2017, 1160). On the other hand, this process is seen as the cause of low quality results, since it may attract unskilled providers (Sclar 2000, 109; Ruparathna and Hewage 2015, 6, 8; Ochrana and Hrnčířová 2015, 57; Tran, Molenaar, and Kolli 2017, 774). Price-based selection may also be used for collusion,

especially in contexts where economic competition is low (Rose-Ackerman 1997, 46; Transparency International 2006, 36).

Quality-based selection takes into account non-price evaluation criteria — typically technical criteria — which are supposed to assure the quality of the good or service being procured (Ochrana and Hrnčířová 2015, 45). However, this process may imply low levels of objectivity in the judgement of submissions (Deis et al. 2009, 158). Furthermore, since quality is often measured by experience (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 591), bidders with little experience can be left out of the process, which decreases economic competition (Estache and Iimi 2012, 452–53; Stake 2017, 1159). The focus being non-price criteria, the cost of the good or service is not known beforehand (RAIC 2016), so the procuring entity may bear a high financial risk when using quality-based selection.

Value-based selection aims at choosing the most advantageous offer for the procuring entity, seen as a compromise between the cost and the quality of the subject matter of procurement. Thus, it includes both price and non-price criteria as evaluation criteria (Tran, Molenaar, and Kolli 2017, 775). In this process, procuring entities establish scores for non-price criteria and for price, and they can apply different weights to each criterion according to their preferences and to the regulatory framework (Bergman and Lundberg 2011, 32). The balance between price and non-price criteria depends then on many factors that may be difficult to assess, such as the needs of the procuring entity or even society's values (Manoliadis and Tsolas 2009, 250; Bergman and Lundberg 2011, 3–4). Therefore value-based selection usually introduces subjective or reflective judgements and the problems associated with them. Furthermore, the scoring system yields a high level of complexity in the procurement process, which might become a problem in itself (Holt 2010, 304; Fiuza and Medeiros 2014, 58).

The choice of awarding process should take into consideration the item being procured and the objectives of the procuring entity, given the regulatory framework in place (Fiuza and Medeiros 2014, 38). While price-based procedures are deemed adequate for procuring simple goods and services, they are not usually seen as the most appropriate for complex

services, such as architectural services, since their awarding process would ignore the quality of the subject matter of procurement (Schapper, Malta, and Gilbert 2006, 10; Chong, Staropoli, and Yvrande-Billon 2014, 4–5; Fiuza and Medeiros 2014, 38). In spite of that, there is evidence showing that price-based procedures are the most used for complex services in some jurisdictions (Volker and Meel 2012, 25; Chong, Staropoli, and Yvrande-Billon 2014, 13). This situation may be due to the difficulties associated with the judgement of non-price criteria (Deis et al. 2009, 158).

3.10.2 Pre-qualification and post-qualification procedures

Procurement procedures may be categorized into pre-qualification or post-qualification procedures, depending on the point when qualification criteria are assessed (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 596).

Pre-qualification procedures imply that qualification is assessed before submissions are analyzed. Bidders who are not qualified will not be given the opportunity to participate in the process or will not have their proposals evaluated (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 596). Pre-qualification may even take place before procurement proceedings start, depending on the solicitation method employed and on the regulatory framework (UNCITRAL 2014, Art. 18). In Brazil, request for proposals is an example of solicitation method which includes pre-qualification procedures (Brasil 1993, Art. 22).

Post-qualification procedures imply that qualification is assessed after submissions are analyzed. However, only the winning bidders have their qualification assessed. If it turns out that the provisional winner is not qualified, the second-best submission is assessed and so on (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 596). Post-qualification procedures are in general less time-consuming for procurement officials than pre-qualification procedures (Rosilho 2011, 161). In Brazil, reverse auction is an example of a solicitation method in which post-qualification procedures are employed (Brasil 2002, Art. 4).

Pre-qualification procedures are usually very time consuming, especially when the number of bidders is high. For this reason, scholars suggest that their use should be limited to

complex procedures, which demand a closer scrutiny of bidders' experience. Nevertheless, post-qualification procedures also present inconveniences. Post-qualification introduces a bias towards the lowest bidder, because in this type of procedure procurement officials may rely on a completely objective criterion to justify their judgement. In such cases, the chances of selecting the bidder offering the optimal value for procuring entities may be reduced (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 76, 596; Arrowsmith 2003, 232). Therefore, procurement officials are expected to evaluate which type of procedure would be most appropriate to the nature of the subject matter of procurement.

3.11 Considerations on public procurement concepts

In this chapter, I presented the main concepts that will be used in the remaining of this thesis, namely procurement system, which comprises the procurement environment and the regulatory framework; procurement delivery methods; solicitation methods; types of criteria; and types of procedures. It is important to underline that, in accordance with the regulatory framework in a jurisdiction, the type of items being procured (construction, goods or services) and their value will usually determine solicitation methods and types of procedures employed, which in turn are related to whether only qualification criteria or a combination of qualification criteria, but they are closely related to solicitation methods and to the items procured – in this case, architectural services. These three concepts are the core of the empirical inquiry developed in this thesis.

In the following chapter I will review the literature dealing specifically with procurement of architectural services.

4 Literature review on procurement of architectural services

In this chapter I will address the literature on procurement of architectural services. As mentioned before, technical criteria and solicitation methods in procurement depend on the nature of the subject matter of procurement (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 19; Chappel and Dunn 2016, 395). Therefore, I shall deal here with the nature of architectural services, and I will review studies on technical criteria and on solicitation methods used for procuring them.

4.1 Nature of architectural services

As reviewed in Section 3.1, there are three main types of items that can be procured: construction, goods and services. Services can be further classified as common services, such as street cleaning, or as professional services, which are those of intellectual nature, requiring specialized knowledge or skills (Perreault 2020, 23–24). Architectural services are considered professional services, and procuring this type of service is a challenge for procurement officials (Castro and Lopes 2004, 224; Schiele and Mccue 2006, 319). Procurement of professional services should be different from the procurement of goods, construction or common services, due to their higher complexity; this is particularly true for architecture, which involves a strong creative component (Schapper, Malta, and Gilbert 2006, 10; Sporrong and Bröchner 2009, 25; Estache and Iimi 2012, 454; Sporrong 2014, 24). Questions that emerge then concern what architectural services are and what is particular to these services, differentiating them from other professional services. I will discuss these topics in the following sections.

4.1.1 Characteristics of architectural services

In Section 2.3 I have introduced the concept of architectural services, which include an array of different tasks related to design and construction (Lewis 1985, 185; Chappel and Dunn 2016, 141). The task that is unique to architecture, which distinguishes architects from other construction professionals, is spatial design, which can be understood as

the organizing of physical spaces for social use (Lemos 1986, 40; Santos 1988, 17; Graeff 2006, 40; Holanda 2013, 46; Kohlsdorf and Kohlsdorf 2017, 28). In this research, I focus on architectural services as spatial design.

Architects employ a creative and iterative process in the activity of spatial design (Niemeyer in Lemos 1986, 38; Waldrep 2014, 4–5; Kohlsdorf and Kohlsdorf 2017, 35). Each design possibility is assessed in comparison to other design options. Yet, it is not possible to determine for sure which design would be the final, best one for responding to the client's needs and to its context. Thus, architecture is said to belong to the domain of possibilities (Hillier, Musgrove, and O'Sullivan 1972, 6; Hillier 2008, 217; Kohlsdorf and Kohlsdorf 2017, 436, 452).

Another particularity of architecture is the collaborative character of its production. The client's capacity has a strong impact on results, because it is up to the clients to clarify their needs and to adapt their expectations to the constraints and to their own budgets (Lewis 1985, 208; Larson 1993, 5; Volker 2012, 756; Sporrong 2014, 59). In this regard, the success of a project relies both on the architect's skills and on the client's skills (Tschumi 2012, 748; Strîmbu 2013, 62; Dobbs et al. 2013, 6; Renzo Piano in Rybczynski 2014, 235) – the client being usually represented by procurement officials, in the case of public procurement.

4.1.2 Dimensions in architecture

When producing spatial design, architects must consider two dimensions of the object that will be eventually constructed: the technical dimension and the aesthetic dimension (Hegel [1835] 2010, 27; Gropius in Johnson 1994, 85; Zevi 1957, 28; Lasdun 1977, 367; Lemos 1986, 7; Behrens in Murray 1994; Ballantyne 2002a, 3; Rybczynski 2014, 5). These two dimensions correspond to the form–function duality, which is inherent to architecture, as argued by philosopher Henri Lefebvre ([1974] 1991, 144–45).

The technical dimension is related to the function of the object. It regards the best way to organize the space in its context. In the design process, architects must therefore consider

many factors, especially the program (the needs of the client), the site, the historical context of the site, the budget, structural feasibility and legal constraints (Lemos 1986, 41; Aalto in Weston 1995, 122; Holt 2010, 309, 316–17; Mascaro 2010, 14; Tschumi 2012, 747; Holanda 2013, 45).

In general, the aesthetic dimension is related to the subjective assessment of beauty or pleasure derived from something, which can be a physical object or a non-physical entity, such as music (Koren 2010, 55). In architecture, it concerns the way a constructed object is apprehended by one's cognitive faculties (Kant [1790] 2007, 204; Noack 2009, 105).

The difference between the technical and the aesthetic dimensions can be grasped by the distinction between "good" and "beautiful" proposed by Thomas Aquinas. Pursuant to his teachings, "good" is a desired characteristic of things; it is related to the finality of an object. "Beautiful", on the other hand, is related to the pleasure received when something is perceived (Aquinas 1960, 262). Accordingly, the technical dimension – function – is related to the notion of good, whereas the aesthetic dimension – form – is related to the notion of beautiful. Thus, it is contended that the technical dimension of a project can be evaluated by a reflective judgement regarding the project's adequacy to its finality (Mizanzuk 2013, 76; Portugal 2013, 82), whereas evaluating the aesthetic dimension would imply a highly subjective judgement (Larson 1993, 187; Nagel 1997, 26; Escoubas 2017, 69). The need to combine different types of judgement renders the practice of architecture inherently complex (Venturi 1977, 16).

It is also worth noting that architects claim their authority on aesthetic qualities of the built environment (Lemos 1986, 40; Larson 1993, 4; Freidson 2001, 172). But aesthetic qualities depend on an individual's perception of pleasure (Dewey [1934] 2005, 56; Nagel 1986, 164; Baggini 2005, 74; Lories 2009, 142). In turn, an individual's perception of pleasure would be influenced by the cultural context of this person (Bourdieu [1997] 2015, 107; Kohlsdorf and Kohlsdorf 2017, 63). In this regard, it has been documented that architects and non-architects often disagree on the aesthetic value of a building (Santos 1988, 17; Kohlsdorf and Kohlsdorf 2017, 420). To recap the discussion thereupon, architectural services are professional services of a creative and collaborative nature producing spatial design. They encompass two dimensions: technical and aesthetic. Architects must employ their technical knowledge and their aesthetic sensibility when designing a project, which is the final product of spatial design. Each project is thus unique in its way to respond to the client's needs and its context (Larson 1993, 7; Cox and Ireland 2002, 413). Based on these concepts, I summarize the process of spatial design on Figure 7.





Due mainly to the cognitive process involved in aesthetic appreciation, judging an architectural project or judging an architect's body of work can be challenging (Ballantyne 2002b, 48; Sporrong 2014, 7). Aesthetic judgement calls for specific criteria, which would require a thesis on their own (Foisy, Thérien, and Trépanier 2009, 5). For this reason, the aesthetic dimension of architecture will remain out of the scope of this research, as already mentioned in Section 1.1.

4.2 Solicitation methods for procurement of architectural services

There are three main solicitation methods for procurement of architectural services: open tendering, requests for proposals and prize competitions (Strong 1996, 19–20; Volker 2012, 749). In an open tendering, bidders do not submit a design, the awarding process is usually price-based¹², meaning that technical criteria can only be used as qualification criteria. In a

¹² As it will be discussed later (Section 6.2.2.4), an open tendering can be price-based or value-based under the Brazilian regulatory framework.

request for proposals, procurement officials invite previously selected architects or firms to submit a bid, and they may also ask for a preliminary design. The awarding process in this case may be price-based or value-based, meaning that technical criteria can be used as qualification criteria and as evaluation criteria. In a prize competition, the awarding process is quality-based, meaning that the qualification of bidders is assessed and qualified bidders are asked to submit a preliminary design, upon which evaluation criteria are applied (Strong 1996, 19–20).

Each solicitation method has a different target. In an open tendering, procurement officials choose a monetary value; in a request for proposals, procurement officials choose an architect; in a prize competition, procurement officials choose a design (Strong 1996, 19; Volker and Meel 2012, 28). Since the goal of a prize competition is choosing a design, it is suggested that aesthetic qualities of the proposed object should be judged by a jury composed of procurement officials, members of the public and architects (Abramo 2005, 129). An analysis of recent prize competitions in architecture shows that this solicitation method has been used only for services concerning new construction or expansion of buildings (Collyer 2016, 4–5).

Open tendering seems to be procurement officials' favourite method, but it is criticized by architects for it does not take into account the quality of the service delivered (Strong 1996, 28; Council of State Governments in Qiao and Cummings 2003, 224; Baeta 2014). In jurisdictions where the legal framework forbids open tendering for architectural services (for instance, in the European Union), procurement officials are likely to use request for proposals, since this method will assure them that an experienced firm will be chosen (Volker and Meel 2012, 25,27). Nevertheless, some architects regard request for proposals as disguised nepotism (Strong 1996, 9). Prize competitions, too, are not consensual matter amongst architects. In the one hand, some view prize competitions as a fair way of selecting architects, encouraging creative and unconventional solutions (Lewis 1985, 208; Volker and Meel 2012, 27). One the other hand, some criticize prize competitions because they are usually poorly managed and because of the little interaction between architects and clients offered by them (Lewis 1985, 208). Furthermore, in prize competitions architects

47

must present a preliminary design without being paid for it (Rybczynski 2014, 30). This unpaid cost can be prohibitive for small firms (Strong 1996, 27–28).

As discussed above, the best solicitation method for architectural services is controversial matter (Strong 1996, 28). But in all three solicitation methods reviewed, technical criteria are used as qualification criteria, and they can be used as evaluation criteria in request for proposals and prize competitions. It is suggested that procurement officials set technical criteria based on the characteristics of the desired project (Holt 2010, 318–19; Volker and Meel 2012, 27; Dobbs et al. 2013, 5). In this regard, it would be useful for practitioners to know what technical criteria have been successful in practice for projects of similar characteristics (Molenaar 1997, 3; Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 679; Ruparathna and Hewage 2015, 1). I will review the literature on this topic in the following section.

4.3 Technical criteria in practice

Technical criteria are very important in procurement for architectural services, as hinted above. These criteria may range from traditional ones, e.g. prior experience in designing the type of building being procured, to more unconventional ones, such as "ability to think laterally" (Schaik 2010, 14). However, architects question the suitability of some technical criteria, especially experience, arguing that the ability to design or to propose innovative ideas is not necessarily related to experience (Lewis 1985, 199; Schaik 2010, 14; Volker and Meel 2012, 27; Rybczynski 2014, 31).

But what criteria are actually used in public procurement? Unfortunately, empirical studies on technical criteria for the procurement of architectural services are scarce and concentrated in the European Union (Volker 2012, 751; Sporrong 2014, 3). I will sum up these studies in the following paragraphs.

The most comprehensive research on the matter seems to be Josefin Sporrong's thesis, "Selecting Architectural and Engineering Consultants: Municipal Practices in Sweden" (2014), which includes five of her articles. In one of these papers, "Criteria in consultant selection: public procurement of architectural and engineering services" (2011), Sporrong applied a survey to find out which criteria are used by Swedish municipal officials. Sporrong does not consider a particular theoretical or conceptual framework; she rather employs the Swedish regulatory framework to analyze her data (Sporrong 2011, 62). Results show that procurement officials hesitate to apply technical evaluation criteria because they find it difficult to judge such criteria. When technical evaluation criteria are used, the most cited are "individual experience of key project personnel", "education" and "personality-related criteria" (Sporrong 2011, 65). Interestingly, none of these are related to the item being procured (the architectural or engineering service), but rather to bidder's characteristics, as reviewed in Section 2.2. Less often cited were criteria such as "technical aspects of design" and "innovative/creative solutions", which are related to the service procured (Sporrong 2011, 66). The author also asked officials what sources of information they used for supporting their selection. The most cited sources were previous experience with providers and references (2011, 67). She notes that such practices conflict with the Swedish regulatory framework, which establishes that all bidders should be treated equally and that procurement officials should not use personal sources of information for selecting bidders (Sporrong 2011, 71).

In a study focused on the Netherlands, Volker and Meel (2012) analyze practices for selecting bidders in public procurement of architectural services, aiming to improve such practices within the bounds of the European Union regulatory framework. They do not employ a particular theoretical or conceptual framework in this paper. Rather, their research is based mainly in a review of the European Union procurement regulations and, to a lesser extent, in four case studies. With these data at hand, they tried to identify the most important issues in procurement for architectural services, from architects' perspective and from procurement officials' perspective (Volker and Meel 2012, 24). They found that European Union regulations on procurement grant a great deal of discretion to procurement officials for devising technical criteria. Furthermore, contrary to the Swedish situation described by Sporrong, Dutch procurement officials employ technical evaluation criteria, including criteria related to the items procured, in the majority of procurement processes for

architectural services. Technical evaluation criteria employed comprise the assessment of a schematic design or even of a detailed design proposal including cost calculations (Volker and Meel 2012, 25). On the other hand, Volker and Meel corroborated that judging technical evaluation criteria is very challenging for procurement officials, who often have to fit a reflective judgement of the quality of submissions within a regulatory framework that stresses the need for objectivity. They recommended to overcome this challenge by granting a bigger role to experts from outside the procuring entity in the evaluation of submissions (Volker and Meel 2012, 29). They also suggest that, within the boundaries established by the regulatory framework, the best solicitation method "depends on the type of project, making a distinction between innovative projects that may require 'naïve' and fresh creativity, and conventional projects that may ask for certainty and risk avoidance" (Volker and Meel 2012, 30). Their argument is in line with what I reviewed in Section 4.2 concerning the relation between choice of solicitation method and the clients' target.

Still focusing on the Dutch context, Professor Leentje Volker analyzed procurement officials' decision-making process in procurement for architectural services in order to provide guidelines for future procurement. She studied procurement officials' judgement of criteria using the concept of sensemaking and investigated how the regulatory framework bounds their sensemaking. Based mainly on an ethnographic approach, she examined two cases of procurement of architectural services. Volker noted that gaining access to procurement information in the Netherlands proved harder than expected (Volker 2012, 751). She concluded that, in an ideal situation, technical criteria for architectural services should be flexible and emerge during the process of evaluation of submissions by procurement officials, but she recognizes that this approach would be hard to justify under the perspective of Dutch laws (Volker 2012, 756).

It must be mentioned that two out of three studies mentioned above forgo any theoretical or conceptual framework in their analysis. This is in line with studies mentioned in Section 3.2 regarding the small role of theory in public procurement research.

Both Sporrong and Volker have pointed that procurement officials find it problematic to judge technical criteria in a context of legal frameworks that demand objectivity, transparency, efficiency and achievement of secondary goals (Volker 2012, 756; Sporrong 2014, 27). Procurement officials' lack of skills for judging architectural services further hardens this problem (Sporrong and Bröchner 2009, 32; Sporrong 2011, 69). Architects have criticized procurement officials' work on technical criteria, stating that procurement officials tend to ask for compliance with formalities instead of judging technical qualities of architects or technical qualities of proposed designs (Volker and Meel 2012, 20).

In what concerns future research possibilities, Volker proposes to explore the relationship between the technical criteria demanded and results in procurement by comparing different cases of procurement procedures (Volker 2012, 757). Sporrong hints towards two research paths that could be useful for practitioners: (1) assessing the influence of current solicitation methods and criteria on the development of skills by architectural firms, and (2) comparing regulatory frameworks and respective selection practices in different jurisdictions, in order to unveil unnecessary complications in legislation (Sporrong 2014, 33).

4.4 Considerations on procurement of architectural services

In this chapter, I examined the literature on procurement of architectural services, starting with a review of the nature of these services, and then focusing on solicitation methods as well as on empirical studies of technical criteria. This literature confirms that it is important to critically analyze past and current criteria, in their respective procurement system and in relation to their respective subject matter of procurement, in order to provide a range of relevant criteria that work in practice. However, there are very few studies on the matter, and I have found none concerning the Brazilian context.

As discussed in Sections 3.11 and 4.3, the subject matter of procurement must be considered when procurement officials determine technical criteria in procurement. Given the examination above on the dimensions of architecture, it would be logical to establish a

link between the technical dimension of architectural services and the technical criteria used for procuring these services. Therefore, I propose to consider technical criteria for architectural services as the point where the technical dimension is incorporated into the procurement process. Technical criteria are thus particularly important in procurement of these services, for they would translate the most important technical requirements of the subject matter of procurement into qualification and evaluation criteria. A criterion that is relevant to the service procured is thus a criterion that operates this translation. In Figure 8 I illustrate the relationship between types of criteria in procurement and the technical dimension in architecture.



Figure 8 - Relationship between technical dimension and criteria

Previous research on technical criteria for procurement of architectural services have often ignored theoretical or conceptual frameworks (Section 4.3). I will analyze these criteria in close relation to the subject matter of procurement because they ought to be drawn on the most relevant characteristics of the subject matter. My argument is that procurement officials should use their discretion to translate the relevant technical characteristics of architectural services into technical criteria. I will take this matter up in Chapter 5, where I elaborate on the theoretical framework of this research.

5 Theoretical framework and research questions

The concept of theoretical framework is not consensual amongst scholars; hence I will start this chapter with a brief discussion on this matter. I will then review the concept of administrative discretion, which is intrinsic to technical criteria for the procurement of architectural services, and the theory of street-level bureaucracy, which I deem useful for analyzing this concept. Finally, I will deal with how this theory can be applied in this research. This chapter is divided accordingly.

5.1 Concepts of theoretical framework and theory

To begin this discussion on theoretical framework, it is necessary to make clear what I am referring to when I mention it, as well as its related concept of *theory*. Although the definition of theory may be debatable (Weick 1995, 385), theory is usually understood as "a set of concepts and their nominal definition, assertions about the relationships between these concepts, assumptions and knowledge claims" (Parkinson and Drislane 2000), and it should provide an understanding or an explanation of a given phenomenon (Côté and Gingras 2016, 105).

The term theoretical framework is employed in at least two different ways in scholarly literature. The first is generally associated to interpretive traditions of inquiry. In this context, a theoretical framework can be seen as a system of concepts and their relation, used for guiding research, and it is used as a synonym of conceptual framework (Haverland and Yanow 2012, 405; Maxwell 2005, 33; Gerring 2012a, 408). It yields a perspective of the phenomenon under study, rendering a complex subject comprehensible (Kant [1790] 2007, 401; Wittgenstein [1953] 2009, 55; Moles [1956] 1971, 34). Under this view, theories could be *descriptive*, meaning that they would account for "what" questions, providing an understanding of a phenomenon; or *causal*, meaning that they would account for "why" questions, providing an explanation of a phenomenon (Miles and Huberman 1994, 18; Gerring 2012a, 13). However, in this context, theories would be just one element
of a theoretical framework. The researcher's own knowledge, thought experiments and the result of pilot studies may also inform a theoretical framework (Maxwell 2005, 37).

The second view of a theoretical framework is usually akin to a hypothetico-deductive model of science (Haverland and Yanow 2012, 405). Under this tradition of inquiry, a theoretical framework refers to a specific theory that will explain the phenomenon under study, in a variables-based research (Haverland and Yanow 2012, 404; White 2017, 138) . The goal of a theoretical framework would be testing hypotheses that are derived from the theory (Rudner 1966, 10). Theories are seen as being inherently causal; they are means to explain causal relations between variables (Popper [1945] 1985, 376; Whetten 1989, 491; Parkinson and Drislane 2000; Roy 2016, 204). In this sense, a theoretical framework is not a synonym for conceptual framework. Here, the latter is seen as a set of related concepts that can be used to interpret the findings of a study when no theory is available to explain the phenomenon (White 2017, 138).

The purpose of this research is to analyze technical criteria used by procurement officials in Brazil to select providers of architectural services. Thus, I am not concerned with what leads to procurement officials choosing a criterion over another, but instead with understanding what criteria are used and the relationship between criteria and services procured. Hence a theoretical framework which enables the description of a phenomenon seems fit for my purpose.

5.2 Technical criteria as administrative discretion

As Arrowsmith, Linarelli and Wallace Jr have contended, in public procurement, "obtaining value for money requires the exercise of wise commercial discretion on matters such as the qualification of bidders and the evaluation of competing bids" (2000, 19). Technical criteria are elements of the qualification and evaluation processes, and as such, are a matter of procurement officials' discretion. In this sense, procurement officials possess some latitude, bounded by the regulatory framework, for devising technical criteria, as well as for judging bidders' compliance with these criteria. Therefore, I propose to analyze technical criteria using the concept of discretion.

In everyday language, discretion refers to a person's ability to decide and to act as they wish (Collins 2003; Le Robert 2005). This definition does not consider the limits of discretion in the sphere of public administration. In this case, a clarification of the broader concept is necessary (Swedberg 2012, 22). In the context of this research, I propose to employ the restrictive definition of *administrative discretion*, which refers to discretion taking place in the works of administrative agencies (Banki 1986a; Dukelow 2006). Administrative discretion is not good or bad in itself; however, depending on how it is employed, it can be seen as abusive or even as a danger to democracy (Brandon 2005, 781; Evans 2011, 370; Koven 2019, 216–17). Furthermore, organizational factors have an influence on administrative discretion. These factors may assume different forms, such as peer pressure, group collaboration, or hierarchical imposition (Simon [1947] 1997, 9–10).

Administrative discretion is one of the main issues of implementation studies in public administration and of administrative law (Mello 2010, 430; Evans 2011, 369). Within these fields, it is pervasive in public procurement (Trammell, Abutabenjeh, and Dimand 2020, 656). Hence, I review below how the concept is employed in those two fields.

5.2.1 Discretion in public administration

In public administration studies, administrative discretion generally refers to public agents' "degree of autonomy when executing the tasks entrusted to them" (Demers 2012). Most authors seem to agree that administrative discretion is not boundless; it must be exercised within the limits of laws and regulations (Arendt 1958, 195; Lipsky 1980, 83; Applbaum 1999, 208; Wilson 2000, 342; Carpenter 2001, 16; Beth 2005, 106; Brown, Potoski, and Van Slyke 2006, 325; Alexander and Richmond 2007, 54; Filgueiras and Aranha 2011, 352; Watkins-Hayes 2011, i235; Catney and Henneberry 2012, 551; Keeler 2013, 184). Some scholars, however, see administrative discretion simply as public agents' latitude to act, regardless of laws, regulations or managerial controls (Meier and Bohte 2001, 457; Sowa and Selden 2003, 703; Roman 2013, 28; Henderson, Țiclău, and Balica 2017, 623).

In this sense, administrative discretion is closer to the concept of discretion in everyday language, meaning ability to make any decisions, including those contrary to the law. Still, other scholars associate administrative discretion with deviation from rules and policies (Maynard-Moody and Musheno 2003, 17). It can be contended, therefore, that the concept of administrative discretion is not used uniformly in public administration scholarly literature.

5.2.2 Discretion in administrative law

In the field of administrative law, administrative discretion seems to be a more consensual term than in public administration. It can be defined as choices of action, possessed by a public agent but framed by the law, in the face of a specific circumstance and its context (Dukelow 2006; Garant 2010, 180; Lang, Gondouin, and Inserguet-Brisset 2015). Such ability to make decisions can also be referred to as *discretionary powers* (Guinchard and Montagnier 2009; Garant 2010, 184). The legality of a discretionary decision depends on the rational connection between the content of the law and the choice made (St-Amour 2006, 20; Guinchard and Montagnier 2009). This view is in line with the definition of administrative discretion proposed by Brazilian administrative law scholars (Mello 2010, 430; Catanese, Murta, and Garcia 2011, 1170).

It is important to distinguish administrative discretion from two other concepts in administrative law: *bounded powers* and *arbitrariness*. The concept of bounded powers, or "*pouvoirs liés*", refers to the obligation to do something that is clearly determined by the rule of law (Moreau 1990; Issalys 2009, 62; Garant 2010, 179; Reid 2015b). When the law leaves no room for choices, decisions are not discretionary, but bounded by the law (Beaudoin 2004; Guinchard and Montagnier 2009; Mello 2010, 430; Reid 2015b).

The concept of arbitrariness refers to exceeding the limits of discretionary powers as established by the law (Lang, Gondouin, and Inserguet-Brisset 2015). In administrative law, there must always be limits for public agents' discretion. Such limits are the spirit of the law and the public interest (Garant 2010, 13, 184). When a decision falls outside these limits, it is not considered an act of administrative discretion, but rather an arbitrary act;

the public agent would thus be acting illegally (Laubadère, Venezia, and Gaudemet 1992, 96; Reid 2015a; Prémont 2018). I provide a synthesis of these three concepts and their relation to legality in Figure 9.

Legality

•Bounded powers: obligation to act in a certain way

• Discretionary powers: law provides choices of action

Figure 9 - Discretionary powers and related concepts

5.2.3 Formal discretion and operational discretion

From the review above, one may contend that administrative discretion in public administration studies is related to the practice of making decisions, whereas in administrative law it is related to the range of possible decisions framed by the law. Appropriately, Professor Jennifer Raso (2018, 20) proposes two concepts regarding administrative discretion: (1) formal discretion, which refers to the regulatory space that frames decision-making and is akin to the notion off administrative law; and (2) operational discretion, which refers to the practice of decision-making bounded by rules and is akin to the notion off public administration studies. Raso suggests that both interrelated concepts are needed for understanding "how administrative decision-making is simultaneously constrained and flexible" (2018, 13).

To sum up, the concept of discretion may be regarded in different levels, which I display in Figure 10. This taxonomy, based on the review above, is useful for understanding the different meanings that the term may hold but, in this study, I am concerned with administrative discretion. Granted this multi-level conception of discretion, I will now review the theory which I deem most relevant for analyzing administrative discretion in this research.

Illegality

• Arbitrariness: action outside the limits of the law



Figure 10 - Taxonomy of discretion

5.3 Theory of street-level bureaucracy

As I brought up in Section 3.2, research in public procurement is not highly grounded on theory. Up to twos-third of papers published on the matter do not present a theoretical framework; when theories are used, they are mostly economic theories, such as theory of auctions and competitive bidding or contract cost prediction (Flynn and Davis 2014, 150; Patrucco, Luzzini, and Ronchi 2017, 242; Koala and Steinfeld 2018, 282; Trammell, Abutabenjeh, and Dimand 2020, 661). While acknowledging that public procurement research may be theoretically eclectic due to its diverse range of disciplines, scholars suggest that studies on this field would benefit from the use of theories that can help practitioners understand their actions (Flynn and Davis 2014, 168; Koala and Steinfeld 2018, 299).

One such theory is the street-level bureaucracy theory, which I will use in this work. It was developed by Professor Michael Lipsky (1969; 1980) to study the outcomes of policies implemented by street-level bureaucrats (Evans 2011, 369; Watkins-Hayes 2011, i235; Erasmus 2014, iii71). His work may be regarded as another groundbreaking contribution on policy implementation studies (Kosar 2011, 299; Catney and Henneberry 2012, 549), such as the works of Selznick (1966), Pressman and Wildawski (1984), and Wilson (2000). Lipsky's novelty lied on his attention to administrative discretion as a source of unintended policy outcomes (Kørnøv, Zhang, and Christensen 2015, 600).

Street-level bureaucracy theory posits that street-level bureaucrats, defined as public agents who "interact with citizens directly and have discretion over significant aspects of citizens'

lives" (Lipsky 1980, 4), hold a high level of administrative discretion which managers cannot fully control (Lipsky 1980, 13). Consequently, the actual policy may significantly diverge from the original policy goals (Lipsky 1980, 17). Lipsky describes actual policy as the sum of individual discretionary decisions made by public agents, which in concert "add up to agency behavior" (1980, 13). He argues that administrative discretion is the main element explaining "the discrepancy between policy declarations and actual policy" in street-level bureaucracies (Lipsky 1980, 17). For him, administrative discretion can be seen as decisions made by public agents in the context of their work within the parameters established by authorities (Lipsky 1980, 83).

Administrative discretion and its resulting possibly divergent outcomes are not inherently bad, according to Lipsky, as long as they serve the public interest (1980, 9, 82). His theory does not focus on administrative discretion as a cause of undesired policy outcomes. Instead, he proposes to analyze the dominant patterns of decision-making and their consequences – in other words, the actual policy (1980, 83, 86). A problem would come up when the outcomes are "biased in ways unintended by the agencies [...] or are antithetical to some of their objectives" (Lipsky 1980, 83), as I illustrate on Figure 11. Street-level bureaucracy theory can thus be said to be a descriptive theory, focusing on public agents' acts and their consequences. This approach is in line with one of the main objectives of social sciences, which would be to portray the practices of social actors and their repercussions (Dewey [1927] 2016, 66; Mills 1967, 185; Bourdieu [1997] 2003, 90).



Figure 11 - Street-level bureaucracy framework, based on Lipsky's theory

Drawing from his "observations of the collective behavior of public service organizations" (1980, xi), Lipsky was able to recognize the dominant patterns of practice in the agencies he was studying (1980, 86). He noted four dominant patterns: rationing services, controlling clients, husbanding resources, and managing the consequences of routine practice (Lipsky 1980, 86). These patterns were at odds with intended policy, thus

challenging a traditional view that public agents' actions can be imposed by organizational superiors (Moe 1984, 744; Leroy 1994, 881). As noted by Simon, public agents may oppose policies which they perceive as originating outside their organization and being imposed without their consent (Simon [1947] 1997, 171, 241).

One important problem of street-level bureaucracy theory is establishing the borderline where practices framed by administrative discretion become actual policy (Maynard-Moody and Portillo 2012, 272; Lipsky 2019a, 401). Lipsky suggests that a practice is a single decision or action applied to a specific case; in isolation, it can hardly be described as actual policy (2019a, 403). Bureaucrats would make actual policy when the sum of their discretionary decisions takes the shape of a standardized organizational behaviour (Lipsky 2019a, 401). In other words, one can expect a certain pattern of decisions in actual policy (Lipsky 2019a, 403). It is difficult, however, to locate the tipping point where a set of apparently random practices would become actual policy. For determining what set of practices are actual policy, it is advised that researchers look for cumulative results of bureaucrats discretionary decisions (Maynard-Moody and Portillo 2012, 272).

5.4 Applicability of the street-level bureaucracy theory

Another issue with street-level bureaucracy theory is that it does not describe in which contexts it can be applied (Kosar 2011, 301). Scholars suggest that the two main elements of the theory are direct contact with clients or citizens, and meaningful level of discretion (Brandon 2005, 780; Maynard-Moody and Portillo 2012, 263). Thus, procurement officials, who employ their administrative discretion for devising technical criteria in procurement, cannot be considered street-level bureaucrats, for they do not work directly with clients or citizens. Therefore, it is necessary to consider whether the theory would be applicable in their case, which I discuss below.

5.4.1 Categorizing procurement officials

When analyzing the work of civil servants, scholars usually categorize them into two groups: traditional bureaucrats and professional bureaucrats (Simard and Bernier 1992, 60–

61; Burris 1993, 82; Parkin 1994, 61; Ferlie and Geraghty 2005, 423). Traditional bureaucrats work in what Professor Henry Mintzberg called machine bureaucracies. These organizations are close to the Weberian ideal type of bureaucracy, where standardization of procedures is highly valued. Accordingly, the work of traditional bureaucrats is characterized by the application of existing rules to particular cases, within a framework of formal hierarchical control. Then, there should be little discretion for these workers when they accomplish their tasks (Mintzberg 1983, 163–64; Burke 1988, 142; Parkin 1994, 23; Hall 2004, 507).

Professional bureaucrats, on the other hand, work in professional bureaucracies, as Mintzberg named those organizations which rely on the skills and knowledge of their workforce. Professional bureaucrats defining characteristic is that a high degree of discretion, stemming from their specialized expertise, is embedded in their tasks. Streetlevel bureaucrats, such as doctors and teachers, as well as other professionals working for public or private organizations – e.g., accountants, lawyers and architects – can be considered professional bureaucrats (Mintzberg 1983, 189; Parkin 1994, 21–22; Bowman et al. 2004, 34; Ferlie and Geraghty 2005, 427).

Brazilian procurement officials cannot be viewed as professional bureaucrats, since there is very little training for developing specialized knowledge and there is no professional certification (Santos 2018, 240; Fenili 2019) – this issue will be developed in Section 6.1.3. Furthermore, they work in a highly regulated environment and under a formal hierarchy. However, unlike traditional bureaucrats, they do hold a high degree of discretion, especially in what concerns decisions about technical criteria. Such discretion is afforded by the legal framework, as I will review in Section 6.2.7. In this regard, their work can be seen as a hybrid between professional bureaucrats' and traditional bureaucrats' work.

5.4.2 Relevance for the work of procurement officials

As discussed above, Brazilian procurement officials do not have direct contact with clients, which is a defining characteristic of street-level bureaucrats. Nevertheless, it can be contended that their work is similar to the work of street-level bureaucrats in at least two

ways. First, procurement officials perform tasks in a significantly regulated environment, paradoxically holding a strong level of autonomy, which is also the case for street-level bureaucrats (Brandon 2005, 780; Maynard-Moody and Portillo 2012, 258–59). For instance, procurement officials may decide to systematically employ only one solicitation method even though the law provides a range of possible methods, as reviewed in Section 3.8, in the same manner that police officers may concentrate in one type of offenses and overlook other types (Maynard-Moody and Portillo 2012, 271).

Second, street-level bureaucrats work at the boundary of the state and the citizen (Maynard-Moody and Portillo 2012, 224); likewise procurement officials work at the boundary of the public and the private domains, as reviewed in Section 3.1. Working at this interface grants great autonomy to both types of bureaucrats, for they may decide or influence on whom public money will be spent and their supervisors have limited control over their decisions (Larson 1977, 189; Maynard-Moody and Portillo 2012, 259; Lipsky 2019a, 404).

These two similarities indicate that street-level bureaucracy theory ought to be relevant for the analysis of Brazilian procurement officials' work. As Prier and McCue noted, in a context of inadequate procurement environment and of a complex regulatory framework, outputs of public procurement are seldom in line with desired policies (Prier and McCue 2009, 336). Moreover, street-level bureaucracy theory has unveiled that discretion can be problematic for workers at any level, and that discretion can be used by bureaucrats to set a meaningful direction in their work (Ferlie and Geraghty 2005, 424; Maynard-Moody and Portillo 2012, 253). Professor Lipsky himself acknowledged that the concept of discretion in street-level bureaucracy theory "should apply to the systematic study of bureaucrats at any level" (Lipsky 2019b, 67 min). Hence street-level bureaucracy theory would be applicable to other types of workers in public organizations, including procurement officials in the Brazilian context.

5.4.3 Street-level bureaucracy theory at street-level and beyond

Many scholars have applied Lipsky's theory for researching discretion amongst street-level bureaucrats. For instance, Maynard-Moody and Musheno (2003, 94) used storytelling to

unveil how cops, teachers and counselors apply their discretion, responding to citizens' needs in ways that often conflicted with policy goals; Evans (2011, 381) performed a case study confirming that management has limited control upon the way social workers apply their discretion; Hirata (2016, 33) used quantitative and qualitative analyses to reveal how environmental auditors' discretionary decisions can be affected by ambiguous legislation; Vohnsen (2017, 139) employed observations to lay bare a case in which discretion applied by social workers yielded in what she called absurd policy implementation – the actual policy was completely at odds with the intended policy.

Albeit less frequently, street-level bureaucracy theory has been used for studying the work of professional bureaucrats which are not street-level bureaucrats. For instance, Catney and Henneberry (2012), and Kørnøv, Zhang and Christensen (2015) applied this theory in the analysis of urban planners' discretionary decisions. Like Lipsky's work (1980, 86), their case studies unveiled strategies adopted by these professional bureaucrats to cope with their work conditions and avoid potential blame, but their strategies were different from street-level bureaucrats' strategies unveiled by Lipsky (Catney and Henneberry 2012, 560; Kørnøv, Zhang, and Christensen 2015, 612). Noteworthy, these two studies did not acknowledge that they were applying street-level bureaucracy on bureaucrats that are not street-level. Instead, they treated urban planners as street-level bureaucrats. In a different vein, Peeters and Widlak studied the outcomes of information technology bureaucrats' decisions, focusing on the unintended consequences of their work. These consequences included the reduction of other bureaucrats' discretion (Peeters and Widlak 2018, 181). This latter study was not focused on Lipsky's theory, but it employed the concept of discretion in the same manner, suggesting that discretion amongst any type of bureaucrats may lead to actual policy divergent from intended policy. In yet another example, Ustek-Spilda framed her research by street-level bureaucracy theory to study statisticians' discretion in their work. She unveiled how they act like *de facto* policy-makers when they translate statistical guidelines in their tasks (Ustek-Spilda 2020, 290). Finally, Brattström and Hellström employed street-level bureaucracy theory in a study focused on professionals working in research and development. They conclude that the level of discretion is high in

agencies whose work is based on technical knowledge (Brattström and Hellström 2019, 241).

Street-level bureaucracy theory has also been extensively used for the study of traditional bureaucrats which are not street-level bureaucrats, such as court clerks, tax auditors and correction officers (Bosma et al. 2018, 1011; Jensen 2018, 1134; Raaphorst and Groeneveld 2018, 1175; Keulemans and Walle 2020, 334). The theory has even been applied successfully in research concerning contracted-out welfare advisors and employers of immigrant workforce (Nisbet 2018, 1105; Kaufman 2020, 209). These studies have corroborated the usefulness of this theory in a variety of settings where discretion prevails (Maynard-Moody and Portillo 2012, 262–63).

However, there are very few studies using street-level bureaucracy theory in the context of public procurement. I was able to spot only two relevant studies. The first is the research by Roman (2013), who tested the causal relationship between perceived administrative discretion (independent variable) and assumed role (dependent variable) amongst procurement officials (2013, 52). Both variables were measured by means of the same survey (Roman 2013, 58). He concludes that the level of perceived administrative discretion explains the enactment of certain roles amongst procurement officials (Roman 2013, 85). The second is the study by Keeler (2013), who employed a document analysis of contracts to describe outsourced administrative discretion in the case of solid waste collection services. Although Keeler does not explicitly mention Lipsky's theory, she employs the concept of discretion in the same manner (Keeler 2013, 184). By means of her analysis, she was able to spot potential opportunities for practices contrary to intended policy (Keeler 2013, 186). These two studies provide insightful examples of street-level bureaucracy theory applied on public procurement using quantitative methods.

5.5 Methods in street-level bureaucracy theory

Traditionally, research based on street-level bureaucracy theory relies on interpretive approaches supported by data generated from ethnography, observations and interviews

(Meyers and Vorsanger 2007, 159; Musheno and Maynard-Moody 2015, 171). Such approaches still dominate research based on street-level bureaucracy theory, being used to examine discretion amongst street-level bureaucrats, such as social workers, healthcare workers, teachers and cops (Jensen 2018, 1135; Hand 2018, 1150; Feltham-King and Macleod 2020, 34; Lotta and Marques 2020, 348; Musheno and Maynard-Moody 2015, 172). However, recent qualitative studies have diversified their sources of data. Instead of interviewing street-level bureaucrats themselves, scholars have interacted with clients and regulators to gain insights about street-level bureaucrats' discretionary decisions (Schmälter 2019, 6; Kaufman 2020, 209). In these traditional applications, the theory is employed in conceptual frameworks aiming to describe a phenomenon, namely the disconnection between intended policies and practices (Brandon 2005, 780).

Researchers have also taken on quantitative approaches to examine causal relationships in street-level bureaucrats' discretion. These studies are based on electronic surveys applied on bureaucrats such as employment service workers, teachers and tax auditors (Parys and Struyven 2018, 1712; Baviskar 2019, 533; Engen, Steijn, and Tummers 2019, 101; Keulemans and Walle 2020, 334). These scholars employ street-level bureaucracy as hypotheses-generating theory. They take for granted that there will be deviations between intended policy and policy in practice; the theory is applied as means to explain causal relationships between contextual factors and public agents' decision.

To a lesser extent, researchers have employed administrative data to base their findings in both qualitative and quantitative approaches supported by street-level bureaucracy theory. In this vein, Bosma et al. (2018, 1011) employed administrative data, combined with a survey amongst prisoners, to assess which factors influence prison officers' discretion; while Nisbet (2018, 1105) used administrative data alongside interviews with migrants to assess the implementation of immigration policies.

Despite calls for combining methodological approaches in research framed by street-level bureaucracy theory (Buffat 2015, 158; Musheno and Maynard-Moody 2015, 171), mixed methods remain marginally employed. Hirata (2016, 4), for instance, gathered data by

means of in-depth interviews with regulators, businesspeople and managers; combined with observations and with a national survey amongst street-level bureaucrats, to analyze environmental auditors' interpretation and application of ambiguous legislation.

The review above shows that methods and data employed in street-level bureaucracy theory are not any longer restricted to time and energy consuming ethnographic approaches (Meyers and Vorsanger 2007, 159), which are best exemplified by Lipsky's original work (1980) and by Maynard-Moody and Musheno's (2003) influential study on cops, teachers and counsellors. Recent work has employed diverse data sources and methods to answer diverse questions related to street-level bureaucracy theory. Thus, according to the archetypes of methodological fit presented by Edmonson and McManus (2007, 1160), research on street-level bureaucracy theory is not a nascent theory anymore, it is evolving into intermediate theory, where exploratory statistics and content analyses can be undertaken to test propositions and constructs.

Since this theory is applicable in studies where discretion is an important element, such as research on public procurement, we may conclude that the analysis of discretionary decisions in procurement is not restricted to interpretive approaches based on ethnography, observations and interviews. Instead, it may employ both quantitative and qualitative types of data, in line with the intermediate status of this theory.

5.6 Street-level bureaucracy theory and technical criteria

As mentioned in Section 5.4.2, street-level bureaucracy theory offers a useful model for the study of procurement officials' work. So, I propose to apply the theory to procurement officials' discretion when devising technical criteria for the procurement of architectural services. Using Figure 11 as a base, I show how Lipsky's model can be adapted to this research in Figure 12. The intended policy in this case would correspond to regulations on procurement, which determine the formal administrative discretion that establish the choice of technical criteria at the disposition of procurement officials. Procurement officials, in turn, apply this discretion in the criteria they use in procurement documents – the operational discretion. A problem would emerge when this operational discretion does not comply with the formal discretion – in other words, when the criteria used is at odds with the contents of the regulations on procurement.



Figure 12 - Street-Level Bureaucracy theory applied in this research

In the next Section I will discuss how this theoretical framework translates into research questions.

5.7 Research questions

Arguably due to the scant literature on the matter, Patrucco, Luzzini and Ronchi (2017, 263) suggest that the limits of procurement officials' administrative discretion is a topic that should be addressed in future research on procurement. In line with this proposition, my purpose in this study is to analyze technical criteria used by procurement officials in Brazil to select providers of architectural services. Street-level bureaucracy theory proposes to analyze discrepancies between actual policy and intended policy. Basing my analysis on street-level bureaucracy theory, the main question in this study is *which actual policies concerning technical criteria for procurement of architectural services deviate from intended policies on procurement*? Scholars suggest that, for this type of question, an effective approach is to analyze the regulatory framework in a jurisdiction and compare it with jurisdiction-wide practices (Valverde, Johns, and Raso 2018, 126). Accordingly, this question presupposes answering the following sub-questions.

a) What is the intended policy for the procurement of architectural services? This subquestion calls for an examination of regulations on procurement in Brazil. Concerning actual policy, the sub-questions below call for an examination of practices regarding procurement of architectural services in Brazil.

- b) What solicitation methods are employed for the procurement of architectural services?
- c) What architectural services are procured?
- d) What technical criteria are used?
- e) What are the actual practices of procurement of architectural services?
- f) What are the dominant patterns of practice that add up to actual policy?

Sub-questions (b), (c) and (d) are important because solicitation methods and technical criteria must be coherent with services procured. Thus, answering these sub-questions will point out actual practices (e), which are a result of procurement officials' discretion on the matters of technical criteria and the interrelated concepts of services procured and solicitation methods. From the analysis of actual practices, I will trace the dominant patterns of practice (f), which add up to actual policy, as suggested by Lipsky (1980, 83).

The sub-questions above call for a comparison between intended policies and actual practices in procurement of architectural services in Brazil. Yet, such comparison calls for an analysis of the context in which these policies and practices take place. To understand practices in public administration, one must first analyze the rules that shape these practices and the context in which such rules are applied (Rawls 1955, 17, 27). Accordingly, in Chapter 6 I analyze the Brazilian procurement system; in Chapter 7 I approach the intended policy on the matter; in Chapter 8 I will review the research design to retrieve information on actual practices; and in Chapter 9 I will review actual practices in the light of current regulations. Scholars have employed this strategy for examining the discrepancies between policy and practice. Some examples are the work by Raso (2018, 13) about discretion in Canadian public benefits programs, Feltham-King and Macleod's research (2020, 36) on the gap between official risk management policies and healthcare workers' implementation of these policies, and Sporrong's research (2011, 62) about criteria employed for selection of architects in Swedish municipalities.

6 Analysis of the procurement system in Brazil

The understanding of a procurement system requires both the analysis of its procurement environment and of its regulatory framework (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 18; Thai 2001, 33; 2009, 20; Prier and McCue 2009, 334). These concepts have been presented in Chapter 3. Here, I will discuss them in the Brazilian context. The first part of this chapter is dedicated to an overview of the procurement environment in Brazil, based on scholarly and grey literature. In the second part I review the Brazilian regulatory framework for public procurement, drawing on laws and regulations and on administrative law scholarly literature. I also present the most important features regarding procurement for architectural services in the new Brazilian bill for public procurement.

6.1 Procurement environment in Brazil

As mentioned in Section 3.3, an ideal procurement environment is supposed to feature effective enforcement of the regulatory framework, a functional organization of procurement, as well as capable personnel with good working conditions (Arrowsmith, Linarelli, and Wallace Jr 2000, 18–19; Thai 2009, 9–10). I examine these features in the Brazilian context below.

6.1.1 Enforcement

To start the discussion on enforcement, it is noteworthy that the system of public accountability is considered very weak in Brazil (Candler 2002, 302; Michener, Contreras, and Niskier 2018, 625), which might be an indication of low enforcement in general.

Compliance with the regulatory framework of public procurement is overseen by Audit Offices in federal, state and municipal levels (Figueiredo 2003, 17; Diniz 2014, 265; Garcia Agnelli 2016, 198; Lino and Aquino 2017, 27). Thus, more than 22 thousand municipal, state and federal procuring entities report to 34 different Audit Offices (Lino and Aquino 2017, 33). These offices are supposed to be independent from the executive, the legislative and the judiciary branches of governments (Rosilho 2016, 48), because they may examine expenditures of all components of the administration (Diniz 2014, 277). However, they do not hold enforcement power (Lino and Aquino 2017, 38). The conclusions from their auditing procedures must be submitted to the respective legislative branch, which will then judge whether corrective or punitive measures ought to be taken (Rosilho 2016, 273).

A 2018 survey amongst Brazilian civil servants unveiled that, surprisingly, the majority of them believed that civil servants should not act strictly in accordance with rules and regulations in force¹³ (Enap 2018, 27). This would suggest the need for a strong oversight. However, Audit Offices' oversight of public procurement is far from sufficient (Fabre 2014, 171). An empirical study on the activities of the Federal Audit Office (TCU) from 1993 to 2009 unveiled that procurement was the focus of less than 5% of its auditing procedures (Menezes 2012, 43). Given the amount of public money spent in procurement, this low figure might hint a lack of political interest in complying with the procurement regulatory framework. TCU's personnel is considered highly qualified (Fiuza and Medeiros 2014, 94), but their technical work has often been ignored by the Office's direction (Figueiredo 2003, 18). Moreover, elected politicians influence the nomination of high and middle bureaucratic managers in TCU (Garcia Agnelli 2016, 209), who may steer the priority order of auditing procedures (Menezes 2012, 48). Thus, the level of independence of TCU can be considered a questionable matter.

6.1.2 Organization

Regarding the organization of the system, the literature suggests that the Brazilian public administration is very fragmented. There is little homogeneity in procedures (Gomes and Falcao-Martins 2012, 98; Fabre 2014, 171; Fernandes 2016, 428) and no centralized office for regulation or for conducting transactions in public procurement. Effectiveness levels are very different from one public organization to another (Bersch, Praça, and Taylor 2017b, 110). Brazilian procuring entities are also notorious for not honouring payments in their due dates, with the connivance of Audit Offices (World Bank 2004, 21; Niebuhr 2016). Such

¹³ In the original: "Um grupo de 62,6% dos respondentes acreditam que 'o servidor público não deve agir estritamente de acordo com as normas e os regulamentos vigentes.""

behaviour may put providers in a risky financial situation, discouraging potential bidders from participating in public procurement (World Bank 2004, xiii).

One positive feature of the procurement organization in Brazil is the e-procurement platform of the federal administration, known as *Comprasnet*, which is considered the most important innovation in Brazilian public procurement since the adoption of Law 8.666 (Fernandes 2016, 423). This system is regarded as rather advanced even when compared to most e-procurement systems in other jurisdictions (Ruparathna and Hewage 2015, 8). Comprasnet is both a tool for disclosure of information concerning public procurement and an online bidding platform. The implementation of *Comprasnet* reduced entry costs for bidders, thus attracting a large array of potential providers, including small and medium enterprises (Mota and Rodrigues Filho 2011, 322; Szerman 2012, 92; Costa Jr 2016, 60). *Comprasnet* gained a boost thanks to the adoption of reverse auctions by Law 10.520 (Mota and Rodrigues Filho 2011, 322; Fernandes 2014, 21; Costa Jr 2016, 55), which will be discussed in Section 6.2.3. In 2017, 99% of procurement procedures concerning federal organizations were realized by means of Comprasnet (MPOG 2017b). However, it is not known to what extent this system is efficient regarding contracts being signed and actual delivery of construction, goods and services. I will provide more information on Comprasnet in Section 6.2.10.

6.1.3 Personnel

Scholars have noted that professionalism of public officials in Brazil is higher than in other developing countries, but the level of qualification amongst Brazilian public officials is very uneven (Cavalcante and Carvalho 2017, 2–3). Besides, highly qualified officials are still the minority of the public workforce (Cavalcante and Carvalho 2017, 21).

In what concerns working conditions for procurement officials, there is neither a career path nor incentives to work in this field. As a result, turnover is high amongst them (World Bank 2004, 12; Souza 2016, 185). Training for procurement officials is also neglected, so they often lack the skills necessary to perform their functions (World Bank 2004, 13; Fabre 2014, 171; Costa Jr 2016, 88). An empirical study unveiled that the disconnection

between skills needed and available skills is particularly noticeable amongst procurement officials in charge of architectural and engineering services (Acco in Freire et al. 2016, 83).

The lack of skills and training also leads to a negative impact on the choice of criteria in public procurement. For instance, empirical studies found that the use of outdated economic qualification criteria (Machado 2006, 135) and the use of criteria employed in previous procurement processes without critical analysis (Moreira 2000, 8; Machado 2006, 150) are related to procurement officials' lack of skills and lack of training.

Although there are no studies on the relation between procurement officials' skills and technical criteria in procurement of architectural services in Brazil, it is reasonable to presuppose that lacking skills will have a negative effect on procurement officials' capacity to select the best provider of architectural services (Meier and Hill 2005, 65). Choosing an unqualified architect, in turn, may lead to incomplete specifications, sketchy designs and incorrect estimates, which might result in cost overruns and delayed implementation (World Bank 2004, 21–22; Zanferdini 2011, 141; Batista 2015, 366; Fernandes 2016, 130).

6.1.4 Comments on the procurement environment

As mentioned in the preceding sections, the independence of oversight entities in Brazil is questionable. Besides, public procurement does not seem to be a priority for them. In this light, enforcement can hardly be considered efficient.

The Brazilian system is very fragmented, lacking a central entity for regulation or for conducting transactions, which may result in different organizations using different methods for procuring the same items. The system thus can neither be considered centralized nor its procedures can be considered standard, which are the main positive features in the organization of procurement.

The high turnover and deficient training have an impact on the level of skills of procurement officials. It may be argued that the lack of oversight provides a high level of operational discretion to procurement officials. Nevertheless, low skills coupled with little enforcement in a fragmented system do not seem to be favorable for an adequate procurement environment in Brazil and this combination might provide ample room for arbitrary decisions. Yet, the apparent success of *Comprasnet* reminds us that there are pockets of effectiveness which may set forth improvements in the Brazilian system.

6.2 Regulatory framework in Brazil

Brazil is seen as a maximalist jurisdiction in what concerns the public procurement regulatory framework (Schapper, Malta, and Gilbert 2006, 6; Schapper and Malta 2011, 11; Fernandes 2014, 24). This regulation-intensive approach is due to lawmakers' focus on controlling corruption, granting low priority to secondary objectives and even to economic competition in procurement (Motta 2010, 161; Fiuza and Medeiros 2014, 14; Mourão and Cantu 2014, 76).

The Brazilian government set up a web page to bring together all legislation regarding procurement at the federal level (Brasil 2021). There were 201 rules listed in that page in March 2021¹⁴. One must add rules that may exist at state and municipal levels. Furthermore, each public organization may adopt specific rules for their own procurement procedures (Moreira 2000, 8; Calasans Jr 2011, 527). Hence it is not practically possible in this research to provide a comprehensive review of the regulatory framework.

For this review, I will focus on the principal sources of law framing public procurement in Brazil, namely the Constitution, Law 8.666, Law 10.520 and Law 12.462, as well as on the legal instruments regulating these laws in what regards procurement of professional services at the federal level.

Since this research deals with procurement of architectural services, I also provide an overview on regulations concerning architecture in Brazil. Finally, I will outline Brazilian regulations concerning transparency in public procurement. Transparency regulations are

¹⁴ In May 2018 there were 376 rules listed in that same web page (Brasil 2017a), which hints that there has been an effort to reduce the number of rules regarding public procurement.

important here because they determine the theoretical availability of documents that could be used as sources of data for this research.

6.2.1 Brazilian Constitution

The Brazilian Constitution, adopted in 1988, addresses public procurement in its Articles 22 and 37. Article 22 grants to the federal government the authority to legislate on public procurement for all levels of public administration – federal, state or municipal (Brasil 1988, Art. 22 item XXVII). Article 37 provides general guidelines for the legislation on public procurement, establishing that the law must assure that all bidders will be treated equally. It even specifies that technical qualification criteria must be limited to requirements deemed essential for ensuring compliance with the subject matter of procurement¹⁵ (Brasil 1988, Art. 37 item XXI).

The federal government adopted many legal instruments for regulating Art. 37 of the Constitution. The most important laws concerning public procurement are Law 8.666, which is the framework law regulating public procurement; Law 10.520, which introduces reverse auctions as a solicitation method; and Law 12.462, which introduces yet another solicitation method, the differentiated regime for public procurement – RDC (*regime diferenciado de contratações*) (Mello 2010, 531; Fleury 2016, 89). I will discuss the main features of these laws in the following sections.

6.2.2 Law 8.666 – Public procurement and contracts

6.2.2.1 Application

Law 8.666, adopted in 1993, is the first law regulating Art. 37 of the Constitution, and it serves as the primary source of guidance for Brazilian public procurement (Mello 2010, 531; Fiuza and Medeiros 2014, 7). This law determines that, as a general rule, all public administration entities from the federal, state and municipal spheres must obtain goods,

¹⁵ In the original: "[o] processo de licitação pública (...) somente permitirá as exigências de qualificação técnica e econômica indispensáveis à garantia do cumprimento das obrigações".

services or construction from third parties by means of public procurement, bar cases where procurement is not mandatory or cases where procurement is unenforceable (Brasil 1993, Art. 1, Art. 2). Art. 24 of Law 8.666 lists the instances where public procurement is not mandatory, which included *construction and engineering services* evaluated in less than R\$15.000,00 and goods or services evaluated in less than R\$8.000,00¹⁶. Art. 25 provides the instances where public procurement is unenforceable, which are those lacking viable economic competition – e.g., for the restoration of a work of art by the artist who produced it.

6.2.2.2 Subject matter of procurement

Since it is the general rule for public procurement, Law 8.666 regulates procurement of any type of subject matter of procurement. It establishes specific procedures for the procurement of construction and services (Brasil 1993, Section III); for the procurement of specialized technical professional services (Brasil 1993, Section IV); and for the procurement of goods (Brasil 1993, Section V).

The law defines *service* as any activity performed to obtain a utility for the administration, including technical professional services¹⁷ (Brasil 1993, Art. 6). The law does not provide a definition of *specialized technical professional services*, but it lists activities which are considered as such, including those related to technical studies, planning, basic and execution projects, technical consulting, and supervision of construction¹⁸ (Brasil 1993, Art. 13). Due to their importance in the procurement of architectural services, I will discuss the concepts of basic project and execution project below. These terms are employed in all

¹⁶ These values were updated in June 2018 – see note 20.

¹⁷ In the original: "toda atividade destinada a obter determinada utilidade de interesse para a Administração, tais como: demolição, conserto, instalação, montagem, operação, conservação, reparação, adaptação, manutenção, transporte, locação de bens, publicidade, seguro ou trabalhos técnico-profissionais".

¹⁸ In the original: "trabalhos relativos a: estudos técnicos, planejamentos e projetos básicos ou executivos; (...) pareceres, perícias e avaliações em geral; (...) assessorias ou consultorias técnicas e auditorias financeiras ou tributárias; (...) fiscalização, supervisão ou gerenciamento de obras ou serviços".

procurement regulations in Brazil – although they are absent from regulations on architecture¹⁹.

6.2.2.3 Basic project and execution project

Law 8.666 defines two terms related to the concept of project, which are important for architectural services. The first is the basic project, which is the set of elements (drawings, specifications and budget) which characterize a future construction that will be the subject matter of a procurement process. The second is the execution project, defined as the set of elements that are necessary for the complete execution of construction (Brasil 1993, Art. 6, IX, X). The execution project is derived from the basic project, being a more detailed version of the latter. The basic project may include only architectural design, whereas the execution project must comprise architectural design and all necessary engineering design, most commonly those regarding civil, electrical and mechanical engineering. The latter are usually referred to as complementary projects (Cichinelli 2008). In sum, the basic project is necessary for the procurement of construction, and the execution project, which comprises the architectural project and respective complementary projects, is necessary for construction itself (Fernandes 2016, 135–36).

Under Law 8.666, an execution project may be procured separately, or it may be included in the procurement for construction, or still it may be procured alongside the basic project (Brasil 1993, Art. 7). Accordingly, there are three possible sequences of procurement procedures from basic project to construction, as shown in Figure 13. Since a project is the product of a design activity, in this study I consider the basic project as the product of the activity *basic design*, and execution project as the product of the activity *execution design*.

¹⁹ The terms *basic project* and *execution project* are not mentioned in regulations concerning architecture in Brazil. However, the Brazilian Institute of Architects (IAB – *Instituto de arquitetos do Brasil*), in its guide for development of architectural projects, apply the terms project for approval (*projeto de aprovação*) and project for execution (*projeto de execuçao*) to the concepts of basic project and execution project, respectively (IAB 2018, 3).



Figure 13 - Possible sequences of procurement procedures for construction

6.2.2.4 Solicitation methods

Article 22 of Law 8.666 establishes four solicitation methods for procurement: (1) open tendering, in which all eligible bidders may participate; (2) request for quotations, in which any provider may show their interest to offer a good or service for the government, who may then decide to buy it or otherwise; (3) request for proposals, in which the government calls upon at least three potential providers; and (4) prize competition, in which any eligible person or entity may submit a technical, artistic or scientific work in exchange of a prize (Brasil 1993).

Article 23 of Law 8.666 determines that the solicitation methods which can be employed in a procurement procedure depend on the estimated value of the contract. For *construction and engineering services*, request for proposals may be used for contracts up to R\$ 150.000,00; request for quotations must be used for contracts up to R\$ 1.500.000,00; and open tendering must be used for contracts above R\$ 1.500.000,00. For other types of services, request for proposals may be used for contracts up to R\$ 80.000,00; request for

quotations must be used for contracts up to R 650.000,00; and open tendering must be used for contracts above R 650.000,00²⁰.

In all solicitation methods established by Law 8.666, bidders are pre-qualified (Brasil 1993, Arts. 22 and 52), meaning that qualification of all bidders must be assessed before submissions are analyzed, as reviewed in Section 3.10.2.

Open tendering, request for quotations and request for proposals are very similar solicitation methods under Law 8.666 (Fiuza and Medeiros 2014, 34). According to Art. 45, price-based and value-based awarding process may be used in all three methods. Besides, request for quotations and request for proposals admit the participation of any qualified bidder (Brasil 1993, Art. 22 § 2, § 3), which makes them very much alike open tendering. All three solicitation methods also presuppose compliance with secondary objectives in procurement, such as priority for locally produced goods and priority for micro and small businesses. The main difference between them concerns the mandatory time interval between the publication of the solicitation document and the submission of bids - usually thirty days for open tendering, fifteen days for request for quotations and five days for request for proposals (Brasil 1993, Art. 21, item III, § 2; Mello 2010, 564-65). Noteworthy, a shorter period available for submitting bids might be seen as a way to reduce competition, since bidders have less time to organize and submit their documents in request for quotations and request for proposals. This difference notwithstanding, it is fair to state that, under Brazilian laws, request for quotations and request for proposals are used differently than what I reviewed in Section 3.8. In general, requests for proposals are used for inviting a restricted number of qualified bidders, and request for quotations are used only for the acquisition of off-the-shelf goods. In Brazil, however, these solicitation methods open the procurement procedure to any interested bidder and can be used for procuring any type of items – goods, services or construction.

²⁰ These values were updated by Decree 9.412, adopted in June 18, 2018 (Brasil 2018f). Nevertheless, I will analyze procurement procedures that took place before 2018, so the new values are not relevant for this study.

In what regards prize competitions, bidders do not submit a price for their work. Instead, they compete for a predetermined prize to be awarded to the best submission (Brasil 1993, Art. 52). Procedures using prize competitions are thus quality-based. The law does not provide a value threshold for the use of prize competitions.

Specialized technical professional services should be procured preferably by means of prize competitions (Brasil 1993, Art. 13 § 1). The Law does not clearly mention architectural services but, given the definition of basic project and execution project provided above, architectural services can be considered specialized technical professional services. This preference provided by the Law nonetheless, open tendering can be used for the procurement of any subject matter of any estimated value, including specialized technical professional services (Brasil 1993, Art. 23 § 4).

6.2.2.5 Awarding process

Articles 43 and 46 of Law 8.666 describe possible awarding processes according to the solicitation method. Prize competitions can only be quality-based, whereas open tendering, request for quotations and request for proposals can be price-based or value-based. Nevertheless, value-based and quality-based procedures are only permitted for procurement of items of a predominantly intellectual nature, including architectural services²¹ (Brasil 1993, Art. 46 § 1, item I).

In price-based procedures, procurement proceedings start with the assessment of qualification criteria, followed by a classification of qualified bids by proposed price. The winner will be the qualified bidder proposing the lowest price (Brasil 1993, Art. 43). In quality-based procedures, procurement proceedings start with the assessment of qualification criteria, followed by a classification according to evaluation criteria. The winner will be the qualified bidder with the best scores in their evaluation criteria

²¹ In the original: "Os tipos de licitação "melhor técnica" ou "técnica e preço" serão utilizados exclusivamente para serviços de natureza predominantemente intelectual, em especial na elaboração de projetos, cálculos, fiscalização, supervisão e gerenciamento e de engenharia consultiva em geral e, em particular, para a elaboração de estudos técnicos preliminares e projetos básicos e executivos".

(Brasil 1993, Art. 46 § 1). Finally, in value-based procedures, procurement proceedings start with the assessment of qualification criteria, followed by a classification according to technical evaluation criteria, and finally an evaluation of proposed prices. The winner will be the qualified bidder proposing the best combination of technical evaluation criteria and price, as established in the solicitation document (Brasil 1993, Art. 46 § 2).

Procurement officials should evaluate submissions in quality-based and value-based procedures by means of a scoring system, which must be made explicit in the solicitation document (Brasil 1993, Art. 46 § 1, I and § 2, I). The Law remains silent regarding the minimum number of evaluation criteria that should be employed or how weights should be attributed to technical criteria and to price.

6.2.2.6 Criteria for selection of bidders

Law 8.666 provides five types of criteria that ought to be employed for the selection of bidders. These criteria are (a) legal, (b) technical, (c) economic, (d) fiscal compliance, and (e) labor rules compliance (Brasil 1993, Art. 27; Bazilli 1998, 199; Pedra 2006). In what concerns technical criteria, the law establishes that: (a) all public procurement procedures **must** include technical *qualification* criteria (Brasil 1993, Art. 27); (b) procurement procedures **must** include technical *evaluation* criteria, but only for services with a "predominantly intellectual nature" or for "specialized technical professional services", which would comprise architectural services (Brasil 1993, Art. 13, Art. 46). Both technical qualification and evaluation criteria must be defined by means of objective parameters (Brasil 1993, Art. 40, VII). Below I elaborate on the contents of the law regarding these criteria.

Technical qualification criteria

Law 8.666 stipulates that technical qualification criteria are mandatory in all solicitation methods, regardless of the subject matter of procurement (Brasil 1993, Art. 27, item II). In procurement of professional services, bidders must comply with two main requirements: they must be members of their professional order and they must demonstrate they have

the capacity to perform the service or deliver the goods being procured (Brasil 1993, Art. 30, I, II). Capacity must be demonstrated by means of statements produced by legal persons acknowledging that the bidder has already executed services for them (Brasil 1993, Art. 30, § 1). Each technical criterion can be applied on two levels: (a) they can be applied on the professional or group of professionals who work for a firm submitting a proposal in a procurement process, in which case it is called a professional capacity (*capacitação técnico-profissional*); or (b) they can be applied on the bidding firm itself, in which case it is called operational capacity (*capacitação técnico-operacional*) (Brasil 1993, Art. 30, § 1, § 10). Therefore, for each item procured, procurement officials may require professional or operational technical qualification criteria, or both.

The proof of technical capacity required must relate to previous experience in the items of the subject matter of procurement that are most relevant and most expensive (Brasil 1993, Art. 30, § 1, II). In this regard, the following example might be of help to understand the topic of relevance. The subject matter of procurement *project of pools* may include items such as *waterproofing plans*, *hydraulic plans*, *architectural plans* and so forth. Therefore, it would be logic to demand experience in designing waterproofing plans if the subject matter concerns pools on the roof of a building, but such a demand would not be reasonable if the subject matter concerned the renovation of a standard music classroom, for which experience in acoustics and soundproofing would be more relevant.

Procurement officials may establish that bidders are expected to prove they have a certain quantity of capacity to be considered qualified. According to TCU, it is illegal to ask for proven capacity of more than 50% of the quantity of service being procured (TCU 2010b, 358). So, for instance, if the subject matter of procurement is the project of a pool with 500 square meters of area, bidders may be asked to prove experience in designing up to 250 square meters of pools. However, it is not mandatory to establish a minimum quantity of capacity that should be required (Brasil 1993, Art. 30, § 1, I).

Technical evaluation criteria

There are two types of evaluation criteria other than price provided by Law 8.666: technical evaluation criteria and additional criteria, which can be used only in prize competitions (Brasil 1993, Art. 52). Technical evaluation criteria should be employed in any solicitation method in which the awarding process is value-based or quality-based. The law further specifies which technical evaluation criteria procurement officials may employ, namely bidders' capacity and experience, proposed methods and organization, technology and resources to be employed, and qualification of the team that will perform the service. These criteria must be described with clarity and objectivity in the solicitation document (Brasil 1993, Art. 46 § 1, item I). It is worth noting that bidders' capacity may be an evaluation criterion as well as a qualification criterion, therefore it may be assessed twice in a procurement procedure – first, to select capable bidders, and then to choose the best bidder, as described in Section 3.9.1.

In prize competitions for architectural services, bidders are required to present a piece of work – usually a preliminary design. Therefore, in prize competitions procurement officials must devise additional evaluation criteria for judging this piece of work. These criteria should be determined case by case, and they may include aesthetic criteria (Brasil 1993, Art. 52). As mentioned in Section 4.1.2, aesthetic criteria are outside the scope of this research.

6.2.2.7 Administrative protests

In what concerns administrative protests, Law 8.666 provides two types. The first is the objection (*impugnação*), which is used to contest the legality of the procedure. It must be submitted before procurement proceedings start (Brasil 1993, Art. 41). The second is the appeal (*recurso*), which is used to contest decisions regarding the results of procurement proceedings, including procurement officials' assessment of technical criteria (Brasil 1993, Art. 109). Objections are judged by the procurement proceedings team, while appeals are judged by a designated authority in the procuring entity, following an analysis of the procurement proceedings team (Brasil 1993, Arts. 41 and 109).

6.2.2.8 Procurement proceedings team

All decisions regarding procurement proceedings in request for proposals, request for quotations and open tendering, including the choice of the best submission, are made by a committee composed of at least three procurement officials; two of them must be employees of the procuring entity. In prize competitions, decisions are made by a special committee composed by renowned professionals in the field of the subject matter of procurement; they may be public servants or otherwise (Brasil 1993, Art. 51).

6.2.3 Law 10.520 – Reverse auctions for public procurement

Application

Law 10.520, adopted in 2002, introduced a new solicitation method, the reverse auction, which can be used by any federal, state or municipal public organization (Brasil 2002). This law was intended to provide a lower-complexity alternative to the solicitation methods put in place by Law 8.666 (Rosilho 2011, 161; Fernandes 2014, 19). Reverse auctions can only be used for "common" goods and services, which are those for which one can objectively measure their performance and quality by means of usual market specifications²² (Brasil 2002, Art. 1).

Awarding process

The awarding process in reverse auctions are price-based and bidders are post-qualified (Brasil 2002, Art. 4, X). All proceedings take place in *Comprasnet*. Accordingly, procurement proceedings start with initial bids. At this stage, bidders will input their initial offers in the system. They may also submit objections to the solicitation document, which will be analyzed by procurement officials. If there are no valid objections, auctioneers start the auction at the date and time informed in the solicitation document. During this phase, all bidders can see the lowest price offered, which allows them to bid an even lower price.

²² In the original: "aqueles cujos padrões de desempenho e qualidade possam ser objetivamente definidos pelo edital, por meio de especificações usuais no mercado".

The auctioneer is expected to trigger the closure of the auction when they consider that enough bids have been received. The system then starts a random period terminating the auction. This means that it is not the auctioneer who decides when bids will not be accepted anymore; it is the system which decides randomly when the auction is declared finished²³. Anyone can participate in the initial bid and in the auction because, at this point, procurement officials have not assessed the qualification of bidders yet (MP 2005, 15–17).

Once the provisional winners are chosen, the auctioneer asks them to submit their qualification documents. Procurement officials then take on the analysis of these qualifications. Should they be qualified, the auctioneer opens the system for the submission of protests. If there are protests, procurement officials analyze them and, depending on this analysis, they confirm the definitive winners. If the provisional winners are not considered qualified or if any protest is considered valid, the auctioneer must summon the second-best bidder (Brasil 2002, Art. 4, X, XI, XII, XIII, XVI). Thus, only qualification of winners is assessed by procurement officials. When the auctioneer declares the definitive winners, *Comprasnet* automatically generates an auction report. In this report, all bids and the information exchanged during the auction is registered. Objections, protests and qualification documents are also available in the system (MP 2005, 21–27).

Other rules established by Law 8.666 are applicable in reverse auctions, including provisions regarding technical qualification criteria and administrative protests (Brasil 2002, Art. 9).

Procurement proceedings team

An auctioneer, with the help of a support team, must be designated to conduct procurement proceedings and to make decisions concerning reverse auctions. They must be civil servants working for the procuring entity (Brasil 2002, Art. 3, IV).

²³ *Comprasnet* includes a random period for closing the auction. This random period can last up to thirty minutes following the auctioneer's triggering the closure of bids. This random period was put in place to prevent auctioneers from favouring a bidder by closing the auction at the moment this bidder would win (Barbosa 2017).

6.2.4 Law 12.462 – Differentiated regime for public procurement – RDC

Application

Law 12.462, adopted in 2011, introduced another solicitation method, named "differentiated regime for public procurement" – RDC (*regime diferenciado de contratações*) (Brasil 2011a). The main feature of Law 12.462 is that it introduced the design-build approach, discussed in Section 3.4, in Brazilian public procurement (*contratação integrada*, as mentioned in the Law). In this approach, the basic project, the execution project and the construction itself may be procured in the same procedure (Brasil 2011a, Art. 8, V, Art. 9). This is different from the procedures of Law 8.666, which determines that procurement for construction may only take place if the corresponding basic project is approved, as reviewed in Section 6.2.2.3.

By the time of its adoption, Law 12.462 was intended to provide a simpler legal framework for the construction of buildings and infrastructure necessary for the Fifa World Cup in 2014 and for the Olympic Games in 2016, given that reverse auctions cannot be used for construction (Valencia 2016, 65). The Law later incorporated other areas where RDC can be applied, namely actions in the Program for Economic Acceleration – PAC (*Programa de Aceleração do Crescimento*), infrastructure for health services, construction of prisons, actions for public security, infrastructure for urban transportation, construction of buildings for the purpose of renting them for the public administration, and actions in public programs for science and education. For concision, I will use the term *RDC actions* for actions concerning these areas. RDC can thus be used by procuring entities across all levels of government for the acquisition of any type of items, including architectural services, provided the subject matter of procurement is in the scope of RDC actions (Brasil 2011a, Art. 1).

Awarding process

Law 12.462 determines that RDC procedures may be price-based, quality-based or valuebased (Brasil 2011a, Art. 18). Nevertheless, the assessment of qualification is similar to that of Law 10.520. That means qualification will be judged after the best submission is selected (Brasil 2011a, Art. 12), thus reducing the amount of analysis by procurement officials when compared with procedures established by Law 8.666.

In RDC, value-based procedures can only be employed for services of a predominantly intellectual nature (Brasil 2011a, Art. 20), yet the Law further specifies that quality-based selection can be employed specifically for procurement of architectural services (Brasil 2011a, Art. 21). In practice, RDC with price-based or value-based selection corresponds to a post-qualification open tendering (Fiuza and Medeiros 2014, 39), whilst RDC with quality-based selection corresponds to a post-qualification prize competition. Rules regarding qualification and evaluation criteria (Brasil 2011a, Art. 14) and regarding administrative protests (Brasil 2011a, Art. 27, Art. 45) are similar to those established by Law 8.666.

Procurement proceedings team

Decisions concerning procurement proceedings under Law 12.462 are made by a committee where the majority of its members must be employees of the procuring entity (Brasil 2011a, Art. 34).

6.2.5 Other regulations on procurement

6.2.5.1 Decree 7.892 – Formalized price system – SRP

Decree 7.892, adopted in 2013, implements the formalized price system – SRP (*sistema de registro de preços*), which was provided by Law 8.666 (Art. 15). SRP is not a solicitation method, but an additional tool allowing public organizations to procure goods whenever the quantity to be procured is not known beforehand. In such cases, bidders offer a price per unit of measure of the item procured (Brasil 2013, Art. 9, I). The procuring entity and other public organizations may then buy the needed quantity of the item from the winning bidder, up to a certain limit established in the corresponding solicitation document (Brasil 2013, Art. 22).

Procurement officials may employ SRP in four circumstances: (a) the item will be frequently procured; (b) it is convenient to purchase the item in installments; (c) more than one public organization need to procure the same item; and (d) it is not possible to determine beforehand the exact amount of the item that will be procured (Brasil 2013, Art. 3). This system can only be employed when the solicitation method is open tendering, as established by Law 8.666; reverse auctions, as established by Law 10.520; or RDC, as established by Law 12.462 (Brasil 2011a, Art. 29, 2013, Art. 7).

An example might be helpful to illustrate how SRP is applied. A public organization may procure pencils by means of a reverse auction using SRP, without indicating the exact quantity of pencils it would need. Bidders offer a price per unit of the specified pencil. The winner will be the qualified bidder offering the lowest price. The procuring entity may then buy pencils from the winner. Other public organizations may also buy the same type of pencils from the winner, without the need of starting procurement procedures anew.

According to Law 8.666, SRP should not be employed for the procurement of services, including architectural services (Brasil 1993, Art. 7, § 4).

6.2.5.2 Decree 2.271

As seen above, Law 8.666 provided different procedures for procurement of construction, goods and services. Procurement of services for federal organizations was regulated by Decree 2.271, adopted in 1997, and by Normative Instruction 5 (*Instruçao Normativa* 5), adopted in 2017 (Brasil 1997; MP 2017b). I will refer to the latter simply as IN-5.

Decree 2.271 established that any service that is complementary to the main activity of a federal public organization may be provided by third parties by means of public procurement (Brasil 1997, Art. 1)²⁴.

²⁴ Decree 2.271 was replaced by Decree 9.507 in September 21, 2018 (Brasil 2018g, Art. 17). However, Decree 2.271 was the legal instrument in force during the period analyzed in this study.

IN-5 provides detailed rules for the procurement of services by federal public organizations, as established by Decree 2.271²⁵.

Given its importance for this research²⁶, I will discuss in detail the features of IN-5 that I deem most relevant for this study.

6.2.6 IN-5 – Normative Instruction 5

IN-5 determines that procurement officials must produce two documents to start procurement proceedings. The first are the reference terms (*termo de referência*)²⁷. The reference terms inform specifications of services being procured, awarding process, technical qualification and evaluation criteria, and estimated cost of the service (MP 2017b, Art. 30). The second is the solicitation document (*edital*), which is the most important document in a procurement procedure (Justen Filho 2009, 515). It must indicate the subject matter of procurement (the services being procured), solicitation method, awarding process, qualification and evaluation criteria, as well as the terms of the contract that would be awarded as a result of procurement proceedings (MP 2017b, Art. 34, Appendix VII-A). The solicitation document must be based on information provided in the reference terms (MP 2017b Appendix VII-A item 2.1).

IN-5 establishes that there should be two teams of procurement officials engaged in a procurement process. The first is the planning team (*equipe de planejamento da contratação*), composed of procurement officials who are expected to hold knowledge on the technical aspects of the subject matter. The planning team is responsible for devising the reference terms (MP 2017b, Art. 21). Therefore, it is this group who determines

²⁵ IN-5 replaced Normative Instruction 2/2008 in 2017. However, in what concerns the subject of this research, their contents are basically the same (Brasil 2017b).

²⁶ According to TCU, IN-5 should be followed by all public organizations, regardless of their level (federal, state or municipal) or their branch (executive, legislative, judiciary) (TCU 2009, 14; Correa 2010; MPOG 2012).

²⁷ *Basic project* and *reference terms* are often used as though they were interchangeable appellations. Nevertheless, *basic project* is a detailed document, including drawings and specifications, necessary for procurement of construction, as seen in the section dedicated to Law 8.666, whereas *reference term* is a simpler document, adequate for the procurement of goods and services (Camarao and Daniel 2016). Thus, the document used for procuring architectural services should be the reference terms.

awarding process and technical criteria, and who judges bidders' compliance with technical criteria. The second is the procurement proceedings team, whose composition depends on the solicitation method employed, as reviewed in Sections 6.2.2.8, 6.2.3 and 6.2.4. It is this team who is responsible for producing the solicitation document and conducting procurement proceedings, including judging compliance with criteria other than technical (Tolosa Filho 2011, 561; MP 2017b, Art. 33).

Each subject matter of procurement may include different services, in which case each service should be procured as a different item. Each item must be classified using a classification table available in *Comprasnet*, called CATSER (MP 2017b Appendix V item 2.1.b). Items can be bidden separately or in a group of items, but different services should not be procured in the same item (MP 2017b Appendix III item 3.8). For instance, a procuring entity may procure the subject matter *design of a new office building*. This subject matter may comprise the following services: *architectural design, structural design, facilities design*, and *interior design*. In this case, we would be dealing with one subject matter, corresponding to one procurement procedure and one solicitation document; this subject matter comprises four services being procured, which correspond to four items. These four items may be grouped, to assure the same bidder will provide all services; or they may be offered separately, in which case four different bidders may provide the services. In the latter case, four contracts would be awarded, whilst in the former case, only one contract would be awarded. However, in no case the four services could be bundled as one item, given that it would not be possible to correctly classify them.

IN-5 has three other features that are important for this study. First, it determines that services should be procured preferably by means of reverse auctions (price-based selection of bidders), whereas value-based procedures should be exceptional. Procuring entities that intend to procure services by means of value-based procedures must justify the need to do so. Value-based procedures are acceptable when the service is of intellectual nature (MP 2017b Appendix VII-A items 8.1, 8.4, 8.6). Therefore, it can be contended that this regulation grants discretion to the planning team to judge whether a service can be
considered a common service, such as street cleaning, or a service of intellectual nature, such as legal consulting or architectural design. IN-5 does not mention prize competitions.

Second, in its Art. 30, IN-5 determines that procurement officials must unveil the estimated price for the service and how they calculated this estimated price – although it is not mandatory to indicate the estimated price in RDC procedures (Brasil 2011a, Art. 6). Bidders that propose a price higher than the estimated price may have their bids rejected (MP 2017b Appendix V item 2.8.d).

IN-5 also disposes that both technical qualification criteria and technical evaluation criteria must be relevant and compatible with the service being procured ("*atividade pertinente e compatível* [...] com o objeto de que trata o processo licitatório") (MP 2017b, Appendix VII-A items 10.3 and 10.4). Besides, the same technical criterion may be used as qualification as well as evaluation criterion (MP 2017b Appendix V items 2.8.b and 2.8.c). However, documents used for complying with qualification criteria may not be used for assessing evaluation criteria (MP 2017b Appendix VII-A item 10.4.b). Finally, IN-5 establishes that technical qualification criteria must include a minimum quantity of capacity required (MP 2017b Appendix VII-A item 10.4.b).

6.2.7 Comments on procurement regulations



Figure 14 - Summary of the procurement process for services

I summarize the process for procurement of services under Brazilian regulation in Figure 14. The type and the estimated value of services procured should determine solicitation methods available. In turn, solicitation methods and services should determine the range of technical criteria which procurement officials could employ. In what concerns solicitation methods, the three principal types are reverse auctions, which are post-qualification procedures (assessment of qualification is done after assessment of proposals), as well as prize competitions and open tendering, which are pre-qualification procedures (assessment of qualification is done before assessment of proposals). In the figure above RDC methods (Law 12.462) are not shown, for these can take the shape of any of the three methods mentioned.

Some authors argue that the coexistence of Laws 8.666 and 10.520 creates a contradictory and confusing regulatory framework, since these laws embrace opposite directions: a maximalist approach in the case of the former and a minimalist approach in the case of the latter (Rosilho 2011, 203; Fernandes 2014, 23; 2016, 427). Law 8.666 is considered too detailed, rigidly framing procurement procedures in order to control corruption (World Bank 2004, x; Rosilho 2011, 146; Fernandes 2016, 425). Law 10.520 introduced post-

qualification procedures, which some authors consider a huge improvement over Law 8.666 because pre-qualification in Brazil is a lengthy procedure, very often subjected to administrative and legal protests (Szerman 2012; Costa Jr 2016, 59; Fernandes 2016, 425). However, Law 10.520 provides little flexibility for procurement of professional services, because the only evaluation criterion in reverse auctions is price. In a report focusing on the Brazilian procurement system, the World Bank noted the issue of different regulatory approaches, underlining that they may produce conflicting jurisprudences (World Bank 2004, 84).

Law 12.462 appears as a middle ground between Laws 8.666 and 10.520, although the introduction of the design-build approach has been criticized by many, especially architects (Fiuza and Medeiros 2014, 38; IAB 2015; 2016). Law 12.462 has also been criticized for granting too much discretion to procurement officials, since it lets them apply RDC for procuring any item regarded as part of an RDC action (Valencia 2016, 66).

Noteworthy, some authors see post-qualification procedures as appropriate for the Brazilian context, given that they have been tested extensively by means of reverse auctions (Fiuza and Medeiros 2014, 25). However, other scholars mention that, in different contexts, post-qualification procedures often introduce a bias toward the lowest bid, therefore procurement officials would be more likely to ignore other criteria in this situation (Sporrong 2011, 63). This discussion does not regard criteria themselves, but rather the moment in the process when criteria are assessed. For this reason, I will not elaborate on the matter.

In what concerns procurement of architectural services in particular, a summary of the main features of solicitation methods available under Brazilian laws, as reviewed in this chapter, is shown in Table 2.

One can argue from this summary that there is a large range of possible solicitation methods from which procurement officials could choose from. They would vary from the simple, straightforward reverse auction to the more complex and subjective prize competition. The choice of solicitation method would depend on how procurement officials classify the subject matter of procurement – in this case, how they classify architectural services. Technical qualification criteria are mandatory in all procurement procedures, whereas technical evaluation criteria may be employed only in value-based and quality-based procedures.

Solicitation method →	Reverse auction (Law 10.520)	RDC (Law 12.462)	Open tendering, request for proposals and request for quotations (Law 8.666)	Prize competition (Law 8.666)
Awarding process	Price-based	Price-based, quality-based or value-based	Price-based or value-based	Quality-based
Qualification	Post-qualification	Post-qualification	Pre-qualification	Pre-qualification
Technical criteria	Qualification mandatory	Qualification mandatory, evaluation depends on awarding process	Qualification mandatory, evaluation depends on awarding process	Qualification and evaluation mandatory

Table 2 - Featur	es of solicitation	methods for	architectural	services
------------------	--------------------	-------------	---------------	----------

In what concerns solicitation methods, IN-5 is in contradiction with Law 8.666. The former provides that reverse auctions should be the preferred method for procurement of all services, thus establishing the preference of a price-based selection. Law 8.666 provides that prize competition should be the preferred method for specialized technical professional services, thus establishing the preference of a quality-based selection for such services. The issue seems to revolve around how procurement officials should classify services, either as common services, or as services of a predominantly intellectual nature, or still as specialized technical professional services. Depending on this classification, technical evaluation criteria should be used or otherwise. Some authors understand that the legislation provides the preference for prize competitions for architectural services in general (Cretella Jr 1996, 188; Fernandes 2016, 133), whereas renowned jurist Marçal

Justen Filho contends that procurement officials have discretion to determine whether a service should be the subject of a prize competition (2009, 164). Adding some confusion to this already difficult matter, the Office of the Attorney General states that architectural services must be submitted to IN-5, thus establishing reverse auctions as the preferred method (AGU 2018), whereas the Federal Audit Office encourages procurement officials to employ prize competitions when procuring architectural services (TCU 2019b, 27).

It is also argued that the use of reverse auctions for procurement of professional services is inadequate, even if the legal framework provides discretion on the matter. As Szerman noted, in a typical reverse auction "bidders are retailers or wholesalers who have good knowledge of their private costs before entering the auction. Bidders are unlikely to spend large amounts of time reading lots of descriptions, as these are short due to the standardisation of products being traded" (2012, 71). Professional services, including architectural services, can hardly be standardised, and the solicitation documents for procuring such services are usually long and detailed. Therefore, choosing the winning bid by means of a price-based procedure is unlikely to provide the best professional to provide the service, for bidders will not have enough time to calculate their costs. Furthermore, the random period for closure of bids in reverse auctions may create a gambling environment. Bidders will engage in a race for the lowest price, threatening the feasibility of the service (Guarnieri and Gomes 2019, 2).

6.2.8 Proposed bill for public procurement in Brazil

Since a new procurement bill is under study in Brazil, and given the subject of this research, it is worth checking how procurement for architectural services is addressed by this bill.

6.2.8.1 Proposed bill

A bill to replace Laws 8.666, 10.520 and 12.462 is under study since 2013 (Senado Federal 2017; 2020). At its present state, the proposed bill provides open tendering, reverse auction

and prize competition as solicitation methods, using post-qualification procedures (Senado Federal 2017, Art. 25).

Like Law 8.666, the bill establishes that awarding procedures can be price-based, qualitybased or value-based (Senado Federal 2017, Arts. 31, 32 and 33). Like Law 12.462, it would be possible to employ a design-build (DB) approach but, in this case, the procuring entity would need to provide a preliminary design (Senado Federal 2017, Art. 41). Like Law 10.520, procurement officials should preferably employ reverse auctions, but reverse auctions cannot be used when the item to be procured is a specialized technical service of a predominantly intellectual nature ("*serviços técnicos especializados de natureza predominantemente intellectual*") (Senado Federal 2017, Art. 26). Basic projects²⁸ and execution projects are listed amongst specialized technical services of a predominantly intellectual nature ("*estudos técnicos, planejamentos, projetos completos e projetos executivos*") (Senado Federal 2017, Art. 5, XVI a). Therefore, it will not be possible to procure architectural services by means of reverse auctions.

The bill determines that technical qualification criteria are mandatory in any procurement procedure (Senado Federal 2017, Art. 55). However, it is less clear regarding evaluation criteria. Specialized technical services of a predominantly intellectual nature could be procured by means of price-based or value-based selection (Senado Federal 2017, Arts. 31 and 33), while architectural services could also be procured by means of quality-based selection (Senado Federal 2017, Art. 32). Nevertheless, the bill does not determine any obligation or preference for the use of price-based, value-based or quality-based procedures and, consequently, for the use of technical evaluation criteria. We can thus conclude that, in its current form, the proposed bill has the merit of making clear that reverse auctions could not be employed for procurement of architectural services. However, it falls short of providing a clear orientation on the use of technical evaluation criteria, putting this decision under procurement officials' discretionary powers.

²⁸ The bill replaces the term "basic project" by the term "complete project", but its meaning and function remain the same.

6.2.8.2 Comments on the proposed bill

In what regards procurement of architectural services, some aspects of the proposed bill must be highlighted. Brazilian architects have argued that the introduction of the DB approach for all types of construction will likely lead to increased corruption, as seen in contracts related to the construction of stadiums for the FIFA World Cup – these contracts were not submitted to Law 8.666, but to Law 12.462 (Moreira 2017; Magalhaes 2017). The Brazilian Council of Architecture and Urban Planning (CAU-BR – *Conselho de Arquitetura e Urbanismo do Brasil*) has even set up a webpage for denouncing such cases (CAU-BR 2017). Brazilian architects seem to prefer the traditional DBB approach for the procurement of construction, favouring prize competitions as a solicitation method for architectural services. The Brazilian Institute of Architects (IAB – *Instituto de arquitetos do Brasil*), which is the most traditional association of architects in the country, has repeatedly made public their support for prize competitions (IAB 2013a, 8; Baeta 2014; IAB 2015, 2; 2016, 2). However, in its present form, the proposed bill grants, to procurement officials, discretion to decide between open tendering and prize competitions for the procurement of architectural services, without providing a preference for either.

Finally, some authors contend that the simplification of procurement proceedings provided by the proposed bill will not be a panacea for Brazilian public procurement because one important source of problems is the lack of proper planning, which should be carried out by the planning team during the pre-contractual phase of procurement (Sampaio and Biasi 2011, 523; Fiuza and Medeiros 2014, 24; Fernandes 2016, 130). This argument reinforces the notion that the regulatory framework alone is not sufficient for a well-functioning procurement system. For improving the Brazilian system, the procurement environment should also be revamped.

6.2.9 Regulations on architectural services

The profession of architect is framed in Brazil by Law 12.378 (Brasil 2010, Art. 1). This law determined the creation of a professional order for architects²⁹, the Brazilian Council of Architecture and Urban Planning – CAU-BR, which is responsible for overseeing and representing the profession. CAU-BR can adopt rules for regulating Law 12.378, and it can impose disciplinary measures on architects, including banning a professional from the order (Brasil 2010, Art. 17, Art. 19). To work as an architect, a professional must be a member of CAU-BR, and to become a member, one must possess a valid diploma in architecture (Brasil 2010, Art. 5, Art. 6).

6.2.9.1 Architectural services

According to Law 12.378, an architect may perform services in eleven fields, namely: (a) architecture and urban planning; (b) interior architecture; (c) landscape architecture; (d) cultural and artistic heritage; (e) urban and regional planning; (f) topographic survey; (g) technology and resistance of materials; (h) structural systems; (i) facilities and equipment related to architecture and urban planning; (j) environmental comfort; and (k) environmental design and sustainable development (Brasil 2010, Art. 2). The services themselves range from data collection to quality control, including spatial design.

CAU-BR adopted many resolutions regulating Law 12.378. The most important for this research are Resolution 21, adopted in 2012, and Resolution 51, adopted in 2013. Resolution 21 provides a detailed list of 241 assignments that can be performed by architects (CAU-BR 2012, Art. 3). Most of these assignments straddle architecture and other fields, so they may be performed by architects as well as by other professionals, such as surveyors, but most commonly by engineers. For instance, structural design of a building could be performed by a civil engineer or by an architect, within certain limits.

²⁹ Before the creation of CAU-BR, Brazilian architects shared the same professional order of engineers and agronomists.

6.2.9.2 Services exclusive for architects

Resolution 51 determines which services, amongst those 241 assignments, can only be performed by architects. These exclusive services are spatial design and related services in the fields of architecture, urban planning, interior architecture, landscape architecture, cultural and artistic heritage, urban and regional planning, and environmental comfort (CAU-BR 2013, Art. 2). Related services can be, for instance, teaching architecture and urban planning (Art. 2 items I-f and I-o) or producing technical reports regarding architecture and urban planning projects (Art. 2 item I-m).

In practice, architects and engineers are presumed to work in a complementary fashion in most services related to construction, and especially in design services. However, given my professional background and time constraints of this research, it would not be feasible to discuss criteria for both engineering and architectural services. Hence, I will limit the scope of this research to those services that are exclusive for architects, as established by Resolution 51 mentioned above.

6.2.10 Transparency regulations

Transparency is a fundamental feature of public administration and especially of public procurement, since it strengthens integrity and accountability of public agents (Bernier 2012; Ferrarese 2015, 27). There are two main sources of regulations concerning public procurement transparency in Brazil. The first source is Law 8.666, which, as mentioned above, deals with public procurement. The second is Law 12.527, which deals with transparency in all government activities. I will review contents from each of these sources in the following sections.

6.2.10.1 Transparency regulations on public procurement

Law 8.666 establishes that transparency is one of the fundamental principles of Brazilian public procurement (Brasil 1993, Art. 3). It disposes that all procurement proceedings must

be published in the official press of the corresponding level of government – federal, state or municipal (Brasil 1993, Art. 21).

For regulating transparency in public procurement at the federal level, the government adopted, in 1994, Decree 1.094, which was later implemented by Normative Instruction 2/2011. These regulations establish that information on federal organizations' public procurement should be available by means of *Comprasnet;* this system is open to the general public via the internet and it holds information on procurement procedures since 2001 (Brasil 1994; MPOG 2011a; Szerman 2012, 2). Everything the federal government buys ought to be announced by means of *Comprasnet* (except procurement involving classified information), and procurement proceedings regarding reverse auctions and RDC should also be carried out by this system (Brasil 2018d). Federal procuring entities must therefore publish their procedures in the official press as well as in *Comprasnet*, but they are encouraged to do so (Szerman 2012, 9; Brasil 2018d). *Comprasnet* is thus a system for *disclosing information* about all procurement in the federal sphere as well as for *conducting some procurement proceedings*, namely reverse auctions and RDC.

When a procuring entity publishes a procedure in *Comprasnet*, it must include in the system the solicitation document and corresponding reference terms, as well as a list of items procured. This list is generated automatically by *Comprasnet* based on information provided by procurement officials, comprising the classification according to the CATSER table and the estimated value for every item (MPOG 2011a, Art. 4; 2011b, 38). The solicitation document, the reference terms and the list of items procured are thus mandatory documents for publishing procurement procedures in *Comprasnet*. *Comprasnet* can be accessed by the address https://www.gov.br/compras/pt-br/.

6.2.10.2 General regulations on transparency

Law 12.527, adopted in 2011, is known as Access to Information Law (*Lei de acesso à informação*). It deals with transparency in all government activities. Law 12.527 determines that all information on public organizations' procurement and contracts must be made

public (Brasil 2011b, Art. 8, IV). At the federal level, this Law was implemented by Decree 7.724, adopted in 2012, which establishes that federal organizations must keep, within their internet sites, pages containing information regarding their procurement procedures (Brasil 2012, Art. 7).

For the executive branch of government, another regulation, Interministerial Ordinance 140/2006, determined the creation of Public Transparency pages (*páginas de transparência pública*), which are also intended to hold information regarding procurement procedures of federal organizations (CGU and MPOG 2006, Art. 7). Each federal organization is expected to keep a Public Transparency page, which can be used to compile information required by Decree 7.724. These pages are accessed by the address http://www.transparencia.gov.br/.

It must be noted that there are many other sources of information on procurement that do not regard the federal government. State governments and municipalities may have their own internet sites for procurement³⁰. However, an empirical study published in 2018 showed that state and municipal governments comply less with transparency laws than the federal government (Michener, Contreras, and Niskier 2018, 614). Besides, Banco do Brasil, a bank controlled by the federal government, has its own procurement system, called *Licitações-e* (Banco do Brasil 2018). Many municipal and state organizations, as well as private organizations, use *Licitações-e* for their procurement needs. Like other enterprises partly owned by the Brazilian government, such as Petrobras, Banco do Brasil is not required to use *Comprasnet*, for they are not considered part of the federal administration (Brasil 1994, Art. 1, § 1, 1997, Art. 9; Calasans Jr 2011, 527; Fiuza and Medeiros 2014, 92).

³⁰ Some examples are *http://www.transparencia.sp.gov.br/licita.html* for the state of São Paulo, or *http://www.sgl.to.gov.br/* for the state of Tocantins.

6.2.10.3 Sources of information

In accordance with the regulations discussed above, one can expect that information on federal public procurement could be found in at least two internet sources. The first is *Comprasnet*; the second would be either the Public Transparency pages or the internet page of each procuring entity. The latter would be more useful when one is focused in procurement of a specific organization, whereas *Comprasnet* would be a better source for information on procurement of the federal government as a whole. We should be able to download solicitation documents, their respective reference terms and lists of items for all procedures of procuring entities using *Comprasnet*. However, only procedures using reverse auctions and RDC are *carried out* by means of *Comprasnet*³¹. Hence it may be expected that some documents used in procedures which employ other solicitation methods could not be available in *Comprasnet*, but they should be available in Public Transparency pages of procuring entities.

6.3 Considerations on the Brazilian procurement system

From the review thereupon, we realize the procurement environment in Brazil can hardly be considered a positive one for a well-functioning system. Enforcement is deficient, the system is very fragmented, and personnel often lack skills to perform their tasks.

In what concerns the regulatory framework, it can be said that it is quite a complex one. There are laws providing different approaches in procurement, and their coexistence may lead to conflicting choices and conflicting jurisprudences. On the other hand, Brazilian laws provide a high level of transparency of procurement procedures, at least regarding procedures conducted by federal organizations, for whom the use of *Comprasnet* is mandatory.

³¹ In 2017, 96% of all procurement procedures published in *Comprasnet* concerned reverse auctions (Source: http://paineldecompras.planejamento.gov.br/).

Drawing on Brazilian regulations, two features of procurement must be underlined, for they are important for the comprehension of this study. First, a subject matter of procurement may include many different services. Each service should be procured as a different item in the same procedure. But different services should not be procured in the same item. Second, a technical criterion comprises two concepts: (a) the capacities required, which is the set of experiences and available skills deemed necessary for the production of the service being procured; and (b) the quantity of capacity, which is a figure expressing the minimum quantity required for considering the bidders' capacity compliant. For instance, in the criterion "experience with designing at least 500 square meters of pools", the capacity would be *designing pools*, whereas the quantity of capacity would be *500 square meters*. Each item procured must require one or more technical criteria.

The analysis of the regulatory framework in relation to procurement of architectural services unveiled that there is some confusion on which solicitation method and corresponding technical criteria should be used in public procurement for these services. Procurement officials may classify architectural services as specialized technical professional services, which would put them under the field of Laws 8.666 and 12.462; or as common services, which would put them under the field of Law 10.520. In the former case, both technical qualification and technical evaluation criteria should be employed, whilst in the latter case, only technical qualification criteria are necessary.

It could be contended that no architectural service can be objectively measured by means of usual market specifications, as demanded by Law 10.520. However, architectural services may present very different levels of complexity. Designing a parking lot and designing a public transit system are very different architectural services, and they probably should not be procured by the same solicitation method and technical criteria. The Brazilian regulatory framework provides room for procurement officials' discretion regarding this issue. Current rules grant the planning team (mentioned on Section 6.2.5.2) discretion to devise criteria and propose solicitation methods, provided these are relevant to the items procured. There is, however, a contradiction between IN-5 and Law 8.666 (discussed in Section 6.2.7). A contradiction in the regulatory framework increases the chances of outcomes that are not expected by policy-makers, especially in a context of high levels of discretion (Hirata 2016, 33). As late mathematician Alan Turing has noted, "the harm of a system that contains a contradiction comes in when there's an application of the system" (in Monk 1990, 421). In this sense, this research can reveal problems related to these contradictory rules.

To complement this picture, I analyzed the new Brazilian bill on public procurement. This bill upholds procurement officials' discretion on solicitation methods and technical criteria for procuring architectural services. Nevertheless, it is impossible to forecast its adoption.

Discretion provided by current regulations and by the proposed bill may be seen as a positive feature, for it would be impractical to impose the same criteria and procedures for procuring all types of architectural services. However, the problems in procurement for construction suggest that this discretion has not been used wisely, as mentioned in Section 2.1. For this reason, it seems that an examination of the matter by means of street-level bureaucracy theory and the concept of discretion is even more appropriate.

7 Intended policy on procurement of architectural services

In order to compare actual policy with intended policy, as suggested by street-level bureaucracy theory, one must first analyse intended policy. Intended policy may be seen as the sum of bounded powers and discretionary powers, provided by the regulatory framework (Applbaum 1999, 208). As discussed in the previous chapter, the Brazilian regulatory framework main focus is on preventing corruption and on treating bidders equally, in detriment to providing the optimal value for procuring entities. In this chapter, I will highlight procurement officials' bounded powers and the extent of their administrative discretion in what concerns technical criteria and solicitation methods for procurement of architectural services, based on the review in Section 6.2.

One preliminary question in this analysis is: how to identify administrative discretion? Brazilian Jurist Celso Bandeira de Mello (2010, 434) argues that a law creates discretionary powers in four circumstances. First, it may not describe the situation which is supposed to be framed. Second, the situation may be described by vague or imprecise concepts, leaving room for reflective judgements. Third, it may prescribe the freedom to decide, as long as the decision complies with the legal finality. Forth, it may prescribe that decisions should consider a generic or imprecise objective, for instance, the public interest. Drawing from this account, I will deal below with intended policy on procurement of architectural services.

7.1 Solicitation methods

According to the regulatory framework, the choice of solicitation methods depends on how procurement officials classify the service procured and on the estimated value of the procedure. Concerning the former, procurement officials must judge whether the service procured is (a) a common service, (b) a service of a predominantly intellectual nature, (c) a specialized technical professional service, or still (d) a service in the scope of an RDC action. For convenience, I review the contents of the regulatory framework

concerning these concepts on Table 3. I will discuss them below, and I will also consider the issue of estimated value thresholds for each solicitation method.

Concept	Contents of the law	Original contents	
and source			
Common services (Law 10.520, Art. 1)	services for which one can objectively determine their performance and quality by means of usual market specifications	"aqueles cujos padrões de desempenho e qualidade possam ser objetivamente definidos pelo edital, por meio de especificações usuais no mercado"	
Services of predominantly intellectual nature (Law 8.666 Art. 46)	no definition, but the Law provides a list of activities which are considered of a predominantly intellectual nature, including the production of basic projects and execution projects	"serviços de natureza predominantemente intelectual, em especial na elaboração de projetos, cálculos, fiscalização, supervisão e gerenciamento e de engenharia consultiva em geral e, em particular, para a elaboração de estudos técnicos preliminares e projetos básicos e executivos"	
Specialized technical professional services (Law 8.666 Art. 13)	no definition, but the Law provides a list of activities which are considered specialized technical professional services, including those related to technical studies, planning, basic and execution projects, technical consulting, and supervision of construction works	"trabalhos relativos a: estudos técnicos, planejamentos e projetos básicos ou executivos; () pareceres, perícias e avaliações em geral; () assessorias ou consultorias técnicas e auditorias financeiras ou tributárias; () fiscalização, supervisão ou gerenciamento de obras ou serviços"	
RDC actions (Law 12.462 Art. 1)	services related to Fifa World Cup, Olympic Games, Program for Economic Acceleration, infrastructure for health services, construction of prisons, actions for public security, infrastructure for urban transportation, construction of buildings for the purpose of renting them for the public administration, and actions in public programs for science and education	"Jogos Olímpicos e Paraolímpicos, () Copa das Confederações () e Copa do Mundo (), ações integrantes do Programa de Aceleração do Crescimento, () Sistema Único de Saúde, () estabelecimentos penais e unidades de atendimento socioeducativo, () ações no âmbito da Segurança Pública, (), melhorias na mobilidade urbana ou ampliação de infraestrutura logística () contratos de locação de bens móveis e imóveis, nos quais o locador realiza prévia aquisição, construção ou reforma substancial do bem especificado pela administração, () das ações em órgãos e entidades dedicados à ciência, à tecnologia e à inovação"	

Table 3 - Review of concepts from the regulatory framework

7.1.1 Common service

According to Law 10.520, common services are "services for which one can objectively determine their performance and quality by means of usual market specifications". If the service is considered a common service, it must be framed by Law 10.520. In this case, it should be procured by a reverse auction. The notion of common service embraces vague and imprecise concepts, namely performance objectively determined and "usual market specifications".

Some authors argue that architectural services of low complexity are common engineering services, and as such they should be procured by reverse auctions (Camarao and Daniel 2016). This understanding is based on a decision by TCU stating that common engineering services can be procured by reverse auctions ("*O uso do pregão nas contratações de serviços comuns de engenharia encontra amparo na Lei nº 10.520/2002*") (TCU 2010c).

This understanding that architectural services can be considered common engineering services is questionable. On the one hand, IBRAOP (Instituto Brasileiro de Auditoria de Obras Públicas), an organization consisting of architects and engineers working in the field of public procurement, argues that architecture and engineering design services are amongst engineering services (IBRAOP 2004, 4). On the other hand, the Office of the Attorney General – AGU (Advocacia-Geral da União), which is the entity responsible for giving legal advice to the federal government (AGU 2015), states that engineering services in the context of public procurement are activities related to the maintenance of infrastructure and buildings, thus excluding architectural and engineering design services from this category (Silva Filho 2014, 11). Furthermore, the Superior Court of Justice - STJ (Superior Tribunal de Justiça), which is responsible for the uniformity of interpretation of federal laws (STJ 2018), confirmed, in April 2017, the decision of a lower Court, which judged that architectural and engineering services are specialized technical professional services, and as such should not be procured by means of reverse auctions (STJ 2017). However, the subject matter of procurement in this latter case was not a specific project. Instead, it concerned contracting a firm of architects and engineers for the execution of several tasks in their fields, including designing architectural projects³² (STJ 2017, 2).

From the analysis above, we can argue that there is a distinction between design services in architecture and engineering – services which will produce a project – from other

³² In the original: "O objeto da licitação em apreço refere-se à contratação de empresa para prestação de serviços de engenharia e arquitetura para a execução de serviços técnicos, compreendendo a elaboração de análises, assessoramento, coordenação, especificações, estudos de viabilidade técnica, orçamentos, fiscalizações de obras e serviços de laudos, levantamentos, projetos, pareceres, vistorias e outros de mesma natureza, necessários à Administração, conservação e manutenção dos imóveis".

engineering services such as maintenance of infrastructure and buildings. The concept of common engineering services in public procurement would be applicable only to the latter type of services. Under this understanding, as a general rule architectural services should not be considered common services.

7.1.2 Service of predominantly intellectual nature

If the service is not a common service, it is bound to be a service of a predominantly intellectual nature. In this case, it can be procured by means of solicitation methods using value-based or quality-based awarding process. Nevertheless, the law does not prohibit the use of price-based awarding process.

The concept of predominantly intellectual nature can be considered vague, allowing procurement officials the latitude to frame a service under it. As shown in Table 3, the law does not provide a definition of service of a predominantly intellectual nature. Instead, legislators favoured giving examples of the concept, including the design of basic project and execution project in the list of services of a predominantly intellectual nature.

TCU has stated that services of intellectual nature are services for which art and human rationality are essential, and as such they would exclude services that can be performed mechanically or according to pre-established rules³³ (TCU 2010b, 114). Still, procurement officials have discretion to judge whether a service requires art or human rationality, which are inherently vague concepts, and whether such requirements are essential.

7.1.3 Specialized technical professional service

When the service is not considered a common service, procurement officials must also judge whether it is a specialized technical professional service.

³³ In the original: "Entendo como serviços de natureza intelectual aqueles em que a arte e a racionalidade humana sejam essenciais para a sua satisfatória execução. Não se trata, pois, de tarefas que possam ser executadas mecanicamente ou segundo protocolos, métodos e técnicas pré-estabelecidos e conhecidos."

As shown in Table 3, the law does not provide a definition of specialized technical professional service. Like the concept of service of a predominantly intellectual nature, legislators favoured giving examples of the concept, including the design of basic project and execution project in the list of specialized technical professional services. This could lead to the understanding that these services must be automatically categorized as such, leaving no room for discretion. However, as the discussion on common services hinted, this understanding is not consensual.

Given the disputed interpretation of the Law, Brazilian jurist Marçal Justen Filho proposed a definition of specialized technical professional services. According to him, specialized technical professional services have three characteristics: (a) they are supervised by a professional order, (b) they demand the application of theoretical knowledge, and (c) they require a level of skill that is bigger than the usual for professionals working in their respective fields. Professionals who are required for these services must possess special abilities, allowing them to solve difficult and complex problems³⁴ (Justen Filho 2009, 165).

Justen Filho's definition contributes to a better understanding of the concept. However, it also contains vague concepts, especially the level of skills "bigger than the usual", and "difficult and complex problems". Procurement officials would thus need to rely on their reflective judgement to categorize particular architectural services under this concept.

Arguably, the concepts of *service of predominantly intellectual nature* and *specialized technical professional service* are very close. But drawing on Justen Filho's definition of the latter, it is reasonable to conceive service of predominantly intellectual nature as a broader concept, encompassing specialized technical professional service. Thus, some services of predominantly intellectual nature may be specialized technical professional services, in which case the Law states that the preferred solicitation method is prize

³⁴ In the original: "Serviço técnico profissional especializado: necessita uma capacitaçao maior do que a usual e comum e é produzida pelo dominio de uma area restrita, com habilidades que ultrapassam o conhecimento da média dos profissionais necessarios ao desenvolvimento da atividade em questao. O especialista dispoe de uma capacitaçao diferenciada, permitindo-lhe solucionar problemas e dificuldades complexas."

competition. When it is not the case, procurement officials could use their discretion to decide which solicitation method and awarding process is the most appropriate.

7.1.4 RDC actions

When the service procured is not a common service, procurement officials must also assess whether it is within the scope of an RDC action, which could frame the service under Law 12.462. Determining whether a service is within the scope of an RDC action seems to demand an objective judgement of the subject matter of procurement. As seen on Section 6.2.4, the law provides a list of RDC actions, leaving little room for interpretation.

7.1.5 Estimated values

The regulatory framework establishes that public procurement is not mandatory for services that are estimated to cost less than R\$ 8.000,00. Request for proposals may be used for contracts up to R\$ 80.000,00; request for quotations must be used for contracts up to R\$ 650.000,00; and open tendering must be used for contracts above R\$ 650.000,00. There are no estimated value thresholds for the use of prize competitions, reverse auctions and RDC.

7.2 Technical criteria

The Brazilian regulatory framework grants, to procurement officials, freedom to devise technical criteria under certain limits. Drawing from the review in Section 6.2, I summarize all possible technical criteria according to awarding processes on Table 4.

In what regards technical qualification criteria, procurement officials use their discretion for the following decisions: (a) they must decide which capacities are relevant to the services procured (Law 8.666, Art. 30, \S 1, II); (b) they must decide whether the required capacities should be applied on the professional or group of professionals working for a bidding firm or applied on the bidding firm itself (Law 8.666, Art. 30, \S 1, \S 10); and (c) they must determine the quantity of these capacities that will be required, up to 50% of the services

procured (IN-5 Appendix VII-A item 10.3.a). Concerning the latter point, it must be noted that Law 8.666 does not require a minimum quantity of capacities, yet IN-5 does. Brazilian jurists have argued that procurement officials are better off establishing this quantity whenever possible (Motta 2000, 120; Garcia and Neme 2004, 2). In this vein, the Federal Audit Office has suggested that a minimum quantity of capacity, compatible with the quantity of services procured, should be included in solicitation documents (TCU 2010a, 359).

Awarding process	Technical qualification criteria	Technical evaluation criteria	
Price-based	 Membership of professional order 		
Value-based	 (mandatory) Proof of capacity related to the most relevant and most expensive items of the subject matter (mandatory) Quantity demanded up to 50% of service procured 	Bidders' capacity and experience	
Quality-based		 Proposed methods and organization Technology and resources to be employed Qualification of the team that will perform the service 	 Additional criteria relevant to the service procured

Table 4 - Technical criteria according to awarding process

With respect to technical evaluation criteria, procurement officials may decide which criteria – amongst those proposed by the law – will be demanded, provided such criteria can be objectively measured (IN-5 Appendix VII-A item 8.10.a). Evaluation criteria are required for value-based and quality-based awarding procedures. For quality-based awarding procedures (prize competitions), procurement officials may also determine additional evaluation criteria that could be relevant to the service procured. Furthermore, as reviewed in Section 6.2.2.5, there is no minimum number of evaluation criteria that should be employed and there is no restriction on how weights should be attributed to technical criteria and to price, which put a good deal of formal discretion in the hands of procurement officials. Evaluation criteria cannot be employed in price-based procedures.

Although regulations do not mention specifically architectural services, it is plausible to consider that technical criteria for these services should employ capacities that are relevant to the technical dimension of the service procured, as discussed in Section 4.4. When this is not the case, criteria employed may be considered arbitrary. Procurement officials must not just reproduce the contents of regulations and use them as technical criteria; they are instead expected to objectively define these criteria and establish a minimum quantity of capacity that will be considered compliant (Sampaio et al. 2011, 585).

It should be reminded that, concerning solicitation methods, reverse auctions are always price-based; prize competitions are always quality-based; open tendering, request for quotations and request for proposals can be both price-based or value-based, while RDC can be price-based, value-based or quality-based. Therefore, there is a relation between the solicitation method employed, which depends on how the service is classified, as seen in the previous section, and the use of qualification and/or evaluation criteria.

7.3 Services procured

The regulatory framework is not restrictive regarding what services can be procured. Only services related to the strategic functions of public organizations cannot be contracted out (IN-5 Art. 9). However, some remarks must be made with respect to the way procurement is carried out.

Alongside the specification of each service procured, it is necessary to inform the quantity of service procured (IN-5 Appendix V items 2.1.a, 2.4.a). Different but interrelated services can be procured in the same procedure. But each service must be procured by means of its respective item (TCU 2014, 31). Procurement officials should attribute a classification from the CATSER table to each item, reflecting the nature of the service procured (IN-5 Appendix V item 2.1.b). Finally, services are not supposed to be procured using the formalized price system (SRP) (Brasil 1993, Art. 7, § 4).

7.4 Considerations on intended policy

From the analysis of intended policy, one can contend that procurement officials do hold fair-sized formal discretion when procuring architectural services. Depending on how architectural services are classified and on the estimated value of these services, they may choose different solicitation methods and technical criteria. Furthermore, contradictions within the regulatory framework, as reviewed in Section 6.2.7, result in increased discretion for the choice of solicitation methods. This argument goes against a common perception that the Brazilian regulatory framework lacks flexibility for the procurement of services (World Bank 2004, 2; Rosilho 2011, 185; Fernandes 2014, 24).

This discretion, however, must be bounded by the contents of the law. Although IN-5 establishes reverse auctions as the preferred solicitation method for any service, Law 8.666 gives preference for prize competitions in procurement of architectural services, yet leaving room for open tendering in any procurement procedure. Since a federal law takes precedence over a regulation, it is plausible to reason that, as a rule, architectural services should not be procured by reverse auctions.

In what concerns discretion in concrete cases, it is argued that operational discretion arises when one must judge whether a situation may be qualified under a concept provided by the intended policy. As approached in Section 2.4.2, this would be a reflective judgement, which depends on how the judge interprets the concept (Mello 2010, 431). To simplify this task, Mello suggests that we categorize concrete cases by what he calls "zones of certainty". When a situation is in the positive zone of certainty, one is positive that the concept is applicable to that situation. When a situation is in the surrounding zone of certainty³⁵, one cannot be certain that the concept is applicable to that situation. When a situation is in the negative zone of certainty applicable to that situation. When a situation is in the negative zone of certainty, one is certain that the concept is not applicable to that situation (Mello 2010, 436). This categorization is analogous to that proposed by Professor Jennifer Raso. She argues that some situations are "black and white", meaning

³⁵ In the original: "zona circundante".

that there is no doubt an instance of the law is applicable, whereas other situations are "grey zones", where it is not clear the extent to which the law is applicable (Raso 2018, 71). Interpretation and discretion are thus limited to those doubtful cases in the surrounding zone of certainty, or grey areas. This way of proceeding is in line with an argument advanced by philosopher John Rawls. He contended that, when dealing with vague concepts, there will be borderline instances which are difficult to judge (Rawls 1955, 29).

Procurement officials must apply their discretion on concrete cases when they devise technical criteria. For this task, they must judge what experience and competencies will be required for each service being procured, but such judgement relies upon their own experience and competencies (Wittgenstein 1984, 87e; Cox and Ireland 2002, 417; Pigliucci 2010, 281). Nevertheless, as philosopher Bertrand Russell reasoned ([1954] 2014, 20), an incorrect judgement of a situation may be due not only to insufficient knowledge and competencies, but also to an intentional hiding of one's real objectives. Procurement officials might thus employ intentional arbitrariness in their choices of criteria, ignoring intended policies. For instance, they could devise criteria in a way that favours a specific bidder. This is obviously against the spirit of the law and the public interest, and it may be a premeditated opening of the procurement process for corruption (Stake 2017, 1147).

An example may be useful to illustrate the relation between the concepts mentioned above. Procurement officials may need to procure an architectural project for the renovation of a heritage train station in a historic neighbourhood. They may judge that experience in designing renovation of any heritage building in a historic neighbourhood would be relevant to the technical dimension of the subject matter (positive zone of certainty). However, demanding experience in designing a new hospital would be considered arbitrary, due to the lack of relevance with the subject matter (negative zone of certainty). It is less clear, though, whether experience in designing renovation of a non-heritage train station in a historic neighbourhood would be compatible with the subject matter (surrounding zone of certainty). Procurement officials are thus expected to rely on their experience and competences to judge the applicability of the criterion to the concrete case.

113

The next step in this research is analyzing how procurement officials have applied intended policy to concrete cases of procurement. As mentioned in Section 6.1, there is little supervision and enforcement in the Brazilian procurement system. Furthermore, qualification is unevenly distributed amongst public officials, and they often lack skills necessary for performing their functions. In other words, procurement officials, working in a difficult environment and not having sufficient knowledge and capacities, apply their discretion for devising technical criteria and for determining what solicitation methods will be used. Under these circumstances, there could be a risk that discretion turns into arbitrariness, and thus that actual policy would diverge substantially from intended policy.

In the following chapters I will assess procurement officials' practices when procuring architectural services. I will look into concrete cases of procurement procedures, examining the connection between the services procured and respective solicitation methods and technical criteria. But before dealing with the results of this empirical inquiry, I must review the research design employed, which I carry out in Chapter 8.

8 Research design

I will consolidate the sections concerning methods of this study under the label *research design*, as suggested by Levitt et al. (2018, 32). Thus, in this chapter I present the general approach to inquiry, the data-collection and the data-analytic strategies used in this research, and I also include a section on reliability of data-analytic strategies (Drisko and Maschi 2016, 121).

8.1 General research approach – descriptive study

Philosophers of science from different traditions have stressed the need, for social scientists, of addressing practical problems of our times (Popper [1945] 1985, 376; Feyerabend [1991] 2017, 86; Mead 2010, 460; Kuhn in Raadschelders 2013, 6). Public administration as a field of study can be considered a social science (Riccucci 2010, s306). Public administration researchers should therefore use pragmatic problem resolution as a guide for their investigations (Whetsell 2013, 609). Public procurement can be seen as a means of implementing public policies, and as such it is a subject of public administration (Murray 2009, 94; McCue, Prier, and Steinfeld 2020, 15).

Many scholars argue that knowledge of the present situation of a phenomenon is a stepping-stone for proposing right policies regarding that phenomenon (Mills 1967, 77; Eco [1977] 2015, 36; Crick 2002, 3; Baggini 2016, 245; Bovens 2016, 662; Pigliucci 2017c). The study of current practices in public administration can help practitioners in their tasks (Caiden 1999, 313; Obwegeser and Müller 2015, 29; Moynihan 2017, 11; Stillman II 2017, 925). Thus, knowledge of current practices on technical criteria is the first move for proposing ways to devise better technical criteria. Accordingly, this inquiry can be seen as a problem-solving research, where theory is employed to analyze a particular problem in the real world (Phillips and Pugh 2010, 59), the real problem in this case being the difficulty to devise technical criteria.

The questions I ask in this study are bound to produce "world-revealing" and "actionguiding" knowledge, and their answers should be drawn "from [scholars'] judicious study of discernible reality" (Brown 2013, 493–94). Hence a descriptive study seems to be the appropriate avenue.

A descriptive study can be used to intelligently take stock of a situation (Gerring 2012b, 723; Campenhoudt, Marquet, and Quivy 2017, 21). A descriptive study is also fit for the descriptive nature of street-level bureaucracy theory. This thesis can thus be understood as a descriptive, interdisciplinary research, applying the framework of street-level bureaucracy theory on concepts from public procurement and architecture.

Before going further, it may be necessary to clarify my stance on the way this research is presented. The conventional way of presenting a scientific enterprise may convey the impression that it is a linear, rational process. However, scientific discovery is hardly a linear process (Feyerabend 1979, 15, 23, 307). To avoid this false representation of research, some scholars suggest the adoption of a reflexive posture, recognizing the relationship between the researcher and the research report (Bourdieu [1997] 2015, 79; Czarniawska 1999, 12; Grey and Sinclair 2006, 447). So I will present the sections on research design in a narrative fashion (Levitt et al. 2018, 34), describing the research process as it unfolded, and including discussions on the setbacks I encountered.

8.2 Methods and data

In studies on public procurement, researchers usually employ case studies or qualitative analysis, where data is generated mainly by interviews and document analysis (Patrucco, Luzzini, and Ronchi 2017, 242; Guarnieri and Gomes 2019, 9; Trammell, Abutabenjeh, and Dimand 2020, 662). In studies employing street-level bureaucracy theory, researchers traditionally employ qualitative approaches, but recent work has incorporated diverse methods and data sources, including administrative data, as reviewed in Section 5.5. Hence a large range of methods may be fit for this research, the choice of method will depend on

the type of questions proposed (MacIntyre 1991, 222, 229; Lake 2011, 472; Pigliucci 2017a).

The main questions in this study concern: (a) what technical criteria are used in practice; and (b) what actual policies deviate from intended policies; actual policies understood here as the dominant patterns of practices employed in procurement of architectural services. Technical criteria are thus analyzed as a result of procurement officials' discretion, framed by street-level bureaucracy theory.

The stance I adopt in this research is not to consider discretion as a matter of procurement officials' perception, as suggested by Henderson, Țiclău, and Balica (2017, 623), but rather as the range of possible decisions framed by the law, mentioned in Section 5.2. Accordingly, decisions emanating from procurement officials' discretion concern technical criteria employed in procurement procedures, which should be coherent with the services procured and with the solicitation methods employed.

Although technical criteria do not exist physically, they do exist empirically, in the sense that they can be applied on people (i.e., bidders) and that some people's actions (i.e., procurement officials') will be determined by them (Kant [1795] 1949, 469). Following this reasoning, a criterion applied in practice can be analyzed as something objective, even if it is not a physical object (Baggini 2016, 114). For instance, the fact that the criterion "experience with designing at least 500 square meters of pools" was demanded in a procurement procedure calls for an objective judgement, it does not depend on interpretation. Nevertheless, to unveil what actual policies deviate from intended policies, I must assess the discrepancy between them, which calls for a reflective judgement. Thus, it is not possible to bypass interpretation when answering this question.

Given the different types of judgement embedded in this research, I will combine quantitative approaches, using descriptive statistics to describe technical criteria, services procured and solicitation methods, with qualitative approaches, to analyze the discrepancy between intended policy and practices. This approach was also used by Mansfield and Snider in their research on gaps between policies and practices in U.S. Navy Contracts (2017, 161).

Scholars have advocated the use of mixed methods in public procurement research but, as it is the case with street-level bureaucracy theory, this approach remains underused (Patrucco, Luzzini, and Ronchi 2017, 262). This research is thus inspired by later work on street-level bureaucracy theory, using administrative data and document analysis to unveil discrepancies between intended policies and practices.

The use of government administrative data for the study of public procurement has been encouraged (Obwegeser and Müller 2015, 29). Administrative data on public procurement have already been employed for studying issues such as strategies for sustainable procurement in housing (Alencastro, Fuertes, and Wilde 2017, 13), effects of price-only selection criteria (Ochrana and Hrnčířová 2015, 45), or economic qualification criteria in Brazil (Machado 2006, 125). This type of information, which is usually drawn from readily-available sources, can be used for the construction of indicators intended to provide answers to research questions (Haber 2017, 147).

I will employ data available in *Comprasnet* to answer my research questions, as I describe in the next sections. By using data from *Comprasnet*, I intend to take advantage of the Brazilian well established tradition of open data (Zanatta 2019, 11).

8.3 Data-collection and data-analytic strategies

In Section 6.2.10 I presented the sources of data that are public and accessible via the internet regarding public procurement in Brazil. Searching for information in all platforms (such as *Licitaçoes-e*, state and municipal systems) would be too time consuming. Hence my research will be limited to procurement from entities that use *Comprasnet* for public procurement. This includes public procurement of all Brazilian federal administration, for whom the use of *Comprasnet* is mandatory. Since data from *Comprasnet* should be available and openly accessible, a documentary research based on information from *Comprasnet* seems to be the best choice for collecting data.

Documentary research is an unobtrusive method, meaning that data can be collected without disturbing the phenomena under study (Payne and Payne 2004, 61, 229). The limitations of this type of research are authenticity, credibility, representativeness and meaning (Payne and Payne 2004, 65; Denscombe 2007, 232–33).

In what concerns authenticity, I will use public documents that were produced by procuring entities and that are available in a governmental database. I deem the possibility of forgery is absent or extremely low in this case. Concerning credibility, these documents are the ones employed in actual procurement procedures, so credibility may be assumed. Regarding representativeness, the number of documents to be analyzed is limited by the feasibility of the study being carried out (Leray and Bourgeois 2016, 429). Nevertheless, I will study all documents available in the selected period (year 2017), the results can thus be considered representative of recent practices regarding technical criteria. Finally, the meaning of the documents should not be a problem for me, since they are written in Portuguese, which is my mother tongue, and I have experience in the fields of architecture and public procurement.

For analyzing the data, I will proceed a two-step method, since I must first recognize practices in order to trace the actual policies related to the research questions in this study. For the first step, I will employ basic content analysis, which is a quantitative method of analysis applied on existing documents (Payne and Payne 2004, 51; Bowen 2009, 32; Drisko and Maschi 2016, 21). It is based on the attribution of codes to the data analyzed, and such codes may be developed before the analysis, drawing on the theory or on existing studies; or they may be devised inductively during the analysis (Drisko and Maschi 2016, 125; Leray and Bourgeois 2016, 443). For the second step, I will employ pattern coding, which is an inductive method for deriving meaning from pre-coded data (Miles, Huberman, and Saldana 2013, 86). The first step is intended to provide answers to sub questions (b), (c), (d) and (e), and the second step is intended to provide answers to sub question (f), as mentioned in Section 5.7.

Since the time frame of this study must be limited for assuring its feasibility (I further discuss this issue in Section 8.4.1.4), this research design may be classified as a cross-sectional, descriptive study, in which I will detail the characteristics of a population within a specific time frame (Drisko and Maschi 2016, 33).

Before proceeding further into the data collection and the data analysis, I will review the sources and the structure of data. This review will help understanding the remaining of this research.

8.3.1 Sources of data

In this study, I used the five sources of data described below. In a limited number of cases, I also contacted procuring entities directly to request for data that were not available in these sources, as I will report in Section 8.4.1.2.

 API de Compras Governamentais (Governmental procurement API – Application Programming Interface): database intended to yield open format data on all procurement available in Comprasnet. It is possible to download data from it in formats html, xml, json and csv. Some experience with databases is required for using the downloaded data.

http://compras.dados.gov.br/

- Painel de preços (Price panel): user-friendly website containing synthetic³⁶ information on concluded procurement procedures from the past two years. https://paineldeprecos.planejamento.gov.br/
- *Comprasnet:* system for the federal administration public procurement on the internet. It holds analytic information on all procedures, but it may require some experience for using its queries.

https://www.gov.br/compras/pt-br

³⁶ I call *analytic information* in this study individual pieces of data, for instance the solicitation document of a procurement procedure. I call *synthetic information* data resulting from the accumulation of many analytic information, for instance the total value of procurement for services.

- Portal de Transparência (Transparency portal): internet portal leading to transparency pages of all executive federal public organizations, which are expected to hold analytic information on their procurement procedures. http://www.transparencia.gov.br/
- Procuring entities' internet sites: all public organizations are expected to render public analytic information on their procurement by means of their internet sites, in a section called *licitações* (procurement).

Examples:

https://www6g.senado.gov.br/transparencia/licitacoes-e-contratos/licitacoes, for the Senate; and *http://portal.iphan.gov.br/licitacoesConveniosContratos*, for IPHAN.

I will review what information I collected from each of these sources in Sections 8.4 and 8.5.

8.3.2 Structure of data

At this point, it is necessary to recall how the main concepts in this study are interrelated, for this relation will reflect the way I will structure data. Each procurement procedure comprises one or more items, and each item may comprise one or more criteria, as I illustrate in Figure 15. All data must relate to one of these three concepts.



Figure 15 - Relation between procedures, items and criteria

It is also helpful to make clear how I will identify each procedure, since all data stem from this concept. Each procuring entity has its own numbering system, which means that procedures from different organizations may share the same number. Thus, to identify each procedure, I will refer to them using the following nomenclature: *procedure CCCCCC NNNN/YYYY*, where CCCCCC is the code of the procuring entity (UASG code), NNNN is the number of the procedure assigned by the procuring entity, and YYYY is the year of first publication of the procedure. For instance, *procedure 380941 0007/2017* refers to procedure 7, published in 2017, by the procuring entity whose UASG code is 380941 (Delegacia Regional do Trabalho de Minas Gerais). Each item procured is also numbered. So, if I intend to mention item 4 of the procedure above, I will refer to it as *380941 0007/2017 item 004*. The list of UASGs mentioned in this research is available in Appendix 1.

8.4 Documentary research

8.4.1 Preliminary data selection

In line with its focus on controlling corruption in public procurement, the Brazilian government stated that the main goal of its procurement regulations is transparency (Brasil 2018c). Hence, I expected that access to administrative data from Brazilian government databases would be straightforward. However, selection and collection of relevant data was much more complex than what I had anticipated.

From Section 8.4.1.1 to Section 8.4.1.3, I will describe each step I took to get a preliminary list of relevant procurement procedures. For selecting data, I considered procurement for architectural services published in *Comprasnet*, which includes all procurement for federal public organizations. These services are architectural services that public organizations decided to contract out. But I did not include cases where procurement was not mandatory or was unenforceable, because in such cases no technical criterion is required. Due to a limitation of the system described below, initially I only included procurement procedures carried out in years 2016 and 2017.

8.4.1.1 Step 1: Obtaining service codes

As reported in Section 6.2.5.2, procurement officials must classify each item being procured according to the services catalogue available in *Comprasnet* – the CATSER table. So, my first strategy to select relevant data was to search for procurement procedures that included items classified as architectural services. Accordingly, I would need to, first, find out what are the codes in CATSER used for architectural services; then, select procurement procedures including items classified under these codes.

As part of its efforts to promote transparency, the Brazilian government yields data in open formats from *Comprasnet* for downloading by means of an Application Programming Interface – API, accessible from the site http://compras.dados.gov.br/ (Brasil 2018e). This API seemed very promising for my research, since it is supposed to hold relevant information, and I had previous experience working with this system. However, using the API turned out to be frustrating. I realized that data from it were not reliable due to a lack of systematic updating³⁷ and inadequate data format³⁸. Furthermore, very often downloading tools do not work properly. When they do work, the quantity of information available for downloading is limited to 500 records. That is hardly helpful if one intends to gather data from thousands of procurement procedures. Finally, the API can be very difficult to use, due to the sheer quantity of data available, with hundreds of variables and unclear query methods.

Notwithstanding the issues mentioned above, I was able to extract the whole CATSER table from the API. This was only possible because the number of records in this table is relatively small. The CATSER table was important for it would let me know what the possible ways of classifying architectural services in *Comprasnet* are. Each record in this table comprises two fields: the description of the service or good and its corresponding

³⁷ From October 2017 to February 2019 the API was updated only twice, in November 2017 and March 2018.

³⁸ Frequently the downloaded data would not properly show Portuguese characters such as "ú", "ç", "õ", etc. Furthermore, the contents of a field would include symbols like commas and semicolons. Since these symbols are also used to separate fields in databases, it was not possible to download the data in a format that enables automatic matching of fields.

numerical code. They range from *abacates* (avocados) to *zoneamento ambiental* (environmental zoning). In Appendix 2 I explain how I downloaded this information.

I imported the CATSER table into a MS-Access file. There were 2539 records in this table, and I scanned them for services that relate to architecture. I found three relevant service codes: 51 – *Estudos e Projetos Urbanísticos / Paisagísticos / Arquitetônicos* (studies and projects in urban planning, landscape architecture and architecture); 78 – *Estudos e Projetos de Arquitetura* (studies and projects in architecture); and 20591 – *Consultoria e Assessoria* – *Arquitetura* (consulting and advisory services in architecture). There are no guidelines detailing when each of these codes should be used, so procurement officials are expected to use their reflective judgement to classify architectural services under these codes.

I tried to download the list of procedures using the three service codes mentioned above from the API, using the query http://compras.dados.gov.br/licitacoes/v1/ licitacoes.html?item_servico=78³⁹. Unfortunately, I was never able to download these data correctly by means of the API⁴⁰. So, I turned to *Painel de preços* to get the list of procedures including architectural services.

8.4.1.2 Step 2: Searching *Painel de preços* by service code

With the declared intention of helping procurement officials in their decisions, the Government set up a website – *Painel de preços* (Price panel) – in which information concerning concluded procurement procedures from *Comprasnet* can be assessed (MPOG 2018). *Painel de preços* offers a more user-friendly interface than the API, but it only

³⁹ To download data for all three service codes, I replaced the last two digits (78) by the other relevant service codes, namely 51 and 20591.

⁴⁰ I started using the API for collecting data by the end of 2017. I first tried to download the list of procedures in xml format, which did not work. Then I tried it in the csv format, but the downloaded file would not open in Access. Eventually I was able to save the files in plain text format and open it in MS-Excel, but many fields were truncated, and correcting truncated fields in thousands of records would be too lengthy. Moreover, from August 2018 on, I have never been able to replicate this search because I always get an error message from the API. When it comes down to it, it was a good thing to abandon this search because, as it turned out, CATSER codes are a poor indicator of architectural services, as I will discuss in Section 9.3.2.

compiles information regarding procedures concluded during the current year and the previous year.

It is possible to search information in *Painel de preços* by the numerical codes from the CATSER table. So, I searched for procurement procedures regarding the three types of architectural services I had found in the catalogue (codes 51, 78 and 20591). The results showed 222 records. Each record corresponded to one item being procured, and not to one procurement procedure. The total value of the items procured was R\$ 19,5 million (Figure 16).



Source: http://paineldeprecos.planejamento.gov.br/PainelServicos.html - 2017-11-28 *Figure 16 - Quantity and value of items procured*

Since each procedure may comprise more than one item, I had to consolidate the records to get the number of procedures, which hints that there is room for improving the synthetic information provided by *Painel de preços*. The consolidation showed that there were only 13 procurement procedures comprising 222 items classified as architectural services in years 2016 and 2017.

Results from *Painel de preços* provided me the list of items procured classified as architectural services and their corresponding procedures. I filled a table in my MS-Access file with this list (*T_EDITAIS*), but I still had to download the available data for each of them. It is possible to download these documents directly from *Painel de preços*. In Appendix 3 I review the steps to download such data.
After downloading the documents for these 13 procedures, I started analyzing the information and realized that many services classified as architectural services were not architectural services. For instance, in procedure 153047 0019/2017 (by Hospital Universitário Cassiano Antônio Moraes), "referenced planialtimetric surveying" was classified as architectural service, and in procedure 158304 0044/2016 (by Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia do Sul de Minas Gerais), "electrical installation design" was also classified as architectural service. It seemed likely that the opposite would also be true: there could be architectural services classified as other types of services.

8.4.1.3 Step 3: Searching data in Comprasnet

Given the issue above, I had to find a way to extract data concerning architectural services that were classified incorrectly and make sure that I would have information concerning all procurement for architectural services available. As mentioned before, one could expect that *Comprasnet* would hold all information on procedures published or carried out by means of this system. So, instead of relying on results from *Painel de preços*, I decided to search for relevant procurement procedures directly in *Comprasnet*. I did not find any guide for doing queries in *Comprasnet*, so I relied on my previous experience with the system to find out how to do it.

It is possible to search for procedures in *Comprasnet* by means of keywords⁴¹. The results resemble the results from an academic database, as shown in Figure 17. Each record corresponds to a procedure including the keyword searched, and it displays the description of the subject matter of procurement (field *objeto*) and a link to download the corresponding procurement documents. This search is not restricted to completed procedures; it covers all procedures published in *Comprasnet*.

⁴¹ http://comprasnet.gov.br/acesso.asp?url=/ConsultaLicitacoes/ConsLicitacao_texto.asp

Consultas	× 📀 Compra	sNet ×	+						-	0	
→ C ∩	A Não seguro comprasm	et.oov.br/acesso.asp?url	/ConsultaLicita	coes/ConsLicitac	ao texto.asp			\$	9 M 6	e	4
Anne Commb	an Auto A 🍀 Commission A	enlicati 12 MDA (3	lista de persoas	A ADAT Colorko		PM A Manual CRITIA	mé 👌 Deninste - Missonal	C Dirienteia Hausire	I leaded	- to	
	npras do Governo Federal nprasnet o da economía							Milnis Brasili	TERIO DA ECON a, 27 de Maio de	2019	
Portal de Co	ompras Governamentais							SIASG - Ami		ão	
vegão: 22/2019 JASG: 926781	Objeto: Objeto: Pregão Ele informática para solução hip Senac-DF.	Obje trônico - Registro de pre erconvergente (hardwares	to para a event e softwares), p	ual aquisição de ara atender as ne	equipamentos det ecessidades deste pro	grados que possuem abo [1]	Contexto / [I1 dagem modular, com and	em] uitetura CISC (x86), on	de a capaci	iade de	
tórico de eventos sublices	sios										
Itens e Download	Edital										
		Obje	to				Contexto / [II	em]			£.
regão: 3/2019 ASG: 158149	Objeto: Objeto: Pregão Eletr Federal do Sertão Pernamb instrumento.	ônico - Aquisição de licenç ucano, conforme condiçõ	as de softwares es, quantidades	para todas as unid e exigências est	lades do Instituto Col tabelecidas neste	ção para Arquitetura , Eng	nharia e Construção, confor	ne condição e descrição est	abelecida	[1]	
stórico de eventos publicar	elos.										
itens e Download	Edital										
		Obie	to				Contexto / [1	em]			r.
regão: 12/2018 ASG: 795500	Objeto: Objeto: Pregão Eletri	ônico - Aquisição de materi	al de informática		P GIO	ACE, TECNOLOGIA PLUG A AB [42]	ND PLAY COD A28221, ARQ	UITETURA PCI, CARACTER	IÍSTICAS ADI	CIONAIS	
stórios de eventos publica:	atos										
ttens e Download	Edital										
				/I loita							
Voltar			Ir pa	ra a página 1	de 100 Próxi	na Última					
Acess	юà.										

Figure 17 - Comprasnet screen: results of textual search using the keyword arquitetura

Obviously, my first move was to search for the keyword *arquitetura* (architecture) in procedures published during 2016 and 2017. However, results displayed hundreds of records concerning information technology procurement, since this is a word often used in that domain. I dropped this idea temporarily and searched instead for the word *urbanismo* (urban planning). In Brazil, architects and urban planners are the same profession (*arquiteto e urbanista*), and they are overseen by the same professional order (CAU), therefore I figured out I would likely find this word in procurement documents for architectural services. This search resulted in 134 records for years 2016 and 2017. After reading all descriptions to filter out those that were not related to architectural services, I narrowed down the results to 12 procedures, excluding two duplicates that I had already found in the first search (results from *Painel de preços*).

To make sure I would get all relevant data from 2016 and 2017, I also checked for the word *projeto* (project), which is ubiquitous in the description of architectural services. However, the system can display a maximum of 1000 records for each search and, in this case, I had more than 1000 records for each year. So, I decided to search instead for the expression *projeto basico* (basic project), since one can expect that architectural services will be procured either for producing a basic project or for producing an execution project based on an existing basic project. This search resulted in 702 records for 2016 and 721 records for 2017. After filtering out those that were not relevant and duplicates, I ended up with 67 new solicitation documents for both years. This search was very time-consuming due to the high number of records.

I decided to take on the search using the word *arquitetura* again, to make sure I would include all relevant procedures. This search resulted in 488 records for 2016 and 485 records for 2017. After filtering out those that were not relevant and duplicates, I ended up with 123 new solicitation documents for both years.

8.4.1.4 Step 4: Limiting selected records

The total number of procedures selected was 215. In Table 5 I discriminate the total number of records and the number of retained records by their source, as described in the previous section. I filled the table I was using ($T_EDITAIS$) with information regarding the source of data, procuring entities (UASG code), solicitation method and procedure number for each record.

I compiled the records by year, sorting the number of retained procedures by solicitation method. As I will review in the next section, this information is important because there are different ways to download documents, depending on the solicitation method employed. Results are shown on Table 6. The complete list of procedures from 2016 and 2017 is available on Appendix 4.

Source	Searched terms	Total records	Retained records
Painel de preços	Service codes = 51, 78, 2059 Years = 2016, 2017	13	13
Comprasnet	Keyword = "urbanismo" Years = 2016, 2017	134	12
Comprasnet	Expression = "projeto basico" Years = 2016, 2017	1423	67
Comprasnet	Keyword = "arquitetura" Years = 2016, 2017	973	123
Total			215

Table 5 - Number of records resulting from searches in Comprasnet and Painel de preços

Table 6 - Number of records by solicitation method and year

Solicitation method	'2016'	'2017'	Total
prize competition	1	0	1
RDC	8	19	27
request for proposals	1	5	6
reverse auction	78	67	145
open tendering	3	9	12
request for quotations	8	16	24
Total	99	116	215

At this point I had only downloaded procurement documents for the 13 procedures from the first search (results from *Painel de preços*). From my experience downloading these documents, I had estimated that it takes between five to thirty minutes to download each set of documents. If one considers that it could take an average of 15 minutes for each set, I would spend more than 50 hours just downloading the remaining 202 sets of documents. Furthermore, since 13 procedures concerned 222 items, it could be reasonable to suppose that the additional 202 procedures might concern a very high number of items. Downloading and analyzing these data would be exceedingly time-consuming, threatening the feasibility of this study. For this reason, I decided to carry on with the analysis of procurement procedures published in 2017 only, which would still provide a portrait of recent practices. Thanks to this decision, I reduced to 116 the number of sets of procurement documents to be downloaded and analyzed. Limiting the time frame of an inquiry for feasibility reasons is considered a valid strategy, as long as the researcher provides a thorough analysis of data selected (Eco [1977] 2015, 73; Gauthier 2016, 168; Leray and Bourgeois 2016, 439), which is my intention in this study. Furthermore, procurement procedures in Brazil may take up to one year (World Bank 2004, 21; Oliveira 2009, 138), so halting the selection of data in year 2017 – instead of incorporating new data from 2018 – would improve the chances that I would only get information from completed procedures⁴².

8.4.2 Gathering documents

Since data on procurement procedures published or carried out in *Comprasnet* are expected to be available in that system, I reckoned it would be feasible to download all relevant documents from it. However, I soon realized that not all documents are available there. Therefore I also had to search for information in the other sources mentioned in Section 8.3.1. I will review below the steps to collect data from *Comprasnet* and from the other sources.

8.4.2.1 Step 5: Downloading mandatory documents

It is possible to download mandatory documents, namely solicitation documents, respective reference terms and list of items, from *Consultas* (query) page in *Comprasnet*. These documents can be accessed from the *Licitaçoes* link, as shown in Figure 18. In Appendix 5 I review the steps to download the documents.

As expected, all mandatory documents were available in *Comprasnet*. However, these documents are not the complete set of documents in a procurement procedure. There could also be documents regarding the awarding of contracts, reports of on-line bids, protests and their analysis, documents sent by bidders to prove their compliance with criteria, reports of the assessment of criteria and other information. I will refer to this latter set of documents as *additional documents*. Such documents are important in this inquiry, for they bring information on the outcomes of each procedure. Not all procedures yield all documents, but it should be expected that at least a report regarding the awarding of the contract must be generated in every case.

⁴² This was indeed a good decision, for the last 2017 procedure was only finalized in December 2018.



Figure 18 - Access to solicitation documents and reference terms from Comprasnet

8.4.2.2 Step 6: Downloading additional documents from Comprasnet

Unfortunately, additional documents are not accessible from a single point in *Comprasnet*. Instead, users must turn to three different queries, depending on the solicitation method employed in each procedure. From *Consultas* (query) page in *Comprasnet*, shown in Figure 19, three different links provide access to additional documents: (1) *Atas* (reports), for reverse auctions, framed by Law 10.520; (2) *Regime Diferenciado de Contratações – RDC*, for RDC procedures, framed by Law 12.662; and (3) *Sessão Pública* (public session) for open tendering, request for quotations, request for proposals and prize competitions, framed by Law 8.666. In Appendixes 6, 7 and 8 I review the steps needed to download these documents. I took on downloading the additional documents, expecting all of them would be available from these links.



Figure 19 - Access to additional procurement documents from Comprasnet

Once again, I was overoptimistic. All documents concerning RDC procedures and most documents concerning reverse auctions were indeed available in *Comprasnet*. However, when I looked for documents concerning procurement by other solicitation methods, *Comprasnet* would frequently inform that the procedure was *on hold*, which seemed odd. Procedures *on hold* did not have additional documents available in *Comprasnet*. I decided to search for information regarding signed contracts for these *on hold* procedures. This information can be accessed from the API, by means of the address: http://compras.dados.gov.br/contratos/v1/contratos.html?uasg=CCCCCC, where CCCCCC is the code (UASG) of the procuring entity. This query yields a list of all contracts signed by the procuring entity.

In most cases I found that there was a signed contract for procedures that were informed as *on hold*. That meant procedures were concluded, but their information was not up to date in *Comprasnet*. Thus I had to collect additional documents for procedures *on hold* from the other sources of information listed in Section 8.3.1.

8.4.2.3 Step 7: Downloading additional documents from other sources

I started searching for additional documents in each procuring entity's website. If they were not available there, I would look for additional documents in the Transparency portal. In Appendixes 9 and 10 I review how to download information from procuring entities' websites and from the Transparency portal, respectively. Because documents were scattered in different systems, and because the search for RDC procedures is highly inconvenient⁴³, it took me three weeks working full time to download all available sets of documents regarding the 116 procedures selected.

Still, there were eleven procedures for which I found no additional information in any of the sources. In October 2018, I contacted the procuring entities responsible for these eleven procedures to request the information that was lacking. Until December 31, 2018, I had received the information concerning six of them. In February 2019 I proceeded a new and successful round of information requests for the remaining five. I eventually collected additional documents on all 116 selected procedures. I list these eleven procedures and review my attempts to obtain additional documents in Appendix 11.

In Table 7 I show the number of procedures by source of additional documents in this study, distributed by solicitation method. Most additional documents regarding open tendering, request for proposals and request for quotations were not available in *Comprasnet*. In eight cases of reverse auctions I had to request information. All these instances regarded procedures that were cancelled but their information was not updated in *Comprasnet*.

⁴³ As I mention in the appendix, it is impossible to do any search in the RDC system. Users must scan hundreds of web pages to find the procedure they are looking for.

Table 7 - Source of additional documents by solicitation method

Source	open tendering	RDC	request for proposals	request for quotations	reverse auction	Total
Comprasnet	3	19	1	7	59	89
Procuring entity site	3		1	5		9
Request of information	1		1	1	8	11
Transparency portal	1		2	4		7
Total	8	19	5	17	67	116

8.4.2.4 Overview of collected documents

From the analysis of collected documents, I compiled a list of all documents that may be available in each procedure, shown in Table 8. I also inform the origin of these documents – whether they were produced by the procuring entity or by bidders participating in the procedure.

Table 8 - Available documents

Document	Туре	Origin
Solicitation document (edital)	Mandatory	Procuring entity
Reference terms (termo de referência) – often the	Mandatory	Procuring entity
solicitation document and the corresponding		
reference terms are in the same file		
List of items	Mandatory	Procuring entity
Appendixes to the reference terms – these usually	Additional	Procuring entity
include estimated budget, site plans, service		
delivery schedules		
Objections	Additional	Bidders
Judgement of objections	Additional	Procuring entity
Appeals	Additional	Bidders
Judgement of appeals	Additional	Procuring entity
Auction report	Additional	Procuring entity
Bidders' qualification documents	Additional	Bidders
Judgement on qualification	Additional	Procuring entity
Bidders' evaluation documents	Additional	Bidders
Evaluation and judgement of bidders' submissions	Additional	Procuring entity
Awarding of the contract (homologaçao)	Mandatory	Procuring entity

In total, I collected 342 files, corresponding to 319 megabytes of data, including mandatory documents and additional documents. The quantity of additional documents for each procurement procedure was not uniform. For instance, reverse auction 200207 0013/2017

features only four documents: the solicitation document including the reference terms, the list of items being procured, the auction report and the awarding of the contract (Figure 20). No protests were presented in this case. On the other side of the spectrum, there is, for instance, request for quotations 170088 0001/2017. This is a value-based procedure, therefore information available includes the solicitation document, the reference terms (alongside 18 appendixes), all administrative protests and their judgements, as well as reports on judgement of qualification and evaluation criteria, to a total of 45 documents collected (Figure 21).

Image:	0705000132017000 rtilhar Exibir					- 🗆 × ^ 🥑
Fixar no Acesso rápido Área de Transfe	A Recortar Secolar caminho Colar atalho réncia Colar atalho Colar a	Novo item • Nova pasta Novo	Propriedades Abrir *	Selecionar tudo Limpar seleção Inverter seleção Selecionar		
← → ~ ↑ 🖡 > Es	te Computador > Documentos > Doctorat > PropTh	ese > Data > 2002070	5000132017000		ن ب	Pesquisar 2002070500013201 🎗
★ Acesso rápido ▲ OneDrive	Nome	Data de modificação 03/05/2018 10:09 03/05/2018 10:10	Tipo Arquivo PDF Arquivo PDF	Tamanho 165 KB 109 KB		
Ste Computador	 PREGAO 13-17 Eletronico arquitetura.pdf Relacaoltens20020705000132017000.pdf 	27/10/2017 13:35 27/10/2017 13:35	Arquivo PDF Arquivo PDF	175 KB 49 KB		
4 itens						

Figure 20 - Documents regarding reverse auction 200207 0013/2017



Figure 21 - Documents regarding request for quotations 170008 0001/2017

8.4.3 Secondary data selection

For content analysis, it is important to assure that the documents to be analyzed are relevant and meaningful for the research (Drisko and Maschi p.38). So, I filtered out documents which would not be relevant or meaningful in my analysis. This process involved two steps, which I describe below.

8.4.3.1 Sorting relevant procedures

In the first step, I sorted the 116 selected procedures according to their relevance to this research. I considered two instances of procedures as relevant: (a) procedures which include at least one architectural service; and (b) procedures in which architectural services are procured separately from construction. Therefore, I analyzed the lists of items and reference terms of each procurement procedure to make sure that only procedures respecting these criteria would be included.

From the 116 selected procedures, I noticed that ten of them did not include any architectural items. I had included these ten procedures initially because the description of their subject matter or their classification according to the CATSER table led me to believe that they would include architectural items, but after examining the documents, I realized it

was not the case. For instance, procedure 926697 0053/2017 comprised an item classified as 78 - *Estudos e Projetos de Arquitetura*, yet it did not include any architectural service⁴⁴, but only engineering services⁴⁵. I excluded these procedures from my analysis. They are listed on Table 9.

UASG	procedure	solicitation method
080002	0016/2017	reverse auction
110322	0034/2017	reverse auction
153079	0001/2017	request for quotations
153167	0040/2017	reverse auction
158658	0001/2017	RDC
344001	0001/2017	request for proposals
765706	0001/2017	reverse auction
767000	0001/2017	open tendering
925175	0001/2017	request for proposals
926697	0053/2017	reverse auction

From the remaining 106 procedures, I also filtered out procedures that can be considered "integrated contracting". These are RDC procedures in which architectural services and construction services were procured in the same bid (DB approach, mentioned in Section 3.4). Since the cost of architectural services is much lower than the cost of construction, technical criteria for architectural services would not be relevant in such procedures. Therefore, these documents would not provide relevant data for this research. I found thirteen procedures in this situation, which I also excluded from my analysis. I show the list of these procedures in Table 10.

⁴⁴ I will discuss the issue of incorrect classification of items in Section 9.3.2.

⁴⁵ In the original: "Elaborar os projetos executivos nas áreas de engenharia: Projeto de Estrutura(concreto armado e metálico), inclusive fundação e sondagem; Projeto de Instalações Elétricas; Projeto de Instalação para Energia Solar com placas fotovoltaicas; Projeto de Instalações de Dados /Voz e Sonorização; Projeto de Instalações de Sistema de Segurança – CFTV; Projeto de Instalação de Proteção de Descargas Atmosféricas – SPDA; Projeto de Instalação Hidrossanitárias, Drenagem, Sistema de aproveitamento de Agua Pluvial e Combate a Incêndio; Projeto de Instalações Mecânicas (climatização, exaustão)". Source: reference terms, p.1.

UASG	procedure	solicitation method
153032	0001/2017	RDC
154070	0001/2017	RDC
154070	0002/2017	RDC
154070	0003/2017	RDC
155009	0001/2017	RDC
155009	0002/2017	RDC
155009	0003/2017	RDC
155009	0005/2017	RDC
158009	0002/2017	RDC
158009	0003/2017	RDC
158720	0001/2017	RDC
158720	0003/2017	RDC
343007	0001/2017	RDC

Table 10 - Procedures regarding integrated contracting

8.4.3.2 Sorting meaningful procedures

In the second step, I sorted the procedures that could bring meaningful information to this research. I deemed procedures in two situations would provide meaningful documents: (a) concluded procedures (those that resulted in an awarded contract), for in such cases one can infer that the technical criteria used did not prevent the awarding of a contract; and (b) procedures that were cancelled due to the absence of suitable bids, for in such cases technical criteria used might have prevented the awarding of a contract. Using these criteria, I analyzed auction reports and awarding of contracts of each of the remaining 93 procedures to find out their situation as of December 31, 2018. I inductively coded them according to five categories:

- 1. *cancelled (documentation error)*: procedures cancelled by the procuring entity due to an error in the solicitation documents;
- cancelled (no info): procedures cancelled, but no information is provided on reasons why they were cancelled;
- 3. *cancelled (no suitable bids)*: procedures cancelled by the procuring entity because no bidder complied with the criteria demanded;

- 4. *cancelled (replaced)*: procedures cancelled but replaced by another procedure with no information about the reason they were cancelled;
- 5. *concluded*: procedures finished with an awarded contract.

In Table 11 I show the number of procedures by these categories, distributed by solicitation method.

Situation	Open tendering	RDC	Request for proposals	Request for quotations	Reverse auction	Total
cancelled (documentation error)		1			1	2
cancelled (no info)	3	1		5	4	13
cancelled (no suitable bids)					6	6
cancelled (replaced)					2	2
concluded	4	3	3	11	49	70
Total	7	5	3	16	62	93

For the purpose of including only meaningful documents, I filtered out procedures in situations *cancelled (no info)* and *cancelled (replaced)* because the lack of information regarding the outcome of these procedures would prevent me from getting valid conclusions from them. Procedures in the situation *cancelled (documentation error)* were also filtered out since they were cancelled due to reasons unrelated to technical criteria. Thus, I excluded seventeen procedures from this inquiry, listed on Table 12.

Table 12 - Procedures excluded due to their situation

UASG	procedure	solicitation method	reason
090005	0009/2017	reverse auction	cancelled (documentation error)
090005	0018/2017	reverse auction	cancelled (no info)
090023	0009/2017	reverse auction	cancelled (replaced)
090027	0032/2017	reverse auction	cancelled (no info)
090038	0001/2017	request for quotations	cancelled (no info)
090038	0002/2017	request for quotations	cancelled (no info)
120626	0002/2017	open tendering	cancelled (no info)
155124	0001/2017	RDC	cancelled (no info)
170217	0006/2017	reverse auction	cancelled (replaced)
170394	0001/2016	open tendering	cancelled (no info)
200139	0001/2017	request for quotations	cancelled (no info)

UASG	procedure	solicitation method	reason
254445	0001/2017	RDC	cancelled (documentation error)
255025	0001/2017	request for quotations	cancelled (no info)
343003	0001/2017	open tendering	cancelled (no info)
343034	0002/2017	reverse auction	cancelled (no info)
343036	0001/2017	request for quotations	cancelled (no info)
926245	0002/2017	reverse auction	cancelled (no info)

After excluding the procedures mentioned above from my analysis, there were 76 sets of documents left, from procedures in the categories *concluded* and *cancelled (no suitable bids)*.

8.4.3.3 Sorting relevant items

I had defined the 76 procedures for my analysis, but I still had to make sure that I would include only items that are relevant for this study. To this end, I needed to further examine each item in those 76 procedures.

I had already done a preliminary filter of relevant procedures based on the lists of items, as reviewed in Section 8.4.3.1. Because each procedure comprises one or more items that may regard architectural services or otherwise, I had to filter out items that did not include architectural services. For this end, I created a table ($T_{ITENS}ARQ$) to gather information concerning each item being procured. I deductively classified each item according to the type of architectural assignment⁴⁶ listed by CAU-BR in its Resolution 21 (2012, Art. 2). I did not include in this table items that I could not classify as an architectural assignment. For instance, procedure 160066 0013/2017 comprises 21 items, but only two of them are architectural assignments; the remaining nineteen items regard civil engineering or electrical engineering services. So, I only included the two items regarding architecture.

In Table 13 I show the number of items classified by the type of assignment and the corresponding subparagraph under Art. 2 in Resolution 21. It is important to notice that

⁴⁶ In the original: "atribuições profissionais do arquiteto e urbanista".

at this point I still had not filtered services that are exclusively for architects, as established by CAU-BR in its Resolution 51 (Section 6.2.9.2).

Table 13 - Number of items by the type of assignment

Type of service	Res. 21	Number of items
architectural design	II	94
consulting (evaluation or supervision)	VI	3
drawing, surveying or electronic modeling	IV	3
outsourced workforce	VII	9
total		109

From the analysis of these items, I realized that not all of them corresponded to services that are exclusively for architects. Furthermore, the assignment classification from Resolution 21 Art. 2 does not provide a clear information on what the services are. However, Resolution 21 Art. 3 does provide a list of architectural services that is more detailed. So, I deductively coded all items again, using as a starting point the types of services listed in Resolution 21 Art. 3. Then I matched the services listed in Resolution 21 Art. 2. In Table 14 I show the number of items organized by the type of service resulting from this coding.

Type of service	Res 21 Art 3	Res 51 Art 2	Nb items
Design for new construction	1.1.2. Projeto arquitetônico	l-a. Projeto arquitetônico de edificação ou de reforma de edificação	14
Design for renovation or retrofitting	1.1.3. Projeto arquitetônico de reforma	I-a. Projeto arquitetônico de edificação ou de reforma de edificação	44
Design for resuming construction	1.1.3. Projeto arquitetônico de reforma	I-a. Projeto arquitetônico de edificação ou de reforma de edificação	4
Design for accessibility	1.1.6. Projeto de adequação de acessibilidade	VI-b. Projeto de acessibilidade e ergonomia da edificação	12
Design for restoration	1.11.1.7. Projeto de restauração	IV-a. Projeto e execução de intervenção no patrimônio	5
Lighting design	1.3.2. Projeto de luminotecnia	VI-a. Projeto de arquitetura da iluminação do edifício e do espaço urbano	1

Type of service	Res 21 Art 3	Res 51 Art 2	Nb items
Acoustics design	1.3.3. Projeto de condicionamento acústico	II-a. Projeto de arquitetura de interiores	2
Interior design	1.4.1. Projeto de arquitetura de interiores	II-a. Projeto de arquitetura de interiores	2
Signaling and visual communication	1.5.10. Projeto de comunicação visual para edificações	N/A.	2
Landscaping and site design	1.6.3. Projeto de arquitetura paisagística	III-a. Projeto de arquitetura paisagística	6
Street and transit design	1.9.4. Projeto de sinalização viária	I-h, I-k. Projeto urbanístico; projeto de sistema viário urbano	2
Consulting (evaluation or supervision)	5.2 Consultoria	I-e. Desempenho de cargo ou função técnica concernente a projeto arquitetônico	3
data collection, drawing and modelling	1.1.1. Levantamento arquitetônico	N/A.	2
landscaping "as built" drawings	1.1.7. As built	III-d. Cadastro do como construído (as built) resultante de projeto de arquitetura paisagística	1
Outsourced workforce	1.1.2. Projeto arquitetônico	I-e. Desempenho de cargo ou função técnica concernente a projeto arquitetônico	9
Total			109

I must make some remarks regarding Table 14. First, four items cannot be regarded as services exclusive for architects, according to Resolution 51. These are the items concerning *signaling and visual communication*, and *data collection, drawing and modelling*. I dismissed these items from my analysis. Dismissing these items led to the exclusion of two procedures: 343041 0006/2017 and 254462 0010/2017. These procedures only included services that are not exclusively for architects.

Second, the items related to *consulting (evaluation or supervision)* and to *outsourced workforce* do not relate to a specific type of service. In such cases, the procuring entity is looking for architects, but the specific tasks are not determined beforehand. I kept these items in this analysis because they likely include services exclusive for architects.

Third, the type of service concerning *design for resuming construction* is not listed in Resolution 21 nor in Resolution 51. However, it is a service similar to *design for renovation or retrofitting* because it presupposes the necessity of a detailed data collection

assessing the situation of the building before proposing a design. For this reason, I classified the items regarding this type of service in the same way I classified *design for renovation or retrofitting*.

Finally, Resolution 51 includes "as built" drawings for landscaping projects as a service exclusive for architects. This seems peculiar, given that other types of "as built" drawings, including those regarding architectural design, are not listed as exclusive for architects. Furthermore, "as built" drawings are not projects, but rather drawings depicting the final construction. Nevertheless, I included the one item related to *landscaping "as built" drawings* in this analysis so the data remain consistent with my criteria.

Considering the exclusion of the four items that are not exclusively for architects mentioned above, and the resulting exclusion of two procedures related to these items, the collection of documents to be analyzed up to this point consisted of 74 procurement procedures, comprising 105 items. In Figure 22 I summarize the steps I took to select the relevant procedures as described so far in this chapter.





8.5 Basic content analysis

As mentioned before, I employed basic content analysis as the first step in the data-analytic strategy. In basic content analysis, researchers summarize and code data from documents which will be used as indicators for answering research questions (Drisko and Maschi 2016, 22; Leray and Bourgeois 2016, 428). Depending on the type of information, one may

apply a directed content analysis, in which categories are predetermined (Fortin 2010, 458; Hsieh and Shannon 2005, 1282), or a conventional content analysis, in which categories flow from the data (Hsieh and Shannon 2005, 1279). Directed content analysis is also referred to as deductive coding, and conventional content analysis is also referred to as inductive coding; a mix of both techniques – abductive coding – may likewise be employed (Drisko and Maschi 2016, 43).

8.5.1 Establishing categories

As Leray and Bourgeois suggest (2016, 442), I started the analysis by identifying the units of meaning, and the coding will flow from them. Units of meaning are the bits of data containing relevant information which will be used for coding (Leray and Bourgeois 2016, 442). However, to identify the relevant information, I needed to determine what categories I would require for my analysis (Leray and Bourgeois 2016, 429). Hence, following Creswell's recommendation (2014, 207), I show on Table 15 the categories in this study, relating them to their respective research questions. I review the contents of each category in Section 8.5.3.

Q.	Research questions	Categories	Sub-categories
b	What solicitation methods are employed for the procurement of	solicitation methoawarding process	d
	architectural services?	• estimated and con	tracted values
		• formalized price s	ystem
c	What architectural services are	• CATSER classific	cation
	procured?	• type of assignment	t
		• type of service	
		• service exclusive	for architects
		• bundled item	
		• phase of design	
		• type of building	
		• quantity of service	e procured
		• estimated and con	tracted values

Tahle	15 -	Research	auestions	and	categories
1 0000	10	rescui en	questions	unu	caregories

Q .	Research questions	Categories	Sub-categories
d	What technical criteria are used?	 capacity required 	 type of criterion subject level of application definition
		• quantity of capaci	ty required
e	What are the actual practices of procurement of architectural services?	type of protestsvalidity of protest	

It should be noted that sub-question *e* above encompasses all categories. Moreover, an analysis of protests may unveil arbitrary practices, hence the inclusion of categories related to protests.

Having already gathered all documents, I could start collecting the units of meaning for procedures, items and criteria. Following the structure of data, I collected the units of meaning in two steps. I first gathered data concerning procedures, and then I gathered data concerning items and criteria, linking the latter to each procedure. I assembled the units of meaning in their original language (Portuguese) in the two tables I was already using: *T_EDITAIS* for data on procedures and *T_ITENS_ARQ* for data on items and criteria, as I review below.

8.5.1.1 Units of meaning on procedures

I filled table *T_EDITAIS* with the units of meaning for each procedure as follows.

Description of the subject matter concerns the object being procured, which may comprise one or more items. This information provides a general idea of the set of services being procured. For instance: "Contratação de pessoa jurídica especializada na elaboração de PROJETO BÁSICO COMPLETO necessário à construção de edificação que abrigará o Depósito de Veículos Apreendidos" (procedure 170388 0001/2017).

- *Number of items being procured* is self-explanatory. This information was intended to provide an idea on the complexity of each procedure. It turns out this was hardly useful, because in many cases different services were procured in the same item.
- Information concerning protests regards all information on objections, appeals and their judgement. I included reasons for protests and whether procurement officials judged protests valid or otherwise. For instance: "Uma impugnaçao solicitando que sejam aceitos atestados referentes a projetos residencias e institucionais de multiplos pavimentos, e nao apenas projetos comerciais. Esta impugnaçao nao foi analisada pois foi intempestiva" (Procedure 152663 0015/2017).
- *Estimated value* is the amount estimated by the procuring entity concerning how much all items would cost.
- *Contracted value* is the price offered by the winning bidders.
- My personal observations include any information that could help me with the further analysis of procedures. They comprise, but are not limited to, information on awarding process, information on the use of SRP, and information on cancelled procedures. Information on awarding process can be found in solicitation documents. For instance, "o critério de seleção da proposta mais vantajosa para o SENADO nesta Concorrência será o critério de TÉCNICA E PREÇO" (procedure 020001 0001/2017 – solicitation document, p.13). Information on SRP can also be found in solicitation documents. For instance, "o objeto desta licitação é o Registro de Preços para a contratação de empresa para prestação de serviços (...)" (procedure 158720 0004/2017 – solicitation document, p.3).

In Table 16 I list these units of meaning and their sources. Sources refer to the documents collected for each procedure, listed on Table 8.

Unit of meaning	Source
Onit of meaning	Source
Description of the	Usually available in the solicitation document. In some cases, the
subject matter	solicitation document would not provide this information, instead it would
	refer to its respective reference terms.
Number of items	List of items
being procured	

Table 16 -	Units	of meaning	g on procedures
------------	-------	------------	-----------------

Unit of meaning	Source
Information	Objections, judgement of objections, appeals, judgement of appeals
concerning protests	
Estimated value	List of items
Contracted value	Awarding of the contract
My personal observations	Any collected document

8.5.1.2 Units of meaning on items and criteria

I filled table *T_ITENS_ARQ* with units of meaning for each of the 105 items regarding architectural services and respective technical criteria, as follows.

- Description of the item concerns each item including architectural services. In some cases, architectural services and engineering services were bundled in the same item, e.g. "projetos de arquitetura e engenharia ao nível de projeto executivo para reforma do térreo e mezanino (sobreloja) do edifício sede da Procuradoria Regional", from procedure 200108 0008/2017 item 001. In other cases, items regarded only architectural services, e.g., "projeto arquitetônico projeto executivo", from procedure 925942 0059/2017 item 008. I also added information regarding the quantity of architectural services being procured in square meters. Searching for this latter information was highly time consuming, for it could be found in the solicitation document or in the reference terms and their appendixes. But this search was necessary because the quantity of service informed in the list of items would usually not include this information. Yet, in some cases I was not able to find this information in any of the documents available, e.g., in procedure 160078 0001/2017.
- *Estimated value* is the amount estimated by the procuring entity concerning how much each unit of service procured would cost. Therefore, it is necessary to multiply the *quantity of item* by the value informed to get the total value (estimated and contracted) for each item.
- *Contracted value* is the price offered by the bidder who won the contract for each item.

- *Quantity of item* regards the quantity of service being procured. Sometimes
 the procuring entity provides this information in square meters, sometimes in units
 of service. In the latter case, the quantity equals to 1 for each service, because one
 service is being procured. This means the estimated value would not be informed in
 square meters, but for the whole service. For instance, in procedure
 155008 0038/2017 item 003, the quantity of service procured was 2.750 square
 meters, and the estimated (R\$ 42,06) and contracted values (R\$ 3,00) were thus
 informed in square meters; whereas in procedure 200207 0013/2017 item 001,
 the quantity of service procured was 1, meaning that the estimated (R\$ 23.175,60)
 and the contracted values (R\$ 13.278,43) concern the whole service.
- *Classification according to CATSER* regards the code from the CATSER table used by procurement officials to classify the item procured.
- *Capacities demanded* regards the capacities required as technical criteria for each architectural service procured. These capacities can be operational or professional, as discussed in Section 6.2.2. Therefore, I included units of meaning for both levels of capacities. Since many architectural services were bundled with other services in the same item, I had to carefully read the technical criteria for each item to extract only units of meaning related to capacities demanded for architectural services.
- *Quantity of criterion* regards the quantity of each capacity that was required for architectural services.
- *Type of criterion* regards whether the criterion is a qualification or an evaluation criterion.
- *My personal observations* include any information that could help me with the further analysis of items and criteria. They comprise, but are not limited to, information on bundled items, the timeline for execution of services, value of architectural services when items are bundled, and additional information on technical criteria. These data were not always available in the solicitation documents, they could be scattered across additional documents. Information on the value of architectural services often required a time-consuming search in reference terms or in their appendixes, because it was necessary to separate this

value from the value of other services. For instance, in procedure 250025 0007/2017, this information was dug in Appendix 3 of the reference terms, which contained information on the proposed schedule for payment of the contract. In some cases, e.g., in procedures 158377 0040/2017, 170388 0001/2017 and 3453041 0006/2017, I was not able to find this information.

In Table 17 I list these units of meaning and their sources.

Unit of meaning	Source
Description of the item	Usually available in the list of items. In cases of bundled services, it was necessary to look for further information in the solicitation document or reference terms to distinguish architectural services from other services
Estimated value	List of items
Contracted value	Awarding of the contract
Quantity of item	Usually available in the list of items.
Classification according to CATSER	List of items
Capacities demanded	Solicitation document or reference terms
Quantity of criterion	Solicitation document or reference terms
Type of criterion	Solicitation document or reference terms
My personal observations	Any source

Table 17 - Units of meaning for items and criteria

8.5.2 Assembling units of meaning

Having completed the two tables with all data available, I created a query joining data from procedures with data from items and criteria. I then produced a *matrix report* from the resulting query, containing all units of meaning, from which I could code the data. The *matrix report* is available in Appendix 12.

As I explained in previous sections, I had to do a preliminary coding to be able to filter out data that would not be relevant for this research. In what concern procedures, I had already classified their solicitation method and their procuring entity (Section 8.4.1.4), as well as the situation (Section 8.4.3.2). In what concern items, I had already classified them according to (a) the type of assignment, as established by Resolution 21 Art.2; (b) the type

of service, as established by Resolution 21 Art.3; and (c) whether the service is exclusive for architects, as established by Resolution 51 Art.2 (Section 8.4.3.3).

I used the *matrix report* to code all remaining information needed for this study, as I report in the next section.

8.5.3 Coding

Some information did not require coding, I could take them directly from the matrix report, namely number of items, estimated and contracted values for procedures and items, and classification according to CATSER. Below I review the categories that required coding.

8.5.3.1 Awarding process

Each procedure is procured by means of one type of awarding process, which can be pricebased (*menor preço*), value-based (*técnica e preço*) or quality-based (*melhor técnica*). Hence, I coded this information deductively. As mentioned before, all reverse auctions are price-based.

8.5.3.2 Formalized price system – SRP (Sistema de registro de preços)

I did not expect that SRP would be used for the procurement of architectural services. However, that was the case. Since this is clearly an instance where actual policy and intended policy diverge, I coded each procedure noting if SRP was used.

8.5.3.3 Reason for protest

For each procedure where a protest was submitted, I coded the reason for this protest. Based on the data, I established three main codes: *technical criteria*, *price feasibility* or *other*.

8.5.3.4 Validity of protest

For each procedure where a protest was submitted, I coded whether procurement officials judged the protest valid or otherwise.

8.5.3.5 Bundling architectural and engineering services

I coded whether architectural services were procured alongside engineering services or procured separately.

8.5.3.6 Phase of design

The phase of design can be useful for providing a finer characterisation of services procured. I coded this information deductively based on the guide provided by IAB (2018, 2). However, I added the classification *basic design*, which is provided by Law 8.666 but is not included in IAB's guide. This inclusion yielded five possible codes: *preliminary study*, *pre-design*, *basic design*, *legal design* and *execution design*.

8.5.3.7 Type of buildings

For each item that concerned architectural design, I coded the type of building that should be designed. I coded abductively, using the list of types of buildings proposed by Chiara and Crosbie (2001, v–vii) as a starting point, and adding additional types whenever needed. I provide a list of the codes used in Appendix 13. In that list I show the original information and my translation to English.

8.5.3.8 Capacities

I coded inductively the capacities demanded in each technical criterion. I also coded the following categories related to each capacity: *type of criterion*, which can be an evaluation criterion or a qualification criterion; *subject*, which can be bidder-specific or item-specific; and *level of application*, which can be professional or operational. Each capacity is associated to its corresponding item. The resulting list of capacities is available in Table 30 (Section 9.4.1).

8.5.3.9 Specific capacity and definition

While analyzing capacities, I realized that most of them employed vague terms that did not objectively specify what experiences or skills would be considered compliant with

technical criteria. So I created the code specific capacity for each capacity, which was supposed to inform whether capacities were objectively specified (e.g. "[experiência em] projeto arquitetônico, referente a construção ou reforma de edificação comercial ou de serviços" – procedure 020001 0001/2017) or remained general (e.g. "atestados que comprove(m) a prestação de serviços com as características semelhantes ao objeto da contratação" – procedure 080026 0001/2017). However, I had a reliability problem with this code, as I will elaborate in Section 8.8.4. For this reason, I had to recode items, but this time, I restricted the analysis to whether there was a definition of what sort of capacity would be considered compliant for each instance the capacity experience with similar/ compatible/relevant design was employed.

8.6 Case studies

To illustrate how procurement procedures are carried out and the negative impacts of illdevised technical criteria, I produced four short case studies. A case study can be seen as a methodological approach in which the researcher investigates a phenomenon in order to draw a precise description; by analyzing a single instance, a case study enables the understanding of a larger system (Tsoukas 2009, 286; Roy 2016, 199).

I selected the cases using Seawright and Gerring's (2008, 297) techniques of case selection and analysis. I chose four procurement procedures for a deeper scrutiny, namely two diverse cases, one typical case and one deviant case. To be able to identify these cases, I had to first inductively code the information concerning actual practices, which is drawn from the basic content analysis, and then tabulate the frequency of noncompliant practices for each procedure, following Yin's methods for analyzing data (1981, 60). Thus, information for the cases come from the public documents described in Section 8.4.2.4, which may be produced by procuring entities or by bidders.

8.7 Pattern coding

For answering the sub question "what are the dominant patterns of practice that add up to actual policy?", I proceeded another round of coding, by means of the aptly named pattern coding method proposed by Miles, Huberman and Saldana. According to these authors, pattern coding is an interpretive method, which proposes to group data that has already been coded in order to "identify an emergent theme, configuration, or explanation" (2013, 86). When employing pattern coding, the researcher must try to find what the data have in common, organizing information into meaningful and more parsimonious units of analysis (Miles, Huberman, and Saldana 2013, 87).

Since pattern coding is appropriate for summarizing categories or themes (Miles, Huberman, and Saldana 2013, 87), it was an effective tool for unveiling dominant patterns of practice, based on the information regarding actual practices. I started the pattern coding by filtering out practices that were evidently in line with procurement officials' formal discretion. To achieve this, I took advantage of the concept of zones of certainty, discussed in Section 7.4. Then I grouped practices that were arbitrary or that seemed arbitrary into the three main categories used to organize the data, namely procedures, items and criteria. From this point, I tried to recognize dominant patterns of practice by grouping them into what I considered meaningful strategies employed by procurement officials in their tasks, taking clues from Lipsky's examples (1980, 82). Pattern coding results will be shown in Section 9.10.2.

8.8 Ensuring reliability

In content analysis, it is important to describe the steps taken to ensure the reliability of the coded data (Drisko and Maschi 2016, 126), which I undertake in this section.

It is suggested that, for assuring reliability in content analysis, two or more researchers should code the same data, and then their results must be compared to spot significant inconsistencies (Durand and Blais 2016, 239). Given the nature of a doctoral thesis, this

strategy was not feasible, for the work must be limited to one researcher. So I took on an approach proposed by Miles, Huberman and Saldana (2013, 85), which consists of coding the data twice, the second coding being conducted some time later than the first coding. Comparing results from each round of coding should reveal problems in the interpretation of data.

I did a first round of coding in May 2018, which resulted in 74 procedures, 105 items and 200 criteria. To assess the reliability of my initial coding, I recoded all categories, drawing from the matrix report, in January 2019. I then compared this second coding with the initial coding. I report below the discrepancies I found.

8.8.1 Wrong inclusion of service

During the second coding, I found one procedure that did not include any service exclusive for architects (procedure 040001 0072/2017). Although the solicitation document mentions services in the fields of architecture and engineering, none of the items can actually be classified under Resolution 51. This error occurred because I classified the item as *outsourced service* without realizing this issue. I excluded this procedure from my analysis.

8.8.2 Mismatched coding in the category type of building

I found one mismatched type of building. This case concerned procurement for the design of a multipurpose building for a university (procedure 152663 0015/2017). In the first coding I classified it as *office*, while in the second coding I classified it as *school/university*. Since I it seemed unreasonable to include a new type of building only for this case, I kept the latter classification, which I deem better represents the use of the building in the context of a university.

8.8.3 Mismatched coding in the category *capacity*

I found nine cases of mismatched capacities, which I review below.

- In five cases, I first coded them as *experience in architectural design*, while in the second coding I classified them as *experience with similar/compatible/relevant design*. I realized that, in such cases, the capacity demanded was indeed *experience with similar/compatible/relevant design*, but the criterion also included a definition of what is considered *experience with similar/compatible/relevant design*. One example was the criterion used in procedure 090023 0029/2017, which demanded experience with design that is relevant and compatible with the service procured, while also adding that any experience in architectural design would be considered relevant and compatible⁴⁷. After reassessing these cases in conjunction with the issue of the coding for *specific capacity* and *definition* (Section 8.8.4), I decided to keep the results of the second coding, which better reflects what is required in these criteria.
- In two cases, I had first classified the capacities as *specialized experience*, whilst in the second coding I classified them as *experience in architectural design for restoration*. These cases concerned services for restoration of heritage buildings. The mismatching of codes occurred because this was an inductive coding, and I had not yet included the code *experience in architectural design for restoration* when I coded the first two cases. I kept the second coding for it better reflects the nature of the capacity required.
- In one case, I had first coded the capacity as *experience in architectural design*, whilst in the second coding I classified it as *experience in architectural design for renovation*. After reassessing the information in the matrix report⁴⁸, I considered that the second coding better reflects the capacity required.

⁴⁷ In the original: "elaboração de projetos pertinentes e compatíveis em características, qualidade e quantidade, sendo consideradas parcelas de maior relevância e valor significativo: Projeto de arquitetura de edificações, públicas ou privadas, com pelo menos 3.000,00 m²" (solicitation document p.26).

⁴⁸ In the original: "*execução de projetos de obra ou serviço de modernização, adaptação, reforma, construção de área que contenha cozinha e respectivos setores de apoio*" (procedure 765705 0001/2018 – solicitation document, p.6).

• In one last case, I included a criterion in the second coding that I had not included in the first coding at all. This case was in procedure 343036 0002/2017, and it concerns the capacity *experience in architectural design for restoration*.

8.8.4 Mismatched coding in the category *specific capacity*

I found ten cases of mismatched coding for *specific capacity*. I had devised this category to reflect whether the capacity demanded objectively specified what set of experiences or skills would be considered compliant with the criterion. For instance, I would judge as *objectively specified* the capacity "experience with architectural design for public buildings of for offices"⁴⁹, because it restricted the sort of experiences that would be accepted. Here, experience with architectural design for residences would not be considered compliant with the criterion. On the contrary, I would judge as *not objectively specified* the capacity "experience in architectural design for public or private buildings"⁵⁰ because, in practice, any experience in architectural design would be considered compliant with such a vague criterion.

The limits between what I would judge *objectively specified* and *not objectively specified* were difficult to trace. In some cases, such as "experience in architectural design for public or private buildings", it seemed that procurement officials would accept any experience in architectural design. In other cases, it was not clear what sort of experiences would be considered acceptable. These were the instances where procurement officials employed the capacity *experience with similar/compatible/relevant design* without explaining what would be considered similar, compatible or relevant.

The fact that any experience is accepted is not necessarily a problem, for simple projects may be executed by any professional qualified by the professional order. The problem lies in cases where it is not clear if any experience is indeed accepted or otherwise, because

⁴⁹ In the original: "*execução de projeto arquitetônico para prédios públicos ou escritórios*" (procedure 170217 0009/2017 – solicitation document, p.14).

⁵⁰ In the original: "*projeto de arquitetura de edificações públicas ou privadas*" (procedure 090012 0041/2017 – solicitation document p.13).

the assessment of what is similar, compatible or relevant requires a reflective judgement. This lack of objectivity may lead to arbitrary decisions, as I will illustrate in Section 9.6.3.5.

To set a better limit in my coding and improve reliability, I decided to ditch the category *specific capacity* and replace it by the category *definition*. *Definition* applies only to the capacities which I coded as *experience with similar/compatible/relevant design*, because these were the instances where I had this problem of reflective judgement. In this new coding, I would note whether these criteria included or not a definition of what is similar, compatible or relevant. For instance, I coded "proof of compatible experience with the most relevant service: architectural design for public buildings or offices"⁵¹ as *defined*, while I coded "proof of operational capability for performing services that are relevant and compatible with services procured"⁵² as *not defined*.

8.8.5 Summary of reliability issues

Considering that this research generated more than 2000 codes, the volume of errors I found during the second round of coding can be considered low. Nevertheless, the problems of the category *specific capacity* could have led to conclusions based on an analysis lacking reliability. These results thus corroborate the need for ensuring coding reliability.

The strategies to ensure reliability affected the set of data to be analyzed. As mentioned, I excluded procedure 040001 0072/2017, which led to the exclusion of one item and one criterion associated with this procedure. I also included a criterion that was lacking in the first coding, from procedure 343036 0002/2017. In the end, I had 73 procedures,

⁵¹ In the original: "Atestado compatível em características com o objeto da licitação envolvendo as parcelas de maior relevância e valor significativo: elaboração de projeto arquitetônico para prédios públicos ou escritórios" (procedure 170217 0008/2017 –solicitation document, p.14).

⁵² In the original: "*Comprovação de aptidão operacional para o desempenho de atividade pertinente e compatível com o objeto da presente Licitação*" (procedure 200043 0017/2017 –solicitation document, p.11).

corresponding to 104 items and 200 criteria to be analyzed. I will review the results from the coding and the analysis in the next chapter.

8.9 Comments on the research design

In retrospect, I could have simplified the research design by eliminating steps that were not useful. In the data collection phase, the search using the API could have been completely dropped. Searching in *Comprasnet* by means of keywords was much more efficient. That does not mean that the API is not useful. On the contrary, it could be a valuable instrument for transparency. But the format of downloaded data and the frequency of updates need improvement for it to become an effective tool.

In the data analysis phase, I could have skipped the triple categorization of items using regulations. As I mentioned, I classified them using Resolution 21 Art. 2, then Resolution 21 Art. 3, followed by Resolution 51. If I had just used the classification established by Resolution 51, I would have had the same quality of information. However, at the beginning of this study it was difficult to find my way amongst the myriad of superimposing rules established by CAU-BR and guides published by IAB. I had to try to apply them in this research to understand their utility.

Based on this experience, I devised the list below, which reviews the main necessary steps of data collection and data coding, indicating the respective sections in this study. Following these steps, it could be possible to apply this research design for inquiring technical criteria in procurement of other types of services. For instance, if researchers are interested in criteria for *building automation* services, they could search for these keywords in *Comprasnet*, and filter out procedures that are not relevant using definitions established in regulations from the field of mechanical engineering. Obviously, the categories and the coding would depend on each type of service researched. Also, studies concerning only reverse auctions would require less effort, given that the gathering of data would not imply the search of documents in sources other than *Comprasnet*.

- 1. Searching for procedures in Comprasnet
 - 1.1. Define keywords and period (Section 8.4.1.3)
 - 1.2. Filter out results that are not relevant (Section 8.4.1.4)
- 2. Collecting procurement documentation
 - 2.1. Download documents from *Comprasnet* (Section 8.4.2.2)
 - 2.2. Download documents from Transparency portal and internet sites, and demand for missing documents (Section 8.4.2.3)
- 3. Selecting procedures
 - 3.1. Sort out procedures that are not relevant or meaningful (Sections 8.4.3.1-8.4.3.2)
- 4. Selecting items
 - 4.1. Sort out items that are not relevant to the study (Section 8.4.3.3)
 - 4.2. Exclude procedures that only included items not relevant (Section 8.4.3.3)
- 5. Coding
 - 5.1. Determine needed categories (Section 8.5.1)
 - 5.2. Extract units of meaning from documents (Section 8.5.1.1)
 - 5.3. Create report gathering all units of meaning (Section 8.5.2)
 - 5.4. Code drawing on units of meaning (Section 8.5.3)

9 Results – practices on procurement of architectural services

In this chapter I will present what I found in the empirical data collected. Before proceeding further, however, it might be useful to recall the aim of this descriptive study, which is to analyze technical criteria used by procurement officials in Brazil to select providers of architectural services. This analysis is carried out by means of the concept of administrative discretion, supported by the street-level bureaucracy theory. Administrative discretion comprises formal discretion and operational discretion (Section 5.2). Intended policies constitute formal discretion, while actual policies comprise dominant patters of practice resulting from operational discretion. The main question that emerged from these concepts is: *which actual policies concerning technical criteria for procurement of architectural services deviate from intended policies on procurement in Brazil?*

From this main question, I propose to analyze the data by means of the following subquestions: (1) What solicitation methods are used for procurement of architectural services? (2) What services are procured? (3) What criteria are employed? (4) What are the actual practices of procurement of architectural services? In Table 18 I provide a general overview of the results, listing procedures and their respective solicitation methods; each item concerning architectural services; and criteria for each service, discriminating operational and professional criteria, as well as qualification and evaluation criteria. As I mentioned in Section 8.8.5, the coding resulted in 73 procedures, 104 items and 200 criteria.

In the following sections I will answer the research questions. An important issue emerged, though, in connection with these questions. It concerns transparency, which permeated all steps of data collection. Thus, I will start this chapter dealing with the matter of transparency, followed by a review on solicitation methods, services, criteria, as well as an analysis of protests and cancelled procedures.

Table 18 – List of procedures, items and criteria

ot = open tendering, ra = reverse auction, rp = request for proposals, rq = request for quotations, o = operational criterion, p = professional criterion, e = evaluation criterion, q = qualification criterion

PROCEDURE			ITEM		CRITERION			
020001 0001/2017	ot	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	e	experience in architectural design for new construction or for renovation		
			- C		q	architect or engineer working for the bidder		
				q	a	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		002	design for renovation or retrofit	0	e	experience in architectural design for new construction or for renovation		
			5		a	architect or engineer working for the bidder		
				q	a	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		003	design for renovation or retrofit	0	e	experience in architectural design for new construction or for renovation		
		000		ľ		architect or engineer working for the bidder		
				n	4	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
080002 0002/2017	ot	001	design for resuming construction		9	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
000002 0002/2017		001	design for resuming construction	- n	4	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
090016 0010/2017	ro	001	any type of design outcoursed	p o	<u> </u>			
000010 0019/2017	la	001	any type of design - outsourced	0	<u> </u>	specialized experience		
				p	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		002	any type of design - outsourced	0	q	specialized experience		
00000000000000000				р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
080026 0001/2017	rq	001	design for new construction	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				p	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
090003 0031/2017	ra	001	design for accessibility	р	q	architect or engineer working for the bidder		
090012 0001/2017	ra	001	any type of design - outsourced	0	q	experience in outsourcing		
				р	q	experience in architectural design		
090012 0006/2017	ra	001	any type of design - outsourced	0	q	experience in outsourcing		
				р	q	experience in architectural design		
090012 0023/2017	ra	001	design for new construction	0	q	experience in architectural design		
				р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
090012 0041/2017	ra	001	design for resuming construction	0	q	experience in architectural design		
				р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
090023 0029/2017	ra	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
			- C	q	a	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
090023 0059/2017	ra	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	a	experience in architectural design		
			g	n	a	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
090038 0004/2017	ra	001	any type of design - consulting	0	<u>ч</u>	architect or engineer working for the bidder		
0000000000000		001	any type of design contouring	n	4	experience in architectural design		
120196 0001/2017	ra	001	design for new construction	0	9	experience in architectural design		
120190 000 1/2017	14	001			4	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
152662 0015/2017	ro	001	design for new construction		4			
152005 0015/2017	la	001		- U	<u> </u>	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		000	de sino ferror con star stiere	p	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		002	design for new construction	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		002	design for new construction	p	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		003	design for new construction	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				p	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		023	landscaping and site design	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		024	landscaping and site design	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		025	landscaping and site design	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
153047 0019/2017	ra	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				р	q	experience in architectural design		
		002	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				р	q	experience in architectural design		
		024	design for accessibility	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
153052 0005/2017	rq	018	design for new construction	0	e	experience in architectural design		
	l .		-	р	е	experience in construction or renovation of buildings		
				[•]	q	architect or engineer working for the bidder		
		019	acoustics design	0	e	experience in acoustics design		
				p	e	experience in construction or renovation of buildings		
				"	n l	architect or engineer working for the bidder		
		020	lighting design	0	4	experience in lighting design		
		020		- U	0	experience in righting design		
				۲P	-	architect or engineer working for the bidder		
153103 0034/2047	rdo	001	design for restoration	6	<u> </u>			
155105 0024/2017		001		0	q	experience in architectural design for restoration		
450407 0007/0015		001	destruction frances and the state	p	q	experience in architectural design for restoration		
153167 0037/2017	ra	001	aesign for resuming construction	0	q	experience in architectural design for new construction or for renovation		
450407.0040/0017		001	destruction of the second second	р	q	experience in architectural design for new construction or for renovation		
153167 0042/2017	ra	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience in architectural design for new construction or for renovation		
				р	q	experience in architectural design for new construction or for renovation		
154046 0004/2017	rq	001	design for accessibility	р	q	experience in design for accessibility		
154618 0015/2017	ra	001	design for accessibility	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				р	q	architect or engineer working for the bidder		
155008 0038/2017	ra	003	design for new construction	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
			<u> </u>	р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		020	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
155124 0003/2017	rdc	001	design for renovation or retrofit	p	a	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
					· 7			
PROCEDURE			ITEM		CRITERION			
-------------------	-----------	------	------------------------------------	--------	---------------	---	--	--
158275 0014/2017	ra	003	design for new construction	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				p	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		004	design for new construction	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
158377 0040/2017	ra	001	design for renovation or retrofit	р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		002	design for renovation or retrofit	p	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		003	design for renovation or retrofit	p	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		004	design for renovation or retrofit	p n	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		005	design for renovation or retrofit	n p	<u>ч</u>	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
158720 0004/2017	ra	000	design for new construction	0	d d	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
100120 000 12011				q	a	experience in architectural design		
160036 0025/2017	ra	001	design for renovation or retrofit	p	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
160066 0013/2017	ra	013	landscaping and site design	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				р	q	experience in landscape design		
		014	landscaping "as built" drawings	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				р	q	experience in landscape design		
160078 0001/2017	rq	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
170010 0000/0017		0.04		p	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
170010 0006/2017	ra	001	any type of design - consulting	р	q	experience in architectural design		
170018 0003/2017	ra	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
170099 0001/2017	FG	001	design for appagaibility	p	q	experience in architectural design		
170066 000 1/2017	14	001	design for accessibility	n	e 0	nostaraduate studies or specialization		
				P		experience in architectural design		
170131 0022/2017	ra	001	design for accessibility	0	a	experience in design for accessibility		
170134 0006/2017	ra	001	design for accessibility	0	a	experience in design for accessibility		
			5 ,	p	q	experience in design for accessibility		
170217 0007/2017	ra	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
			-	р	q	experience in architectural design		
170217 0008/2017	ra	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				р	q	experience in architectural design		
170217 0009/2017	ra	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
170017 0011/0017		0.04		p	q	experience in architectural design		
170217 0011/2017	ra	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
170299 0001/2017		001	design for new construction	p	q	experience in architectural design		
170366 000 1/2017	la	001	design for new construction	n	4	experience in architectural design		
170516 0005/2017	ra	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	d d	experience in architectural design for new construction		
				p	a	experience in architectural design		
170516 0008/2017	ra	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience in architectural design for new construction		
				р	q	experience in architectural design		
		002	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience in architectural design for new construction		
				р	q	experience in architectural design		
179085 0098/2017	ra	001	any type of design - outsourced	0	q	experience in outsourcing		
179085 0112/2017	ra	001	any type of design - outsourced	p	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
200035 0012/2017	ra	001	design for accessibility	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
200043 0017/2017	ra	001	design for accessibility	p 0	q q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
200043 0017/2017	la	001	design for accessibility	- n	<u>ч</u>	experience in architectural design		
200108 0008/2017	ra	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	<u>ч</u>	experience in architectural design for renovation		
200100 0000.2011				q	a	experience in architectural design for renovation		
200121 0009/2017	ra	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience in architectural design		
			-	р	q	experience in architectural design		
200207 0013/2017	ra	001	design for accessibility	р	q	experience in architectural design for new construction or for renovation		
250025 0007/2017	ra	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				p	q	experience in architectural design		
254445 0215/2017	ra	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	specialized experience		
054445.0004/0047		004	de sine for an estation or a to ft	p	q	specialized experience		
204440 0291/2017	l ig	1001			q			
255026.0006/2017	ra	001	design for accessibility	P 0	4	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				b	a	architect or engineer working for the bidder		
343003 0002/2017	ot	001	design for restoration	0	a	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
			5	p	q	experience in architectural design for restoration		
343011 0003/2017	rq	001	design for restoration	0	е	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
						knowledge of the object		
						organizational structure and resources		
					-	proposed approach		
				n	<u>Ч</u> Р	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				۲ I	ັ	time since graduation		
343034 0003/2017	ra	001	design for restoration	0	q	experience in architectural design for restoration		
				р	q	experience in architectural design for restoration		
343036 0002/2017	rq	001	design for restoration	p	q	experience in architectural design for restoration		
						postgraduate studies or specialization		
380941 0007/2017	ra	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience in architectural design		
		002	design for repovotion or retrofit	p	q	experience in architectural design		
		002		- n	4			
		003	design for renovation or retrofit	0	a	experience in architectural design		
1								

PROCEDURE			ITEM	CRITERION				
				g	a	experience in architectural design		
		004	design for renovation or retrofit	0	a	experience in architectural design		
			5	q	a	experience in architectural design		
389086 0006/2017	ra	001	any type of design - consulting	p	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
400066 0001/2017	rp	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
	·		°,	р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
420001 0001/2017	rp	001	design for renovation or retrofit	p	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
443001 0001/2017	rp	001	interior design	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
530001 0016/2017	ra	016	any type of design - outsourced	0	q	experience in outsourcing		
765701 0007/2017	ra	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience in design of parking lots		
			- C	р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
765705 0001/2018	rq	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience in architectural design for renovation		
	·		°,	р	q	experience in architectural design		
787700 0006/2016	ra	001	design for new construction	p	q	specialized experience		
925138 0028/2017	ra	001	any type of design - outsourced	0	q	experience in outsourcing		
				р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
925152 0002/2017	rq	001	design for new construction	p	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
925387 0002/2017	ot	001	street and transit design	0	e	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
						knowledge of the object		
						proposed approach		
					q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				р	e	specialized experience		
925856 0049/2017	ra	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
			-	р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
925856 0147/2017	ra	001	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
			-	р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
925942 0059/2017	ra	006	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		007	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
			-	р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		008	design for renovation or retrofit	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		009	landscaping and site design	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		010	landscaping and site design	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		012	interior design	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		013	acoustics design	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
			-	р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
		014	design for accessibility	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
				р	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
926066 0006/2017	ra	001	street and transit design	0	q	experience with similar/compatible/relevant service		
926195 0026/2017	ra	001	design for resuming construction	0	q	experience in architectural design		
				р	q	experience in architectural design		

9.1 Transparency

9.1.1 Availability of documents

Preliminarily, I would like to comment on the collecting of data available in the governmental platforms. Considering that I obtained information from all 116 selected procedures, we could argue that the level of transparency seems to be high. We must remind, though, that according to regulations, all documents concerning procurement procedures made public by means of *Comprasnet* should be available in that system. Nevertheless, from the 116 procedures I initially selected, only 89 procedures had all documents available in *Comprasnet*, as shown in Table 7. This figure may indicate negligence or lack of transparency from the procuring entities concerned, which corroborates a previous study suggesting that the Brazilian government should have more consideration for the implementation of its own transparency regulations (Michener, Contreras, and Niskier 2018, 625). Yet, one would need to compare these figures with figures from other types of services (not architectural services) to evaluate this result in a broader context, which is outside the scope of this research.

The API and *Painel de Preços* proved way less useful than what I initially expected. During this research, the API was offline from November 2018 until January 2019. Furthermore, downloaded data was often useless due to bad formatting, as reviewed in Section 8.4.1.1. *Painel de Preços*, supposedly a user-friendly system intended to improve transparency, was not reliable at all for retrieving data relevant to this study. This suggests that this tool should be used with a lot of precautions for collecting information on governmental procurement, including information on contracted values.

9.1.2 Information on protests

Because not all documents were available in *Comprasnet*, it was not possible to retrieve complete information regarding protests. No information on protests was available for 10 procedures out of 73 analyzed. On Table 19 I show the number of procedures lacking this information. All of them regard solicitation methods from Law 8.666, which are not carried out in *Comprasnet*. Given that there are only 17 procedures of this kind in this study (Section 9.2.1), almost 60% of them lacked this information.

solicitation method	number of procedures lacking information
open tendering	2
request for proposals	3
request for quotations	5
total	10

Table 19 - Number of procedures lacking information on protests

9.1.3 Collecting RDC documents

As mentioned earlier, all information from RDC is available in *Comprasnet*, since procedures by this solicitation method are not only made public by that platform, but they are also carried out by it. Nevertheless, I must underline the difficulty to get data from RDC

procedures. Information may be available, but the queries for RDC are the least userfriendly in *Comprasnet*, as I commented in Section 8.4.2.3.

9.1.4 Practices on transparency

Comprasnet provides complete access to procurement documents, especially for reverse auctions. *Comprasnet* may be regarded as a complex system, but it would be impossible to devise a simple system for a complex activity such as public procurement in Brazil. Two issues, however, must be mentioned concerning *Comprasnet*. First, procurement officials often do not feed *Comprasnet* with information regarding procedures that are not carried out in the system – which means procedures under Law 8.666. Hence it is necessary to look for information in the Transparency pages, or to request information directly to procuring entities. This problem is not related to the design of the system, but instead related to procurement officials' negligence coupled with low enforcement. Second, searching for documents regarding RDC is highly time-consuming. It should be simple to include a search tool by procedure number or by UASG, which would expedite this task. This problem stems from a bad system design.

Retrieving information by other channels was less fruitful. The API is not reliable and demands some knowledge on databases for accessing data. *Painel de Preços*, which is supposed to be user-friendly, did not provide reliable information. We could thus argue that, in regard to transparency, procurement officials' practices partly respect intended policy, for remaining difficulties to access information render the system not effective.

9.2 Solicitation methods

In this section I will deal with the question concerning *what solicitation methods are used for procuring architectural services*. Each subject matter is procured by means of one method; therefore, this question regards the 73 procedures that are relevant in this study. The choice of method depends on how the subject matter of procurement is classified and on its estimated value. In the following sections, I present which methods and how often

they were employed, the type of awarding process, the use of the formalized price system (SRP) and the values of procedures.

9.2.1 Solicitation methods and classification of services

In Table 20 I list the solicitation methods employed in the 73 procedures analyzed, the corresponding regulating law and the number of procedures for each method. None of the procedures analyzed employed prize competitions. In contrast, almost three-fourths of the procedures (54 out of 73) were carried out by means of reverse auctions.

Solicitation method	Regulating law	Number of procedures	% Total
open tendering	Law 8.666	4	5%
RDC	Law 12.462	2	3%
request for proposals	Law 8.666	3	4%
request for quotations	Law 8.666	10	14%
reverse auction	Law 10.520	54	74%
Total		73	100%

Table 20 - Number of procedures by solicitation method and corresponding law

Brazilian regulations provide formal discretion for the choice of solicitation method. This choice depends on whether services procured are classified as: (a) common services, (b) services of a predominantly intellectual nature, (c) specialized technical professional services, or (d) services in the scope of an RDC action. The figures above reveal that procurement officials usually classify architectural services as common services, since only common services can be procured by reverse auctions.

It could be defensible to consider services such as the redesign of a parking lot as a common service, as it was the case for reverse auction 090003 0031/2017. But in some cases, the decision to classify the service as common service contradicts the solicitation document itself. For instance, in procedure 250025 0007/2017, the solicitation document (p.39) states that the services procured are complex and peculiar⁵³, which goes against

⁵³ In the original: "Tendo em vista a complexidade/peculiaridade do objeto e as inúmeras patologias existentes, para o correto dimensionamento e elaboração de sua proposta, o licitante DEVERÁ realizar vistoria nas instalações do local de execução dos serviços".

the notion of common service. Another example is procedure 200121 0009/2017 featuring the same contradiction. It was classified as common service, but in the solicitation document (p.53) it is consigned that the services procured are specialized services⁵⁴. Procedure 158720 0004/2017 is also procured as common service, but their items regard architectural and engineering design services of medium complexity⁵⁵ (solicitation document, p. 4). This procedure is a conspicuous case of a reverse auction because its solicitation document informs that it is an RDC. Regardless, it was not carried out in the RDC platform in *Comprasnet*, but rather in the reverse auction platform. Surprisingly, no objection was presented concerning this issue. I will further discuss this case in Section 9.9.2.

Solicitation methods other than reverse auctions can be carried out using different awarding processes. Therefore, I will discuss them in the next section, dedicated to this matter.

9.2.2 Awarding process

In Table 21 I break down the number of procedures by solicitation method, discriminating the figures by awarding process employed. From the three possible awarding processes – price-based, value-based and quality-based – only the first two were employed. Since there was no prize competition, the absence of quality-based procedures was expected.

Only two procedures employed RDC, and both were price-based. As reviewed in Section 6.2.4, architectural services in RDC actions can be procured by means of price-based, quality-based or value-based procedures. Nevertheless, in these two RDC procedures, architectural services were procured alongside engineering services in the same item. I will approach this issue in Section 9.3.1.

⁵⁴ In the original: "Considerando que projetos de engenharia e arquitetura são serviços especializados e que as profissões são reguladas por entidades de classe, buscou-se junto ao IAB (...) informações, subsídios e parâmetros para estimar os valores dos honorários profissionais para elaboração de projetos arquitetônicos".

⁵⁵ In the original: "prestação de serviços técnicos de elaboração de projetos básico e executivo de arquitetura e engenharia de média complexidade, pelo regime diferenciado de contratação, necessários às construções, reformas e ampliações de diversas unidades da Universidade Federal do Sul da Bahia".

It is not surprising that there are only few RDC procedures for architectural services. RDC was devised primarily for integrated bids (DB project delivery method, discussed in Section 3.4), which are outside the scope of this research. Moreover, it can only be used in specific areas of the administration, such as prisons and hospitals. Finally, it is a relatively new method, so procurement officials may have not yet embraced it, although it is regarded as less complex than the solicitation methods established by Law 8.666.

Solicitation methods established by Law 8.666 were used in only 17 out of 73 procedures under study – less than 25% of the total (Table 20). Amongst these 17, only six were procured by means of value-based awarding processes, as displayed on Table 21.

The numbers concerning requests for proposals were rather surprising. Given that requests for proposals are used for less expensive services, I expected they would outnumber open tendering and request for quotations, but that was not the case. Only three procedures employed requests for proposals, all of them using price-based awarding process. It is possible that procurement officials prefer to employ reverse auctions when procuring services that are not very expensive, since they are a much simpler method than a request for proposals.

Solicitation method	price-based	value-based	Total
open tendering	2	2	4
RDC	2		2
request for proposals	3		3
request for quotations	6	3	9
request for quotations SRP		1	1
reverse auction	49		49
reverse auction SRP	5		5
Total	67	6	73

Table 21 - Number of procedures by solicitation method, classified by awarding process.

The number of requests for quotations amounts to ten, one of them regarding a formalized price system (SRP), which I will discuss in the following section. Four out of ten requests for quotations (including the one regarding SRP) employed value-based awarding process. Open tendering was used only in four procedures, two of them being value-based.

9.2.3 Formalized price system – SRP (Sistema de registro de preços)

In the initial design of this study, I had not included the issue of SRP, since it is not supposed to be employed for procurement of services. Nevertheless, I later had to take on SRP in my inquiry, for I realized that six procedures included it: five reverse auctions and one request for quotations, as it stands out in Table 21. For instance, reverse auction 158275 0014/2017 concerned 18 items of architectural and engineering services, for a total estimated value of over R\$ 5 million. Despite not including any off-the-shelf good (which is the aim of SRP procedures), this procedure was awarded by means of SRP. Another example is reverse auction 158720 0004/2017, already mentioned in Section 9.2.1. This is one of the highest value procedures in this study, for an estimated value of over R\$ 11 million. It comprises only architectural and engineering services, yet it was also awarded by means of SRP.

9.2.4 Value of procedures

I used the Analysis ToolPak in MS Excel for calculating some descriptive statistics concerning estimated values of the 73 procedures under study. Results are displayed on Table 22. The mean value is around R\$ 1,1 million. However, the standard deviation is more than 2,3 times bigger than the mean, and the median is more than seven times smaller than the mean, indicating that this distribution is not a normal distribution.

Mean	1.087.294,49
Median	149.193,07
Mode	2.982.746,52
Standard deviation	2.578.603,18
Minimum	19.396,60
Maximum	13.152.300,53
Count	73,00

For a better understanding of how values are distributed, I produced a histogram showing the number of procedures by their estimated value, shown in Figure 23. Most of the procedures concern estimated values lower than R\$ 150 thousand. The relatively high

mean is due to a small number of very high value procedures – six procedures over R\$ 3,5 million.



Figure 23 - Frequency of procedures by estimated value

As mentioned in Section 9.2.2, only seventeen procedures were carried out by solicitation methods established by Law 8.666. It could be argued that, at least for these procedures, procurement officials correctly classified architectural services as services of predominantly intellectual nature or specialized technical professional services. However, when we analyze estimated values for these services, a different portrait can be drawn. In Figure 24 I present graphically each procedure according to their estimated value (Y-axis) and their solicitation method, discriminating those that used SRP (X-axis). I also show two thresholds: R\$ 650 thousand and R\$ 80 thousand. According to Law 8.666, services above R\$ 650 thousand should be procured by means of open tendering, while services above

Figure 24 shows that one request for quotations and one request for quotations with SRP were above R\$ 650 thousand (lines 7 and 8 on the X-axis). Furthermore, two requests for proposals are above R\$ 80 thousand (line 3 on the X-axis). In these four cases, we can conclude that procurement officials did not classify architectural services as services of predominantly intellectual nature or specialized technical professional services, but rather

as construction and engineering services, for which thresholds are higher, as reviewed in Section 6.2.2.



Figure 24 - Values by solicitation method

Still in Figure 24, one sees that only two requests for quotations and two open tendering are value-based and within the corresponding value threshold for services (lines 8 and 9 on the X-axis). Thus, these are the only four instances of procedures including architectural services for which procurement officials opted for value-based awarding processes within the threshold values for services established by Law 8.666.

9.2.5 **Practices concerning solicitation methods**

In Section 7.1, I mentioned that procurement officials hold discretion to classify architectural services as common services, or as services of predominantly intellectual nature, or specialized technical professional services, since regulations provide vague

concepts for these notions. Results show that most of the time architectural services are categorized as common services, given the majority of procedures carried out by reverse auctions. As discussed in Section 7.1.1, this classification is not consensual. It can be contended that all architectural services require specialized knowledge, and therefore they should not be procured by reverse auctions. For a deeper analysis on the matter, we need to scrutinize services procured, which I will do in the following sections.

Even so, we can reach at least one conclusion in this regard from the review of solicitation methods. A problem surely arises when procurement officials use reverse auctions for procuring services that they acknowledge as services that require specialized knowledge, as mentioned in Section 9.2.1. That would require them to categorize such services as services of predominantly intellectual nature and employ solicitation methods established by Law 8.666. By <u>using reverse auctions for specialized services</u>, procurement officials extrapolated their operational discretion. In other words, this practice can be considered arbitrary.

In what concerns the <u>use of SRP for procurement of architectural services</u>, this practice can also be considered arbitrary. SRP is not supposed to be employed in procurement of services, as seen on Section 6.2.5.1. Furthermore, SRP does not require precise information regarding the quantity of services procured. The absence of such information goes against IN-5, as mentioned in Section 6.2.5.2. This irregularity notwithstanding, there was no protest concerning the use of SRP.

The fact that an RDC could be carried out in a different platform should be a warning sign concerning the lack of supervision and enforcement on what is going on in *Comprasnet*. The issue of transparency is again at play here, for a search in the RDC platform would not yield all RDC procedures.

Also noteworthy are the four procedures bearing <u>values above the threshold</u> for the respective solicitation method employed, as reviewed in Section 9.2.4. This practice goes against the intended policy discussed in Section 7.1.5 and therefore it can be considered arbitrary.

9.3 Services procured

In this section I will answer the question regarding *what services are procured*. I remind that in this inquiry I only focus on services that are exclusive for architects, as mentioned in Section 6.2.9.2.

For this analysis, I will unveil how procurement officials classified these services, and how I would classify them in light of the Brazilian regulations. For a deeper understanding of these services, I will also deal with their values and the type of building they refer to. Nevertheless, I will take on this analysis by discussing one issue regarding how these services are procured – either as a single service in an item or bundled with other services in the same item. This issue has an impact on which solicitation methods can be employed.

9.3.1 Bundling architectural and engineering services

In my initial design for this study, I had taken for granted that procurement officials would neatly observe the classification of services from the CATSER table, and therefore finding information on architectural services would be straightforward. That was not the case. As displayed on Table 23, from the 104 selected items, 66% of them included architectural services and engineering services in the same item. Only 35 items regarded architectural services exclusively.

Table 23 - Bundled services

Services	Number of items	%
architecture and engineering	69	66%
architecture only	35	34%
Total	104	100%

Bundling architectural and engineering services in the same item goes against procurement regulations, namely IN-5, as seen in Section 6.2.5.2. When different services are bundled in the same item, at least one of them will be incorrectly classified. Furthermore, it is more difficult to know how much of each service is being procured, and ultimately it will not be possible to know how much the administration spends with each type of service. For

instance, reverse auction 160036 0025/2017 included only one item, classified as 78 - studies and projects in architecture according to the CATSER table. Nevertheless, its reference terms⁵⁶ inform that, in reality, the estimated value of architectural services was less than 3% of the total value of this procedure, the remaining services regarding engineering services. Another example is reverse auction 200108 0008/2017, comprising one item also classified as 78 - studies and projects in architecture. Actually, this item bundled architectural and engineering services, and the value of architectural services was only 18% of the total estimated value⁵⁷. Hence information concerning public procurement expenditures on architectural services does not accurately portray what it is supposed to. The same can be said for engineering services, for many architectural services are classified as such, as I will review below.

9.3.2 Type of service as classified by procurement officials

In this section I review how procurement officials classified each service following the CATSER table. I show the number of items procured according to the way they were classified in Table 24. Types of services from CATSER in Portuguese and their translation are available in Appendix 14.

Table 24 shows that only 43 items were classified under one of the three categories dedicated to architecture: one under *Consulting and advisory services in architecture*, 32 under *Studies and projects in architecture*, and ten under *Studies and projects in urban planning, landscape architecture and architecture*. Given that the 104 items selected include at least one service exclusive for architects, we can conclude that 62 out of these 104 items (60%) are not classified correctly as architectural services. It is worth mentioning that 51 out of 104 items were classified as engineering services: 44 in the category *Design and analysis of engineering projects* and seven in the category *Engineering services*. These numbers support the argument that information available in *Comprasnet* concerning architectural services. Since procurement

⁵⁶ Source: Appendix 3 of the reference terms.

⁵⁷ Source: Appendix 3 of the reference terms.

officials are expected to search for guidance in past procurement procedures, available information in *Comprasnet* will be incomplete if they search by CATSER codes.

Informed type of service from CATSER	Total
Administrative support services	1
Building maintenance or renovation	1
Consulting and advisory services in architecture	1
Consulting and advisory services in engineering	1
Design and analysis of engineering projects	44
Engineering services	7
Management or supervision of project or construction of civil works	1
Structural design of civil works	1
Studies and projects in architecture	32
Studies and projects in urban planning, landscape architecture and architecture	10
Studies and projects of building facilities	4
Studies and projects of roads	1
Total	104

Table 24 - Classification of items according to the CATSER table

A root of this problem is that procurement officials often bundle different services in the same item, as described in the previous section, and thus at least one item cannot be correctly classified. However, duplicates in the CATSER table may worsen the issue. For instance, categories *Studies and projects in architecture* and *Studies and projects in urban planning, landscape architecture and architecture* represent the same type of item, thus one of them could be eliminated.

The Brazilian government has made some isolated efforts to improve uniformity in the CATSER table, but not yet in the codes regarding architectural and engineering services (Brasil 2018a, 2018b). It also kicked off a campaign, named *Item certo* (correct item), to raise awareness on the problem of incorrect classification (Brasil 2019b). Given the pervasiveness of this issue in the procedures analyzed here, it would be advisable to undertake a cleanup in all codes regarding architectural and engineering services.

9.3.3 Type of assignment and phases of design

As discussed above, I could not trust the classification informed by procurement officials regarding architectural services, so I coded each service procured according to the type of assignment: whether they concerned design services or other types of services. I also coded them according to the phase of design. On Table 25 I show the number of items by type of assignment (columns) and phase of design (rows). Obviously, phase of design is only applicable for architectural design services.

Concerning the type of assignment, results reveal that almost 90% (92 out of 104) of services procured are *architectural design* services. *Outsourced workforce* was procured eight times and *consulting (evaluation or supervision)* follows with three instances. These numbers indicate that most of the time procuring entities procure architectural services for producing specific projects. But some procuring entities also procure contractual jobs, probably because they do not hold enough architects amongst their regular employees.

Phase	architectural design	consulting (evaluation or supervision)	drawing, surveying or electronic modeling	outsourced workforce	Total
all design phases	3				3
basic design	29				29
basic design and execution design	11				11
basic design and legal design	5				5
execution design	32				32
execution design and legal design	1				1
pre-design	4				4
pre-design and execution design	3				3
pre-design and legal design	1				1
preliminary study	2				2
preliminary study, basic design and execution design	1				1
N/A		3	1	8	12
Total	92	3	1	8	104

The one service related to *drawing, surveying or electronic modeling* is a service for *landscaping "as built" drawings*. As mentioned in Section 8.4.3.3, this type of service is

considered exclusive for architects. This item is from procedure 160066 0013/2017, which comprises 21 items related to the project of a school for the Brazilian army.

In what concerns the phase of design for *architectural design* services, *execution design* and *basic design* are the most frequent categories, with 32 and 29 items, respectively. When analyzed with other categories, at least one of these two phases appears in almost every item, except four items concerning only *pre-design* and two items concerning only *preliminary study*. *Basic design* and *execution design* are the services leading to the production of basic projects and execution projects, which are the minimum necessary for procurement of construction (as reviewed in Section 6.2.3), so it is not surprising that these categories often appear.

More unexpected is the low number of items concerning the *pre-design* phase. Since basic design presupposes that a pre-design has been produced, we may speculate that most pre-design is produced in-house by architects working for the procuring entities.

9.3.4 Type of service – Resolution 21 Art. 2

The classification into types of assignment and phases of design reviewed above provides a preliminary portrait of services procured. For a better understanding of what these services are, I coded each item procured according to the type of architectural service established by Resolution 21 Art. 3. In Table 26 I show a synthesis of the total number of items, as well as their estimated values, by type of service.

Type of service	Number of items	Est. value total (R\$)	Est. value (%)
acoustics design	2	761.500,00	1,46%
any type of design - consulting	3	216.290,04	0,41%
any type of design - outsourced	8	10.418.815,59	19,95%
design for accessibility	12	1.313.414,32	2,51%
interior design	2	148.952,50	0,29%
landscaping "as built" drawings	1	4.254,59	0,01%
landscaping and site design	6	475.205,52	0,91%
lighting design	1	450.000,00	0,86%

Table 26 - Items and values by type of service

Type of service	Number of items	Est. value total (R\$)	Est. value (%)
design for new construction	14	15.231.452,22	29,16%
design for renovation or retrofit	44	6.769.150,59	12,96%
design for restoration	5	1.353.828,63	2,59%
design for resuming construction	4	1.784.705,77	3,42%
street and transit design	2	13.297.997,55	25,46%
Total	104	52.225.567,32	100,00%

When we analyze estimated values, *design for new construction* is the most important type of service, representing 29% of the total value, followed by categories *street and transit design, any type of design – outsourced* and *design for renovation or retrofit*. Together, these four types of services represent 88% of the total estimated value. I will dig further into the matter of values in Section 9.3.6.

When we analyze number of items, a different portrait is drawn. In Figure 25 I classify each type of service by the number of items procured. The most frequent is *design for renovation or retrofit* – 42% of the total (44 out of 104). This figure is more than three times bigger than the second most often procured type of project, namely *design for new construction*. These numbers may reflect the need to update an ageing building stock.

I would also like to highlight two other features from Figure 25. The first is the relatively high number of items concerning *design for accessibility*. This may be an outcome of the adoption of Decree 5.296, in 2004. Its Art. 19 establishes that all existing public buildings must be or become accessible, complying with Brazilian accessibility standards (Brasil 2004). The second are services regarding *design for resuming construction*. Resolution 21 did not foresee this type of service. It can be regarded as an indication of failed previous public procurement for construction or renovation.



Figure 25 - Number of items by type of service

9.3.5 Type of service – type of buildings

In Table 27 I show results regarding the number of items by type of building (rows), classified by type of service (columns). Almost all items concern buildings that serve public purposes, and thus one can expect them to be funded by governments, such as hospitals and schools (Valverde, Johns, and Raso 2018, 118). One exception is a slaughterhouse. This item – 158377 0040/2017 item 005 – is part of the renovation of a rural school that belongs to the Federal government, so it can also be considered as serving public purposes.

As one would expect from governmental procuring entities, the most common type of building is *office*, representing 36% of the total of items. Eleven items are not related to any specific type of building. They concern consulting or outsourced services, which I did not classify as design services, as mentioned in Section 9.3.3.

Considering both type of service and type of building, the items most often procured are *design for renovation of offices* (22 items), followed by *design for accessibility of offices* (8 items).

Service	acoustics design	any type of design - consulting	any type of design - outsourced	design for accessibility	design for new construction	design for renovation or retrofit	design for restoration	design for resuming construction	interior design	landscaping "as built" drawings	landscaping and site design	lighting design	street and transit design	total
external area										1	6			7
garage					1									1
heritage building							5							5
hospital				1	3	7								11
industrial, workshop or warehouse					1	5								6
kitchen/dining hall						4								4
laboratory						2								2
library						1								1
not applicable		3	8											11
office	1			8	2	22		3	2					38
parking lot				1										1
police station						1								1
residential						1								1
school/university	1			2	7							1		11
slaughterhouse						1								1
theatre								1						1
urban public spaces													2	2
total	2	3	8	12	14	44	5	4	2	1	6	1	2	104

It is worth mentioning the five items concerning *design for restoration of heritage buildings*. They relate to procedures carried out by IPHAN – Instituto do Patrimônio Histórico e Artístico Nacional (National Institute of Historic and Artistic Heritage). At their face value, one would reckon that these items should be considered as specialized technical professional services, since restoration presupposes specialized knowledge. This understanding is corroborated by IPHAN itself (Gomide, Silva, and Braga 2005, 17). Nevertheless, one of these five items was procured as a reverse auction (343034 0003/2017). It is not clear why procurement officials considered it a common

service in this case, for this item is similar to the other four, and its estimated price is above the average of the estimated price for this type of service⁵⁸.

9.3.6 Values of services

At first, I was interested in the values of items and procedures only as a means of analyzing compliance with solicitation methods thresholds, as reviewed in Section 9.2.4. I did not expect that I would find significant discrepancies between estimated values and contracted values. Moreover, since in most cases architectural and engineering services are bundled in the same item, values of items do not provide precise data on values of architectural services. However, when analyzing these figures, I realized that the difference between estimated and contracted values could be large, and this difference may hint problems in procurement procedures.

To understand this issue, I calculated the difference, in percentage, between estimated and contracted values for each item procured (*difference* = contracted value \div estimated value). Then, using the Analysis ToolPak of Microsoft Excel, I calculated some descriptive statistics concerning the difference, shown in Table 28. The mean difference is approximately 55%. This means that, in average, contracts including architectural services are awarded for a value corresponding to only 55% of their estimated value.

Table 28 - Descriptive statistics for differences b	between estimated and contracted values
---	---

Mean	54,95%
Standard deviation	21,95%
Minimum	7,13%
Maximum	99,79%
Quantity ⁵⁹	98

For a better grasp of this discrepancy, I depict estimated values and contracted values for each item in Figure 26. From this picture it is possible to see that the discrepancy is not uniform, and that it can take extreme values in some items. For instance, procedure 155008

⁵⁸ Mean estimated value of the five items = R 270.765,73; estimated value of 343034 0003/2017 = R 299.300,00

⁵⁹ This figure excludes procedures that were not concluded.

0038/2017 item 003 (identified in the figure) was awarded for a value corresponding to only 7,13% of its estimated value. This item could be considered an outlier regarding this difference, but there are nine other items, all of them procured by means of reverse auctions, for which the contracted value was less than 25% of the estimated value, as displayed in Table 29. I provide the complete list of items and their values in Appendix 15.



Figure 26 - Estimated and contracted values (in R\$ thousand – log scale)

This difference could be regarded as beneficial savings for procuring entities. However, it is counterintuitive that a service which was estimated in R\$ 115.665,00 could be executed for R\$ 8.250,00, as is the case for 155008 0038/2017 item 003. Extreme differences between estimated values and contracted values point to two hypotheses. The first is that estimations are not being properly done. According to current regulations, procurement officials are supposed to use *Painel de preços* as the primary source of information for estimating values (MPOG 2014, Art. 2°) and, as mentioned in Section 9.1.1, information from this source proved very unreliable. The second is that bidders may offer a very low value, expecting that during the execution of the service they will be able to get a contract amendment, which in turn would increase the amount they are paid for the service (Castro and Lopes 2004, 223). This matter would deserve further scrutiny. Indeed, scholars have

noticed the need of research on the matter of cost estimations in public procurement (Johnston and Romzek 2012, 415).

Item	(A) Estimated value	(B) Contracted value	(B)/(A)
155008 0038/2017 003	115.665,00	8.250,00	7,1%
787700 0006/2016 001	832.442,15	130.000,00	15,6%
153047 0019/2017 002	31.750,00	5.050,00	15,9%
152663 0015/2017 001	6.166,67	1.099,99	17,8%
153047 0019/2017 001	26.650,00	5.050,00	18,9%
090003 0031/2017 001	48.584,53	9.300,00	19,1%
155008 0038/2017 020	190.450,00	41.550,00	21,8%
343034 0003/2017 001	299.300,00	70.000,00	23,4%
170388 0001/2017 001	238.583,01	58.065,40	24,3%
152663 0015/2017 025	9.500,00	2.352,99	24,8%

Table 29 - Items with great discrepancy between estimated and contracted values

9.3.7 Practices concerning services procured

As reviewed above, issues related to services procured do not concern the nature of services, but rather the way they are procured. Here I assess practices that do not seem to conform to intended policies.

<u>Bundling different services in the same item</u> is an arbitrary practice, since it contradicts IN-5 (MP 2017b Appendix III item 3.8). If procurement officials want to assure the same bidder will win the contract for different but interrelated items, it is possible to include these items under a group of items, which will then be procured together, as reviewed in Section 6.2.5.2. Therefore, bundling different services in the same item is not only against formal discretion but also unnecessary for assuring they will be procured together.

The bundling of services has a negative impact in the quality of information. Due to this practice, at least one service in each procedure will be <u>incorrectly classified according to</u> <u>the CATSER table</u>. Most items including services exclusive for architects were not classified as such, and many engineering services were classified as architectural services.

I presented a portrait of types of services procured, which I deem closer to reality, on Section 9.3.4. For this classification I employed the types of services established by Resolution 21 Art. 3. This could be a starting point for a revision of the CATSER table in what concerns architectural services.

The lack of uniformity in how services are classified has an impact in how easy information on these procedures can be retrieved. Since I could not rely on how items were classified, I had to search by means of different keywords. The search by keywords generated long lists of procedures, and I had to carefully read the information on the subject matter of each procedure to filter out those that did not concern architectural services, as I described in Section 8.4.1. As Professor Onora O'Neill (2013) argues, for effective transparency governments must do more than just render data available; data must also be easy to access and understandable. Given that the first goal of Brazilian regulations in public procurement is to assure transparency (Brasil 2018c), it would be a good idea to establish some control on how items are classified.

The issue regarding the difference between estimated values and contracted values is not the focus of this inquiry. Nevertheless, it corroborates the gambling character of reverse auctions and it hints that there might be room for improvement in the way procurement officials estimate the value of architectural services.

In what concerns the types of assignment and the phases of design, as reviewed in Section 9.3.3, it has been shown that most architectural services are design services, for which the final product will be a project. Nevertheless, very few services for *pre-design* were procured. This has a relation to the fact that <u>prize competition as solicitation method was not used in any procurement</u>. At first sight, one could decry this situation, since Law 8.666 explicitly states that this solicitation method should be favoured for procurement of projects. But the literature on prize competitions for architectural services suggests that the haphazard use of this method should be avoided. Prize competitions would be better employed when innovative solutions are necessary, especially for new buildings. In this regard, prize competitions would be suited for the *pre-design* phase of the service, and not

for *basic design* and less still for *execution design*. Hence it is not reasonable to blame procurement officials for not using prize competitions. However, this does not warrant the <u>indiscriminate use of reverse auctions for architectural services</u> reviewed in Section 9.2.1. Classifying architectural services as common services remains a questionable practice. Since most of the services procured concern design services, procurement officials would be expected to employ open tendering, request for proposals or request for quotations, depending on the estimated value of the service, for procuring these types of items.

9.4 Criteria – capacities

The following sections can be considered the core of this research, for they deal with *what technical criteria are used*. As reviewed in Section 7.1.4, procurement officials own discretion to decide on two dimensions of technical criteria: capacities and quantities prescribed. I will thus start the discussion on criteria by describing and categorizing these capacities. Then I will analyze them vis-à-vis services procured. I will take on the thorny issue of quantities on Section 9.5.

9.4.1 Criteria according to capacities demanded

In Table 30 I summarize criteria employed for the 104 items procured, discriminating the capacities demanded. As we can see, almost half of the time procurement officials employed a rather generic criterion, namely *experience with similar/compatible/relevant design*. Otherwise, the second most used capacity is *experience in architectural design*, which is also fairly general. In some cases, procurement officials deemed adequate to further specify this capacity, for instance by establishing criteria such as *experience in architectural design for new construction* or *experience in architectural design for renovation*. Table 30 provides only a preliminary portrait of criteria employed. I will deepen the analysis in the following sections.

Table 30 -	Number	of criteria	by capacities	demanded
------------	--------	-------------	---------------	----------

Capacity	Number	% Total
architect or engineer working for the bidder	10	5%
experience in acoustics design	1	1%
experience in architectural design	38	19%
experience in architectural design for new construction	3	2%
experience in architectural design for new construction or for renovation	8	4%
experience in architectural design for renovation	3	2%
experience in architectural design for restoration	7	4%
experience in construction or renovation of buildings	3	2%
experience in design for accessibility	5	3%
experience in design of parking lots	1	1%
experience in landscape design	2	1%
experience in lighting design	1	1%
experience in outsourcing	5	3%
experience with similar/compatible/relevant design	97	49%
knowledge of the object	2	1%
organizational structure and resources	1	1%
postgraduate studies or specialization	2	1%
proposed approach	2	1%
specialized experience	8	4%
time since graduation	1	1%
Total	200	100%

Before proceeding further, I would like to comment on one requirement which procurement officials did not present as a technical criterion, but that could be considered as such. In procedure 080016 0019/2017, it was required that the winning bidder should submit a project previously developed in a BIM (Building Information Model) software. This requirement was not inscribed in the solicitation document but included in the reference terms⁶⁰ (Appendix 1, p.18), amongst a list of conditions that the winning firm was expected to fulfill. As discussed in Section 6.2.2, this type of requirement could be employed only as an evaluation criterion, and it should be clearly stated in the solicitation document. However, this procedure was a reverse auction, so evaluation criteria are not admissible. Two bidders were disqualified for not complying with this requirement (auction report,

⁶⁰ In the original: "A empresa deverá comprovar, por meio de acervo técnico, experiência na execução de projetos com área mínima de 2.250m² e apresentar o arquivo digital com pelo menos um projeto completo com 2.250m² desenvolvido em BIM (Building Information Model)".

p.20 and p.22), but they did not submit protests. It can be argued that this was an instance of disguised technical evaluation criterion.

9.4.2 Typology of criteria

Table 31 displays the number of technical criteria used, according to two dimensions: they can be employed as evaluation or as qualification criteria; and they can be applied on the technical capacities of the bidder, which I call bidder-specific, or on the qualities of the item being offered by bidders, which I call item-specific.

Table 31 - Typology of criteria

	evaluation	qualification
bidder-specific	17	179
item-specific	4	0

As expected, given the small number of value-based procedures, most criteria are employed as qualification criteria. Accordingly, only a small fraction of criteria is itemspecific, since these should only be used as evaluation criteria.

In Table 32 I further detail this typology, categorizing the capacities demanded as bidderspecific or item-specific, and discriminating their use as evaluation or as qualification criteria. At this level of analysis, this list of capacities seems to correspond with what one would expect for procurement of architectural services. I will address the issue of criteria's suitability to each service procured in Section 9.4.3. Before, I would like to discuss three observations regarding results so far.

The first is about the criterion *experience in construction or renovation of buildings*. It could be considered arbitrary to demand such criterion as qualification criterion, since none of the items analyzed concern construction or renovation of buildings but rather *design* for construction or renovation of buildings. However, using it as an evaluation criterion can be reasonable, given that experience in construction and renovation may improve chances of designing an architectural project – or an engineering project, since these services are often bundled – that takes into account the challenges of construction sites.

Criteria	evaluation	qualification	total
bidder-specific	17	179	196
architect or engineer working for the bidder		11	11
experience in acoustics design	1		1
experience in architectural design	1	34	35
experience in architectural design for new construction		3	3
experience in architectural design for new construction or for renovation	3	8	11
experience in architectural design for renovation		3	3
experience in architectural design for restoration		4	4
experience in construction or renovation of buildings	3		3
experience in design for accessibility	1	4	5
experience in design of parking lots		1	1
experience in landscape design		2	2
experience in lighting design	1		1
experience in outsourcing		6	6
experience with similar/compatible/relevant design	3	94	97
organizational structure and resources	1		1
postgraduate studies or specialization	1	1	2
specialized experience	1	8	9
time since graduation	1		1
item-specific	4		4
knowledge of the object	2		2
proposed approach	2		2
total	21	179	200

Table 32 - Number of evaluation and qualification criteria

The second observation is about the criterion *time since graduation*, used as an evaluation criterion. This criterion has the advantage of being easy to measure objectively. But its use can be questionable, because time passed since graduation does not necessarily correspond to experience in the field. This criterion was used only once, in request for quotations 343011 0003/2017, which concerns procurement of design for restoration.

The third observation concerns the criterion *architect or engineer working for the bidder*. Since services included in this study are services exclusive for architects, it could be argued that having an engineer working for the bidder would not be relevant. However, as mentioned in Section 9.3.1, most of these architectural services are bundled in the same item with engineering services, which explains the use of this criterion. This situation also reinforces the need for different services be procured in different items, using criteria that are relevant for each item.

9.4.3 Criteria and services

The heart of this research concerns the relation between the services procured and the criteria demanded for these services. In Table 33 I display the number of criteria according to capacities and respective services. Capacities are shown in the columns. Services, discriminated by type of buildings, are shown in the rows. Resulting figures provide an account of how procurement officials have devised criteria for each type of service.

As proposed in Section 4.4, procurement officials should translate the most important technical requirements of the architectural services procured into qualification and evaluation criteria. In this regard, most criteria analyzed seem compatible with respective services procured. Some issues, however, must be highlighted. The first issue regards the service *design for renovation or retrofit*. Renovating is usually considered a more complex task than constructing a new building, and this feature is acknowledged by Law 8.666 (Brasil 1993, Art. 65, § 1). Therefore, it would be expected that criteria for renovation of buildings would neither include capacities such as *experience in architectural design for new construction*, nor a yet more general criterion such as *experience in architectural design for renovation* or necessarily include experience with design for renovation. These two criteria were used 27 times for procuring the service *design for renovation or retrofit*. For instance, reverse auction 170516 0008/2017 regards the renovation of two offices, but the criterion required was experience in basic projects for new commercial or public buildings⁶¹.

⁶¹ In the original: "projetos Básicos e/ou Executivos para a construção de prédios de escritórios, comerciais ou públicos" (solicitation document, p.15).

<i>Table 33 -</i>	Criteria by	, type of	service and	type of building
-------------------	-------------	-----------	-------------	------------------

	engineer working for the bidder	n acoustics design	n architectural design	n architectural design for new construction	n architectural design for iction or for renovation	n architectural design for renovation	n architectural design for restoration	n construction or renovation of buildings	n design for accessibility	n design of parking lots	n landscape design	n lighting design	n outsourcing	with similar/compatible/relevant design	of the object	al structure and resources	e studies or specialization	proach	experience	raduation	
	itect or	rience	rience	rience	rience constri	rience	rience	rience	rience	rience	rience	rience	rience	rience	vledge	nizatio	gradua	osed a	ialized	since (_
Type of service and type of buildings	arch	ədxe	ədxe	ədxe	axpe	ədxe	ədxe	ədxe	эdхе	ədxe	ədxe	ədxe	ədxe	ədxe	knov	orga	post	prop	spec	time	Tota
acoustics design					<u> </u>		Ŭ				Ť		Ť		_						
office							1							2				1			2
school/university	1	1						1													3
any type of design - consulting																					
not applicable	1		2											1							4
any type of design - outsourced																					
not applicable			2										6	4					2		14
design for accessibility																					
hospital														1							1
office	1		1		1				4					7			1				15
parking lot	1																				1
school/university	1								1					1							3
interior design																					
office														3							3
landscaping "as built" drawings																					
external area											1			1							2
landscaping and site design																					
external area											1			11							12
lighting design																					
school/university	1							1				1									3
design for new construction																					
garage			1											1							2
hospital			1		1									2					1		5
industrial, workshop or warehouse														2							2
office														9							9
school/university	1		2					1						5							9
design for renovation or retrofit																					
hospital			2		2									8							12
industrial, workshop or warehouse	1		1		1	1								5							9
kitchen/dining hall			2		2					1				2							7
laboratory																			4		4
library														1							1
office	2		17	3	2	2								19							45
police station			2																		2
residential														1							1
slaughterhouse														1							1

Type of service and type of buildings	architect or engineer working for the bidder	experience in acoustics design	experience in architectural design	experience in architectural design for new construction	experience in architectural design for new construction or for renovation	experience in architectural design for renovation	experience in architectural design for restoration	experience in construction or renovation of buildings	experience in design for accessibility	experience in design of parking lots	experience in landscape design	experience in lighting design	experience in outsourcing	experience with similar/compatible/relevant design	knowledge of the object	organizational structure and resources	postgraduate studies or specialization	proposed approach	specialized experience	time since graduation	Total
design for restoration																					
heritage building							4							4	1	1	1	1	1	1	14
design for resuming construction																					
office	1		2											3							6
theatre					2																2
street and transit design																					
urban public spaces														3	1			1	1		6
Total	11	1	35	3	11	3	4	3	5	1	2	1	6	97	2	1	2	2	9	1	200

Another issue is the case of the criterion *experience in design of parking lots*, which was used for procuring the service *design for renovation or retrofit* in the type of building *kitchen/dining hall*. In this case the criterion used is not of any relevance for the service procured. This criterion was used in reverse auction 765701 0007/2017, which I will discuss in further detail in Section 9.6.3.5.

Finally, the criterion *experience with similar/compatible/relevant design* is used across almost all services. This criterion is a mere reproduction of the contents of IN-5⁶² (MP 2017b, Appendix VII-A, 10.3.a). To understand this matter, I analyzed whether there was a definition of what sort of capability would be considered compliant for each time the criterion *experience with similar/compatible/relevant design* was employed. Results are shown in Table 34, discriminated by type of service and type of building.

⁶² Original contents of IN-5: "os atestados ou declarações de capacidade técnica apresentados pelo licitante devem comprovar aptidão para desempenho de atividade pertinente e compatível em características, quantidades e prazos com o objeto de que trata o processo licitatório".

As we can see, in 53 times (out of 97 criteria) this capacity is used without a definition of what can be considered a similar, compatible or relevant experience. This situation puts a lot of interpretation in the hands of procurement officials judging bidders' compliance with this criterion. For instance, would experience in *design for renovation of a school* be judged as compatible experience for a service such as *design for renovation of a library*? Could experience in *design for new offices* be judged as compatible experience for a service such as *design for renovation of a service* such as *design for renovation of a noffice*? One extreme example of this problem is reverse auction 765701 0007/2017, mentioned above, where experience in *urban and landscaping design* was accepted for the service *design for renovation or retrofit* of a hospital kitchen.

A definition of what can be considered similar, compatible or relevant capacities would improve objectivity when judging this criterion. For instance, in reverse auction 925942 0059/2017, the criterion used for all items was *experience with similar/compatible/relevant design*. But the solicitation document stated that this experience should concern execution projects for public or commercial buildings, which provides enough delimitation for judging what capacities are acceptable.

	experience with similar/compatible/relevant des			
Type of service and type of buildings	undefined	defined		
acoustics design				
office		2		
any type of project - consulting				
not applicable		1		
any type of project - outsourced				
not applicable		4		
design for accessibility				
hospital	1			
office	4	3		
school/university	1			
interior design				
office	1	2		
landscaping "as built" drawings				
external area	1			
landscaping and site design				
external area	4	7		
new construction of building				
garage	1			
hospital	2			

Table 34 - Number of defined and undefined criteria

	experience with similar/co	mpatible/relevant design
Type of service and type of buildings	undefined	defined
industrial, workshop or warehouse		2
office	6	3
school/university	5	
renovation of building		
hospital	8	
industrial, workshop or warehouse	3	2
kitchen/dining hall	2	
library	1	
office	7	12
residential	1	
slaughterhouse	1	
restoration of building		
heritage building		4
resuming construction of building		
office	3	
street and transit design		
urban public spaces	1	2
Total	53	44

9.4.4 Practices concerning capacities demanded

The analysis of capacities demanded in relation to services procured shows that most of the time this relation is appropriate. Some instances, however, can be considered an extrapolation of procurement officials' operational discretion – in other words, arbitrary practices – since they <u>used criteria not relevant to the services procured</u>. One case is the use of *experience in design for new construction* as a capacity required for the service *design for renovation or retrofit*. A second case is the one case of *experience in design of parking lots* for the service *design for renovation of kitchen/dining hall*. A final case would be the use of *architect or engineer working for the bidder* as a criterion, since the services analyzed in this research are services exclusive for architects, and therefore only architects (not engineers) would be legally able to perform them.

A more concerning issue is the use of the capacity *experience with similar/compatible/ relevant design*. It would be expected that procurement officials define what is similar, compatible or relevant for each service being procured, as discussed in Section 7.2, instead of simply reproducing the contents of regulations on the matter. When procurement officials used this capacity as a criterion without providing a definition for it, they were acting arbitrarily. This absence of definition allows for a judgement of bidders' compliance lacking objectivity, which in turn may result in a questionable choice of the winner, and it may also generate protests. This was indeed the case in procedure 765701 0007/2017, which I will review in Section 9.6.3.

Finally, I must mention the case of <u>disguised technical criterion</u> in reverse auction 080016 0019/2017. Reverse auction is a price-based solicitation method, therefore demanding bidders to submit a previous work is an irregular practice. I did not identify other instances where this problem occurred.

9.5 Criteria – quantity

9.5.1 Availability of information

One of the most difficult tasks for procurement officials when devising a criterion is probably defining how much of the capacity will be required. As mentioned in Section 6.2.2, the only threshold provided by regulations is that quantities demanded for technical qualification criteria must not exceed 50% of the quantity of the service procured.

For determining the quantity of a criterion, it is thus necessary to determine the quantity of the respective service procured. However, this information was not disclosed in many procedures analyzed. Table 35 accounts the number of items for which the quantity of the architectural service procured was informed or otherwise, alongside the number of corresponding criteria. Seventeen items lacked information concerning the quantity of service being procured. There are 31 criteria related to these items, for which it is impossible to analyze their conformity given this lack of information.

Quantity of service	Number of items	Number of criteria
informed	87	169
not informed	17	31
Total	104	200

Table 35 - Number of criteria for which a quantity of service was informed

9.5.2 Criteria according to quantities demanded

The 87 items for which their quantity was informed corresponded to 169 criteria. From these 169 criteria, 17 are evaluation criteria and 152 are qualification criteria, as displayed in Table 36. No evaluation criteria had a minimum quantity established, which was expected since there is no obligation in this regard. From the 152 qualification criteria, 90 did not require any minimum quantity. Furthermore, six criteria required quantities over 50% of the quantity of their respective services. Hence it can be said that procurement officials correctly employed their discretion regarding quantity of criteria in only 56 qualification criteria.

Table 36 - Number of	f qualification	criteria fo	br which a	quantity of	items was	informed
----------------------	-----------------	-------------	------------	-------------	-----------	----------

Туре	50% or under	over 50%	not informed	total
evaluation			17	17
qualification	56	6	90	152
Total	56	6	107	169

Figure 27 is a histogram depicting the number of qualification criteria according to the relation between quantity of capacity demanded and quantity of respective service procured. If we exclude those six criteria that are above 50%, most of the remaining criteria are between 40% and 50%. The mean value for these criteria is 38%, while the mode is 50%.



Figure 27 - Quantity of criterion / quantity of item

Some capacities do not lend themselves to a quantity based on services procured. For instance, it makes no sense to require a minimum quantity for the criterion *proposed approach* or for the criterion *time since graduation* based on the quantity of the service. Only capacities related to bidders' experiences can be measured this way. Therefore I produced Table 37 below, showing the number of criteria with no minimum quantity, compared to the total number of criteria for each capacity. These figures reveal that, even for those capacities related to experiences, in most cases there is no minimum quantity established. It would be expected, for example, that criteria regarding *experience in architectural design for new construction* or *experience in architectural design for new construction* would require a minimum quantity, but that was not the case in any instance of these criteria.

Capacity	No quantity	Total	%
architect or engineer working for the bidder	10	10	100%
experience in acoustics design	1	1	100%
experience in architectural design	21	38	55%
experience in architectural design for new construction	3	3	100%
experience in architectural design for new construction or for renovation	8	8	100%
experience in architectural design for renovation	1	3	33%
experience in architectural design for restoration	5	7	71%
experience in construction or renovation of buildings	3	3	100%
experience in design for accessibility	3	5	60%
experience in design of parking lots	1	1	100%
experience in landscape design	2	2	100%
experience in lighting design	1	1	100%

Table 37 - Capacities without minimum quantity

Capacity	No quantity	Total	%
experience in outsourcing	5	5	100%
experience with similar/compatible/relevant service	58	97	60%
knowledge of the object	2	2	100%
organizational structure and resources	1	1	100%
postgraduate studies or specialization	2	2	100%
proposed approach	2	2	100%
specialized experience	8	8	100%
time since graduation	1	1	100%
Total	138	200	69%

9.5.3 Practices concerning quantities demanded

Some issues emerged when I analyzed quantities demanded in technical criteria. The first was the <u>lack of information regarding the quantity of services procured</u>. This problem touched 17 items (out of 104 analyzed). This practice is contrary to IN-5 (MP 2017b, Appendix III, 3.4).

The second issue was the <u>absence of minimum quantity of capacity</u>. Although, according to Law 8.666, it is not mandatory to require a minimum quantity of a technical qualification criterion, it is judicious to do so, since it is mandatory according to IN-5, as reviewed in Section 7.2. The absence of this information may lead to a lack of objectivity when procurement officials judge bidders' compliance. It would be better to provide a figure for minimum quantity, even if this figure relies only on procurement officials' past experience (Williamson 2002, 156; Baggini 2005, 75). The absence of minimum quantity led to one protest, in reverse auction 254445 0291/2017. In this case, the protester questioned the qualification of the winners, given their insufficient experience. I will further discuss this case in Section 9.6.3.5.

The final issue is <u>requiring minimum criterion quantity over 50% of service quantity</u>. This problem touched six criteria analyzed and it is a clear case of arbitrary practice.
9.6 Protests

9.6.1 Reasons for protests

On Figure 28 I display the number of procedures lacking information on protests, the number of procedures with no protest and the number of procedures discriminating the reason of protests⁶³. I discussed the matter of lack of information on Section 9.1.2. Technical criteria were a reason for protest in half of the cases where a protest was presented (twelve out of 24 cases in total).



Figure 28 - Number of procedures by reason of protests

In this inquiry, my focus is on protests related to technical criteria, so I will not comment on protests for other reasons. Yet, although price feasibility is not the main issue of this research, I deemed it worth analyzing the latter due to the large discrepancies between estimated values and contracted values, mentioned in Section 9.3.6. Thus, I accounted procurement officials' judgements of protests regarding both price feasibility and technical criteria. Results are shown on Table 38. The figures show the number of procedures subjected to any of these protests.

⁶³ Some procedures had more than one type of protest, for instance one protest regarding technical criteria and another protest regarding price feasibility.

Table 38 - Procurement officials' judgements of protests

Reason	not valid	valid	total
price feasibility ⁶⁴	7		7
technical criteria	8	4	12
Total	15	4	19

9.6.2 Protests regarding price feasibility

None of the protests for price feasibility was considered valid, not even when the contracted value was less than 40% of the estimated value, which was the case for procedures 090023 0029/2017, 343034 0003/2017, 380941 0007/2017 and 925942 0059/2017. It is possible that bidders use this type of protest to try to disqualify winning bids. Nevertheless, when the winning bid is too low, procurement officials are expected to perform an inquiry into winners' proposed values, as established by Law 8.666 (Art. 48), but this was not the case. I will provide two examples of this problem below.

The first instance is procedure 380941 0007/2017 item 001. Here, the estimated value was R\$ 668.836,73 and the contracted value was R\$ 167.900,00 (25% of the estimated value). Two bidders protested, arguing that the winning bidders' price was not feasible. The winners presented a report intended to prove the feasibility of their price. In this report, they produced values based on the number of hours each professional is supposed to work for the service. However, the original estimated price was calculated in square meters of service procured. Therefore, it was impossible to judge the feasibility of the proposed values because there was no correspondence between hours and quantities of service. Yet, procurement officials dismissed the protests inasmuch as the winners "were incisive in their arguments and clarifications, definitely indicating their desire and conditions to assume the contract"⁶⁵. The second instance of this problem is procedure 343034 0003/2017. In this

⁶⁴ Procedure 343034 0003/2017 had protests for both price feasibility and technical criteria. I counted it only as the latter, given that technical criteria are the focus of this thesis.

⁶⁵ In the original: "Não há, portanto, que se falar em inexequibilidade dos valores propostos na fase de lances, como requerem as recorrentes, uma vez que as recorridas foram incisivas em suas argumentações e esclarecimentos, apontando de forma definitiva seu desejo e condição de assumir os trabalhos objeto do presente certame conforme disputado e proposto."

⁽Source: http://comprasnet.gov.br/livre/pregao/Termojulg2.asp?prgCod=707610&ipgCod=19622968&Tipo=DP&seqSessao=1)

case, the estimated value was R\$ 299.300,00 and the contracted value was R\$ 70.000,00 (23% of the estimated value). Three bidders protested, arguing that the winning bidders' price was not feasible. The winners, in turn, argued that their price was feasible because they would employ a team comprising three interns for a R\$ 660,00/month salary, one technical designer⁶⁶ for a R\$ 2.300,15/month salary, and an architect for a R\$ 1.600,00/month salary⁶⁷. The architect's salary proposed is only 25% of the average salary for architects in Brazil (Cesar 2019), and it is so low that even the technical designer's salary is higher than that. Regardless, procurement officials judged the protests not valid because, according to them, the winners proved their prices were indeed reasonable⁶⁸.

9.6.3 Protests regarding technical criteria

I analyzed all protests contesting technical criteria or contesting procurement officials' assessment of compliance with technical criteria. In some cases, more than one protest may have been presented. Nevertheless, I restricted the analysis to protests related to technical criteria for architectural services, for the others would be outside the scope of this research. I review each case below.

9.6.3.1 Reverse auction 152663 0015/2017

This procedure regards procurement for architectural and engineering services for the construction of a multipurpose building in a university campus. The criterion for architectural services demanded experience with architectural design of commercial buildings. One bidder presented an objection, arguing that residential and institutional buildings should also be accepted. This objection was judged not valid because it was presented later than the due date for objections. The due date was 18.12.2017, and it was

⁶⁶ In the original: "desenhista técnico".

⁶⁷ Source: http://comprasnet.gov.br/livre/pregao/download_anexo.asp?ipaCod=3923233

⁶⁸ In the original: "a exequibilidade foi aferida pelo detalhamento de custos apresentado pela empresa recorrida".

⁽Source: http://comprasnet.gov.br/livre/pregao/Termojulg2.asp?prgCod=679193&ipgCod=18901560&Tipo=DP&seqSessao=1

sent on this date. The procuring entity disregarded it on the grounds that it was sent "after business hours"⁶⁹. This judgement seems arbitrary, for regulations do not mention a time limit for the submission of objections, only a date limit (Brasil 2005, Art. 18). Furthermore, the protester's argument seemed partially valid. The subject matter being a building for an educational institution, institutional buildings should be considered compatible with it. It would not be the case for residential buildings, though. This objection reinforces the importance of indicating what type of experience will be considered compliant with the criterion, as well as the importance of assuring that the criterion is relevant to the service procured.

9.6.3.2 Request for quotations 170088 0001/2017

This procedure regards procurement of design for accessibility for several buildings. Three objections and three appeals were submitted, but only one appeal concerned technical criteria for architectural services. Here, one bidder argued that three other contenders did not present all documents required to prove their conformity to evaluation criteria demanded. After reassessing the documents, procurement officials judged this protest not valid⁷⁰. Indeed, I verified that the contender did submit the documents required. This protest may have been a misguided attempt to negatively influence procurement officials' evaluation of other bidders' submissions. It is worth noting that the protester, in this case, was the final winner of the bid.

9.6.3.3 Reverse auction 170134 0006/2017

This procedure regards procurement of design for retrofitting a building to adapt it to accessibility norms. Two technical criteria explicitly asked for experience in retrofitting design – "*projeto (...) para adequação de acessibilidade em prédios*" (solicitation

⁶⁹ In the original: "observa-se que a Impugnante encaminhou sua petição, via e-mail licitacao@luzerna.ifc.edu.br, no dia de 18/12/2017 às 17h04min, tendo sido após o horário de expediente, considerou-se como recebido no dia 19/12/2017 e, considerando que a abertura da sessão pública do pregão está agendada para o dia 20/12/2017 às 9h, a presente Impugnação apresenta-se intempestiva." (Source: http://comprasnet.gov.br/livre/pregao/avisos4.asp?qaCod=763376&texto=T)

⁷⁰ Source: document *Proposta Técnica – Decisão Recurso interposto pela licitante Plana Arquitetura e Consultoria Ltda*.

document, p.15). One bidder appealed, arguing that the winners did not submit documents proving that they had experience in retrofitting design. Procurement officials reassessed the documents and realized that the winners' documents in fact did not prove their experience in retrofitting design, rather they only proved experience in designing new buildings. They contended, however, that retrofitting was not the main issue of the criteria – in their words: "despite the word 'retrofitting' in both items, it is clear that this term is not the core of the requirement"⁷¹. The protest was thus judged not valid. This decision seems arbitrary. If experience in retrofitting was not important, it should not have been included in the first place, for its inclusion may have discouraged the participation of many bidders who had experience with designing new buildings but no experience with retrofitting. Thus, economic competition during procurement proceedings was restricted for no relevant reason.

9.6.3.4 Reverse auction 343034 0003/2017

This procedure regards procurement of design for restoration services for a heritage building. One technical criterion established that bidding firms should be a member of the architects' professional order or the engineers' professional order. One bidder presented an objection, arguing that this criterion contradicted Resolution 51 because this rule establishes that engineers should not perform services that are exclusive for architects. Procurement officials replied that such interpretation was incorrect, since the criteria also determined that it was mandatory for the bidding firms to have at least one architects. Thus, an engineering firm would not be prevented from bidding, provided they had an architect working for them. The objection was thus considered not valid⁷². Another bidder presented an appeal arguing that this procedure should have been procured by means of a prize competition, and not by a reverse auction. Procurement officials correctly contended that

⁷¹ In the original: "apesar dos dois itens conterem a palavra 'adequação', é evidente que não é esse o termo que define o cerne da exigência".

⁽Source: http://comprasnet.gov.br/livre/pregao/Termojulg2.asp?prgCod=693559&ipgCod=19268214&Tipo=DP&seqSessao=1)

⁷² Source:http://comprasnet.gov.br/livre/pregao/avisos4.asp?qaCod=722325&texto=R

protests regarding the solicitation method must be done in the objection phase, and not in the appeal phase. However, they did not provide any further explanation on why they chose to employ a reverse auction⁷³. As mentioned in Section 9.3.5, this was the only procedure for this type of service that was procured by means of reverse auction.

9.6.3.5 Reverse auction 765701 0007/2017

This procedure concerned the design for renovation of a hospital kitchen. Two technical criteria for architectural services were demanded. One of them, surprisingly, asked for experience in designing parking lots⁷⁴ (reference terms, p.4). The other asked for experience in a similar service⁷⁵, without providing a definition for what would be a similar service (solicitation document, p.10). One bidder protested, arguing that the winners did not present documents proving they had experience in designing renovation of hospital kitchens. Instead, their documents proved experience in urban and landscaping design. The procurement official responsible for this reverse auction contended that the winners complied with the criteria, since they provided documents proving they had similar experience, namely in urban and landscape design. In a confusing argument, this procurement official seems to suggest that criteria demanded in public procurement do not necessarily need to conform to Law 8.666⁷⁶. The protest was thus rejected. This decision goes against procurement officials' formal discretion, given that urban and landscaping design cannot be considered similar to retrofitting of a hospital kitchen, even in the absence of a definition of what would be considered similar. Furthermore, the criterion regarding

⁷³ Source: http://comprasnet.gov.br/livre/pregao/Termojulg2.asp?prgCod=679193&ipg Cod=18901560&Tipo=DP&seqSessao=1

⁷⁴ In the original: "Elaboração de projeto de arquitetura para estacionamentos descobertos e cobertos".

⁷⁵ In the original: "serviços similares ao objeto da contratação".

⁷⁶ In the original: "Entendo que os Atestados de Capacidade Técnica apresentados pela recorrida estão em conformidades (SIC) com o subitem 9.7.12 do edital, onde 'requer a comprovação relativo (SIC) à execução de serviço de arquitetura/engenharia, compatível em características, quantidades e prazos com o objeto da presente licitação, envolvendo as parcelas de maior relevância e valor significativo do objeto da licitação ', vejamos que cada contratação requer habilidades específicas, de forma que esse entendimento não pode ser aplicado uniformemente, o conteúdo exigidos (SIC) nas licitações não tem atendido aos pressupostos da Lei nº 8.666/93". Source: http://comprasnet.gov.br/livre/pregao/Termojulg2.asp?prgCod=697381&ipgCod=19380529&Tipo=DP&seqSessao=1

experience in designing parking lots can be considered arbitrary, for it bears no relation to the service procured, thus contradicting IN-5 (MP 2017b, 67, item 10.4.c).

9.6.3.6 Reverse auction 925138 0028/2017

This procedure concerns procurement for outsourced architectural services. The criterion in this procedure required experience in similar services. According to the solicitation document, similar services consisted of at least 500 square meters of internal layout design in commercial buildings. One bidder protested, arguing that they were disqualified unjustly, since they proved they had experience in internal layout design of 350 square meters of commercial buildings and 1350 square meters of industrial buildings. This protest was judged not valid because interior layout design in industrial buildings is not considered similar to interior layout design in commercial buildings⁷⁷. This judgement seems right, for commercial and industrial are different activities, and the definition of the capacity provided an objective guidance on what experiences would be considered compliant.

9.6.3.7 Request for quotations 925152 0002/2017

This procedure concerns procurement for architectural and engineering services for the design of a new building. One of the technical evaluation criteria in this procedure concerned the number of architects working for the bidding firms. Bidding firms should prove that they had architects in their team, and they should provide a copy of the architects' diplomas (solicitation document, Appendix X, p.3). One bidder protested this criterion arguing that, to work as an architect, a professional must be a member of CAU-BR, and to be a member, it is necessary to have a diploma in architecture. Hence providing copies of diplomas would be unnecessary. Procurement officials contended that the request for copies of diplomas was stated in the solicitation document, whence it ought to be taken into consideration. For this reason, the protest was judged not valid⁷⁸. On the one hand, it could be argued that the criterion itself was arbitrary, since it falls to

⁷⁷ Source: http://comprasnet.gov.br/livre/pregao/Termojulg2.asp?prgCod=659979&ipgCod=18395237& Tipo=DP&seqSessao=1

⁷⁸ Source: http://www.crcmg.org.br/licitacoes/download-pedido/id/5783

the professional order to decide about a professional's capacity for working as an architect, and thus requiring diplomas would not be the best avenue. A professional could hold a diploma and not be a member of the professional order, which would prevent them from working legally as an architect. On the other hand, once this criterion was inscribed in the solicitation document, procurement officials would not have discretion to dispense it, which would corroborate their judgement. Therefore, procurement officials' judgement in this case seems to respect their formal discretion.

9.6.3.8 Reverse auctions 170217 0007/2017, 0008/2017 and 0009/2017

These three procedures concern architectural and engineering services for the design of renovation of offices in three different cities. One bidder presented objections in each procedure against a criterion which stated that documents proving experience should be validated by the professional order. This objection was accepted and led to the corresponding correction in the solicitation documents of the three procedures⁷⁹. Indeed, TCU (2016) has established that demanding such formality is illegal.

9.6.3.9 Reverse auction 254445 0291/2017

This procedure concerns procurement of execution design, comprising architectural and engineering services, for the retrofitting of a chemical laboratory. One technical criterion for architectural services required an architect working for the bidding firm, and this architect should prove experience in execution design of the same type of laboratory (solicitation document, p.9-10). Two bidders presented protests concerning this criterion. The first protester argued that the winner did not prove they had experience in 50% of the quantity of the item procured. However, the technical criterion did not establish any minimum quantity of experience that should be proven. For this reason, this protest was judged not valid⁸⁰. This case corroborates the importance of determining a minimum

⁷⁹ Source: http://comprasnet.gov.br/livre/pregao/avisos4.asp?qaCod=764229&texto=R; http://comprasnet.gov.br/livre/pregao/avisos4.asp?qaCod=764240&texto=R;

http://comprasnet.gov.br/livre/pregao/avisos4.asp?qaCod=764245&texto=R.

⁸⁰ In the original: "tem-se admitido como razoável a exigência de comprovação de experiência em percentual de até cinquenta por cento dos quantitativos a executar (...), conforme disposição expressa contida em edital,

quantity of capacity demanded. Nevertheless, it would be unfair to exclude bidders due to lack of compliance with a minimum quantity that was not established beforehand. Thus, procurement officials' judgement seems to be the right one. The second protester contended that they were unjustly disqualified. They submitted documents proving experience in execution design, but these documents regarded an engineer, and not an architect. They argued that the experience of an engineer should be considered compliant with the criterion which required an architect, mentioned above. After reassessing regulations on the matter, procurement officials concluded that execution projects can be produced by both architects and engineers. Hence, they judged this protest valid and they decided to restart the procedure⁸¹. This protester eventually won the bid. I noticed that, when assessing regulations, they did not mention Resolution 51, which establishes services which are exclusive for architects. Since the technical criterion inscribed in the procurement officials' judgement of this latter protest seems arbitrary.

9.6.3.10 Request for proposals 443001 1/2017

This procedure concerns procurement for interior design projects. The technical criterion employed demanded only experience with compatible services. One bidder protested against the qualification of another participant, arguing that the latter was not a member of the professional order, and therefore could not have a valid experience in interior design projects⁸². Procurement officials judged this protest not valid, for the bidder in question was a member of the professional order⁸³. I searched the professional order's member

afastando o entendimento da Recorrente de que a demonstração de percentuais inferiores, de pronto, inabilitaria alguma das interessadas". Source: http://comprasnet.gov.br/livre/pregao/Termojulg2.asp?prg Cod=683414&ipgCod=19004624&Tipo=DP&seqSessao=1

⁸¹ Source:

http://comprasnet.gov.br/livre/pregao/Termojulg2.asp?prgCod=683414&ipgCod=19004624&Tipo=DP&seqSessao=2

⁸² In the original: "OFFICEBRASIL PROJETOS E REPRESENTAÇÕES LTDA - EPP, nao possui registro nas entidades de classe CREA/CAU, e por isso nao pode ter apresentado atestado de capacidade técnica em seu nome". Source: document recurso administrativo, p.8.

⁸³ Source: document *despacho 214/217*, p.1.

database and I confirmed the bidder is indeed listed as a member since 2007. This protest was probably a failed attempt to get rid of competitors in this procedure.

9.6.4 Practices on protests

Results above confirm that technical criteria are the most common reason for protests in the procurement of architectural services, in line with discussions in Sections 2.1 and 3.9. Nevertheless, in most cases procurement officials judged such protests not valid.

The analysis of protests unveiled at least four instances of procurement officials acting arbitrarily: they <u>refused a protest without reasonable motive</u>, on the grounds that it was not presented during business hours (procedure 152663 0015/2017); they <u>required useless</u> <u>documents</u> (procedure 925152 0002/2017); and they <u>accepted experience that was not</u> <u>compliant with criteria</u> in two cases – they agreed to experience that was not conform with their own requirement on the grounds that the original criterion was not essential (procedure 170134 0006/2017) and they agreed to experience that was clearly not similar to the service procured on the grounds that it is not necessary to comply with the law (procedure 765701 0007/2017).

The analysis of protests reinforces the importance of devising well-defined capacities and minimum quantities for technical criteria. For instance, in procedure 925138 0028/2017, procurement officials were able to objectively judge a protest because both capacity and minimum quantity were established in the solicitation document. In contrast, the lack of defined capacity led to arbitrary decisions, as was the case in procedure 765701 0007/2017, and the absence of a minimum quantity led to questionable decisions, as was the case of procedure 254445 0291/2017.

However, clearly defining the criterion is not enough. Criteria must be relevant to the service procured. When this is not the case, procurement officials find themselves in the awkward position of having to justify arbitrary decisions, as reviewed above concerning procedures 765701 0007/2017 and 925152 0002/2017.

9.7 Cancelled procedures

As mentioned in Section 8.4.3.2, I included in this research cancelled procedures that were abandoned due to the lack of suitable bids, because they could indicate that technical criteria used were too strict, preventing all participating bidders from getting the contract. I review these procedures below.

9.7.1 Procedures cancelled due to lack of suitable bids

I provide a list of procedures that were cancelled due to lack of suitable bids on Table 39, discriminating architectural services procured and capacities demanded. I discuss each of these procedures in the following sections.

ubie 57 - Cunceneu p	nocedures		
procedure	method	service	capacities
000012 0001/2017	reverse auction	any type of design - outsourced	experience in architectural design
030012 0001/2017	Teverse addition	any type of design - outsourced	experience in outsourcing
000012 0006/2017	roveree quetion	any type of design outcoursed	experience in architectural design
090012 0000/2017	Teverse auction	any type of design - outsourced	experience in outsourcing
179085 0098/2017	reverse auction	any type of design - outsourced	experience in outsourcing
254445 0215/2017	reverse auction	design for renovation or retrofit	specialized experience

design for renovation or retrofit

design for renovation or retrofit

Table 39 - Cancelled procedures

925856 0049/2017

925856 0147/2017

9.7.1.1 Reverse auctions 090012 0001/2017 and 090012 0006/2017

reverse auction

reverse auction

Reverse auctions 090012 0001/2017 and 090012 0006/2017 concern procurement for contracting out one architect for one year. Ten bidders participated in the former, and six in the latter. In both cases, no one was able to comply with a criterion requiring bidders to prove experience in outsourcing at least twenty workers for three years⁸⁴. Although this criterion seems disproportionate in relation to the services procured, it is in line with regulations regarding outsourced services in force when the procedure was published

experience with similar/compatible/relevant

experience with similar/compatible/relevant

service

service

⁸⁴ In the original: "Item cancelado na aceitação. Motivo: Falta de proposta válida. As empresas participantes não observaram o exigido no item 8.15.1 do edital." Source: Awarding of the contract for procedure 090012 0006/2017.

(MPOG 2008; Brasil 2019c). These regulations were replaced by IN-5, which no longer includes such requirement (MP 2017b Appendix VII-A item 10.3.a).

9.7.1.2 Reverse auction 179085 0098/2017

This procedure concerns procurement for outsourcing architecture, engineering and administrative services, for a total of 31 workers for one year. Nine bidders submitted offers in this reverse auction. Like the cases examined in the previous section, here criteria also required bidders to prove experience in outsourcing at least twenty workers for three years. One bidder was disqualified for not complying with this criterion⁸⁵, while all others were disqualified for their price was too high or for not providing required documents. This procedure was successfully replaced by reverse auction 179085 0112/2017.

9.7.1.3 Reverse auction 254445 0215/2017

This procedure concerned procurement for execution design for the retrofitting of a pharmaceutical laboratory producing vaccines. Ten bidders submitted offers in this reverse auction. Technical criteria required experience with design of grades A, B or C laboratories, which is a classification established by the World Health Organization (WHO 2012, 17). None of the bidders was able to comply with this requirement⁸⁶. This procedure was successfully replaced by reverse auction 254445 0291/2017. In the latter, technical criteria were less rigorous, demanding experience with grade D laboratories, which are less strict than grades A, B or C laboratories. Yet, it was the subject of protests, as reviewed in Section 9.6.3.9.

⁸⁵ In the original: "Senhor licitante, após análise dos documentos de qualificação técnica dessa empresa, a área técnica informa (...) o não atendimento do subitem 8.7.2.1.2, uma vez que não demonstrou a prestação de serviço de consultoria na área de engenharia e/ou assessoria técnica na área de engenharia e/ou execução de manutenção predial para os profissionais técnico em edificações técnico em mecânica e eletrotécnicos."

Source: auction report, p.13.

⁸⁶ In the original: "Item cancelado na aceitação. Motivo: Nenhuma das empresas atendem a todas as exigências e especificação do edital."

Source: awarding document.

9.7.1.4 Reverse auctions 925856 0049/2017 and 925856 0147/2017

Both procedures concern procurement for design for renovation of the same hospital. The technical criterion required documents proving experience with compatible services⁸⁷, and such documents should be validated by the professional order. There was no definition of what experience would be considered compatible.

Twenty-one bidders participated in reverse auction 925856 0049/2017. One bidder was disqualified because their documents were not validated by the professional order⁸⁸. This bidder did not protest, although this requirement is illegal, as mentioned in Section 9.6.3.8. Remaining bidders were disqualified due to lack of compliance with financial or legal criteria.

Fourteen bidders participated in reverse auction 925856 0147/2017. Three bidders were disqualified because they did not present proof of experience with compatible services⁸⁹. One of them declared they intended to protest against their disqualification. Nevertheless, procurement officials contended this bidder could not protest because the disqualification was based in the technical analysis of the planning team⁹⁰. I analyzed the documents submitted by this bidder and I found that they did include a proof of experience in design for renovation of hospitals⁹¹. Since no minimum quantity was required, it is not clear why

⁸⁷ In the original: "Apresentar atestado(s) de atividades anteriores exercidas pela empresa licitante, emitido(s) por pessoa(s) jurídica(s), devidamente chancelado(s) pelo CREA/CAU competente, que comprove aptidão da licitante para execução de serviços compatíveis com o objeto desta licitação". Source: solicitation document, p.6, for both procedures.

⁸⁸ In the original: "Prop recusada, consid parecer técnico, onde p/ o Atestado de Capac Técnica do Projeto de Arquit. de adequação/adaptação da área do FUSEX e do PAM emitido p/ Hosp. De Guarn. de Florianópolis não foi apres CAT emitida p/ CREA/CAU compat. com o objeto da presente licitação, conf. o item 8.17.6 Edital". Source: auction report, p.6.

⁸⁹ In the original: "Motivo: Proposta recusada, considerando parecer da área técnica onde informa que a licitante não atende em sua totalidade o item 8.17.2, pois não consta o atestado de projeto de arquitetura compatível com o objeto da licitação". Source: auction report, p.4-5.

⁹⁰ In the original: "Considerando que a desclassificação foi fundamentada no parecer técnico da área solicitante/demandante, acostado aos autos, mantenho a decisão de inabilitar a empresa. Desta forma, nego provimento a intenção de recurso apresentada". Source: auction report. I reviewed the division of tasks in procurement in Section 6.2.5.2.

⁹¹ In the original: "(certificado de) projeto arquitetônico executivo de reforma com acréscimo de área do ambulatório Santa Rita de Cassia, com área total construída de 3.379,28m²". Source: Certidão de acervo técnico com atestado n. 189754, available at http://comprasnet.gov.br/livre/pregao/download anexo.asp?ipaCod=4001694

this experience was judged not compliant with the technical criteria demanded. This is a case where procurement officials' judgement was not in line with their formal discretion, especially considering that they refused the claimant bidder's protest. Remaining bidders were disqualified due to lack of compliance with financial or legal criteria.

9.7.2 Practices in cancelled procedures

From the analysis above, we may conclude that technical criteria regarding architectural services contributed to the cancellation of procedures due to lack of suitable bids, although they were not the main cause of cancellations. Only in reverse auction 254445 0215/2017 a too strict technical criterion for architectural services invalidated all submissions. We can argue, however, that due to the nature of this service, namely a project for a pharmaceutical laboratory requiring rigorous levels of sanitation and decontamination, the strict criteria employed could be deemed reasonable. Reverse auctions 090012 0001/2017, 090012 0006/2017 and 179085 0098/2017 were cancelled due to a technical criterion, yet this criterion did not regard architectural services; it was instead a mandatory requirement related to outsourced services that has been excluded by subsequent regulations.

In what concerns the discrepancy between intended policy and practices regarding the impact of technical criteria on the cancellation of bids, only reverse auctions 925856 0049/2017 and 925856 0147/2017 presented a problem. In the former, procurement officials <u>required a procedure that is considered illegal</u>. Despite this illegality, they disqualified a bidder based on noncompliance with such procedure. The case of reverse auction 925856 0147/2017 is a more serious one. The lack of definition on what would be a "compatible" service and the lack of information on minimum quantity may have allowed procurement officials to make arbitrary judgements. Furthermore, procurement officials <u>preventing the bidder from submitting a protest without reasonable motive</u> reinforces the arbitrariness of their decision. This case corroborates again the need of objectively defined capacities and of setting minimum quantity of capacities.

9.8 Synthesis of practices

For synthesizing the results so far in this research, I will provide a brief review of practices that could be considered arbitrary concerning procurement of architectural services. This review will help answer the research question dealing with the dominant patterns of practice that add up to actual policy, which I will discuss in Section 9.10.

9.8.1 Summary of practices

As reviewed in Sections 9.2 through 9.7, a general portrait can be drawn concerning the first level of data analyzed, related to solicitation methods. Architectural services are usually procured by means of reverse auctions. Value-based procedures are very seldom employed, and no prize competition occurred during the period under research. A limited number of procedures employed SRP.

In regard to the second level of data analyzed, related to services procured, it can be argued that most services procured concerned architectural design services, with a small proportion of outsourced architectural services. Very often architectural services are procured in the same item with engineering services, which is a cause for imprecise classification of services. Most of architectural design services procured concerned design for renovation or retrofitting and for new construction of public buildings.

In regard to the third level of data analyzed, related to criteria, it can be argued that, due to the small number of value-based procedures, few evaluation criteria were employed. In what regards qualification criteria, in almost half of the instances analyzed the capacity demanded was a mere reproduction of the contents of regulations. Not much effort is put into devising criteria that translate the technical requirements of the service procured. In what regards the minimum quantity of criteria, procurement officials often used the 50% of the quantity of service allowed by regulations, but it is also common not determining any minimum quantity.

9.8.2 Arbitrary practices

For analyzing actual policies, I must first assess whether procurement officials' practices are in line with desired policies. In other words, does operational discretion conform to formal discretion? When decisions are outside the limits of formal discretion, they are considered arbitrary.

In Table 40 I summarize procurement officials' practices which I considered potentially arbitrary in this study, indicating their frequency. I did not include in this list practices related to issues of transparency and price feasibility. An analysis of such practices would demand to inquire about formal discretion on these matters, which was not in the scope of this research.

Before discussing further on arbitrary practices, one point must be made on the practice *indiscriminately using reverse auctions*. It can be argued that the use of reverse auctions as a solicitation method may not be considered a clear-cut case of arbitrary practice, since Law 8666 and IN-5 are at odds on this issue. Under this view, it would not be possible to state that the 54 procedures carried out by reverse auctions represent arbitrary practices. Nevertheless, since a federal law takes precedence over a regulation, the indiscriminate use of reverse auctions can be considered arbitrary. In any case, it is obvious that reverse auction is arbitrary when the services procured are specialized services as described in the solicitation documents. That was the case in four procedures.

Practice	Frequency observed
Using reverse auctions for specialized services	4 out of 73 procedures
Using SRP for architectural services	6 out of 73 procedures
Bundling different services in the same item	69 out of 104 items
Employing solicitation methods for values above their threshold	4 out of 73 procedures
Employing imprecise classification from CATSER	62 out of 104 items

Table 40 -	Summary	of potentially	arbitrary practices
------------	---------	----------------	---------------------

Practice	Frequency observed
Indiscriminately using reverse auctions	54 out of 73 procedures
Not using prize competitions	All 73 procedures
Using criteria not relevant to services procured	34 out of 200 criteria
Using criteria without definition	53 out of 200 criteria
Demanding disguised technical criterion	1 out of 73 procedures
Not informing quantity of service	18 out of 104 items
Not requiring minimum quantity of capacity	89 out of 152 qualification criteria
Requiring minimum criterion quantity over 50% of service quantity	6 out of 200 criteria
Refusing protests without reasonable motive	2 out of 73 procedures
Requiring useless documents	1 out of 73 procedures
Accepting experience that was not in criteria	2 out of 73 procedures
Requiring illegal formality	1 out of 73 procedures

9.8.3 Frequency of arbitrary practices

It is still not clear to what extent the practices listed on Table 40 constitute actual policy. As discussed in Section 5.3, a single isolated decision can hardly be considered actual policy. Instead, one should search for dominant patterns of practice; in other words, instances when a certain type of decision can be expected from a public organization.

To discern what practices may be considered actual policy, I first need to unveil how often these practices have occurred. Table 40 already suggests the most common practices. But these practices are related to procedures, services or criteria, therefore comparing them is not straightforward. For instance, Table 40 does not reveal how many procedures had criteria without definition or how many procedures did not require a minimum quantity of criteria. To be able to compare these numbers, I produced Table 41 below. In this table, I enumerate all potentially arbitrary practices found in each procedure analyzed. However, I did not include the practice *not using prize competitions* in Table 41. This practice cannot be considered arbitrary at the level of individual procurement procedures. Therefore, it would not be fair to state that procurement officials ignored prize competitions in each procedure.

Table 41 reveals that all procedures had at least one arbitrary practice, while the procedures with most arbitrary practices had seven of them. The mean number of arbitrary practices per procurement procedure is four.

procedure	Estimated value (R\$)	Indiscriminately using reverse auctions	Using reverse auctions for specialized services	Using SRP for architectural services	Employing solicitation methods for values above their threshold	Bundling different services in the same item	Employing imprecise classification from CATSER	Using criteria not relevant to services procured	Using criteria without definition	Demanding disguised technical criterion	Not informing quantity of service	Requiring minimum quantity over 50%	Not requiring minimum quantity of capacity	Refusing protests without reasonable motive	Requiring useless documents	Accepting experience that was not in criteria	Requiring illegal formality	Refusing protests without reasonable motive	Total
443001 0001/2017	62.302,50								•										1
170131 0022/2017	19.396,60	•				•													2
200207 0013/2017	23.175,60	•											•						2
090003 0031/2017	48.584,53	•									•								2
200108 0008/2017	55.032,23	•				•													2
343003 0002/2017	137.728,14					•					•								2
343036 0002/2017	185.600,00					•							•						2
153103 0024/2017	194.026,00					•	•												2
343011 0003/2017	537.174,49					•							•						2

Table 41 - Procedures and noncompliant practices

254445 0291/2017 925138 0028/2017	254445 0215/2017 254445	170088 0001/2017	160066 0013/2017	343034 0003/2017	154046 0004/2017	155124 0003/2017	926066 0006/2017	170010 0006/2017	389086 0006/2017	200035 0012/2017	090038 0004/2017	530001 0016/2017	080002 0002/2017	procedure
682.808,74	682.808,74	677.199,03	421.573,31	299.300,00	261.571,04	220.704,00	145.697,02	143.654,32	83.825,00	49.984,00	25.635,72	7.875.467,12	1.145.390,00	Estimated value (R\$)
•	•		•	•			•	•	•	•	•	•		Indiscriminately using reverse auctions
				•										Using reverse auctions for specialized services
														Using SRP for architectural services
		•												Employing solicitation methods for values above their threshold
•	•	•			•	•		•			•		•	Bundling different services in the same item
		•			•	•		•	•					Employing imprecise classification from CATSER
														Using criteria not relevant to services procured
			•				•			•			•	Using criteria without definition
														Demanding disguised technical criterion
									•			•		Not informing quantity of service
														Requiring minimum quantity over 50%
•	•		•	•	•	•	•			•	•			Not requiring minimum quantity of capacity
														Refusing protests without reasonable motive
														Requiring useless documents
														Accepting experience that was not in criteria
														Requiring illegal formality
														Refusing protests without reasonable motive
3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	2	2	Total

procedure	Estimated value (R\$)	Indiscriminately using reverse auctions	Using reverse auctions for specialized services	Using SRP for architectural services	Employing solicitation methods for values above their threshold	Bundling different services in the same item	Employing imprecise classification from CATSER	Using criteria not relevant to services procured	Using criteria without definition	Demanding disguised technical criterion	Not informing quantity of service	Requiring minimum quantity over 50%	Not requiring minimum quantity of capacity	Refusing protests without reasonable motive	Requiring useless documents	Accepting experience that was not in criteria	Requiring illegal formality	Refusing protests without reasonable motive	Total
925387 0002/2017	13.152.300,53					•	•				•								3
160078 0001/2017	38.095,95					•	•		•		•								4
153167 0042/2017	42.757,13	•				•	•						•						4
154618 0015/2017	48.897,86	•				•			•				•						4
170516 0005/2017	52.324,28	•				•		•			•								4
255026 0006/2017	54.307,50	•					•		•		•								4
160036 0025/2017	68.123,02	•				•			•				•						4
170516 0008/2017	112.434,36	•				•		•					•						4
090012 0023/2017	120.000,00	•				•			•				•						4
400066 0001/2017	125.513,96				•	•			•				•						4
765705 0001/2018	129.425,66					•	•	•			•								4
080026 0001/2017	132.926,35					•	•		•				•						4
158377 0040/2017	132.984,83	•				•			•			•							4
153167 0037/2017	205.366,40	•				•	•						•						4
170388 0001/2017	238.583,01	•				•	•				•								4
090012 0001/2017	246.981,60	•				•	•				•								4

procedure	Estimated value (R\$)	Indiscriminately using reverse auctions	Using reverse auctions for specialized services	Using SRP for architectural services	Employing solicitation methods for values above their threshold	Bundling different services in the same item	Employing imprecise classification from CATSER	Using criteria not relevant to services procured	Using criteria without definition	Demanding disguised technical criterion	Not informing quantity of service	Requiring minimum quantity over 50%	Not requiring minimum quantity of capacity	Refusing protests without reasonable motive	Requiring useless documents	Accepting experience that was not in criteria	Requiring illegal formality	Refusing protests without reasonable motive	Total
090012 0006/2017	246.981,60	•				•	•				•								4
926195 0026/2017	321.333,33	•				•	•				•								4
120196 0001/2017	599.500,00					•	•		•				•						4
020001 0001/2017	760.037,66					•	٠					•	•						4
787700 0006/2016	832.442,15	٠				٠	•						•						4
155008 0038/2017	986.483,50	•		•			•		•										4
179085 0098/2017	2.982.746,52	•				٠	•				•								4
179085 0112/2017	2.982.746,52	•				•	•				•								4
158275 0014/2017	5.593.760,00	•		•					•				•						4
170217 0011/2017	48.769,17	•				•	•	•					•						5
170217 0008/2017	51.081,25	•				•	•	•					•						5
170134 0006/2017	53.602,64	•				•	•						•			•			5
170217 0009/2017	66.522,81	•				•	•	•					•						5
170217 0007/2017	73.572,40	•				•	•	•					•						5
090012 0041/2017	112.616,04	•				•	•		•				•						5
925856 0049/2017	144.930,47	•				•			•				•				•		5

procedure	Estimated value (R\$)	Indiscriminately using reverse auctions	Using reverse auctions for specialized services	Using SRP for architectural services	Employing solicitation methods for values above their threshold	Bundling different services in the same item	Employing imprecise classification from CATSER	Using criteria not relevant to services procured	Using criteria without definition	Demanding disguised technical criterion	Not informing quantity of service	Requiring minimum quantity over 50%	Not requiring minimum quantity of capacity	Refusing protests without reasonable motive	Requiring useless documents	Accepting experience that was not in criteria	Requiring illegal formality	Refusing protests without reasonable motive	Total
925856 0147/2017	144.930,47	٠				•			•				•					•	5
420001 0001/2017	149.193,07				•	٠	•		•		•								5
152663 0015/2017	212.194,67	•					•		•				•	•					5
090023 0029/2017	241.667,51	•				•	•		•				•						5
090023 0059/2017	242.693,15	٠				•	•	•	•										5
925152 0002/2017	473.472,85					•	•		•				•		•				5
380941 0007/2017	977.360,92	•				•	•	•					•						5
080016 0019/2017	1.650.000,00	•				•	•			•			•						5
925942 0059/2017	8.365.133,33	•		•			•					•	•						5
200043 0017/2017	24.695,52	•				•	•		•			•	•						6
200121 0009/2017	31.525,50	•	•			•	•	•				•							6
765701 0007/2017	55.000,00	•				•		•	•				•			•			6
170018 0003/2017	126.836,28	•				•	•	•				•	•						6
153047 0019/2017	551.149,40	•		•				•	•			•	•						6
250025 0007/2017	69.767,04	•	•			•	•	•	•				•						7
158720 0004/2017	11.197.396,19	•	•	•		٠	•		•		•								7

median estimated value:	procedure
149.193,07	Estimated value (R\$)
54	Indiscriminately using reverse auctions
4	Using reverse auctions for specialized services
6	Using SRP for architectural services
4	Employing solicitation methods for values above their threshold
57	Bundling different services in the same item
42	Employing imprecise classification from CATSER
14	Using criteria not relevant to services procured
29	Using criteria without definition
1	Demanding disguised technical criterion
18	Not informing quantity of service
7	Requiring minimum quantity over 50%
44	Not requiring minimum quantity of capacity
1	Refusing protests without reasonable motive
1	Requiring useless documents
2	Accepting experience that was not in criteria
1	Requiring illegal formality
1	Refusing protests without reasonable motive
286	Total

For a clearer portrait of how frequent these practices are, Figure 29 classifies them by the frequency in which they occurred in procedures. Here I included *not using prize competitions* because, from the perspective of the entire set of procurement procedures analyzed, the lack of prize competitions does indicate an instance of practice that is not in line with intended policy.



Figure 29 - Frequency of noncompliant practices by number of procedures

Considering the 73 procedures analyzed in this study, five practices are found in more than half of these procedures. These most common practices are *not using prize competitions*, *bundling different services in the same item, indiscriminately using reverse auctions, not requiring minimum quantity of capacity*, and *employing imprecise classification from CATSER*.

In the next section I will discuss, by means of an analysis of some selected cases, how such practices can be detrimental to the intended policy on procurement of architectural services.

9.9 Cases

Based on Seawright and Gerring's (2008, 297) methods of case selection and analysis, I chose four procedures for a deeper scrutiny. Having Table 41 as a starting point and having the number of arbitrary practices as the main factor of interest, I identified two diverse cases, one typical case and one deviant case. These instances may provide a broad spectrum of the population investigated in this study. They were also chosen because, after a preliminary content analysis of related documents, I realized they were likely to afford meaningful insights on the outcomes of these procedures.

The two diverse cases are reverse auction 200108 0008/2017 and reverse auction 158720 0004/2017. The former was chosen for its low number of arbitrary practices (only two) and because, this low number notwithstanding, its outcome was a failure – the winner never signed the contract. The latter was chosen for its high number of arbitrary practices (seven) and because, despite all irregularities, the contract was signed and the procured services were, at least partially, delivered.

The typical case is reverse auction 787700 0006/2016. I considered it a typical case not only because it has the mean number of arbitrary practices (four), but also because it features four of the most common practices: *bundling different services in the same item, using reverse auctions, not informing the quantity of criteria,* and *incorrectly classifying architectural services*.

The deviant case is request for proposals 443001 0001/2017. I selected this instance for it is the procedure with the lowest number of arbitrary practices (one) and because it is the only procedure which should be procured by means of a request for proposals that was correctly procured by means of a request for proposals.

9.9.1 Reverse auction 200108 0008/2017

Reverse auction 200108 0008/2017 concerns execution projects for the renovation of offices for *Procuradoria Geral do Trabalho*, including architecture and engineering services. The cost of all these services was estimated in R\$ 55.032,23, while the quantity of service corresponded to 1.372,50 square meters.

This procedure was published in *Comprasnet* on December 13, 2017. The auction took place on December 26, with 25 bidders. The value of their initial bids ranged from R\$ 50.000,00 to R\$ 100.00,00. The lowest price offered during the auction, by *B. R. Ximenes Claudino*, was R\$ 25.900,00. Nevertheless, *B. R. Ximenes Claudino* did not comply with the technical criteria demanded. As the auctioneer noted, they failed to provide documents proving the experience required⁹². Thus, the second-best offer, by *Valadão Engenharia*, for R\$ 26.000,00 was declared the winning submission⁹³. No protest was submitted. The contract was signed in March 2018.

Two arbitrary practices were employed in this procedure. First, execution projects, which cannot be considered common services, were procured by means of a reverse auction. Second, procurement officials bundled a number of different services under the same item. Two of these services are exclusively for architects, namely architectural project and lighting design, while the other services are engineering services, such as water and sewage project, electrical project and data network project. All of these services were classified as *studies and projects in architecture*.

⁹² In the original: "Não foi enviado nenhum documento referente à alínea 'e' (Atestado de Capacidade Técnica, emitido por pessoa jurídica)".

Source: auction report, p.7

⁹³ Source: auction report, p.5-6.

The criteria demanded for this procedure were that both the winning firm (operational criterion) and a professional working for the winning firm (professional criterion) should prove experience with architecture and electrical installations execution projects for commercial, administrative or institutional buildings, and such experience should amount to at least 600 square meters⁹⁴, thus below the 50% maximum of the quantity of service established by regulations. Given that all services were bundled in the same item, these criteria seem reasonable, for architecture and electrical installations were the most expensive services in this procedure, corresponding respectively to 30% and 10% of the total estimated cost⁹⁵.

Valadão Engenharia did present documents proving experience with execution projects for renovation, including architecture and electrical installations, of a church and a school⁹⁶ (both types of building can be considered institutional). Accordingly, procurement officials considered their submission compliant with the criteria demanded⁹⁷. Since the criteria demanded were defined and quantified, there was little room for a reflexive judgement in this case.

The main problem in this procedure is that services exclusive for architects and engineering services were procured in the same item. In such cases, the criteria demanded may include experience from architects or from engineers. Therefore, an engineer may get the job that should be exclusive for architects. This was indeed what occurred in this procedure. *Valadão Engenharia* is an engineering firm and the professional who got the job is an engineer. The firm and the professional are registered at the professional order of engineers

Source: Auction report.

⁹⁴ In the original: "Atestado de Capacidade Técnica (...) onde reste comprovada a elaboração de Projeto de Reforma (Arquitetura e Instalações elétricas), em nível executivo, para edificação comercial, administrativa, corporativa ou institucional, com área útil de, no mínimo, 600 m²".

Source: solicitation document, p.129.

⁹⁵ Source: solicitation document, p.118.

⁹⁶ In the original: "PROJETO > OBRAS E SERVIÇOS - CONSTRUÇÃO CIVIL -> EDIFICAÇÃO -> – ALVENARIA: 7.786,86m³"; "PROJETO > OBRAS E SERVIÇOS - CONSTRUÇÃO CIVIL -> EDIFICAÇÕES -> INSTALAÇÃO ELÉTRICA DE BAIXA TENSÃO: 2.750,31 m²"

Source: http://comprasnet.gov.br/livre/pregao/download_anexo.asp?ipaCod=4265312 (p.17-18)

⁹⁷ In the original: "Senhores licitantes, após análise da documentação enviada, e verificada a regularidade dos documentos, conforme especificações editalícias, declaro VENCEDORA para o certame a empresa VALADÃO ENGENHARIA EIRELI – EPP."
Source: Austion report

(CREA)⁹⁸, not at the professional order of architects (CAU-BR). Such choice could compromise the quality of architectural services.

A way to avoid this problem is following the regulations, which establish that different services must be procured as separate items. In this manner, it is possible to devise specific criteria for architectural services, including the obligation that the professional must be a member of CAU-BR. If that were the case, the same bidding firm could have won the contract, provided it had an architect in their workforce to perform the services that are exclusive for architects.

Although they signed the contract, *Valadão Engenharia* never delivered the services procured. According to procurement officials, the firm disappeared without submitting any of the projects they were expected to provide⁹⁹. For this reason, they never got paid; furthermore, in January 2019 the procuring entity applied a fine and banned *Valadão Engenharia* from participating in public procurement for five years¹⁰⁰. A search in *Comprasnet* showed that the procuring entity did not carry out another procedure for the same services¹⁰¹.

9.9.2 Reverse auction 158720 0004/2017

Reverse auction 158720 0004/2017 concerns design for new construction and design for renovation of buildings for *Universidade Federal do Sul da Bahia* (University of South Bahia). The estimated value of this procedure was R\$ 11.197.396,19, but the quantity of services procured was not informed.

¹⁰¹ Source: <u>http://compras.dados.gov.br/licitacoes/v1/licitacoes.html?uasg=200108</u>;

⁹⁸ Source: <u>http://comprasnet.gov.br/livre/pregao/download_anexo.asp?ipaCod=4265312</u> (p.1).

⁹⁹ In the original: "No entanto, até o presente momento a empresa não apresentou nenhum dos projetos previstos e não cumpriu nenhuma das etapas programadas. Ademais, a Administração não consegue nem mesmo localizá-la. Isso demonstra que a empresa não tem condições de cumprir com o contrato dentro dos prazos estipulados". Source: Document Relatório de análise de descumprimento contratual (p.6-7).
¹⁰⁰ Source: <u>http://compras.dados.gov.br/fornecedores/v1/ocorrencias_fornecedores?cnpj=28251827000197</u>

http://compras.dados.gov.br/compraSemLicitacao/v1/compras_slicitacao.html?co_uasg=200108; http://compras.dados.gov.br/compraSemLicitacao/v1/compras_slicitacao.html?co_uasg=200108&offset=500

This procedure was published in *Comprasnet* on December 22, 2017. The auction took place on January 17, 2018, with twenty bidders participating in it. The value of their initial bids ranged from R\$ 9.069.890,91 to R\$ 23.601.153,14. The lowest price offered by the winner, *Grid Power Solutions Engenharia e Consultoria*, during the auction was R\$ 9.048.522,00. The contract was signed on March 2018.

In this procedure, procurement officials employed seven practices that go against regulations: they indiscriminately used reverse auction (in this case, for an RDC), they used reverse auction for specialized services, they used SRP for architectural services, they bundled different services under the same item, they employed imprecise classification of services, they used criteria without definition, and they did not inform the quantity of items (services) procured.

The criterion demanded was *experience with similar/compatible/relevant design*, and the quantity of experience demanded was 1.000 square meters¹⁰². It is not possible to judge if the quantity demanded complies with regulations because the quantity of services was not informed. But for services with an estimated value of over R\$ 11 million, 1.000 square meters is very low¹⁰³. The documents submitted by *Grid Power Solutions Engenharia e Consultoria* show that they had an experience of over 5.000 square meters of architectural projects for a university¹⁰⁴, which is compatible with the criterion demanded.

Although the winners complied with the technical criteria demanded, one protest was submitted, arguing that they did not comply with formalities such as submitting the documents within the prescribed period. Procurement officials dismissed this protest, for *Grid Power Solutions Engenharia e Consultoria* did submit all documents required

¹⁰² In the original: "Serão considerados os projetos para edificações com no mínimo 1.000 m² de área construída para prédios públicos ou privados". Source: solicitation document, p.66.

¹⁰³ Using CAU-BR's table of suggested price for architectural projects and using the mean value of construction for December 2017 as a base for calculations, I calculated that R\$ 11 million would pay for over 250 thousand square meters of architectural projects for offices of medium complexity. Source: https://honorario.caubr.gov.br/doc/TAB-livro1-final.pdf, p.44; https://www.sinduscondf.org.br/portal/cub.

¹⁰⁴ In the original: "*Projeto arquitetônico: 5100.00 m²; Contratante: UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DA BAHIA*".

Source: Document CERTIDÃO DE ACERVO TÉCNICO COM ATESTADO Nº 0000000177033, p.1.

within the time frame stipulated¹⁰⁵. This protest was probably a failed attempt to disqualify the winner to increase the protester's chances of getting the contract.

I will exploit this procedure to illustrate two arbitrary practices: indiscriminately using reverse auctions and employing SRP for procuring architectural services.

Concerning the first, the solicitation document informs that this procedure is an RDC. Regardless, it was not carried out by the RDC platform in *Comprasnet*, but rather by the reverse auction platform. Surprisingly, no objection was presented concerning this issue. As described by the procuring entity, the items procured here concern "basic projects and execution projects in architecture and engineering of medium complexity"¹⁰⁶. Therefore, they could not be procured by means of a reverse auction, which can only be employed for procuring common services. Carrying out this procedure on the reverse auction platform while stating that this procedure is an RDC might be a way of avoiding accusations of using the wrong procedure and taking advantage of the friendlier platform available to reverse auctions. This practice yielded a reduction in transparency. In RDC, bidders have five days to present objections, whereas in reverse auctions they only have three days. Due to the way the reverse auction platform is designed, it is not possible to submit objections by this platform after three days. Thus, objections had to be submitted by e-mail and consequently are not publicly available in the system. This problem was mentioned by the auctioneer in the auction report, for bidders were instructed to submit objections "by e-mail in order to reconcile the RDC procedure with the reverse auction platform"¹⁰⁷.

Second, this procedure employed SRP, which cannot be used for procuring services. To justify the use of SRP, the procuring entity argued that "the tool allows for contracting out

¹⁰⁵ Source: Document *Decisão do pregoeiro* (p.1-2).

¹⁰⁶ In the original: "prestação de serviços técnicos de elaboração de projetos básico e executivo de arquitetura e engenharia de média complexidade, pelo regime diferenciado de contratação, necessários às construções, reformas e ampliações de diversas unidades da Universidade Federal do Sul da Bahia". Source: solicitation document, p.4

¹⁰⁷ In the original: "*Tal ação visa compatibilizar o sistema com a regra do art. 54 do Decreto 7581/2011 que regulamenta a Lei do RDC e prevê o prazo de cinco dias para apresentação das razões de recurso*". Source: auction report, p.9.

many services by means of one procurement procedure, according to our schedule"¹⁰⁸. However, they acknowledge that "it is impossible to foresee the quantity of services to be carried out" and that "it is not possible to define precisely where" the projects will be built¹⁰⁹. As stated by IN-5, it is not legal to procure services without precisely describing these services or without estimating the quantity of services that will be executed. The problem with this practice is that SRP enables the procuring entity and other public organizations to engage in contracts with the winning bidder for services that were not specified and quantified before the procedure. This was indeed the case in this procedure, for not only *Universidade Federal do Sul da Bahia* but also *Universidade Federal do Oeste da Bahia* disbursed money related to this procedure, meaning that both entities have demanded services from *Grid Power Solutions Engenharia e Consultoria*¹¹⁰. Also noteworthy, the first payment for services related to this procedure was made only in November 2018¹¹¹, eight months after the contract was signed. This might hint that the procuring entity was not able to demand services in a timely manner.

So many arbitrary practices, as seen in this case, could be a sign of corrupt activities (Transparency International 2006, 35). At this point, however, it is not possible to suggest that the discretionary decisions in this procedure might concern corrupt activities or rather a way to shortcut the formalities imposed by the Brazilian legal framework.

In addition to the two problems related above, the auction report of this procedure reveals the gambling character of reverse auctions, as shown in Figure 30. In this figure, the first column presents the values offered by bidders, the second column presents the code of

¹⁰⁸ In the original: "O SRP permite a contratação de uma empresa para a elaboração de diversos projetos, cuja demanda para a elaboração de cada projeto obedecerá ao cronograma programado". Source: solicitation document, p.5.

¹⁰⁹ In the original: "Dessa forma, pretende-se racionalizar tanto a quantidade de processos licitatórios quanto o gerenciamento de contratos. (...) O uso do SRP, por seu turno, se dá pela impossibilidade de se prever o quantitativo dos serviços a serem executados, tendo em vista o momento atual de implantação da nova universidade, não sendo possível se definir, com precisão, os locais e os quantitativos". Source: solicitation document, p.58.

¹¹⁰ Source:

http://www.portaltransparencia.gov.br/despesas/favorecido?faseDespesa=3&favorecido=50901014&ordenarP or=valor&direcao=desc

¹¹¹ Source: <u>http://paineldecompras.economia.gov.br/contratos</u>, contract id = 1587205000032018

participating bidders, and the third column presents the date and time the bids were received in *Comprasnet*. The auctioneer triggered the random closure of the auction at 11:31:12. The closure itself occurred at 11:44:16. During the two minutes preceding the closure of bids, twelve offers were received by the system, two of them within less than a second (11:44:01). The value of these offers ranged from R\$ 10 million to R\$ 9.048.522,00. Considering the delay for interactions through the internet, it can be argued that winning this bid was a matter of having luck to propose the least expensive price just before the random closure. It was hardly a matter of economic competition and the real cost of the services procured.

F	R\$ 9.048.547	,9999	05.062.405/0001-78	17/01/2018 11:43:19:450
R	\$ 10.600.00	0,0000	11.471.872/0001-54	17/01/2018 11:43:20:607
F	R\$ 9.048.550	,0000	18.460.001/0001-84	17/01/2018 11:43:21:637
F	2\$ 9.048.545	,0000	02.210.717/0001-93	17/01/2018 11:43:26:543
F	2\$ 9.048.560	,0000	11.967.694/0001-57	17/01/2018 11:43:35:687
F	R\$ 9.048.530	,0000	20.704.503/0001-55	17/01/2018 11:43:36:280
F	2\$ 9.048.540	,0000	18.460.001/0001-84	17/01/2018 11:43:45:000
F	R\$ 9.048.528	,0000	02.210.717/0001-93	17/01/2018 11:43:55:000
F	3 9.048.522	,0000	14.742.012/0001-04	17/01/2018 11:44:01:000
F	2\$ 9.048.549	,0000	11.967.694/0001-57	17/01/2018 11:44:01:077
F	R\$ 9.048.527	,9999	05.062.405/0001-78	17/01/2018 11:44:09:623
F	R\$ 9.048.531	,0000	18.460.001/0001-84	17/01/2018 11:44:13:297
		Não	existem lances de desempate ME/EPP	para o item
Eventos do It	tem			
Evento	Data		Observaçõ) jes
Aberto	17/01/2018 10:19:10	Item aberto.		
Iminência de Encerramento	17/01/2018 11:31:12	Batida iminente.	Data/hora iminência: 17/01/2018 11:41:12	2.
Encerrado	17/01/2018 11:44:16	Item encerrado		

Figure 30 - Auction report for 158720 0004/2017 (excerpt)

9.9.3 Reverse auction 787700 0006/2016

Reverse auction 787700 0006/2016 concerns three services: preliminary study, basic design and execution design for renovation and new construction of an intensive care unit for *Hospital Naval de Brasília*. The estimated value of this procedure was R\$ 832.442,15 and the quantity of services procured corresponded to 5.590 square meters. Here, procurement officials employed four of the most common practices that go against regulations I unveiled in this research. I will exploit this typical case of procurement for architectural services to illustrate the problems that the lack of a minimum quantity of criteria may cause.

This procedure was published in *Comprasnet* on March 16, 2017. The auction took place on March 28, 2017, with 36 bidders. The value of their initial bids ranged from R\$ 1.400.000,00 to R\$ 300.000,00. The winner, *Casa Estúdio Arquitetura*, submitted an initial bid of R\$ 830.000,00¹¹², but they won the auction thanks to a final offer of R\$ 130.000,00, roughly 15% of the procedure's estimated value. Such low price could have been grounds for protests regarding feasibility of the service, yet no bidder submitted protests.

In this procedure, procurement officials employed the criterion "experience with similar/compatible/relevant design", and they did define what would be considered a similar experience: "projects for construction or renovation of healthcare facilities including an intensive care unit"¹¹³. Nevertheless, they did not establish what minimum quantity of this criterion would be accepted. An analysis of the documents submitted by *Casa Estúdio Arquitetura* unveils that they proved they had the required experience concerning projects for a hospital including an intensive care unit. However, this experience amounted to only 524,66 square meters, less than 10% of the quantity of services procured¹¹⁴. Such little experience was considered compliant with the criterion demanded nonetheless, since there was no minimum quantity established.

Furthermore, they demanded that the winner should present the proof of compliance with this criterion "when signing the contract", not before awarding the bid¹¹⁵. This means that other bidders would not be able to analyze the compliance of the winning bidder with

¹¹⁴ Source: document Habilitação capacidade técnico-profissional, p.14-15.

¹¹² Source: auction report, p.3.

¹¹³ In the original: "projetos de construção ou reforma de estabelecimentos assistenciais de saúde contemplando a construção de Unidade de Terapia Intensiva (UTI)". Source: solicitation document, p.13.

¹¹⁵ In the original: "Declaração da LICITANTE de que apresentará, no ato da assinatura do Contrato, os documentos que comprovem que possui, em seu quadro de funcionários e sócios, pelo menos um Engenheiro ou Arquiteto com experiência comprovada em execução de projeto semelhante ao exigido neste Edital". Source: solicitation document, p.12.

the criterion demanded, for the documents would be submitted outside *Comprasnet*. Since this is a matter of how the solicitation document was devised, potential bidders should have signaled this problem before the reverse auction was carried out. Any protests related to compliance with technical criteria submitted after the auction took place could be dismissed because this course was established in the solicitation document.

Casa Estúdio Arquitetura stated that they won the bid thanks to their "experience working with a number of municipalities and businesses in different states"¹¹⁶, and they were paid in full for the services¹¹⁷. However, in 2019, *Hospital Naval de Brasília* started a new procurement procedure for the same services, but this time by means of an RDC¹¹⁸. It could be argued, then, that the services delivered by *Casa Estúdio Arquitetura Ltda* did not meet the standards desired by the procuring entity.

Like the previous procedure, the auction report of this reverse auction also reveals its gambling nature, as shown in Figure 31. During the three minutes preceding the closure of bids, eight offers were received by the system. The value of these offers ranged from R\$ 434.127,40 to R\$ 130.000,00. *Casa Estúdio Arquitetura Ltda* offered R\$ 132.000,00 at 10:56:57 and R\$ 130.000,00 at 10:58:06. Considering the value of the winner's initial bid (R\$ 830.000,00), it is not reasonable to reckon that these low-priced offers took into account the real cost of the services procured.

¹¹⁶ In the original: "Nossa empresa atua em diversas cidade (sic) seja atendendo prefeituras, empresas em vários estados e, graças ao nosso acervo técnico, nos permitiu disputar com outras grandes empresas essa licitação do Hospital Naval em Brasília".

Source: <u>http://gazetadotriangulo.com.br/tmp/noticias/casa-estudio-arquitetura-sera-responsavel-pelo-projeto-do-hospital-naval-em-brasilia/</u>

 ¹¹⁷ Source: <u>http://portaltransparencia.gov.br/licitacoes/32819596/pessoa-juridica/14695455000183</u>
 ¹¹⁸ Source:

http://www.comprasnet.gov.br/ConsultaLicitacoes/download/download_editais_detalhe.asp?coduasg=787700 &modprp=99&numprp=12019

01/05/2018	COMPRASNET - O SITE DE COMPRAS DO GOVERNO	
R\$ 133.000,0000	26.717.532/0001-38	28/03/2017 10:55:58:480
R\$ 132.999,0000	04.681.959/0001-90	28/03/2017 10:56:25:343
R\$ 434.127,4000	09.148.179/0001-01	28/03/2017 10:56:46:950
R\$ 132.000,0000	14.695.455/0001-83	28/03/2017 10:56:57:147
R\$ 131.000,0000	26.717.532/0001-38	28/03/2017 10:57:07:103
R\$ 132.000,0000	24.582.052/0001-81	28/03/2017 10:57:30:847
R\$ 130.999,9999	04.681.959/0001-90	28/03/2017 10:57:30:917
R\$ 132.750,0000	15.696.877/0001-36	28/03/2017 10:58:01:903
R\$ 130.000,0000	14.695.455/0001-83	28/03/2017 10:58:06:370

Figure 31 - Auction report for 787700 0006/2016 (excerpt)

9.9.4 Request for proposals 443001 0001/2017

Request for proposals 443001 0001/2017 concerns interior design projects for two buildings housing the headquarters of *Agência Nacional das Águas* (National Water Agency). Each building has an area of 2.000 square meters, thus the quantity of service procured was 4.000 square meters. The cost of the service was estimated in R\$ 62.302,50. This procedure is interesting not only because it has only one type of non-conformity, but also because it is the only one with an estimated cost below R\$80.000,00 which was procured by means of request for proposals. In other words, it is the only procedure of a relatively low estimated cost not employing reverse auction.

This procedure was published in *Comprasnet* on September 6, 2017. Six enterprises took part in this request for proposals. The value of their bids ranged from R\$ 30.000,00 to R\$ 49.231,00. Since this was a price-based procedure, the bidder offering the lowest price -TW Projetos – won the bid¹¹⁹. There was one protest regarding technical criteria, which I discussed in Section 9.6.3.10. No protest concerning price feasibility was presented, the low value of the winning bid notwithstanding. The contract was signed on October 17, 2017, less than two months from its publishing.

Procurement officials requested only one technical criterion: that the winning firm should prove that "they have satisfactorily performed services compatible with the subject matter of procurement"¹²⁰, amounting to at least 1.900 square meters. This figure corresponds to

¹¹⁹ Source: Evaluation and judgement of bidders' submissions (*Ata de abertura de proposta de preços*), p.1.

¹²⁰ In the original: "um, ou mais, atestado de capacidade técnica (…) o qual comprove que a licitante prestou, ou esteja prestando, de forma satisfatória, serviços compatíveis com o objeto, em no mínimo 1.900m²".

47,5% of the quantity of service procured, thus below the 50% maximum established by regulations. The irregularity in this procedure is that procurement officials did not define what sort of services would be considered compatible with the service procured. Although such lack of definition has led to problems in other procedures, in this instance it was not an issue. Interior design projects for offices are a type of architectural service that does not require a high level of specialization. It could be argued that any architect should be capable of performing such a task. Therefore, any experience in architectural services, or even just being a member of the professional order, could be acceptable criteria here. *TW Projetos* submitted documents proving experience concerning more than 14.000 square meters of interior design projects¹²¹, which is way above the quantity demanded. They were paid for the services in March 2018.

9.9.5 Lessons from the cases

Due to the nature of this descriptive research, it is not possible to establish a causal relationship between arbitrary practices, including ill-devised criteria, and undesirable procurement outcomes. Yet, it would be reasonable to hypothesize that, in reverse auctions 787700 0006/2016 and 200108 0008/2017, ill-devised technical criteria, coupled with the low price resulting from the use of reverse auctions, may have contributed to the ultimate failure of the procedures. In the former case, the winning bidder might not have been able to deliver high quality services, resulting in considerable waste of time for the procuring entity. In the latter case, the winning bidder might have realized that performing the service for the price they offered would not be feasible and thus deserted the contract.

Reverse auction 158720 0004/2017 is a different instance, for the winner did deliver the services. Here, the main issue is the lack of transparency concerning the services procured, which allows for the payment for services that were not described in

Source: solicitation document, p.6.

¹²¹ In the original: "*Projeto de Arquitetura de Interiores em area de 14.136,5 m*²". Source: bidders' qualification documents, p.35.

the solicitation document. The root of this problem is the arbitrary use of SRP for procuring services. The procuring entity can be questioned by the Federal Audit Office about its lack of compliance with IN-5.

Finally, request for proposals 443001 0001/2017 is a deviant case where procurement officials' discretion was in line with intended policy. Given the relatively smoothness in which this procedure was carried out, and its quick outcome, this case shows that solicitation methods other than reverse auctions can provide successful results in procurement of architectural services.

The cases mentioned here confirm that procurement officials' practices often go against intended policies. The question remaining is: to what extent such practices are actual policies, as advanced by street-level bureaucracy theory? I will approach this matter in the following sections.

9.10 From practices to policy

9.10.1 Not policy and grey zone

It can be difficult to draw the limits between practices that are actual policy from those that are not. As street-level bureaucracy theory proposes, practices become actual policy when one can expect such practices given their cumulative use (Section 5.3). Thus, to set those limits, I used the frequencies displayed in Table 41 as a starting point. From them, I categorized the practices using the concepts of zones of certainty, mentioned in Section 7.4. Some isolated practices are certainly not actual policy; some practices are observed infrequently but are not isolated, so it is difficult to categorize them; finally, some recurrent practices do make up actual policy due to their high frequency. Accordingly, I classified them into three categories, namely *not policy, grey zone* and *actual policy*, as I discuss below.

Those four practices that were unveiled in the analysis of protests and of cancelled procedures cannot be considered actual policy due to their infrequency. These practices are
refusing protests without reasonable motive, requiring useless documents, accepting experience that was not in the criterion and requiring illegal formality. For the same reason, two other practices which emerged from the analysis of solicitation documents cannot be considered actual policy: *demanding disguised technical criteria*, which only occurred once, and using reverse auctions for specialized services, which occurred four times. The latter is related to *indiscriminately using reverse auctions*, which will be discussed in the next section. These six practices are closer to a random decision than to a recurring practice. Nevertheless, they are instances of operational discretion at odds with formal discretion.

In what concerns practices that can be considered in the grey zone, I found three of them. The first two are *using SRP for architectural services*, which was the case of six out of 73 procedures, and *requiring minimum criterion quantity over 50% of service quantity*, which only occurred in seven procedures. These are evidently arbitrary practices, but only six or seven instances may not be enough to turn them into dominant patterns of practice. Regardless, audit offices at federal, state and municipal levels should watch these issues, for such practices could become widespread without supervision, as one can witness by the ubiquitous use of reverse auctions.

The third practice in the grey zone is *using criteria not relevant to services procured*, which was the case of 29 procedures (or 34 criteria out of 200 criteria analyzed). In spite of its frequency, in only one case the criterion used was blatantly irrelevant to the service procured (reverse auction 765701 0007/2017 – Section 9.6.3.5). In the other cases, the criterion might not be the most reasonable, but at least it would not be an obvious case of inadequacy; for instance, demanding *experience in architectural design*, which does not necessarily include experience with design for renovation, for services that included design for renovation.

9.10.2 Actual policy

Given their frequency, the remaining practices listed on Table 41 can be said to make up actual policy, namely *bundling different services in the same item; employing imprecise*

classification from CATSER; indiscriminately using reverse auctions; not using prize competitions; using criteria without definition; not informing quantity of service; and not requiring minimum quantity of capacity.

For understanding how the practices above can constitute actual policy, I employed pattern coding, as mentioned in Section 8.7. From this list of recurring practices, I tried to discover what they have in common, and in which way such practices can be translated into patterns of decisions. I found four dominant patterns of practice, which I list below.

- Privileging reverse auctions regardless of the nature of the service two practices constitute this policy: *indiscriminately using reverse auctions* and *not using prize competitions*.
- Procuring different services in the same item the practice of bundling different services in the same item constitute this actual policy.
- 3. <u>Shortcutting the specification of services</u> two practices comprise this actual policy: *employing imprecise classification from CATSER* and *not informing quantity of service*.
- 4. <u>Devising imprecise criteria</u> two practices make up this policy: *using criteria without definition* and *not requiring minimum quantity of capacity*.

The patterns of practice listed above may be the result of evidently arbitrary decisions, such as *bundling different services in the same item*, or they may be the result of operational discretion, such as *not requiring minimum quantity of capacity*. However, they do add up to actual policies that contradict intended policies; they have become expected organizational behaviour.

To provide a clearer portrait of how they are related, in Table 42 I present the connection between intended policies, frequent practices that do not comply with intended policies, and resulting actual policies. In the first column I included the source of the intended policy. I will discuss these actual policies in the next chapter.

Table 42 - Intended policies and actual policies

Intended policy	Practice	Actual policy
Reverse auctions can only be used for common goods and services (Law 10.520, Art. 1)	Indiscriminately using reverse auctions	Privileging reverse auctions regardless of the nature of the service
Architectural services should be procured preferably by means of prize competitions (Law 8.666, Art. 13 § 1)	Not using prize competitions	
Each service must be procured by means of its respective item (TCU 2014, 31)	Bundling different services in the same item	Procuring different services in the same item
Each item should be classified according to the CATSER table, reflecting the nature of the service procured (IN-5 Appendix V item 2.1.b)	Employing imprecise classification from CATSER	Shortcutting the specification of services
The quantity of service procured must be informed in solicitation documents (IN-5 Appendix V items 2.1.a, 2.4.a)	Not informing quantity of service	
Technical criteria must include capacities that are relevant to the services procured (Law 8.666, Art. 30, § 1, II)	Using criteria without definition	Devising imprecise criteria
The quantity of capacities required should be informed in solicitation documents (IN-5 Appendix VII-A item 10.3.a)	Not requiring minimum quantity of capacity	

10 Discussion

In previous chapters I analyzed technical criteria for the procurement of architectural services using the concept of discretion, drawn on street-level bureaucracy theory. This theory posits that bureaucrats' discretion may enable practices that contradict regulations. Accordingly, I identified a number of instances where actual policy – understood as the dominant patterns of practice – contradicts intended policy. In line with street-level bureaucracy theory, results of this study reveal that procurement officials, working under the limits of their formal discretion and sometimes extrapolating them, produced policies that are "biased in ways unintended by the agencies whose policies are being implemented or are antithetical to some of their objectives" (Lipsky 1980, 83).

In the following sections, I will discuss actual policies found in this inquiry and their consequences, as proposed by street-level bureaucracy theory. Given the problem-solving character of this study, I will also approach the conditions that enable actual policies and propose recommendations for policy-makers and practitioners.

10.1 Actual policies diverging from intended policies

Street-level bureaucracy theory aims to identify actual policy, seen as the dominant patterns of practice, that conflicts with intended policies devised by policy-makers. Below I will relate the actual policies identified in this inquiry to the main concepts that structured the results, namely solicitation methods, services procured and technical criteria.

10.1.1 Actual policy related to solicitation methods

From the analysis of patterns of practice concerning solicitation methods I identified the policy of *privileging reverse auctions regardless of the nature of the service*. Two practices constitute this policy: indiscriminately using reverse auctions and not using prize competitions. Indiscriminately using reverse auctions contradicts Law 10.520. Not using prize competitions could be considered a discretionary decision stemming from an interpretation of IN-5. Nevertheless, this practice goes against what is intended by Law 8.666, as reviewed in Section 9.8.2. I discuss these issues below.

10.1.1.1 Not using prize competitions

Law 8.666 establishes that prize competitions are the preferred method for procurement of specialized technical professional services, including architectural projects. However, this inquiry shows that there was zero procurement for architectural services carried out by means of prize competitions in 2017.

At first sight, this looks like a plain case where actual policy is at odds with intended policy. Yet, as seen in the literature review (Section 4.2), prize competitions are most appropriate for services that require unusual solutions or for services including a strong aesthetic concern, and they are normally employed for new construction, not for renovation or restoration. This means that only architectural services concerning the pre-design phase for new construction would be fit for prize competitions. In this study, this type of service corresponded to less than 4% of items procured (4 out of 104 items, as reviewed in Section 9.3.3).

Given this issue, we may question the reasonability of the intended policy. On the one hand, CAU-BR and IAB have repeatedly reminded procurement officials that prize competitions are the preferred method for procurement of architectural services according to Law 8.666. In this regard, it would be a logical move to let practicing architects instead of procurement officials, who may have no knowledge on architecture, evaluate the skills of other architects. On the other hand, one can hardly endorse prize competitions for all types of architectural projects, as mentioned in the paragraph above. For instance, it would be a waste of time and resources promoting a prize competition for the design of a parking lot or for the design of a common office renovation.

It is also noteworthy the silence of IN-5 on prize competitions as a solicitation method for procurement of services (Section 6.2.5.2). One would expect that IN-5 would implement prize competitions, given the preference established by Law 8.666. However, as noted by

Professor Raso, "legislative frameworks may remain 'as silent as possible' on particularly complex or controversial matters, leaving administrators to decide these issues at the front lines" (2018, 43). This is the case of IN-5 and prize competitions. The lack of a more detailed framework for the application of prize competitions may discourage procurement officials in this regard.

10.1.1.2 Indiscriminately using reverse auctions

The use of reverse auctions for professional services, including architectural services, is questionable. Reverse auctions may lead to a race to the bottom of prices, threatening the feasibility of the service (Fernandes 2016, 133; Guarnieri and Gomes 2019, 2). The gambling character of reverse auctions was clear in two of the cases studied here reverse auctions 158720 0004/2017 and 787700 0006/2016 (Sections 9.9.2 and 9.9.3). This is a problem that may compromise procurement of any type of items, but it is more troublesome when it regards a service where quality has a significant impact on the outcomes, such as architectural services. Results in this study (Section 9.3.6) showed many instances of reverse auctions where the discrepancy between estimated values and contracted values was very high, which could be an indication of prices that are not feasible. Even so, it is not known to what extent very low contracted values, as those seen here, can lead to problems during the execution of the service. In two of the cases studied reverse auctions 200108 0008/2017 and 787700 0006/2016 (Sections 9.9.1 and 9.9.3) - it is quite reasonable to presume that the low contracted value was a cause for undesired outcomes. Yet, this remains anecdotal evidence. For a better understanding of this issue, it would be necessary a study focusing on price feasibility.

Given the inherent complexity of architectural services, as reviewed in Section 4.1.2, one could conclude that reverse auctions would be unfit for procurement of such services. From the analysis of the regulatory framework and the concrete cases, however, one may contend that reverse auctions can reasonably be used in procurement of services exclusive for architects that do not regard a specific project, namely outsourced architectural services. In such occurrences, there is no technical dimension inherent to the service, as discussed in

239

Section 4.4, and thus any member of the professional order would be qualified to perform these services. Reverse auctions could also be employed, albeit more questionably, in other cases where it is evident that any architect could perform the service, such as the design of a parking lot or the production of "as built" landscape drawings. Still, under a strict interpretation of Law 8.666, even outsourced architectural services ought not to be procured by means of reverse auctions, since it is not possible to measure their performance and quality by means of usual market specifications (Castro and Lopes 2004, 327). The problems associated with the indiscriminate use of reverse auctions confirm that the harm of contradictory rules surfaces when people try to apply such rules, as mentioned in Section 6.3.

10.1.2 Actual policies related to services procured

The patterns of practice concerning services procured do not regard the services themselves, but rather the way the services are procured. I found two policies related to this matter.

The first policy is *procuring different services in the same item*. The practice of bundling different services in the same item constitute this actual policy. This practice violates IN-5. It may lead to the use of inadequate criteria for at least one of the bundled services. For instance, when architectural and engineering services are bundled, technical criteria may privilege the choice of an engineer, which can compromise the quality of the architectural service performed. That was the case in reverse auction 200108 0008/2017, discussed in Section 9.9.1. In that reverse auction, an engineering firm was engaged for performing architectural services, without an architect in their workforce. This might have led to their desertion of the contract.

The second policy is *shortcutting the specification of services*. Two practices comprise this actual policy: employing imprecise classification from CATSER and not informing quantity of service. In both cases, procurement officials fail to provide a precise description of the service procured. These may be considered discretionary practices, for regulations do not explicitly describe how services should be specified, and the CATSER table leaves ample room for confusion. Nevertheless, when imprecise classification is employed, transparency will be affected, since data related to procurement of a given service will not be accurate. Furthermore, this practice may prevent capable firms from bidding, since they would not be aware of a procedure regarding services they are able to perform. Lastly, when procurement officials do not inform the quantity of service procured, there is a direct effect on criteria that should be used, for the minimum quantity of a technical criterion depends on the quantity of service procured. In the absence of this information, it is not even possible to assess whether the criterion used respects the 50% maximum allowed by the regulatory framework. The consequence is that an unskilled bidder might win the contract. That was the case, amongst many other irregularities, in reverse auction 158720 0004/2017 (Section 9.9.2). In that reverse auction, the quantity of experience demanded was way under what could be considered reasonable when one accounts for the estimated cost of services procured.

10.1.3 Actual policy related to technical criteria

From the analysis of patterns of practice concerning technical criteria I identified the policy of *devising imprecise criteria*. Two practices make up this policy: using criteria without definition and not requiring minimum quantity of capacity. These could be regarded as instances of discretionary decisions, for the legal framework does not establish precisely how criteria must be described. Nevertheless, it does establish that criteria must be defined by means of objective parameters, as mentioned in Section 6.2.2.6. The use of imprecise criteria in procurement can lead to arbitrary decisions on bidders' capacities. Such decisions were the case in procedures 765701 0007/2017 and 787700 0006/2016 (Sections 9.6.3.5 and 9.9.3 respectively). In these instances, procurement officials' judgement may have led to the choice of winners that were not suitable to perform the services procured. Moreover, their decisions could be regarded as favoritism for one bidder. I will discuss further on this matter in the following section.

10.1.4 The matter of reflective judgement

The problems related to the actual policy of devising imprecise criteria may be seen as a matter of when (during which phase of procurement) officials undertake a reflective judgement. Devising a technical criterion necessarily implies a certain level of reflective judgement. For instance, is experience with design for a new library relevant for designing a new school? At one point, procurement officials need to rely on their experience, or their "prudence" (Aristotle 2003, 390; Aquinas 1960, 33, 280; Burke 1988, 80; Flyvbjerg 2001, 2), for making this kind of decisions, which ought to be framed by their formal discretion.

When procurement officials define capacities required and state them in the solicitation document, they use their reflective judgement during the pre-contractual phase of procurement, before soliciting bidders. This has two advantages. It gives the opportunity, for interested parties, to submit objections questioning the suitability of a problematic criterion, which may lead to its correction. It also provides an objective criterion to assess submitted bids, even though this objective criterion is the result of a reflective judgement. This was the case of procedure 152663 0005/2017, reviewed in Section 9.6.3.1.

When procurement officials opt for employing a vague capacity, such as *experience with services similar to the services procured*, they transfer their reflective judgement to the selection phase of procurement, when they choose the winning bid. At this point, it is too late to correct the criterion, and there is no objective parameter for judging submissions. This enables arbitrary decisions, as was the case of procedure 765701 0007/2017, reviewed in Section 9.6.3.5. It is thus better to make this reflective judgement before analyzing submissions than during their analysis – meaning that capacities required should be defined as objectively as possible during the pre-contractual phase of procurement.

The issue of minimum quantities required in a technical criterion falls on the same reflective judgement conundrum. On the one hand, there is no formula for calculating the optimal quantity of a capacity that would assure the contract is awarded to a sufficiently skilled bidder. On the other hand, not specifying a minimum quantity in the solicitation document enables a judgement of bidders' qualification lacking objectivity. Therefore, it

would be better to set a minimum quantity in the pre-contractual phase and to evaluate submissions accordingly. This was the case, for instance, in procedure 925138 0028/2017. Procurement officials were able to objectively judge the winners' qualification and dismiss a protest because they had established a minimum quantity in the solicitation document, as weighed in Section 9.6.3.6. By contrast, in procedure 254445 0291/2017 no quantity was established in the solicitation document. Thus, procurement officials had to dismiss a protest on this matter without an objective measure to support their decision, as reviewed in Section 9.6.3.9.

Still, the question of how much of a capacity should be required lingers. In some instances, it would be clear that not a lot of experience is required for the service procured. As Figure 27 shows (page 196), some criteria in this study required 10% or less of the quantity of the service procured, and these low figures were not the subject of protests – although the absence of minimum quantity was. In other instances, it might be sensible to request for as much as possible of a capacity. In such cases, regulations have already established the threshold of 50% of the quantity of the service procured. For those cases where this decision is not clear, procurement officials may employ the Aristotelian concept of virtue, which aims to prevent both excess and deficiency. Aristotle suggested that, when answers cannot be exact, one should aspire for the mean, based on past experiences (2003, 336, 346–47). Under this view, the values for the mean and for the mode reviewed in Section 9.5.2 may help procurement officials in their judgement.

10.2 Negative effects of actual policies

As street-level bureaucracy theory proposes, the problems of actual policies come up when their outcomes are "biased in ways unintended by the agencies [...] or are antithetical to some of their objectives" (Lipsky 1980, 83). I mentioned earlier that the main objective in public procurement is usually the purchase of items that offer optimal value for procuring entities (Section 3.4). Nevertheless, in Brazil the main goals of public procurement are controlling corruption and assuring bidders are treated equally (Section 6.2). To analyze

unintended of antithetical effects of actual policies in relation to these objectives, it might be useful to employ the systems model discussed in Section 3.2.

What we have seen in this inquiry is that the conversion phase, when policies and regulations turn into practices, is not delivering optimal value for procuring entities' money. Privileging reverse auctions encourages the lowest bidder, not the most qualified bidder. Reverse auctions create a gambling environment that encourages bidders to plunge their prices. It is fair to reason that low-paid winning firms will have to sacrifice working hours which would otherwise be dedicated to refining conceptual designs or to identify interference problems amongst architectural projects and complementary projects. Procuring different services in the same item and shortcutting the specification of services reduces economic competition, thus also reducing the chances of a qualified bidder. Devising imprecise criteria increases the chance of an arbitrary choice of winning submissions, which may benefit unskilled bidders. Together, these actual policies lead to outputs of unskilled bidders being chosen for architectural services. Unqualified, low paid bidders are hardly going to produce high quality projects. In turn, the quality of construction works will suffer, threatening public organizations' outcomes.

In regard to the Brazilian regulatory framework's main goals, this research does not allow me to draw definite conclusions on the outcomes of controlling corruption. On the one hand, we have seen that actual practices do offer a relatively high level of transparency (Section 9.1.1), which is an element of policies for controlling corruption. On the other hand, devising imprecise criteria may be seen as a means for an arbitrary judgement of bidders' qualifications, which opens doors for corrupt activities. In what concerns the equal treatment of bidders, procurement officials' practices leave a lot to be desired. Actual policies such as not using prize competitions and indiscriminately using reverse auctions skew procedures towards unskilled, high-risk taking bidders who are willing to plunge their prices to win bids. That is detrimental to experienced bidders who would be able to provide a higher quality output, consequently decreasing the likelihood of successful outcomes for the procuring entity.

244

10.3 Conditions for discrepancy

This study revealed a number of discrepancies between intended policy and actual policy. Such discrepancies may be the result of negligence, including lack of awareness of rules, or of deliberate disrespect for rules (Russell [1954] 2014, 20; Guess and Farnham 2011, 19; Santos 2018, 241). As the street-level bureaucracy theory suggests, explanations for negligence or deliberate disrespect ought to be found in the context where decisions are made (Lipsky 1980, 17). Although I do not have the pretension to provide causes for these phenomena, it is thus important to consider the context that renders them possible. Three factors may be at stake here: the legal context of procurement officials' work; procurement officials' shortfall of needed skills; and scant oversight. I will comment on them below.

10.3.1 Legal context

The regulatory framework governing procurement officials' activities in Brazil is so complex that they find themselves in the situation described by Maynard-Moody and Musheno as "rule saturated but not rule bound" (2003, 10). In situations where rules are so abundant and sometimes contradictory, complying with all of them would not be attainable (Lipsky 1980, 14; Wilson 2000, 323; McCue, Prier, and Steinfeld 2020, 13). As reviewed in Section 6.2, the Brazilian legal framework is rule-intensive, and the opposition between IN-5, which gives precedence to reverse auctions, and Law 8.666, which gives precedence to prize competitions, is an example of contradictory rules regarding procurement of architectural services. In such a context, procurement officials may find it harsh to discern their formal discretion and translate it correctly into operational discretion.

10.3.2 Shortfall of needed skills

High-capacity agencies are the minority of Brazilian public organizations (Bersch, Praça, and Taylor 2017a, 164). In low capacity procuring entities, unskilled procurement officials may find themselves in charge of important and expensive procedures, making arbitrary or ill-informed decisions without being aware of this situation. As reviewed in Section 2.1, in this context procurement officials may replicate decisions that were made in past

procurement procedures, usually without questioning whether such decisions are suitable to the particular service being procured.

Even amongst high-skilled procurement officials, it is not realistic to expect that they have deep knowledge in every type of services and goods they must procure (Thai 2001, 40). In the context of architectural services, procurement officials and architects should share experiences and information on their respective fields for improving the odds of effective procurement procedures. However, this dialogue between bureaucrats and professionals can be very challenging (Thai 2001, 40). Hence it may be difficult for procurement officials to correctly translate the technical dimension of architecture into technical criteria.

10.3.3 Scant oversight

The lack of oversight enables arbitrary decisions without consequences for decision makers in Brazilian public procurement. Extreme cases of arbitrariness such as those reviewed in Sections 9.6.3.5 and 9.7.1.4 are only possible because there is no one watching out for these procedures. As discussed in Section 6.1.1, the Federal Audit Office does not hold enforcement power. Even if it did, procurement procedures have not been the focus of its attention. Procurement officials thus are subjected to little accountability. Under these conditions, there is not much incentive for procurement officials to improve their practice. For instance, it may seem safer to reproduce procedures that have already been employed by other procuring entities, given the regulatory framework contradictions on solicitation methods. Since most completed procedures employed reverse auctions without consequences for procurement officials, sticking to this solicitation method is bound to be their easiest and safest choice. Furthermore, in the unlikely event that they are questioned about their decisions, they may argue that their practices are standard amongst public organizations, which can be viewed as a blame avoidance strategy (Hood 2011, 17).

10.4 Recommendations for policy makers

The review above corroborates the argument of Arrowsmith, Linarelli and Wallace Jr (2000, 18), mentioned in Section 3.3, suggesting that an effective procurement system

depends not only on its regulatory framework but also on its procurement environment. The conditions for the discrepancies unveiled on this research are elements of the procurement system. For improving the Brazilian procurement system from a top-down perspective, policy makers should focus on these elements, as I discuss below.

10.4.1 Enforcement

Given the volume of procurement procedures, it is not reasonable to expect that the Federal Audit Office would review all procedures carried out by means of *Comprasnet*. In 2019 alone, more than 177 thousand procurement procedures were carried out in that platform¹²².

As mentioned in Section 9.2.4, the value of procurement procedures for architectural services is generally low, thus they may not be worth the attention of the Federal Audit Office. Nevertheless, architectural services will generate high-value procurement procedures for construction. The quality of architectural services will have a substantial impact on construction itself. The value of architectural services may not represent a big chunk of an organization's budget, but construction generated by these services will. Consequently, procurement of architectural services deserves strong oversight.

This research did not focus on oversight, enforcement or accountability. Therefore, more research is needed for sound recommendations on these matters. Nevertheless, it is reasonable to expect that a stronger oversight is likely to improve enforcement of the regulatory framework, thus reducing cases of arbitrary practices.

10.4.2 Organization

As mentioned in Section 3.3.1.2, the literature on public procurement suggests that a centralized office for public purchasing can improve the procurement system. Such centralization should reduce incoherence amongst procurement procedures, such as those realized by IPHAN, reviewed in Section 9.3.5. Having a centralized platform for carrying out procedures, which is the case of *Comprasnet*, is a step in the right direction.

¹²² https://www.gov.br/compras/pt-br/

Nevertheless, the creation of a centralized organization for public procurement might be elusive given the decentralized nature of the Brazilian federal administration. It might be more useful do build on *Comprasnet*'s success, making it simpler and improving transparency – for instance, the availability of data, as reviewed in Section 9.1.1, is likely to improve by means of a mechanism that would prevent payments to be made unless all mandatory documents are available in the system.

10.4.3 Personnel

The street-level bureaucracy theory suggests that, due to the high level of discretion held by procurement officials, managerial supervision or additional rules to frame discretion can do little to improve their efficiency. Governments would be better-off improving procurement officials' skills, as the literature reviewed in Sections 3.3.1.3 and 3.3.2.2 implied.

In this vein, it is advisable to invest in procurement officials' training, especially in refining their judgement. Such training should aim at improving coherence between services procured, solicitation methods and technical criteria. This research revealed that often their judgement regarding technical criteria will be situated in a grey zone – for instance, what experience would be compatible with the service *design for a parking lot*, or what quantity of experience is reasonable for the design of 500 square meters of new intensive care units in a hospital?

The choice of solicitation method is also an issue that deserves to be approached in a training program for procurement officials. This choice, again, depends on their judgement. As mentioned in Section 4.2, open tendering and reverse auctions are more suitable for selecting the lower price; request for proposals, for choosing a specific architect; and prize competitions, for choosing the best design. Under the Brazilian regulatory framework, however, these distinctions are not so clear-cut, because request for proposals and open tendering are in practice the same method. Procurement officials still must make discretionary decisions, based on their judgement, on whether a service requires the choice of an innovative design, which would call for prize competitions; or whether it requires the service of an experienced architect, which would call for a value-based open tendering (or

request for proposals/request for quotations, depending on the value); or whether a service only requires the cheapest service provider, which would call for a reverse auction.

Critically calling out past procurement procedures may enhance procurement officials' reflexive judgement, thus improving coherence between services procured, solicitation methods and technical criteria. Training programs based on case studies of real procedures could be particularly suitable for this goal (Flyvbjerg 2001, 82).

10.4.4 Regulatory framework

It would be tempting to improve decisions concerning technical criteria and solicitation methods by implementing further rules to guide procurement officials' discretion. But they already work in a very complex legal environment, comprising too many rules that do not constitute a coherent whole. Additional rules would likely be perceived as just more red tape, thwarting efficiency in procurement (Wilson 2000, 345; Maynard-Moody and Portillo 2012, 274).

The proposed bill discussed in Section 6.2.8 seems to be a step in the right direction, replacing the three main laws by a supposedly less complex one. Although its learningcurve costs can be high (Sclar 2000, 44–45), the new law is expected to simplify the regulatory framework of public procurement, thus reducing overall costs in the long term.

But what can be done specifically for addressing the difficulty to devise technical criteria for architectural services under the current regulatory framework? The Brazilian government has published guides for procurement of some types of services, namely surveillance, cleaning and transportation (Brasil 2019a). Procurement of architectural services has its own set of challenges, as discussed in this research. Given the financial impact of architectural services, it would be advisable to produce a guide for these services too. In what concerns the main points discussed in this inquiry, and in accordance with extant rules, I would suggest including the topics below in such a guide:

- To provide an objective judgement of bids, a defined capacity relevant to the service procured must always be included in technical criteria. If any experience is accepted, this should also be stated, but procurement officials should not employ the mere reproduction of contents of the regulation as a technical criterion.
- For the same reason, it is important to require a minimum quantity. Even if not much experience is needed, procurement officials should establish an objective threshold for measuring bidders' qualification. The average or the mode unveiled in this study (Section 9.5.2) may be employed as reference points for this matter.
- Prize competitions are not necessarily the best avenue for procurement of architectural services. Some services requiring specialized knowledge demand a strict analysis of specialized qualification, thus a value-based process, including evaluation criteria, should be preferred. Prize competitions would serve better as a solicitation method for services requiring particularly creative solutions or services demanding a subjective assessment of aesthetic qualities.
- Reverse auctions can only be used for services that do not regard a specific project for instance, it could be used for contracting outsourced architects that would work in a regular basis for a procuring entity.

Despite the recommendations above, we must acknowledge that "general policies are no substitute for wise judgements", as philosopher Julian Baggini puts it (2008, 128). Therefore, investing in procurement officials' training still seems to be the best way for improving procurement procedures for architectural services in Brazil.

10.5 Recommendations for practitioners

The discrepancies unveiled in this study also underscore the need of improving practices in procurement of architectural services from a bottom-up perspective. In regard to technical criteria, procurement officials may be tempted to devise restrictive criteria to ensure only skilled bidders can be qualified. This strategy, however, must be balanced with the primary objective in procurement of fostering economic competition for achieving optimal allocation of resources. Enforcing strict criteria for procuring architectural services may

thus be counterproductive. As reviewed in Section 4.1.1, an architect's experience is not always pledge of a good quality project. Furthermore, too strict technical criteria would be unconstitutional, as mentioned in Section 6.2.1.

It can be argued that any Brazilian architect, member of their professional order, could be considered capable of executing services exclusive for architects. In this regard, procurement officials should avoid usurping the role of professional orders, since the latter are responsible for determining who are the professionals qualified in their fields. Nevertheless, it is hardly desirable to grant any service to any architect. Results of this study revealed instances where specialized knowledge is essential for accomplishing services procured. These were the cases of design for a pharmaceutical laboratory and design for restoration of heritage buildings. These services conjugate spatial design with skills that go beyond the average architect's skills, demanding knowledge that is not taught in architectural schools. These types of services, which are not restricted to the two mentioned above, could thus be classified as specialized technical professional services, under the definition proposed by Justen Filho, reviewed in Section 7.1.3.

Unfortunately, it is not possible to produce a list of all architectural services that could match the classification of specialized technical professional services. Procurement officials ought to use their prudence, framed by their formal discretion, to identify such cases. One particularly difficult instance would be the case of design for renovation or retrofit. This service is generally more complex than design for new construction. Thus, in some cases, such as the renovation of a hospital including a surgery center and rooms for sterilized materials (e.g., procedure 155124 0003/2017), the service would be considered a specialized technical professional service, whereas in other cases, such as renovation of an office (e.g., procedure 170217 0008/2017), it would not.

In what concerns solicitation methods and their relation to services procured, the contradiction between Law 8.666 and IN-5 leaves ample discretion for procurement officials, discretion that they have not used in line with the intended policy. In this regard, procurement officials must recognize that a law takes precedence over its regulations. Therefore, they should classify architectural services as services of predominantly intellectual nature, thus precluding the use of reverse auctions as a solicitation method – bar procedures for contracting outsourced architects that would work on a regular basis for the procuring entity. This practice should improve the chances that an adequate solicitation method will be employed, enhancing the importance of technical criteria for the selection of a skilled architect, instead of the lowest price.

11 Conclusion

It is suggested that the conclusion of a thesis should sum up the main results, discuss the work in relation to the theory used, present contributions to the domain of study, underscore the original aspects of the inquiry, address limitations of the findings and propose new avenues for research (Phillips and Pugh 2010, 66–67). This chapter is thus divided accordingly, starting with a summary of main results, followed by implications of my findings to street-level bureaucracy theory and their contributions to the field of technical criteria within the field of public procurement, then a discussion on originality and limitations of this study, closing with suggestions for future research.

11.1 Summary of main results

In this section I reprise the main results of this study, in line with the research questions proposed.

What is the intended policy for the procurement of architectural services?

I approached the intended policy in Chapter 7. In Section 7.1, we have seen that, as a rule, these services should be considered services of a predominantly intellectual nature. Therefore, they should not be procured by means of reverse auctions. However, vague concepts and contradictions within the regulatory framework create discretion, allowing procurement officials to extensively use reverse auctions. In Section 7.2, I discussed the characteristics of technical criteria that may be employed for procuring architectural services, namely proof of experience related to the service procured and the quantity of such experience. In Section 7.3 we have seen that any type of architectural services; they should not be procured alongside other types of services, such as engineering, bundled as only one item.

What solicitation methods are employed for the procurement of architectural services?

I reviewed the solicitation methods employed in procurement for architectural services in Section 9.2. Most of the time architectural services are procured by means of reverse auctions. No prize competition was carried out in the period studied.

What architectural services are procured?

In Section 9.3 I approached the matter of services procured. More than half of the items procured concern basic design or execution design of architectural projects, but most of the time they were not classified correctly as architectural services.

What technical criteria are used?

Section 9.4 reviewed the capacities required as technical criteria. In roughly half of the criteria studied here the capacity *experience with similar/compatible/relevant design* was employed, which may leave room for reflective judgements. In Section 9.5 I dealt with the quantity of criteria required. Very few procedures imposed a quantity above the legal threshold. However, in most cases no quantity was informed at all, which again leaves room for reflective judgements.

What are the actual practices of procurement of architectural services?

Section 9.8 synthesizes the practices observed in this study. The most common arbitrary practices are *not using prize competitions, bundling different services in the same item, indiscriminately using reverse auctions, not requiring minimum quantity of capacity,* and *employing imprecise classification from CATSER.* In Section 9.9 I portrayed some cases of procurement procedures, highlighting negative outcomes of arbitrary practices.

What are the dominant patterns of practice that add up to actual policy?

In Section 9.10 I discussed the dominant patterns of practice that added up to actual policy. Four dominant patterns were identified: *privileging reverse auctions regardless of the nature of the service, procuring different services in the same item, shortcutting* *the specification of services* and *devising imprecise criteria*. As argued in Chapter 10, these actual policies go against the primary objective in public procurement, which is the purchase of items that offer optimal value for procuring entities. They do not contribute either to the main goals of public procurement in Brazil, which are controlling corruption and assuring bidders are treated equally.

11.2 Implications for street-level bureaucracy theory

Applying different theoretical frameworks to practice can lead to a greater understanding of procurement officials' work (Koala and Steinfeld 2018, 299). Here I presented an instance where street-level bureaucracy theory was applied for analyzing the work of procurement officials. As street-level bureaucracy theory proposes, results from this research confirm that administrative discretion can lead to a discrepancy between intended policy and actual policy. Although procurement officials cannot be considered street-level bureaucrats, the theory proved useful for unveiling unintended practices stemming from administrative discretion in their case. Procurement officials do not interact directly with citizens, yet these unintended practices yield effects on the population. In the case of procurement of architectural services, undesired outcomes can take the shape of reduced lifetime, costly maintenance or inadequate spaces of public buildings and structures due to low-quality architectural projects.

Unlike recent studies based on street-level bureaucracy theory, which focus on bureaucrats' perception of discretion (for instance, Henderson, Țiclău, and Balica 2017), this study focuses on discretion in practice; in other words, on operational discretion which adds to actual policies. The actual policies produced by procurement officials are different from those used by street-level bureaucrats, as identified by Lipsky. This difference is in line with previous studies that employed street-level bureaucracy theory to assess the work of other types of bureaucrats, as mentioned in Section 5.4. Instead of the general practices found by Lipsky – rationing services, controlling clients, husbanding resources and managing consequences (Section 5.3) – procurement officials in this study engaged in actual policy that is specific to the nature of their work. Namely, they privilege reverse

auctions regardless of the nature of the service, they procure different services in the same item, they shortcut the specification of services and they devise imprecise criteria.

The unintended practices observed are only possible in a procurement environment which allows for great discrepancies, as those found in this study. The conditions for discrepancy reviewed in Section 10.3, namely the complex legal context of procurement officials' work, procurement officials' shortfall of needed skills, and scant oversight, all lead to a high level of administrative discretion. As posited by street-level bureaucracy theory, this high level of discretion is the enabler of divergences between intended policy and actual policy.

This research also endorses comparing intended policy and actual policy as a useful tool for finding unintended outcomes, as proposed by street-level bureaucracy theory. In this inquiry, I unveiled discretionary and arbitrary decisions nested in the practice of procurement officials. The main difficulty of this approach lies in assessing actual policy. Public documents concerning procurement turned out to be a valuable source of information in this inquiry, in spite of the initial challenges I faced to retrieve relevant data. This research has thus enlarged street-level bureaucracy theory's field of application into the domain of public procurement.

11.3 Contributions to research on technical criteria in public procurement

Studies on technical criteria in procurement are very few. Concerning technical criteria in general, researchers have underlined the need of studies focused on successful criteria and their contexts in order to limit undesired behaviour (Ruparathna and Hewage 2015, 1). It is also suggested that a more comprehensive understanding of qualification and evaluation activities in public procurement is needed for proper use of discretion (Patrucco, Luzzini, and Ronchi 2017, 262–63). Concerning technical criteria in procurement of architectural services, researchers have suggested that comparing technical criteria in different jurisdictions (Sporrong 2014, 33) and analyzing the relationship between technical criteria demanded and results in procurement (Volker 2012, 757) are two avenues to be pursued. In what pertains to the Brazilian context, there is a lack of empirical studies about

technical criteria; such studies could be a starting point for improving the selection of bidders (Lotta, Pires, and Oliveira 2014, 465; Fernandes 2016, 428; TCU 2019b, 49).

By describing current practices regarding procurement of architectural services in Brazil, this study fills some of the gaps mentioned above. First, I have provided a detailed description of technical criteria and the context in which they were used, including services procured, solicitation methods employed, values of procedures, eventual protests and cancellations (Sections 9.2 through 9.7). Second, I have provided an account of procurement officials' discretionary decisions in Sections 9.6.3, 9.7.1 and 9.9, where I analyzed protests, cancelled procedures and other selected cases of procedures, respectively. This account shows that procurement officials often ignore regulations when they devise and when they evaluate technical criteria. Third, the description of criteria and their context may also enable future research comparing criteria employed in Brazil with criteria employed in other jurisdictions. Finally, the analysis of cancelled procedures due to technical criteria (Section 9.7), as well as the analysis of cases unveiling undesirable results (Section 9.9), contribute to the understanding of the relationship between technical criteria demanded and results in procurement.

I also propose a conceptual perspective for approaching technical criteria for architectural services. As suggested in Figure 8 (Section 4.4), I analyzed technical criteria as the interface between the technical dimension of architecture and criteria for selection of bidders in procurement. Thus, relevant criteria for architectural services are those that correctly translate this technical dimension into technical criteria. This view is compatible with the Brazilian regulatory framework, which provides that criteria demanded must be relevant to the subject matter of procurement.

Finally, I identified the problem of discrepancy between intended policy and actual policy, drawing on street-level bureaucracy theory. Procurement officials use their discretionary powers to determine what is technically relevant in a service. Yet, some decisions made by procurement officials can be considered unintended or arbitrary. Section 10.2 accounts for the negative effects of the actual policy, especially the bias towards unskilled, high-risk

taking bidders. Results in this study corroborate findings from previous research on technical criteria, mentioned in Section 4.3, showing that there is a disconnection between actual policy and intended policy (Sporrong 2011, 71). This inquiry can thus be regarded as a contribution to the awareness of unintended and arbitrary decisions in procurement of architectural services.

11.4 Research originality

Table 43 below presents a synthesis of this study's contributions in relation to previously identified needs of research in the field, drawing the relation of these contributions with originality in research, as proposed by Phillips and Pugh (2010, 69). In this regard, this research can be considered original for three reasons. First, it unveils data that is available, but that was not used for producing knowledge. I organized the data obtained from *Comprasnet* and other publicly available sources to look at new areas of the public procurement discipline, producing information that was used for unveiling a problem. Second, it places great emphasis in cross-disciplinarity. In this research I borrowed concepts from the literature on the fields of public procurement, administrative law and architecture, and combined them with a review of the Brazilian regulatory framework, to produce the portrait of an issue in public administration. This interaction of disciplines is usually needed for tackling problems in the real world (Phillips and Pugh 2010, 59). Third, it applies new evidence to an old issue. By analyzing procurement officials' practices under the lens of street-level bureaucracy theory, I was able to devise principles for guiding their discretionary decisions.

Research needed	Contribution	Originality
More information on criteria used and their context (Ruparathna and Hewage 2015, 1)	Description of technical criteria and respective services procured	 Carrying out new empirical work Setting down new information for the first time Looking at new areas of the discipline
Comparison of criteria between jurisdictions (Sporrong 2014, 33)	Portrait of criteria in Brazil makes possible comparing with other jurisdictions	
Relationship between criteria and results of procurement procedures (Volker 2012, 757)	Analysis of criteria which led to protests or cancellation of procurement	
	Analysis of cases showing undesirable results from discretionary decisions	
Exploration of conceptual or theoretical frameworks (Koala and Steinfeld 2018, 299)	Use of theoretical framework from public administration in the context of architecture and administrative law	Being cross-disciplinary
Guidance for proper use of discretion (Patrucco, Luzzini, and Ronchi 2017, 262–63)	Principles for guiding discretion on technical criteria and solicitation methods	Bringing new evidence to bear on an old issue

Table 43 - Research needed, contribution and originality, based on Phillips and Pugh (2010, 69)

11.5 Research limitations

The street-level bureaucracy theory is useful for revealing the discrepancies between intended policies and actual policies. Nevertheless, the theory alone does not provide a deeper understanding on procurement officials' motivations for acting in ways that are not in accordance with intended policies. As mentioned above, this study unveiled a number of conditions that afford such discrepancies. But it is not possible to know for sure what was going on in procurement officials' minds when they opted for a specific criterion or for a specific solicitation method. For a deeper understanding of motivations, a research based on ethnographic approaches and storytelling is more likely to provide fruitful results. The conditions for discrepancy found here may provide a steppingstone for such research. It is also important to mention limits of this study in what concerns architectural services. It was out of my scope to analyze possible aesthetic criteria for architectural services. Therefore, the aesthetic dimension of an architectural service, which could be a criterion for selecting an architect under the Brazilian regulatory framework – by means of prize competitions – was not analyzed. It should be noted that aesthetic criteria are hardly used in practice. There was no prize competition amongst the procedures analyzed, which spanned a whole year.

Finally, there are limitations due to the cross-sectional nature of this study. Only procurement procedures available in *Comprasnet* during year 2017 were included in this research. Documents in *Comprasnet* provide an accurate portrait of practices in Brazilian federal public organizations. Nevertheless, state and municipal organizations were mostly left out of this research. One may contend that the framework law is the same for all public organizations, and that we may expect the procurement environment to be comparable across different jurisdiction levels. Hence, we could hypothesize that practices regarding technical criteria would be similar across all types of organizations. Yet, it might be possible that state and municipal public organizations behave differently than federal ones, since they may establish more detailed rules for their own procurement processes, as long as these rules comply with federal laws. Furthermore, limiting procedures to those carried out in year 2017 prevents us from generalizing the results outside this period.

11.6 Future research

Through this thesis, I spotted some shortfalls on knowledge concerning public procurement which I could not fulfill. I elaborate here on the points that I deem most important for improving scholarship on this matter.

In what regards the cross-sectional nature of this study, new research focussing on extended periods would enable a broader generalization. In addition, a longitudinal study encompassing periods before and after the adoption of the proposed bill (Section 6.2.8) could also offer an insight on whether procurement officials change their practices in light

of the new law. It can be expected that a clearer definition, provided by the new law, of how architectural services ought to be procured might improve related practices of procurement. Also, to extend our knowledge to state and municipal organizations in Brazil, future research could employ concrete case studies dealing with them, as suggested by professor Haridimos Tsoukas (2009, 295). However, a broad study would be very challenging, since information is spread amongst 27 different databases in what concerns organizations under state jurisdictions, and thousands of websites and databases in what concerns municipal organizations, assuming information is available. Researchers would need to employ a sound sampling strategy to assure feasibility and validity of a study of this kind.

In regard to transparency, I mentioned in Section 9.1.1 that, in spite of some difficulties, I was able to obtain all documents that were relevant for this research. This result could serve as a benchmark for comparative studies on levels of transparency. For instance, previous research (Section 4.3) showed that it was difficult to gain access to procurement documents in the Netherlands.

Another fruitful path for research concerning transparency is analyzing the quality of information available. In this inquiry, I have noticed that some practices in procurement harmed the quality of information, most notably bundling different services in the same item and employing imprecise classification of services. Still, it is not known if such practices are restricted to architectural services or are widespread. Furthermore, it is not known whether these practices are concentrated in Brazilian federal organizations; they could also be commonly employed by state and municipal procuring entities.

Like transparency, values of procured services were not the focus of this research. It must be noted, however, that estimated values of services may have an impact on technical criteria. As reviewed in Section 6.2.2.6, the choice of criteria depends on the value of services procured. Therefore, it could be argued that criteria used in a procedure could be biased when procurement officials provide a questionable estimated value of services. The remarkable discrepancies between estimated values and contracted values hint at the need for research on this matter. In this vein, at least three lines of investigation seem fruitful. First, assessing the quality of estimations carried out by procurement officials might shed light on reasons for such discrepancies. Second, it would be useful to assess the quality of services that were contracted for a very low price, or whether there were amendments on the contracted values during the execution of these services. Such information could suggest there should be a lower limit for prices submitted by bidders. Third, an inquiry on values of other types of services could show whether discrepancies between estimated values and contracted values are systemic or restricted to architectural services.

An evaluation of the outcomes of architectural services could also shed light on the relation between value and quality of services. Although it would be difficult to evaluate quality, some objective measures could be employed as a proxy, such as amendments on values during construction, users' satisfaction, maintenance costs, or achieving sustainability certifications. Studies on the outcomes of architectural services could also enable comparative studies between jurisdictions with diverse approaches regarding procurement of these services. In this vein, it could be fruitful to relate solicitation methods and quality of services. For instance, a systematic study exposing the low quality of services procured by reverse auctions would be highly valuable for procurement officials.

It is not clear at this moment if the discrepancies found in this study are limited to architectural services. Research applying the theoretical framework and the methods used here to other types of services is bound to produce useful results.

Finally, not all projects leading to construction are contracted out. Many architectural projects are produced in-house by public organizations. It is not known if the quality of in-house projects is lower than contracted out projects. An evaluation of the outcomes of architectural services, as suggested above, could also focus on comparing these two different sources of architectural projects. This information would be useful for administrators when they have to decide how these services ought to be provided.

12 References

- Abramo, Claudio. 2005. "Latin America: Conditions for Effective Public Procurement Regulations." In *Fighting Corruption and Promoting Integrity in Public Procurement*, edited by OECD. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- AGU, Advocacia-Geral da União. 2015. "Funções Institucionais." Advocacia-Geral da União. May 21, 2015. http://www.agu.gov.br/page/content/detail/id_conteudo/200643.
- ------. 2018. "Modelo de projeto basico obras e serviços de engenharia." AGU. http://www.agu.gov.br/page/download/index/id/38375182.
- Albuquerque, Ana, Marcos Mendes Primo, and Felipe Pereira. 2015. "Advantages, Disadvantages and Risks in the Adoption of Design-Build Contracting Method in the Brazilian Public Sector." *Revista Brasileira de Gestao de Negocios* 17 (54): 822–38.
- Alencastro, João, Alba Fuertes, and Pieter de Wilde. 2017. "Delivering Energy-Efficient Social Housing: Implications of the Procurement Process." *Procedia Engineering* 182: 10–17.
- Alexander, Jennifer, and Samuel Richmond. 2007. "Administrative Discretion: Can We Move Beyond Cider House Rules?" *The American Review of Public Administration* 37 (1): 51–64.
- Amaral, Antônio Carlos. 2014. "Brevíssima crítica às Contratações Públicas." Consultoria CELC Contratações Publicas. July 15, 2014. http://celc.com.br/pdf/comentarios/c2014/c197.pdf.
- Anechiarico, Frank, and James B Jacobs. 1996. *The Pursuit of Absolute Integrity*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Applbaum, Arthur. 1999. Ethics for Adversaries. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Aquinas, Thomas. 1960. The Pocket Aquinas. New York: Washington Square Press.
- Arendt, Hannah. 1958. *The Human Condition*. 2nd ed. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- ———. (1948) 2002. "L'Impérialisme." In *Les origines du totalitarisme. Eichmann à Jerusalem*. Paris: Gallimard.
- . (1961) 2006. Between Past and Future. New York: Penguin Books.

Aristotle. 2003. The Philosophy of Aristotle. London: Signet Classics.

- Armeanu, Eduard. 2011. "Execution of the Public Procurement Procedure." *International Journal of Business and Management* 6 (11): 181–89.
- Arrowsmith, Susan. 2003. *Government Procurement in the WTO*. The Hague: Kluwer Law International.
- Arrowsmith, Susan, John Linarelli, and Don Wallace Jr. 2000. *Regulating Public Procurement: National and International Perspectives*. The Hague: Kluwer Law International.
- Arsenault, Éric. 2012. "Public Procurement." In *Encyclopedic Dictionary of Public Administration*, edited by Louis Côté and Jean-François Savard. Québec: École nationale d'administration publique. www.dictionnaire.enap.ca.
- Atkinson, Michael A. 2011. "Discrepancies in Perceptions of Corruption, or Why Is Canada So Corrupt?" *Political Science Quarterly* 126 (3): 445–64.
- Baeta, André. 2014. "As vantagens dos concursos para a contratação de projetos." IAB -Instituto de arquitetos do Brasil. December 9, 2014. http://www.iab.org.br/artigos/vantagens-dos-concursos-para-contratacao-deprojetos.

Baggini, Julian. 2005. The Pig That Wants to Be Eaten. New York: Plume.

——. 2008. Complaint. From Minor Moan to Principled Protests. London: Profile Books.

——. 2014. Without God, Is Everything Permitted? The 20 Big Questions in Ethics. London: Quercus.

———. 2016. *The Edge of Reason*. New Haven: Yale University Press.

Baggini, Julian, and Peter Fosl. 2003. The Philosopher's Toolkit. Oxford: Blackwell.

Ballantyne, Andrew. 2002a. "Introduction." In What Is Architecture? London: Routledge.

—. 2002b. "The Nest and the Pillar of Fire." In What Is Architecture? London: Routledge.

Banco do Brasil. 2018. "Informação." https://www.licitacoes-e.com.br/aop/index.jsp.

Banki, Ivan Steven. 1986a. "Administrative Discretion." In *Dictionary of Administration* and Management. Los Angeles: Systems Research Institute.

- —. 1986b. "Procurement." In *Dictionary of Administration and Management*. Los Angeles: Systems Research Institute.
- ———. 1986c. "Project." In *Dictionary of Administration and Management*. Los Angeles: Systems Research Institute.
- Barbosa, Fabriza. 2017. "O que é o tempo randômico do Pregão Eletrônico?" Jus. 2017. https://jus.com.br/artigos/59606/o-que-e-o-tempo-randomico-do-pregao-eletronico.
- Barbosa, Filipe, Jonathan Woetzel, Jan Mischke, Maria João Ribeirinho, Mukund Sridar, Matthew Parsons, Nick Bertram, and Stephanie Brown. 2017. "Reinveinting Construction. A Route to Higher Productivity." https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/McKinsey/Business%20Functions/Operations/ Our%20Insights/Reinventing%20construction%20through%20a%20productivity%2 Orevolution/MGI-Reinventing-Construction-Executive-summary.pdf.
- Batista, Mariana. 2015. "Burocracia local e qualidade." *Revista do Serviço Público* 66 (3): 345–70.
- Baviskar, Siddhartha. 2019. "Who Creams? Explaining the Classroom Cream-Skimming Behavior of School Teachers from a Street-Level Bureaucracy Perspective." *International Public Management Journal* 22 (3): 524–59. https://doi.org/10.1080/10967494.2018.1478918.
- Bazilli, Roberto. 1998. "A qualificação técnica no procedimento licitatório e a capacidade técnico-operacional do licitante." *Revista de Direito Administrativo* 211 (jan./mar.): 193–99.
- BCB, Banco Central do Brasil. 2018. "Strategic Planning." 2018. http://www.bcb.gov.br/Pre/Sobre/ingl/PEstrategico-i.asp.
- Beaudoin, Louis. 2004. "Binding." In *Les mots du droit : lexique analogique juridique*, 2nd ed. Cowansville: Éditions Yvon Blais.
- Bennett, Jonathan. 1966. Kant's Analytic. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Bergman, Mats, and Sofia Lundberg. 2011. "Tender Evaluation and Award Methodologies in Public Procurement." SSRN. https://ssrn.com/abstract=1831143.
- Berkovich, Izhak. 2015. "The Corrupted Industry and the 'Wagon-Wheel Effect': A Cross-Country Exploration of the Effect of Government Corruption on Public Service Effectiveness." *Administration & Society*. http://aas.sagepub.com/content/early/2015/09/24/0095399715607287.abstract.
- Bernier, Pierre. 2012. "Transparency." In *Dictionnaire Encyclopédique de l'administration Publique*. on line: ENAP.

http://www.dictionnaire.enap.ca/Dictionnaire/17/Index_par_mot.enap?&by=word& id=74&lng=en.

- Bersch, Katherine, Sérgio Praça, and Matthew M Taylor. 2017a. "Bureaucratic Capacity and Political Autonomy within National States: Mapping the Archipelago of Excellence in Brazil." In *States in the Developing World*, edited by Miguel Centeno, Atul Kohli, and Deborah Yashar, 157–83. Cambridge University Press.
 - ———. 2017b. "State Capacity, Bureaucratic Politicization, and Corruption in the Brazilian State." *Governance* 30 (1): 105–24.
- Beth, Élodie. 2005. "Main Findings of the Forum Workshop on 'Designing and Controlling Sound Procurement Procedures to Ensure Accountability." In *Fighting Corruption and Promoting Integrity in Public Procurement*, edited by OECD. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Beviglia-Zampetti, Americo. 1997. "The UNCITRAL Model Law on Procurement of Goods, Construction and Services." In *Law and Policy in Public Purchasing*. Ann Arbor: The University of Michigan Press.
- Boisvert, Yves, and André Lacroix. 2015. "Introduction." In *Marchés publics à vendre : éthique et corruption*, edited by Yves Boisvert and André Lacroix. Montréal: Liber.
- Boland, Matthew. 2017. "Distortions in Government Contract Awards, Executive Compensation, and Asset Prices: Three Essays in Finance." Kingston: Queen's University. http://qspace.library.queensu.ca/handle/1974/15858.
- Borg, Nils, Ylva Blume, Stefan Thomas, Wolfgang Irrek, Heidrun Faninger-Lund, Peter Lund, and Andrew Pindar. 2006. "Release the Power of the Public Purse." *Energy Policy* 34 (2): 238–50.
- Bosma, A Q, M J J Kunst, A J E Dirkzwager, and P Nieuwbeerta. 2018. "Selection Processes in Prison-Based Treatment Referrals: A Street-Level Bureaucracy Perspective." *Crime & Delinquency* 64 (8): 1001–32.
- Bourdieu, Pierre. (1997) 2003. Méditations pascaliennes. Paris: Éditions du Seuil.
- . (1997) 2015. *Méditations pascaliennes*. Paris: Points.
- Bovens, Mark. 2016. "Revisiting the Study of Policy Failures." *Journal of European Public Policy* 23 (5): 653–66.
- Bowen, Glenn A. 2009. "Document Analysis as a Qualitative Research Method." *Qualitative Research Journal* 9 (2): 27–40.

Bowman, James, Jonathan West, Evan Berman, and Montgomery Van Wart. 2004. *The Professional Edge. Competencies in Public Service.* Armonk: M.E. Sharpe.

Bozeman, Barry. 2000. Bureaucracy and Red Tape. Upper Saddle River: Prentice-Hall.

- Bozeman, Barry, and Mary K Feeney. 2015. Rules and Red Tape: A Prism for Public Administration Theory and Research. New York: Routledge.
- Brandon, Toby. 2005. "Classic Review: Street-Level Bureaucracy." *Disability & Society* 20 (7): 779–83.
- Brasil. 1988. *Constituição da Republica Federativa do Brasil de 1988*. http://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/Constituicao/Constituicao.htm.
- ------. 1993. Lei 8.666. http://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil 03/leis/L8666cons.htm.
- ------. 1994. Decreto 1.094. http://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/decreto/Antigos/D1094.htm.
- . 1997. Decreto 2.271. http://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil 03/decreto/D2271.htm.
- ------. 2002. Lei 10.520. http://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/leis/2002/l10520.htm.

- ------. 2011b. *Lei 12.527*. https://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/_ato2011-2014/2011/lei/l12527.htm.
- ------. 2013. Decreto 7.892. http://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/_ato2011-2014/2013/decreto/d7892.htm.

-. 2017a. "Legislação." Portal de compras - Governo Federal. 2017. https://www.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br/index.php/legislacao.

— 2017b. "Confira as principais mudanças trazidas pela nova Instrução Normativa de Serviços." Portal de compras - Governo Federal. May 29, 2017. https://www.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br/index.php/noticias/761-confira-asprincipais-mudancas-trazidas-pela-nova-instrucao-normativa-de-servicos.

 2018a. "Atualizações nos serviços do Catálogo de Serviços de Tecnologia da Informação e Comunicação – CATSER TIC e em Naturezas de Despesas (ND) de TIC." Portal de compras - Governo Federal. March 8, 2018. https://www.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br/index.php/noticias/887-atualizacoesnos-servicos-do-catalogo-de-servicos-de-tecnologia-da-informacao-e-comunicacaocatser-tic-e-em-naturezas-de-despesas-nd-de-tic.

—. 2018b. "Item 'Água' é padronizado no CATMAT." Portal de compras - Governo Federal. April 20, 2018.

https://www.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br/index.php/noticias/909-item-agua-e-padronizado-no-catmat.

-. 2018c. "Instrução Normativa de Serviços." Perguntas frequentes. May 13, 2018. https://www.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br/index.php/in-servico-faq#P3.

 2018d. "Comprasnet SIASG." May 15, 2018. https://www.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br/index.php/comprasnet-siasg.

—. 2018e. "Dados Abertos - Compras Governamentais." API de Compras Governamentais. June 11, 2018. http://compras.dados.gov.br/docs/home.html.

-. 2018f. *Decreto 9.412*. https://www2.camara.leg.br/legin/fed/decret/2018/decreto-9412-18-junho-2018-786866-publicacaooriginal-155861-pe.html.

------. 2018g. *Decreto* 9.507/2018. http://www.planalto.gov.br/CCIVIL_03/_Ato2015-2018/2018/Decreto/D9507.htm.

—. 2019a. "Cadernos de Logística." Portal de compras - Governo Federal. 2019. https://www.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br/index.php/cadernos.

—. 2019b. "Item certo." Portal de compras - Governo Federal. 2019. https://www.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br/index.php/item-certo.

—. 2019c. "Terceirização." Portal de compras - Governo Federal. February 14, 2019. https://www.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br/index.php/terceirizacaofaq#qualificacao_tecnica. -. 2021. "Portal de Compras do Governo Federal. Legislação." https://www.gov.br/compras/pt-br/acesso-a-informacao/legislacao/orientacoesnormativas.

- Brattström, Erik, and Tomas Hellström. 2019. "Street-Level Priority-Setting: The Role of Discretion in Implementation of Research, Development, and Innovation Priorities." *Energy Policy* 127 (April): 240–47.
- Brown, Chris. 2013. "The Poverty of Grand Theory." *European Journal of International Relations* 19 (3): 483–97.
- Brown, Trevor L, Matthew Potoski, and David M Van Slyke. 2006. "Managing Public Service Contracts: Aligning Values, Institutions, and Markets." *Public Administration Review* 66 (3): 323–31.
- Buffat, Aurélien. 2015. "Street-Level Bureaucracy and E-Government." *Public Management Review* 17 (1): 149–61.
- Burger, Philippe, and Ian Hawkesworth. 2011. "How to Attain Value for Money: Comparing PPP and Traditional Infrastructure Public Procurement." *OECD Journal* on Budgeting 2011 (1): 91–146.
- Burguet, Roberto, and Yeon-Koo Che. 2004. "Competitive Procurement with Corruption." *RAND Journal of Economics* 35 (1): 50–68.
- Burke, John. 1988. *Bureaucratic Responsibility*. Baltimore: The John Hopkins University Press.
- Burris, Beverly. 1993. Technocracy at Work. Albany: State University of New York Press.
- Caiden, Gerald. 1999. "What Lies Ahead for the Administrative State?" In *Bureaucracy* and the Alternatives in World Perspective, edited by Keith Henderson and O Dwivedi. Basingstoke: MacMillan.
- Caillou, Annabelle. 2018. "La règle du plus bas soumissionnaire inquiète les architectes et ingénieurs." *Le Devoir*, August 12, 2018, sec. Actualités.
- Calasans Jr, José. 2011. "A Licitação nas Empresas Estatais." *Revista Zênite de Licitações e Contratos* XVIII (208): 525–27.
- Callender, Guy, and Darin Matthews. 2000. "Government Purchasing: An Evolving Profession?" *Journal of Public Budgeting, Accounting & Financial Management* 12 (2): 272–90.
- Camarao, Tatiana, and Felipe Daniel. 2016. "A fase interna da licitação Distinções entre Projeto Básico e Termo de Referência." *Editora Fórum - Conhecimento Jurídico*
(blog). December 23, 2016.

http://www.editoraforum.com.br/ef/index.php/noticias/a-fase-interna-da-licitacao-distincoes-entre-projeto-basico-e-termo-de-referencia/.

- Cambridge Dictionary. 2018. "Competition." In *Cambridge Advanced Learner's Dictionary & Thesaurus*. Cambridge University Press. https://dictionary.cambridge.org/fr/dictionnaire/anglais/competition.
- Campenhoudt, Luc van, Jacques Marquet, and Raymond Quivy. 2017. *Manuel de recherche en sciences sociales*. 5th ed. Malakoff: Dunod.
- Candler, Gaylord George. 2002. "Particularism versus Universalism in the Brazilian Public Administration Literature." *Public Administration Review* 62 (3): 298–306.
- Carneiro, Júlia. 2018. "Para Copa, Olimpíada ou quando? O museu 'elefante branco' parado há mais de dois anos no Rio." *BBC News Brasil*, July 2, 2018, sec. Brasil. https://www.bbc.com/portuguese/brasil-44638797.
- Carpenter, Daniel. 2001. *The Forging of Bureaucratic Autonomy*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Carvalho Filho, José. 2009. *Manual de Direito Administrativo*. 21st ed. Rio de Janeiro: Lumen Juris.
- Castro, Humberto, and Alcio Lopes. 2004. Curso Prático de Licitações e Contratos na Administração Pública. Brasilia: Universa.
- Castro, Marcilio. 2010. "Licitaçao." In Dicionario de Direito, Economia e Contabilidade Português-Inglês / Inglês/Português, 3rd ed. Rio de Janeiro: Forense.
- Catanese, Elisabeth, Camila Murta, and Gisele Garcia. 2011. "Os Limites do Poder Discricionario da Administração Publica." *Revista Zênite de Direito Administrativo e LRF X* (120): 1169–72.
- Catney, Philip, and John Henneberry. 2012. "(Not) Exercising Discretion: Environmental Planning and the Politics of Blame-Avoidance." *Planning Theory & Practice* 13 (4): 549–68.
- CAU-BR, Conselho de Arquitetura e Urbanismo do Brasil. 2012. *Resoluçao 21*. http://www.caubr.gov.br/resolucao21/.
- . 2013. Resolução 51/2013. http://www.caubr.gov.br/resolucao51/.
- ------. 2017. "Dossiê de Fracassos | Projeto Completo." 2017. http://caubr.gov.br/projetocompleto/dossie-de-fracassos/.

- Cavalcante, Pedro, and Paulo Carvalho. 2017. "Profissionalização da burocracia federal brasileira (1995-2014): avanços e dilemas." *Revista Brasileira de Administração Pública* 51 (1): 1–26.
- Cernat, Lucian, and Zornitsa Kutlina-Dimitrova. 2015. "International Public Procurement: From Scant Facts to Hard Data." RSCAS Policy Paper 2015/08. RSCAS Policy Series. San Domenico di Fiesole: European University Institute. http://cadmus.eui.eu//handle/1814/37319.
- Cesar, Silvio. 2019. "Arquiteto Urbanista." *Salario.com.br Pesquise Salários, Mercado de Trabalho e Média Salarial* (blog). January 28, 2019. https://www.salario.com.br/profissao/arquiteto-urbanista-cbo-214125/.
- CGU, Ministério da Transparência e Controladoria-Geral da União, and Ministério do Planejamento MPOG Orçamento e Gestao. 2006. *Portaria Interministerial* 140/2006. http://www.cgu.gov.br/sobre/legislacao/arquivos/portarias/portaria_cgumpog_140_2006.pdf.
- Chappel, David, and Michael Dunn. 2016. *The Architect in Practice*. 11th ed. Oxford: Wiley Blackwell.
- Chiara, Joseph de, and Michael Crosbie. 2001. *Time-Saver Standards for Building Types*. 4th ed. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Chong, Eshien, Carine Staropoli, and Anne Yvrande-Billon. 2014. "Auction versus Negotiation in Public Procurement: Looking for Empirical Evidence." In *The Manufacturing of Markets: Legal Political and Economic Dynamics*, edited by Eric Brousseau and Jean-Michel Glachant. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Cichinelli, Gisele. 2008. "Como contratar projetos complementares." *Revista aU Arquitetura e Urbanismo*, 2008. http://au.pini.com.br/arquitetura-urbanismo/166/artigo70348-1.aspx.
- Coêlho, Denilson, and Antônio Sérgio Fernandes. 2017. "Regras importam: determinantes do controle burocrático no Programa Bolsa Família." *Revista Brasileira de Administração Pública* 51 (5): 689–707.
- Coleman, Stephen. 2018. "The Elusiveness of Political Truth: From the Conceit of Objectivity to Intersubjective Judgement." *European Journal of Communication* 33 (2): 157–71.
- Coletti, Paola. 2013. Evidence for Public Policy Design. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Collins. 2003. "Discretion." In *Collins English Dictionary: Complete and Unabridged*, 6th ed. Glasgow: HarperCollins.

Collins, Paul, Michael Trebilcock, and Ralph Winter. 2003. *The Law and Economics of Canadian Competition Policy*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

Collyer, Stanley. 2016. 2015 Competitions Annual. Louisville: The Competition Project.

- Correa, Isabel. 2010. "Quem está obrigado ao cumprimento da IN nº 02/08 Blog da Zênite." *Zênite* (blog). October 6, 2010. https://www.zenite.blog.br/quem-esta-obrigado-ao-cumprimento-da-in-n%c2%ba-0208-2/.
- Costa Jr, Jose. 2016. "Licitação pública: aspectos que influenciam no processo licitatório." Sao Carlos: Universidade Federal de Sao Carlos.
- Côté, Catherine, and François-Pierre Gingras. 2016. "La théorie et le sens de la recherche." In *Recherche sociale: de la problématique à la collecte des données*, edited by Benoît Gauthier and Isabelle Bourgeois, 6th ed. Québec: Presses de l'Université du Québec.
- Cox, Andrew, and Paul Ireland. 2002. "Managing Construction Supply Chains: The Common Sense Approach." *Engineering Construction and Architectural Management* 9 (5-6): 409–18.
- Creswell, John. 2014. *Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches.* Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Cretella Jr, José. 1996. Das Licitações Publicas. 10th ed. Rio de Janeiro: Forense.
- Crick, Bernard. 2002. *Democracy. A Very Short Introduction*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Czarniawska, Barbara. 1999. Writing Management: Organization Theory as a Literary Genre. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Davis, Peter, Peter Love, and David Baccarini. 2008. "Building Procurement Methods." Research program report 2006-034-C-02. Procurement Method Tookit. Brisbane: Cooperative Research Centre for Construction Innovation. http://eprints.qut.edu.au/26844.
- Deis, Donald, Helmut Schneider, Chester Wilmot, and Charles Coates Jr. 2009.
 "Simulation Approach to In-House versus Contracted-Out Cost Comparisons." In International Handbook of Public Procurement, edited by Khi Thai. Boca Raton: Taylor & Francis.
- Demers, Louis. 2012. "Structuration des organisations publiques." In *Dictionnaire encyclopédique de l'administration publique*. on line: ENAP. http://www.dictionnaire.enap.ca/Dictionnaire/17/Index_par_mot.enap?by=word&id =20.

Denscombe, Martyn. 2007. *The Good Research Guide for Small-Scale Social Research Projects*. 3rd ed. Berkshire: McGraw-Hill.

Dewey, John. (1934) 2005. Art as Experience. New York: Perigee.

. (1927) 2016. The Public and Its Problems. Athens: Ohio University Press.

- Dini, Federico, Ricardo Pacini, and Tommaso Valletti. 2006. "Scoring Rules." In Handbook of Procurement, edited by Nicola Dimitri, Gustavo Piga, and Giancarlo Spagnolo. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Diniz, Gilberto. 2014. "O Controle Externo dos Contratos da Administração Pública pelo Tribunal de Contas: Ensaio sobre o Momento da Fiscalização Financeira Adotado no Brasil e em Portugal." *Cadernos do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Direito –* UFRGS 9 (1).
- Dobbs, Richard, Herbert Pohl, Diann-Yi Lin, Jan Mischke, Nicklas Garemo, Jimmy Hexter, Stefan Matzinger, Robert Palter, and Rushad Nanavatty. 2013. "Infrastructure Productivity: How to Save \$1 Trillion a Year." McKinsy Global Institute. https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/capital-projects-andinfrastructure/our-insights/infrastructure-productivity.
- Dodd, Nicholas, Elena Garbarino, and Miguel G Caldas. 2016. Green Public Procurement Criteria for Office Building Design, Construction and Management. Technical Background Report and Final Criteria. Luxembourg: European Union. http://dx.publications.europa.eu/10.2791/28566.
- Dorée, André G. 2004. "Collusion in the Dutch Construction Industry: An Industrial Organization Perspective." *Building Research & Information* 32 (2): 146–56.
- Dotti, Marinês, Ronny Lopes, and Teresa Villac. 2014. "Manual de licitações e contratações administrativas." AGU Advocacia-Geral da União. http://www.agu.gov.br/page/download/index/id/28095554.
- Drisko, James, and Tina Maschi. 2016. *Content Analysis*. Pocket Guides to Social Work Research Methods. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Dukelow, Daphne. 2006. "Administrative Discretion." In *Pocket Dictionary of Canadian Law*. Toronto: Thomson Carswell.
- Durand, Claire, and André Blais. 2016. "La mesure." In *Recherche sociale: de la problématique à la collecte des données*, edited by Benoît Gauthier and Isabelle Bourgeois, 6th ed. Québec: Presses de l'Université du Québec.
- Eames, Elizabeth. 1969. *Bertrand Russell's Theory of Knowledge*. New York: George Braziller.

Eco, Umberto. (1977) 2015. How to Write a Thesis. Cambridge: MIT Press.

- Edmonson, Amy, and Stacy McManus. 2007. "Methodological Fit in Management Field Research." *Academy of Management Review* 32 (4): 1155–79.
- Enap, Escola Nacional de Administração Pública. 2018. "Capacidades estatais para produção de políticas públicas: resultados do survey sobre o serviço civil no Brasil." ENAP. http://repositorio.enap.gov.br/bitstream/1/3233/1/Caderno-56_Capacidades%20estatais%20para%20produ%C3%A7%C3%A30%20de%20pol %C3%ADticas%20p%C3%BAblicas.pdf.
- Engen, Nadine van, Bram Steijn, and Lars Tummers. 2019. "Do Consistent Government Policies Lead to Greater Meaningfulness and Legitimacy on the Front Line?" *Public Administration* 97 (1): 97–115.
- Epstein, Brian. 2008. "When Local Models Fail." *Philosophy of the Social Sciences* 38 (1): 3–24.
- Erasmus, Ermin. 2014. "The Use of Street-Level Bureaucracy Theory in Health Policy Analysis in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Meta-Ethnographic Synthesis." *Health Policy and Planning* 29 (suppl 3): iii70–78.
- Erridge, Andrew. 2000. "Public Procurement." *Public Policy and Administration* 15 (4): 14–24.
- Escoubas, Éliane. 2017. L'Esthétique. Paris: Ellipses.
- Estache, Antonio, and Renaud Foucart. 2016. "Corruption and Incompetence in Public Procurement." Working Papers ECARES 2016-05. Brussels: Université Libre de Bruxelles. http://econpapers.repec.org/paper/ecawpaper/2013_2f226224.htm.
- Estache, Antonio, and Atsushi Iimi. 2012. "Quality or Price? Evidence from ODA-Financed Public Procurement." *Public Finance Review* 40 (4): 435–69.
- Evans, Tony. 2011. "Professionals, Managers and Discretion: Critiquing Street-Level Bureaucracy." *British Journal of Social Work* 41 (2): 368–86.
- Fabre, Flavia. 2014. "Função horizontal da licitação e da contratação administrativa." Sao Paulo: Universidade de Sao Paulo. http://www.teses.usp.br/teses/disponiveis/2/2134/tde-01122015-123928/pt-br.php.
- Fabrini, Fabio, and Angela Boldrini. 2018. "Nova Lei de Licitações favorece conglomerado de empresas da família de relator." *Folha de S.Paulo*, July 12, 2018. https://www1.folha.uol.com.br/poder/2018/07/nova-lei-de-licitacoes-favorececonglomerado-de-empresas-da-familia-de-relator.shtml.

- Faganello, Matheus. 2011. "Requisitos de habilitação em licitações públicas : controle da discricionariedade administrativa." Porto Alegre: Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul. http://www.lume.ufrgs.br/handle/10183/40223.
- Fazekas, Mihaly, István J Toth, and Lawrence P King. 2013. "Corruption Manual for Beginners." Corruption Research Center Budapest. http://www.crcb.eu/wpcontent/uploads/2013/12/Fazekas-Toth-King_Corruption-manual-forbeginners v2 2013.pdf.
- Feldman, Martha S. 1989. Order Without Design. Information Production and Policy Making. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Feltham-King, Tracey, and Catriona Macleod. 2020. "Multi-Layered Risk Management in under-Resourced Antenatal Clinics: A Scientific-Bureaucratic Approach versus Street-Level Bureaucracy." *Health, Risk & Society* 22 (1): 31–52.
- Fenech, Georges, and Philippe Petit. 1998. *La moralisation des marchés publics*. Paris: Presses Universitaires de France.
- Fenili, Renato. 2019. "Workshop Principais Pontos do PL nº 1292/95." Presented at the Enap, Brasilia, July 17. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=AFwF1UVCf7U.
- Ferlie, Ewan, and Keith Geraghty. 2005. "Professionals in Public Service Organizations." In *The Oxford Handbook of Public Management*, edited by Ewan Ferlie, Laurence Lynn Jr, and Christopher Pollitt. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Fernandes, Ana Luiza. 2016. "A Relaçao entre a Qualidade do Projeto Basico e as Obras Publicas." In *Licitações Publicas. Homenagem ao Jurista Jorge Ulisses Jacoby Fernandes*, edited by Ronny Torres, 129–47. Curitiba: Negocios Publicos.
- Fernandes, Ciro. 2005. "Abrangência, inserção e impacto transformador dos sistemas de compras eletrônicas na administração pública – análise do Siasg/Comprasnet." *Revista do Serviço Público* 56 (2): 22.
- ———. 2014. "A trajetória da construção do arcabouço legal das compras e contratações na administração pública federal brasileira: processo decisório e oportunidade política." In XIX congresso internacional del CLAD sobre la Reforma del Estado y de la Administración Pública. Quito. http://repositorio.enap.gov.br/handle/1/1716.
- ———. 2016. "A organização da área de compras e contratações públicas na administração pública federal brasileira: o elo frágil." *Revista do Serviço Público* 67 (3): 407–32.

Ferrarese, Estelle. 2015. Éthique et politique de l'espace public. Vrin.

Feyerabend, Paul. 1979. Contre la Méthode. Esquisse d'une théorie anarchiste de la connaissance. Paris: Éditions du Seuil.

-. (1991) 2017. Dialogos sobre o Conhecimento. Sao Paulo: Perspectiva.

- Figueiredo, Argelina. 2003. "The Role of Congress as an Agency of Horizontal Accountability: Lessons from the Brazilian Experience." In *Democratic Accountability in Latin America*, edited by Scott Mainwaring and Christopher Welna. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Filgueiras, Fernando, and Ana Aranha. 2011. "Controlling corruption in frontline civil service: rules, discretionary power, and reforms in Brazil." *Dados* 54 (2): 349–87.
- Fischer, Frank. 1990. Technocracy and the Politics of Expertise. Newbury Park: Sage.
- Fiuza, Eduardo, and Bernardo Medeiros. 2014. "A Agenda Perdida das Compras Públicas: Rumo a Uma Reforma Abrangente da Lei de Licitações e do Arcabouço Institucional." Instituto de Pesquisa Econômica Aplicada - IPEA. http://www.ipea.gov.br/portal/images/stories/PDFs/TDs/zzzzztd 1990 web.pdf.
- Fleury, Felipe. 2016. "As infrações e sanções administrativas aplicáveis a licitações e contratos (Leis 8.666/93, 10.520/02, 12.462/11 e Lei 12.846/13)." Sao Paulo: Pontifícia Universidade Católica de São Paulo. https://sapientia.pucsp.br/handle/handle/7041.
- Flynn, Anthony, and Paul Davis. 2014. "Theory in Public Procurement Research." *Journal* of Public Procurement 14 (2): 139–80.

—. 2015. "The Rhetoric and Reality of SME-Friendly Procurement." Public Money & Management 35 (2): 111–18.

- Flyvbjerg, Bent. 2001. Making Social Science Matter. Why Social Inquiry Fails and How Can It Succeed Again. Oxford: Cambridge University Press.
- Foisy, Suzanne, Claude Thérien, and Josette Trépanier. 2009. "Avant-propos." In *L'expérience esthétique en question. Enjeux philosophiques et artistiques*, edited by Suzanne Foisy, Claude Thérien, and Josette Trépanier. Paris: L'Harmattan.

Forges, Jean-Michel de. 1991. Droit administratif. Paris: Presses universitaires de France.

- Fortin, Marie-Fabienne. 2010. Fondements et étapes du processus de recherche: méthodes quantitatives et qualitatives. 2nd ed. Montréal: Chenelière Éducation.
- Freidson, Eliot. 2001. *Professionalism. The Third Logic*. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Freire, Alessandro, Ana Karine Pereira, Jean Marlo P Paula, Marcia N H Knap, Pedro A Alves, Pedro L M Palotti, and Pedro L C Cavalcante. 2016. "Burocracia federal da

área de infraestrutura: perfil, trajetória, atuação e percepções." Enap. http://www.enap.gov.br/web/pt-br/burocracia-de-infraestrutura-no-governo-federal.

Garant, Patrice. 2010. Droit administratif. 6th ed. Cowansville: Éditions Yvon Blais.

- Garcia Agnelli, Silvia. 2016. "Three Essays on Governance in South America." Ottawa: Carleton University.
- Garcia, Gisele, and Claudio Neme. 2004. "Da exigência de atestado de capacitação técnicooperacional nas licitações." Âmbito Jurídico 19 (novembro). http://www.ambitojuridico.com.br/site/index.php?n_link=revista_artigos_leitura&ar tigo_id=4758.
- Garner, Bryan A. 2014a. "Adjudication." In *Black's Law Dictionary*, 10th ed. St. Paul: Thomson Reuters.

———. 2014b. "Criterion." In *Black's Law Dictionary*, 10th ed. St. Paul: Thomson Reuters.

- Garzon, César. 2006. "Formes de gouvernance globale de la lutte contre la corruption. Le rôle des organisations internationales." In *Réalités nationales et mondialisation*, edited by Robert Bernier and Ghislain Arbour, 395–429. Québec: Presses de l'Université du Québec.
- Garzon, César, and Taïeb Hafsi. 2007. "L'évaluation des stratégies de la lutte contre la corruption." *Revue française de gestion* 33 (juin-juillet 2007): 61–80.
- Gauthier, Benoît. 2016. "La structure de la preuve." In *Recherche sociale: de la problématique à la collecte des données*, edited by Benoît Gauthier and Isabelle Bourgeois, 6th ed. Québec: Presses de l'Université du Québec.
- Gerring, John. 2012a. Social Science Methodology: A Unified Framework. 2nd ed. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- ——. 2012b. "Mere Description." British Journal of Political Science 42 (04): 721–46.
- Gershon, Peter. 1999. "Review of Civil Procurement in Central Government." https://www1.toronto.ca/inquiry/inquiry_site/cd/gg/add_pdf/77/Procurement/Electr onic_Documents/UK/U.K._Gershon_Report.pdf.
- Glas, Andreas, Markus Schaupp, and Michael Essig. 2017. "An Organizational Perspective on the Implementation of the Strategic Goals in Public Procurement." *Journal of Public Procurement* 17 (4).
- Gomes, Ricardo, and Humberto Falcao-Martins. 2012. "Chapter 4: Public Sector Management Trends in Brazil." In *Emerging and Potential Trends in Public*

Management: An Age of Austerity, edited by John Diamond and Joyce Liddle, 1:73–103. Emerald.

- Gomide, Jose, Patricia Silva, and Sylvia Braga. 2005. "Manual de Elaboraçao de Projetos." Ministério da Cultura, Instituto do Programa Monumenta. http://portal.iphan.gov.br/uploads/publicacao/CadTec1_Manual_de_Elaboracao_de Projetos m.pdf.
- Governo do Brasil. 1993. *Lei 8.666*. http://www2.camara.leg.br/legin/fed/lei/1993/lei-8666-21-junho-1993-322221-publicacaooriginal-1-pl.html.
- Graeff, Edgar. 2006. *Uma Sistemática para o Estudo da Teoria da Arquitetura*. Goiânia: Trilhas Urbanas.
- Grey, Christopher, and Amanda Sinclair. 2006. "Writing Differently." Organization 13 (3): 443–53.
- GSA, U.S. General Services Administration. 2018. Subpart 36.6—Architect-Engineer Services. https://www.acquisition.gov/sites/default/files/current/far/html/Subpart%2036_6.ht ml.
- Guarnieri, Patricia, and Ricardo Gomes. 2019. "Can Public Procurement Be Strategic? A Future Agenda Proposition." *Journal of Public Procurement* ahead-of-print (aheadof-print).
- Guess, George, and Paul Farnham. 2011. *Cases in Public Policy Analysis*. 3rd ed. Washington, DC: Georgetown University Press.
- Guinchard, Serge, and Gabriel Montagnier. 2009. "Pouvoir discrétionnaire, pouvoir lié." In *Lexique des termes juridiques*, 17th ed. Paris: Dalloz.
- Haber, Matthias. 2017. "Improving Public Procurement." In *The Governance of Infrastructure*, edited by Kai Wegrich, Genia Kostka, and Gerhard Hammerschmid. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hall, Richard. 2004. "The Concept of Bureaucracy: An Empirical Assessment." In *The Foundations of Bureaucracy in Economic and Social Thought*, edited by Bill Jenkins and Edward Page, 1:507–15. Chaltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Hand, Laura. 2018. "Producing a Vision of the Self-Governing Mother: A Study of Street-Level Bureaucrat Behavior in Coproductive Interactions." *Administration & Society* 50 (8): 1148–74.

- Haverland, Markus, and Dvora Yanow. 2012. "A Hitchhiker's Guide to the Public Administration Research Universe: Surviving Conversations on Methodologies and Methods." *Public Administration Review* 72 (3): 401–8.
- Hegel, Georg W F. (1835) 2010. *O Sistema das Artes*. 2nd ed. Sao Paulo: WMF Martins Fontes.
- Henderson, Alexander, Tudor Țiclău, and Dan Balica. 2017. "Perceptions of Discretion in Street-Level Public Service: Examining Administrative Governance in Romania." *Public Performance & Management Review*, December, 1–28.
- Hillier, Bill. 2008. "Space and Spatiality: What the Built Environment Needs from Social Theory." *Building Research & Information* 36 (3): 216–30.
- Hillier, Bill, John Musgrove, and Pat O'Sullivan. 1972. "Knowledge and Design." Environmental Design: Research and Practice 2. http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.468.9559&rep=rep1&typ e=pdf.
- Hira, Anil. 2016. "Broken Windows: Why Culture Matters in Corruption Reform." *Journal* of Developing Societies 32 (1): 1–16.
- Hirata, Ayako. 2016. "Regulatory Ambiguity: How Inter-Office Interaction Defines Japanese Environmental Law." Berkeley: UC Berkeley.
- Holanda, Frederico. 2013. 10 mandamentos da arquitetura. Brasilia: FRBH.
- Holt, Gary. 2010a. "Contractor Selection Innovation: Examination of Two Decades" Published Research." *Construction Innovation* 10 (3): 304–28.
- ———. 2010b. "Contractor Selection Innovation: Examination of Two Decades' Published Research." *Construction Innovation* 10 (3): 304–28.
- Hood, Christopher. 2011. The Blame Game. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Howlett, Michael. 2011. *Designing Public Policies: Principles and Instruments*. New York: Routledge.
- Hsieh, Hsiu-Fang, and Sarah E Shannon. 2005. "Three Approaches to Qualitative Content Analysis." *Qualitative Health Research* 16 (9): 1277–88.
- Hudon, Pierre-André. 2011. "A Critique of Public-Private Partnerships in Quebec." *Public Integrity* 13 (3): 257–74.

- 2013. "Le partenariat public-privé en infrastructure : évaluation de la performance administrative et des effets démocratiques dans le contexte québécois." Ottawa: Université d'Ottawa. http://hdl.handle.net/10393/23845.
- Huitink, Zachary. 2017. "Three Essays on Public Procurement." Ph.D., Ann Arbor: Syracuse University. 1926757902. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. http://banques.enap.ca/Proxy.pl?adresse=https://search.proquest.com/docview/1926 757902?accountid=10748.

Husserl, Edmund. (1948) 1973. Experience and Judgement. Northwestern University Press.

- IAB, Instituto dos Arquitetos do Brasil. 2013a. "Uma agenda para as cidades." http://www.iab.org.br/sites/default/files/documentos/rel_final_uma_agenda_para_as __cidades.pdf.
 - 2013b. "Anotações sobre o PROJETO em Arquitetura." IAB.
 http://www.iab.org.br/sites/default/files/documentos/sintesetexto_projeto15out14.pd
 f.
 - 2015. "Moções da 148ª Reunião do Cosu, realizada em São Paulo." http://www.iab.org.br/sites/default/files/documentos/resolucao-cosu_sp2015.pdf.
 - ——. 2016. "Manifesto do Instituto de Arquitetos do Brasil à Nação Brasileira: Pela Manutenção dos Direitos Conquistados." http://www.iabpr.org.br/?p=2638.
 - -----. 2018. "Roteiro para desenvolvimento do projeto de arquitetura da edificação." http://www.iab.org.br/sites/default/files/documentos/roteiro-arquitetonico.pdf.
- Ibem, Eziyi, and Samuel Laryea. 2014. "Survey of Digital Technologies in Procurement of Construction Projects." *Automation in Construction* 46 (October): 11–21.
- IBRAOP, Instituto Brasileiro de Auditoria de Obras Publicas. 2004. "Orientação técnica OT-002/2009 - Obra e serviço de engenharia." Ibraop - Instituto Brasileiro de Auditoria de Obras Publicas. http://www.ibraop.org.br/wpcontent/uploads/2013/06/OT-IBR-02-2009-Ibraop-01-07-10.pdf.
- Issalys, Pierre. 2009. L'action gouvernementale : précis de droit des institutions administratives. 3rd ed. Cowansville: Éditions Yvon Blais.
- Jensen, Didde. 2018. "Does Core Task Matter for Decision-Making? A Comparative Case Study on Whether Differences in Job Characteristics Affect Discretionary Street-Level Decision-Making." *Administration & Society* 50 (8): 1125–47.
- Johnson, Paul-Alan. 1994. *The Theory of Architecture: Concepts, Themes & Practices*. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold.

- Johnston, Jocelyn, and Barbara Romzek. 2012. "Promises and Performance of Government Contracting." In *The Oxford Handbook of American Bureaucracy*, edited by Robert Durant. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Justen Filho, Marçal. 2009. *Comentarios à Lei de Licitações e Contratos Administrativos*. 13th ed. Sao Paulo: Dialética.
- Kant, Immanuel. (1788) 1949. "Critique of Pure Practical Reason." In *The Philosophy of Kant. Immanuel Kant's Moral and Political Writings*. New York: Random House.
- ———. (1795) 1949. "Eternal Peace." In *The Philosophy of Kant. Immanuel Kant's Moral and Political Writings*. New York: Random House.
- ———. (1783) 1949. "Prolegomena." In *The Philosophy of Kant. Immanuel Kant's Moral and Political Writings*. New York: Random House.
- ———. (1793) 1949. "Theory and Practice Concerning the Common Saying: This May Be True in Theory but Does Not Apply to Practice." In *The Philosophy of Kant. Immanuel Kant's Moral and Political Writings*. New York: Random House.
- . (1790) 2007. Critique of Judgement. Oxford: Oxford University Press. http://proxy.uqtr.ca/login.cgi?action=login&u=uqtr&db=myilibrary&ezurl=http://w ww.myilibrary.com?id=114689.
- Kaufman, Herbert. 1977. *Red Tape: Its Origins, Uses, and Abuses*. Washington, DC: The Brookings Institution.
- Kaufman, James. 2020. "Intensity, Moderation, and the Pressures of Expectation: Calculation and Coercion in the Street-level Practice of Welfare Conditionality." *Social Policy & Administration* 54 (2): 205–18.
- Keeler, Rebecca. 2013. "Managing Outsourced Administrative Discretion." *State and Local Government Review* 45 (3): 183–88.
- Kelman, Steven. 2005. Unleashing Change: A Study of Organizational Renewal in Government. Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institution Press.
- Keulemans, Shelena, and Steven van de Walle. 2020. "Street-Level Bureaucrats' Attitude toward Clients: A Study of Work Group Influence in the Dutch and Belgian Tax Administration." *Public Performance & Management Review* 43 (2): 334–62.
- Klein, Julie. 2010. "A Taxonomy of Interdisciplinarity." In *The Oxford Handbook of Interdisciplinarity*. Oxford University Press.
- Koala, Kouliga, and Joshua Steinfeld. 2018. "Theory Building in Public Procurement." Journal of Public Procurement 18 (4): 282–305.

- Kohlsdorf, Gunter, and Maria Elaine Kohlsdorf. 2017. Ensaio sobre o Desempenho Morfologico dos Lugares. Brasilia: FRBH.
- Koren, Leonard. 2010. *Which "Aesthetics" Do You Mean? Ten Definitions*. Point Reyes: Imperfect Publishing.
- Kørnøv, Lone, Jie Zhang, and Per Christensen. 2015. "The Influence of Street Level Bureaucracy on the Implementation of Strategic Environmental Assessment." *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management* 58 (4): 598–615.
- Kosar, Kevi. 2011. "Street Level-Bureaucracy: The Dilemmas Endure." *Public Administration Review* 71 (2): 299.
- Koven, Steven. 2019. *The Case Against Bureaucratic Discretion*. Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-05779-4.
- Lahdenperä, Pertti. 2013. "Determining 'the Most Economically Advantageous Tender' Based on Capability and Fee-Percentage Criteria." *Journal of Public Procurement* 13 (4): 409–46.
- Lake, David A. 2011. "Why 'isms' Are Evil: Theory, Epistemology, and Academic Sects as Impediments to Understanding and Progress." *International Studies Quarterly* 55 (2): 465–80.
- Lang, Agathe van, Geneviève Gondouin, and Véronique Inserguet-Brisset. 2015. "Le pouvoir discrétionnaire." In *Dictionnaire de droit administratif*, 7th ed. Paris: Dalloz.
- Larson, Magali. 1977. *The Rise of Professionalism. A Sociological Analysis*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Lasdun, Denys. 1977. "Sir Denys Lasdun." RIBA Journal, no. September: 366-67.
- Laubadère, André de, Jean-Claude Venezia, and Yves Gaudemet. 1992. *Droit administratif.* 14th ed. Paris: Librairie générale de droit et de jurisprudence.
- Law, Jonathan, ed. 2016. "Project." In *A Dictionary of Business and Management*, 6th ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Lawther, Wendell, and Lawrence Martin. 2005. "Innovative Practices in Public Procurement Partnerships: The Case of the United States." *Journal of Purchasing & Supply Management* 11 (5/6): 212–20.

Le Robert. 2005. "Discrétion." In *Dictionnaire culturel en langue française*, edited by Alain Rey, 2nd ed. Vol. II. Paris: Le Robert.

Lefebvre, Henri. (1974) 1991. The Production of Space. Oxford: Blackwell.

Lemos, Carlos A C. 1986. O que é Arquitetura. 4th ed. Sao Paulo: Brasiliense.

- Leray, Christian, and Isabelle Bourgeois. 2016. "L'analyse de contenu." In *Recherche sociale: de la problématique à la collecte des données*, edited by Benoît Gauthier and Isabelle Bourgeois, 6th ed. Québec: Presses de l'Université du Québec.
- Leroy, Marc. 1994. "L'organisation du contrôle fiscal: Une forme «originale» de bureaucratie." *Revue française de science politique* 44 (5): 811–35.
- Levitt, Heidi, Michael Bamberg, John Creswell, David Frost, Ruthellen Josselson, and Carola Suárez-Orozco. 2018. "Journal Article Reporting Standards for Qualitative Primary, Qualitative Meta-Analytic, and Mixed Methods Research in Psychology: The APA Publications and Communications Board Task Force Report." *American Psychologist* 73 (1): 26–46.
- Lewis, Roger. 1985. Architect? Cambridge: The MIT Press.
- Lino, André Feliciano, and André Carlos Aquino. 2017. "The diversity of the Brazilian regional Audit Courts on government auditing." *Revista Contabilidade & Finanças* 29 (76): 26–40.
- Lipsky, Michael. 1969. "Toward a Theory of Street-Level Bureaucracy." In . New York: The American Political Science Association. https://www.irp.wisc.edu/publications/dps/pdfs/dp4869.pdf.

——. 1980. *Street-Level Bureaucracy: Dilemmas of the Individual in Public Services*. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.

- ——. 2019a. *Burocracia de Nivel de Rua*. Brasilia: Enap.
- ———. 2019b. "Lançamento do livro 'Burocracia de nível de rua: dilemas do indivíduo nos serviços públicos." Presented at the Enap, Brasilia, July 11. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=bTTR-MtBNyI.
- Loon, Nina van, Peter L M Leisink, Eva Knies, and Gene Brewer. 2016. "Red Tape: Developing and Validating a New Job-Centered Measure." *Public Administration Review* 76 (4): 662–73.
- Lories, Danielle. 2009. "Kant et la scène esthétique contemporaine." In *L'expérience esthétique en question. Enjeux philosophiques et artistiques*, edited by Suzanne Foisy, Claude Thérien, and Josette Trépanier. Paris: L'Harmattan.

- Lotta, Gabriela, and Eduardo Marques. 2020. "How Social Networks Affect Policy Implementation: An Analysis of Street-level Bureaucrats' Performance Regarding a Health Policy." *Social Policy & Administration* 54 (3): 345–60.
- Lotta, Gabriela, Roberto Pires, and Vanessa Oliveira. 2014. "Burocratas de médio escalão: novos olhares sobre velhos atores da produção de políticas públicas." *Revista do Serviço Público* 65 (4): 463–92.
- Low, Patrick, Aaditya Mattoo, and Arvind Subramanian. 1997. "Government Procurement in Services." In *Law and Policy in Public Purchasing*. Ann Arbor: The University of Michigan Press.
- Lynch, Jorge. 2011. "Open Tendering." The Procurement ClassRoom. November 6, 2011. http://procurementclassroom.com/open-tendering/.
- Machado, Paulo. 2006. "Contribuição à análise da qualificação econômico-financeira realizada no âmbito das licitações públicas, na modalidade de concorrência, divulgadas pelo governo do Estado de Santa Catarina, no período de janeiro de 2003 até outubro de 2005." Florianopolis: Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina. https://repositorio.ufsc.br/xmlui/handle/123456789/88923.
- MacIntyre, Alasdair. 1991. *Three Rival Versions of Moral Enquiry*. Notre Dame: University of Notre Dame Press.
- Magalhaes, Sérgio. 2017. "Uma pedra no meio do caminho." IAB Instituto de arquitetos do Brasil. April 24, 2017. http://www.iab.org.br/artigos/uma-pedra-no-meio-do-caminho.
- Mamavi, Olivier. 2015. Les Coulisses Des Marchés Publics. Paris: L'Harmattan.
- Manoliadis, Odysseus, and Ioannis Tsolas. 2009. "A Decision Analysis Framework for Vendor Selection in Construction Projects in Greece." *Journal of Public Procurement* 9 (2): 248–61.
- Mansfield, Bryan, and Keith Snider. 2017. "Explaining the Policy-Practice Gap in U.S.
 Federal Contracting: Institutional Isopraxism and Performance-Based Acquisition." In *Global Public Procurement Theories and Practices*, edited by Khi Thai, 157–71. Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Mascaro, Juan Luis. 2010. *O custo das decisoes arquitetônicas*. 5th ed. Porto Alegre: Masquatro.
- Massamba-Débat, Paul. 2017. La décision administrative. Paris: Economica.

- Maxwell, Joseph. 2005. "Conceptual Framework: What Do You Think Is Going On?" In *Qualitative Research Design: An Interactive Approach*, 2nd ed., 33–63. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Maynard-Moody, Steven, and Michael Musheno. 2003. Cops, Teachers, Counselors. Stories from the Front Lines of Public Service. Ann Arbor: The University of Michigan Press.
- Maynard-Moody, Steven, and Shannon Portillo. 2012. "Street-Level Bureaucracy Theory." In *The Oxford Handbook of American Bureaucracy*, edited by Robert Durant. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- McAfee, R Preston, and John McMillan. 1988. *Incentives in Government Contracting*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- McCrudden, Christopher. 2007. Buying Social Justice. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- McCue, Clifford, Eric Prier, and Joshua Steinfeld. 2020. "Establishing the Foundational Elements of a Public Procurement Body of Knowledge." *Journal of Strategic Contracting and Negotiation*, no. August (August): 1–19.
- Mead, Lawrence M. 2010. "Scholasticism in Political Science." *Perspectives on Politics* 8 (02): 453–64.
- Meier, Kenneth, and John Bohte. 2001. "Structure and Discretion: Missing Links in Representative Bureaucracy." *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 11 (4): 455–70.
- Meier, Kenneth, and Gregory Hill. 2005. "Bureaucracy in the Twenty-First Century." In *The Oxford Handbook of Public Management*, edited by Ewan Ferlie, Laurence Lynn Jr, and Christopher Pollitt. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Mello, Celso Antonio Bandeira de. 2010. *Curso de Direito Administrativo*. 28th ed. Sao Paulo: Malheiros.
- Menezes, Monique. 2012. "O Papel do Congresso Nacional e do Tribunal de Contas da Uniao na Fiscalização das Agências Reguladoras: Abdicação ou Delegação de Poderes?" *Revista Debates* 6 (3): 29–52.
- Merriam Webster. 1996. "Adjudicate." In *Merriam Webster's Dictionary of Law*. Springfield: Merriam Webster.
- Meyers, Marcia, and Susan Vorsanger. 2007. "Street-Level Bureaucrats and the Implementation of Public Policy." In *The Handbook of Public Administration*, edited by B. Guy Peters and Jon Pierre, 153–63. Thousand Oaks: SAGE.

- Michener, Gregory, Evelyn Contreras, and Irene Niskier. 2018. "Da opacidade à transparência? Avaliando a Lei de Acesso à Informação no Brasil cinco anos depois." *Revista de Administração Pública* 52 (4): 610–29.
- Miles, Matthew B, and A. Michael Huberman. 1994. *Qualitative Data Analysis. An Expanded Sourcebook.* 2nd ed. Thousand Oaks: SAGE.
- Miles, Matthew B, A. Michael Huberman, and Johnny Saldana. 2013. *Qualitative Data Analysis: A Methods Sourcebook*. 3rd ed. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Mill, John Stuart. (1859) 1978. On Liberty. Indianapolis: Hackett Publishing Company.
- Mills, C Wright. 1967. The Sociological Imagination. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Mintzberg, Henry. 1983. *Structure in Fives: Designing Effective Organizations*. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall.
- Mizanzuk, Ivan. 2013. "Considerações Por Um Espaço Para o Mal." In *Existe Design?* Teresopolis: 2AB.
- Moe, Terry M. 1984. "The New Economics of Organization." *American Journal of Political Science* 28 (4). http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=5242689&lang= fr&site=ehost-live.
- Molenaar, Keith. 1997. "Public Sector Design-Build: A Model for Project Selection." ProQuest Dissertations Publishing. http://search.proquest.com/docview/304340871/.
- Moles, Abraham. (1956) 1971. *A Criaçao Científica*. Sao Paulo: Editora da Universidade de Sao Paulo.
- Monk, Ray. 1990. Ludwig Wittgenstein. The Duty of Genius. London: Penguin Books.
- Moreau, Jean-Louis. 1990. "Pouvoir discrétionnaire." In *Lexique de la fonction publique*. Paris: Dalloz.
- Moreira, Maria. 2000. "Modelo multicritério para apoiar a avaliação técnica de empresa(s) habilitada(s) para projetar e/ou construir um trecho rodoviário." Florianopolis: Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina. http://repositorio.ufsc.br/xmlui/handle/123456789/78845.
- Moreira, Pedro. 2017. "Mais uma vez a revisão da lei de licitações públicas 8666/93." IAB - Instituto de arquitetos do Brasil. March 23, 2017. http://www.iab.org.br/artigos/mais-uma-vez-revisao-da-lei-de-licitacoes-publicas-866693.

- Mota, Flavio, and José Rodrigues Filho. 2011. "Public Procurement and the Duality of Technology: A Comparative Study in the Context of Brazil and of the State of Paraiba." Journal of Information Systems & Technology Management 8 (2): 315– 30.
- Motta, Alexandre. 2010. "O combate ao desperdicio no gasto publico: uma reflexao baseada na comparação entre os sistemas de compra privado, publico federal norte-americano e brasileiro." Campinas: Universidade Estadual de Campinas.
- Motta, Carlos. 2000. "Legitimidade da Exigência de Comprovação de Experiência do Licitante." In *Curso Avançado de Licitações e Contratos Publicos*, edited by Toshio Mukai. Sao Paulo: Juarez de Oliveira.
- Mourão, Victor, and Rodrigo Cantu. 2014. "Brazil." In *Public Procurement, Innovation and Policy*, edited by Veiko Lember, Rainer Kattel, and Tarmo Kalvet, 65–92. Berlin: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Moynihan, Donald. 2017. "Between Policy and Management: Common Ground and Shared Opportunities." https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/a0cb/90517f8fe85fea53a03cc9ff96bdd23e28fc.pdf.
- MP, Ministério do Planejamento, Desenvolvimento e Gestão. 2005. "Pregão Eletrônico : Simulação de uso pregoeiro: Ambiente de treinamento." https://www.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br/images/manuais/pregao/manual_prega o_eletronico_treinamento_pregoeiro.pdf.
 - ——. 2017a. "Referencial de Governança e Gestão do Sistema de Serviços Gerais SISG." MP.

https://www.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br/images/conteudo/ArquivosCGNOR/SE GES_Referencial-de-Governana_FINAL.PDF.

2017b. Instrução Normativa de Serviços.
 https://www.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br/images/conteudo/ArquivosCGNOR/IN
 -n-05-de-26-de-maio-de-2017---Hiperlink.pdf.

MPOG, Ministério do Planejamento, Orçamento e Gestao. 2008. *Instruçao Normativa* 2/2008.

https://www.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br/index.php/legislacao/instrucoes-normativas/417-instrucao-normativa-n-02-de-30-de-abril-de-2008.

-. 2011a. Instruçao Normativa 2/2011.

https://www.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br/index.php/legislacao/legislacao-por-tema?layout=edit&id=404.

 -. 2011b. "Divulgaçao de compras. Licitaçao. Manual do usuario." https://www.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br/images/manuais/siasgnet/manual_aviso_licitacao-1.pdf.

-. 2012. Portaria 16/2012.

https://www.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br/index.php/legislacao/portarias/639-portaria-n-16-de-27-de-marco-de-2012-compilada-com-alteracoes-da-portaria-n-31-de-18-de-junho-de-2012.

 2014. Instruçao Normativa 5/2014.
 https://www.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br/index.php/legislacao/instrucoesnormativas/301-instrucao-normativa-n-5-de-27-de-junho-de-2014-compilada.

2017a. "Analise de serviços." Painel de preços. 2017.
 http://paineldeprecos.planejamento.gov.br/PainelServicos.html.

———. 2017b. "Painel de Processos de Compras." Painel de Compras. 2017. http://paineldecompras.planejamento.gov.br/.

———. 2018. "Painel de Preços." 2018. http://paineldeprecos.planejamento.gov.br/.

- Murray, Chris, ed. 1994. "Architecture." In *The Hutchinson Dictionary of the Arts*. Oxford: Helicon.
- Murray, J. Gordon. 2009. "Improving the Validity of Public Procurement Research." International Journal of Public Sector Management 22 (2): 91–103.
- Musheno, Michael, and Steven Maynard-Moody. 2015. "'Playing the Rules': Discretion in Social and Policy Context." In *Understanding Street-Level Bureaucracy*, edited by Peter Hupe, Michael Hill, and Aurélien Buffat, 169–86. Bristol: Bristol University Press.
- Myles, Brian. 2018. "Les recettes magiques n'existent pas." *Le Devoir*, August 13, 2018, sec. Éditorial.

Nagel, Thomas. 1986. The View from Nowhere. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

——. 1997. *A Ultima Palavra*. Sao Paulo: UNESP.

- Nakabayashi, Jun. 2009. "Empirical and Theoretical Analysis of Public Procurement Auctions." Columbus: The Ohio State University.
- Niebuhr, Joel. 2016. "10 Medidas de Combate à Insegurança Jurídica e ao Inadimplemento da Administração Pública em Contratos Administrativos." Direito do Estado. October 3, 2016. http://www.direitodoestado.com.br/colunistas/joel-de-menezes-

niebuhr/10-medidas-de-combate-a-inseguranca-juridica-e-ao-inadimplemento-da-administracao-publica-em-contratos-administrativos.

- Nisbet, Elizabeth. 2018. "Expanding the Field of View: The Role of Agricultural Employers in Street-Level Immigration Policy Implementation." *Administration & Society* 50 (8): 1097–1124.
- Noack, Ruth. 2009. "Canons and Public." In Now Is the Time. Art & Theory in the 21st Century. Rotterdam: NAi.
- NRGI, Natural Resource Governance Institute. 2015. "Legal Framework." https://resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/documents/nrgi_primer_legal-framework.pdf.
- Obwegeser, Nikolaus, and Sune Müller. 2015. "Innovation in Public Procurement: Terminology, Concepts, and Applications." University of Aarhus. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2771035.
- Ochrana, František, and Kristýna Hrnčířová. 2015. "Does the Lowest Bid Price Evaluation Criterion Make for a More Efficient Public Procurement Selection Criterion? (Case of the Czech Republic)." *NISPAcee Journal of Public Administration and Policy* 8 (1): 41–59.
- OECD. 2000. Greener Public Purchasing. Paris: OECD.

-----. 2002. "Transparency." In *Glossary of Statistical Terms*. on line: OECD. https://stats.oecd.org/glossary/detail.asp?ID=4474.

------. 2006. "Methodology for Assessment of National Procurement Systems." OECD. http://www.oecd.org/gov/ethics/37390076.pdf.

——. 2009. "OECD Principles for Integrity in Public Procurement." http://www.oecdilibrary.org/governance/oecd-principles-for-integrity-in-publicprocurement_9789264056527-en.

—. 2015. "Recommendation of the Council on Public Procurement." OECD. http://www.oecd.org/gov/ethics/OECD-Recommendation-on-Public-Procurement.pdf.

Ogachi, Joseph F. 2014. "The Relationship between Procurement Management Practices and Successful Projects among Public Sector Organisations in Kenya." Ph.D., Ann Arbor: Northcentral University. 1549976556. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global.

http://banques.enap.ca/Proxy.pl?adresse=https://search.proquest.com/docview/1549 976556?accountid=10748.

- Oliveira, Nelson. 2009. "O Amadorismo como traço distintivo da burocracia federal brasileira." Brasilia: Universidade de Brasilia. http://repositorio.unb.br/bitstream/10482/18548/1/2009_NelsondoValeOliveira.pdf.
- O'Neill, Onora. 2013. "Breaking the Wall of Hyper-Regulation: How Intelligent Accountability Can Stop Bureaucratic Excess and Improve Governance." In *Falling Walls*. Berlin: Falling Walls Foundation. http://www.fallingwalls.com/videos/Onora-O%E2%80%99Neill-1643.
- Pandey, Sanjay, and Donald Moynihan. 2006. "Bureaucratic Red Tape and Organizational Performance: Testing the Moderating Role of Culture and Political Support." In *Public Service Performance*, edited by George Boyne, Kenneth Meier, Laurence O'Toole, and Richard Walker. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Pandey, Sanjay, and Patrick Scott. 2002. "Red Tape: A Review and Assessment of Concepts and Measures." *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 12 (4): 553–80.
- Park, Jane, and Young Hoon Kwak. 2017. "Design-Bid-Build (DBB) vs. Design-Build (DB) in the U.S. Public Transportation Projects: The Choice and Consequences." *International Journal of Project Management* 35 (3): 280–95.
- Parkin, James. 1994. Public Management, Technocracy, Democracy and Organizational Reform. Sidney: Avebury.
- Parkinson, Gary, and Robert Drislane. 2000. "Theory." In *Online Dictionary of the Social Sciences*. Athabasca: Athabasca University. http://bitbucket.icaap.org/.
- Parys, Liesbeth van, and Ludo Struyven. 2018. "Interaction Styles of Street-Level Workers and Motivation of Clients: A New Instrument to Assess Discretion-as-Used in the Case of Activation of Jobseekers." *Public Management Review* 20 (11): 1702–21.
- Patrucco, Andrea, Davide Luzzini, and Stefano Ronchi. 2017. "Research Perspectives on Public Procurement: Content Analysis of 14 Years of Publications in the Journal of Public Procurement." *Journal of Public Procurement* 17 (2): 229–69.
- Payne, Geoff, and Judy Payne. 2004. *Key Concepts in Social Research*. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Pedra, Anderson. 2006. "A habilitação técnico-operacional nas licitações públicas e o princípio da razoabilidade." *Interesse Publico* 8 (39): 93–108.
- Peeters, Rik, and Arjan Widlak. 2018. "The Digital Cage: Administrative Exclusion through Information Architecture – The Case of the Dutch Civil Registry's Master Data Management System." *Government Information Quarterly* 35 (2): 175–83.

Pegnato, Joseph. 2009. "Assessing Federal Procurement Reform: Has the Procurement Pendulum Stopped Swinging?" In *International Handbook of Public Procurement*, edited by Khi Thai. Boca Raton: Taylor & Francis.

Perreault, Julie. 2020. Appels d'offres municipaux. Wolters Kluwer.

- Phillips, Estelle, and Derek Pugh. 2010. *How to Get a Phd: A Handbook for Students and Their Supervisors*. 5th ed. Berkshire: McGraw-Hill.
- Pigliucci, Massimo. 2010. Nonsense on Stilts: How to Tell Science from Bunk. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

2017b. "Book Club: The Edge of Reason 9, the Claims of Reason." Footnotes to Plato (blog). August 15, 2017.
 https://platofootnote.wordpress.com/2017/08/15/book-club-the-edge-of-reason-9-the-claims-of-reason/.

 2017c. "Book Club: The Edge of Reason 10, the Rational State." *Footnotes to Plato* (blog). August 22, 2017. https://platofootnote.wordpress.com/2017/08/22/book-club-the-edge-of-reason-10the-rational-state/.

Popper, Karl. (1945) 1985. "Against the Sociology of Knowledge." In *Popper Selections*, edited by David Miller. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Portugal, Daniel. 2013. "Heidegger à Disposiçao." In Existe Design? Teresopolis: 2AB.

- Prémont, Marie-Claude. 2018. "Le droit public et l'interface politico-administrative : le contrôle de l'abus de pouvoir." *Éthique publique [En ligne]* 20 (1). http://journals.openedition.org/ethiquepublique/3316.
- Pressman, Jeffrey, and Aaron Wildavsky. 1984. Implementation: How Great Expectations in Washington Are Dashed in Oakland. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Prier, Eric, and Clifford McCue. 2009. "The Implications of a Muddled Definition of Public Procurement." *Journal of Public Procurement* 9 (3/4): 326–70.
- Qiao, Yuhua, and Glenn Cummings. 2003. "The Use of Qualifications-Based Selection in Public Procurement: A Survey Research." *Journal of Public Procurement* 3 (2): 215–49.

- Québec. 2008. *Règlement sur certains contrats de services des organismes publics. RLRQ c C-65.1, r. 4.* http://legisquebec.gouv.qc.ca/fr/ShowDoc/cr/C-65.1,%20r.%204.
- Raadschelders, Jos. 2013. Public Administration: The Interdisciplinary Study of Government. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Raaphorst, Nadine, and Sandra Groeneveld. 2018. "Double Standards in Frontline Decision Making: A Theoretical and Empirical Exploration." *Administration & Society* 50 (8): 1175–1201.
- Radziszewska-Zielina, Elżbieta. 2011. "Public Procurement Procedure in Construction in Poland and Problems with Its Application." *Organization, Technology and Management in Construction: An International Journal* 3 (1): 269–75.
- RAIC, Royal Architectural Institute of Canada. 2016. "Qualifications-Based Selection (QBS)." RAIC-IRAC Architecture Canada. 2016. https://www.raic.org/raic/qualifications-based-selection-qbs.
- Rajeh, Mohammed, John Tookey, and James Rotimi. 2015. "Estimating Transaction Costs in the New Zealand Construction Procurement: A Structural Equation Modelling Methodology." *Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management* 22 (2): 242–67.
- Raso, Jennifer. 2018. "Administrative Justice: Guiding Caseworker Discretion." Toronto: University of Toronto.
- Rawls, John. 1955. "Two Concepts of Rules." The Philosophical Review 64 (1): 3-32.
- Reeves-Latour, Maxime. 2017. "Stratagèmes criminels à la jonction des pouvoirs publics et des milieux d'affaires: les élites délinquantes et le processus d'octroi des contrats publics de construction." Montréal: Université de Montréal. https://papyrus.bib.umontreal.ca/xmlui/handle/1866/19035.
- Regan, Michael, Peter E D Love, and Jim Smith. 2015. "Public Infrastructure Procurement: A Review of Adversarial and Non-Adversarial Contracting Methods." *Journal of Public Procurement* 15 (4): 405–38.
- Rêgo, Vital. 2017. "Fiscobras 2017. Relatorio consolidado." http://portal.tcu.gov.br/imprensa/noticias/fiscobras-2017-tcu-aponta-indicios-deirregularidades-graves-em-tres-em-cada-quatro-obras-fiscalizadas.htm.
- Reid, Hubert. 2015a. "Arbitraire." In *Dictionnaire du droit québécois et canadien*, 5th ed. Montréal: Wilson et Lafleur.
- 2015b. "Compétence liée." In *Dictionnaire du droit québécois et canadien*, 5th ed. Montréal: Wilson et Lafleur.

- Riccucci, Norma. 2010. "Envisioning Public Administration as a Scholarly Field in 2020: Rethinking Epistemic Traditions." *Public Administration Review* 70 (s1): s304–6.
- Richard, Anne. 2003. "Overview of Budget Systems and Public Procurement in OECD Countries." In *The Environmental Performance of Public Procurement*, edited by OECD. Paris: OECD.
- Roman, Alexandru. 2013. "An Empirical Analysis of the Roles Assumed by Public Administrators: The Case of Public Procurement Specialists." Boca Raton: Florida Atlantic University.
- Rose-Ackerman, Susan. 1997. "The Political Economy of Corruption." In *Corruption and the Global Economy*, edited by Kimberly Ann Elliot. Washington, DC: Institute for International Economics.
- Rosilho, André. 2011. "Qual é o modelo legal das licitações no Brasil? As reformas legislativas federais no sistema de contratações públicas." Sao Paulo: Fundação Getulio Vargas. http://bibliotecadigital.fgv.br/dspace/handle/10438/8824.
- 2016. "Controle da Administração Pública pelo Tribunal de Contas da União." Sao Paulo: Universidade de Sao Paulo. http://www.teses.usp.br/teses/disponiveis/2/2134/tde-08022017-165131/fr.php.
- Roy, Simon. 2016. "L'étude de cas." In *Recherche sociale: de la problématique à la collecte des données*, edited by Benoît Gauthier and Isabelle Bourgeois, 6th ed. Québec: Presses de l'Université du Québec.
- Rudner, Richard. 1966. Philosophy of Social Science. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall.
- Ruparathna, Rajeev, and Kasun Hewage. 2015. "Review of Contemporary Construction Procurement Practices." *Journal of Management in Engineering* 31 (3): 1–11.
- Russell, Bertrand. (1954) 2014. Éthique et politique. Paris: Payot & Rivages.
- Rybczynski, Witold. 2014. How Architecture Works. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux.
- Saad, Youssef. 2016. "Antifragilizing Public Procurement Systems: A Paradigm Shift." Journal of Public Procurement 16 (4): 419–53.
- Sampaio, Ricardo, and Fabia de Biasi. 2011. "Afinal, qual a melhor soluçao?" *Revista Zênite de Licitações e Contratos* XVIII (208): 523.
- Sampaio, Ricardo, Camila Ferreira, Mariana Guimaraes, and Manuela Mello. 2011. "Perguntas e Respostas: Qualificação Técnica." *Revista Zênite de Licitações e Contratos* XVIII (208): 584–85.

- Sanchez-Graells, Albert. 2014. "Public Procurement: A 2014 Updated Overview of EU and National Case Law." *E-Competitions*, 2014. https://lra.le.ac.uk/bitstream/2381/31486/6/article_40647.pdf.
- Santos, Carlos Nelson. 1988. A cidade como um jogo de cartas. Sao Paulo: Projeto Editores.
- Santos, Vinicius. 2018. "Papel do fiscal de contratos administrativos: uma análise sob a ótica gerencial na administração pública brasileira." *Revista do Serviço Público* 69 (2): 226–49.
- Schaik, Leon van. 2010. Procuring Innovative Architecture. Oxon: Routledge.
- Schapper, Paul, and João V Malta. 2011. "Public Procurement Reform in Latin America and the Caribbean." World Bank. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/371061468229175620/pdf/664260WP0 0PUBL0rement0July20110Web2.pdf.
- Schapper, Paul, João V Malta, and Diane Gilbert. 2006. "An Analytical Framework for the Management and Reform of Public Procurement." *Journal of Public Procurement* 6 (1/2): 1–26.
- ------. 2009. "Analytical Framework for the Management and Reform of Public Procurement." In *International Handbook of Public Procurement*, edited by Khi Thai. Boca Raton: Taylor & Francis.
- Schiele, Joseph, and Clifford Mccue. 2006. "Professional Service Acquisition in Public Sector Procurement: A Conceptual Model of Meaningful Involvement." *International Journal of Operations & Production Management* 26 (3/4): 300–325.
- Schmälter, Julia. 2019. "A Street-Level Perspective on Non-Compliance in the EU: New Lessons to Draw?" *Journal of Contemporary European Studies* 27 (1): 1–14.
- Sclar, Elliott D. 2000. You Don't Always Get What You Pay For. The Economics of Privatization. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Seawright, Jason, and John Gerring. 2008. "Case Selection Techniques in Case Study Research: A Menu of Qualitative and Quantitative Options." *Political Research Quarterly* 61 (2): 294–308. https://doi.org/10.1177/1065912907313077.
- Selznick, Philip. 1966. TVA and the Grass Roots : A Study in the Sociology of Formal Organization. New York: Harper & Row.
- Semple, Abby. 2015. A Practical Guide to Public Procurement. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Senado Federal. 2017. "Projeto de Lei Do Senado N° 559, de 2013 - AGENDA BRASIL 2015 - Pesquisas - Senado Federal." Atividade Legislativa. November 3, 2017. https://legis.senado.leg.br/sdleggetter/documento?dm=4893922&disposition=inline.

——. 2020. "Projeto de Lei nº 4253, de 2020." https://www25.senado.leg.br/web/atividade/materias/-/materia/145636.

- Shalwani, Amirali. 2017. "A Quantitative Analysis of Architectural and Engineering Procurement: Effects of Cost Inclusion on Procurement Outcomes Compared to Qualifications-Based Selection." M.S., Ann Arbor: University of Kansas. 1958944199. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. http://banques.enap.ca/Proxy.pl?adresse=https://search.proquest.com/docview/1958 944199?accountid=10748.
- Silva Filho, Manoel. 2014. "Manual de obras e serviços de engenharia: fundamentos da licitação e contratação." Advocacia-Geral da Uniao. http://www.agu.gov.br/page/download/index/id/28095642.
- Simard, Carolle, and Luc Bernier. 1992. L'Administration publique. Les Éditions du Boréal.

Simon, Herbert. (1947) 1997. Administrative Behavior. 4th ed. New York: The Free Press.

- Siqueira, Carol. 2019. "Impasse sobre crimes de gestores adia votação de nova Lei de Licitações." Câmara dos Deputados. June 4, 2019. https://www2.camara.leg.br/camaranoticias/noticias/ADMINISTRACAO-PUBLICA/577762-IMPASSE-SOBRE-CRIMES-DE-GESTORES-ADIA-VOTACAO-DE-NOVA-LEI-DE-LICITACOES.html?utm_campaign=boletim&utm_source=agencia&utm_medium= email.
- Snider, Keith, and Rene Rendon. 2008. "Public Procurement Policy: Implications for Theory and Practice." *Journal of Public Procurement* 8 (3): 310–33.
- Snider, Keith, and Mark Walkner. 2009. "Enhancing Use of Past Performance as a Source Selection Criteria." In *International Handbook of Public Procurement*, edited by Khi Thai. Boca Raton: Taylor & Francis.
- Souza, Virley. 2016. "Lean thinking: proposta para melhoria das práticas de gestão em licitações de obras públicas." Brasilia: Universidade de Brasilia. http://repositorio.unb.br/bitstream/10482/22151/1/2016_VirleyLemosdeSouza.pdf.
- Sowa, Jessica, and Sally Selden. 2003. "Administrative Discretion and Active Representation: An Expansion of the Theory of Representative Bureaucracy." *Public Administration Review* 63 (6): 700–710.

- Sporrong, Josefin. 2011. "Criteria in Consultant Selection: Public Procurement of Architectural and Engineering Services." *Construction Economics and Building* 11 (4): 59–76.
 - 2014. "Selecting Architectural and Engineering Consultants. Municipal Practices in Sweden." Gothenburg: Chalmers University. http://publications.lib.chalmers.se/records/fulltext/196697/196697.pdf.
- Sporrong, Josefin, and Jan Bröchner. 2009. "Public Procurement Incentives for Sustainable Design Services: Swedish Experiences." Architectural Engineering and Design Management 5 (1–2): 24–35.
- Sporrong, Josefin, and Anna Kadefors. 2014. "Municipal Consultancy Procurement: New Roles and Practices." *Building Research & Information* 42 (5): 616–28.
- Stake, Johan. 2017. "Evaluating Quality or Lowest Price: Consequences for Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises in Public Procurement." *The Journal of Technology Transfer* 42 (5): 1143–69.
- St-Amour, Jean-Pierre. 2006. *Le droit municipal de l'urbanisme discrétionnaire au Québec*. Cowansville: Éditions Yvon Blais.
- Staples, Warren, and John Dalrymple. 2016. "Construction Procurement and State Government Strategy: Aligned or Disconnected?" *Australian Journal of Public Administration* 75 (2): 222–35.
- Stazyk, Edmund C, Sanjay Pandey, and Bradley Wright. 2011. "Understanding Affective Organizational Commitment: The Importance of Institutional Context." *The American Review of Public Administration* 41 (6): 603–24.
- Steinfeld, Joshua. 2017. "The What, Who, and How of Public Procurement: Job Functions Performed and Managed by Professionals." In *Global Public Procurement Theories* and Practices, edited by Khi Thai, 311–35. Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Stillman II, Richard. 2017. "Public Professionalism in an Era of Radical Transformations: Its Meaning, Challenges, and Training." *Revista Brasileira de Administração Pública* 51 (6): 917–26.
- STJ, Superior Tribunal de Justiça. 2017. "Recurso Especial 1.623.588 SP (2016/0231266-7)." http://www.stj.jus.br/SCON/decisoes/toc.jsp?livre=1623588&&b=DTXT&thesauru s=JURIDICO&p=true.
- ------. 2018. "Atribuições." Superior Tribunal de Justiça O Tribunal da Cidadania. 2018.

http://www.stj.jus.br/sites/STJ/default/pt_BR/Institucional/Atribui%C3%A7%C3% B5es.

- Strîmbu, Octavian. 2013. "Three Essays on Political Corruption and Common Agency." Québec: Université Laval.
- Strong, Judith. 1996. *Winning by Design: Architectural Competitions*. Boston: Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Swedberg, Richard. 2012. "Theorizing in Sociology and Social Science: Turning to the Context of Discovery." *Theory and Society* 41: 1–40.
- Sylvain, Francine. 2006. "Guide de présentation des citations et des références bibliographiques." ENAP. http://www.enap.ca/enap/docs/Portail_etudiant/Services_offerts/Guide_pour_redacti on/guide_references_bibliograph.pdf.
- Szerman, Dimitri. 2012. "Public Procurement Auctions in Brazil." London: The London School of Economics and Political Science. http://etheses.lse.ac.uk/681/1/Szerman_Public_procurement_auctions.pdf.
- TCU, Tribunal de Contas da Uniao. 2009. "Acórdão 1.215." https://contas.tcu.gov.br/cpl/ConsultarArquivoLicitacao?cod=741.
 - —. 2010a. *Licitações e contratos: orientações e jurisprudência do TCU*. 4th ed. Brasilia: TCU.
- ———. 2010b. "Orientações e Jurisprudência do TCU." TCU. http://www.tcu.gov.br/Consultas/Juris/Docs/LIC_CONTR/2057620.PDF.

—. 2010c. "Sumula 257."

https://contas.tcu.gov.br/pesquisaJurisprudencia/#/detalhamento/13/%252a/NUME RO%253A257/DTRELEVANCIA%2520desc/false/1/false.

 2014. "Obras Publicas. Recomendações Básicas para a Contratação e Fiscalização de Obras de Edificações Públicas." TCU. https://portal.tcu.gov.br/lumis/portal/file/fileDownload.jsp?fileId=8A8182A15232A 37901529D259F061157.

—. 2016. "Acórdão 655."

https://contas.tcu.gov.br/pesquisaJurisprudencia/#/detalhamento/13/%252a/NUME RO%253A257/DTRELEVANCIA%2520desc/false/1/false.

------. 2017. "Fiscobras 2017: TCU aponta indícios de irregularidades graves em três de cada quatro obras fiscalizadas." TCU - Imprensa. November 8, 2017.

http://portal.tcu.gov.br/imprensa/noticias/fiscobras-2017-tcu-aponta-indicios-de-irregularidades-graves-em-tres-em-cada-quatro-obras-fiscalizadas.htm.

- ———. 2018. "Fiscobras: 2018: fiscalização de obras públicas pelo TCU: 22º ano." https://portal.tcu.gov.br/biblioteca-digital/fiscobras-2018.htm.
- ———. 2019b. "Acórdão 1079/2019." TCU. https://contas.tcu.gov.br/sagas/SvlVisualizarRelVotoAcRtf?codFiltro=SAGAS-SESSAO-ENCERRADA&seOcultaPagina=S&item0=662354.
- Thai, Khi. 2001. "Public Procurement Re-Examined." *Journal of Public Procurement* 1 (1): 9–50.
- ———. 2017. "An Introduction." In *Global Public Procurement Theories and Practices*, edited by Khi Thai, 1–14. Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Thaler, Richard H. 2015. *Misbehaving : The Making of Behavioral Economics*. First edition. New York: WW Norton.
- Thomas, Vinod, Mansoor Dailami, Ashok Dhareshwar, Daniel Kaufmann, Nalin Kishor, Ramon Lopez, and Yan Wang. 2000. *The Quality of Growth*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Tolosa Filho, Benedicto de. 2011. "Responsabilidade do Pregoeiro e da Comissao de Licitação." *Revista Zênite de Licitações e Contratos* XVIII (208): 560–61.
- Touran, Ali, Douglas Gransberg, Keith Molenaar, and Kamran Ghavamifar. 2011.
 "Selection of Project Delivery Method in Transit: Drivers and Objectives." *Journal* of Management in Engineering 27 (1): 21–27.
- Trammell, Evelyn, Sawsan Abutabenjeh, and Ana-Maria Dimand. 2020. "A Review of Public Administration Research: Where Does Public Procurement Fit In?" *International Journal of Public Administration* 43 (8): 655–67.
- Tran, Dai Q, Keith Molenaar, and Bharath Kolli. 2017. "Implementation of Best-Value Procurement for Highway Design and Construction in the USA." *Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management* 24 (5): 774–87.

Transparency International. 2006. *Handbook for Curbing Corruption in Public Procurement*. Berlin: Transparency International.

Tschumi, Bernard. 2012. Architecture Concepts: Red Is Not a Color. New York: Rizzoli.

- Tsoukas, Haridimos. 2009. "Craving for Generality and Small-N Studies: A Wittgensteinian Approach towards the Epistemology of the Particular in Organization and Management Studies." In *The Sage Handbook of Organizational Research Methods*, edited by David A Buchanan and Alan Bryman, 285–301. London: Sage Publications.
- UNCITRAL, United Nations Commission on International Trade Law. 2011. "UNCITRAL Model Law on Public Procurement (2011)." United Nations Commission On International Trade Law. 2011. https://uncitral.un.org/en/texts/procurement/modellaw/public procurement.

—. 2014. UNCITRAL Model Law on Public Procurement. New York: United Nations.

- Ustek-Spilda, Funda. 2020. "Statisticians as Back-Office Policy-Makers: Counting Asylum-Seekers and Refugees in Europe." *Science, Technology, & Human Values* 45 (2): 289–316.
- Valencia, Diana. 2016. "Criticas ao Regime Diferenciado de Contratações Públicas." Revista Prolegómenos Derechos y Valores 19 (38): 61–75.
- Valverde, Mariana, Fleur Johns, and Jennifer Raso. 2018. "Governing Infrastructure in the Age of the 'Art of the Deal': Logics of Governance and Scales of Visibility." *PoLAR: Political and Legal Anthropology Review* 41 (S1): 118–32.
- Velasco, Marina. 2009. O que é justiça? Rio de Janeiro: Vieira & Lent.
- Venturi, Robert. 1977. Complexity and Contradiction in Architecture. 2nd ed. New York: The Museum of Modern Art.
- Vohnsen, Nina H. 2017. *The Absurdity of Bureaucracy: How Implementation Works*. Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Volker, Leentje. 2012. "Procuring Architectural Services: Sensemaking in a Legal Context." *Construction Management and Economics* 30 (9): 749–59.
- Volker, Leentje, and Jurian van Meel. 2012. "Dutch Design Competitions: Lost in EU Directives? Procurement Issues of Architect Selections in the Netherlands." *Geographica Helvetica* 66 (1): 24–32.

Waldrep, Lee. 2014. Becoming an Architect. 3rd ed. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons.

- Walker, Richard, and Gene Brewer. 2009. "Can Management Strategy Minimize the Impact of Red Tape on Organizational Performance?" Administration & Society 41 (4): 423–48.
- Watermeyer, Ron. 2009. "International Standards for Construction Procurement." Civil Engineering: Magazine of the South African Institution of Civil Engineering 17 (1): 20–21.
- Watkins-Hayes, Celeste. 2011. "Race, Respect, and Red Tape: Inside the Black Box of Racially Representative Bureaucracies." *Journal of Public Administration Research* and Theory 21 (Supplement 2): i233–51.
- Watts, Jonathan. 2017. "Operation Car Wash: The Biggest Corruption Scandal Ever?" The Guardian, June 1, 2017, sec. World news. http://www.theguardian.com/world/2017/jun/01/brazil-operation-car-wash-is-thisthe-biggest-corruption-scandal-in-history.
- Weick, Karl E. 1995. "What Theory Is Not, Theorizing Is." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 40 (3): 385–90. https://doi.org/10.2307/2393789.
- Weston, Richard. 1995. Alvar Aalto. London: Phaidon.
- Whetsell, Travis A. 2013. "Theory-Pluralism in Public Administration Epistemology, Legitimacy, and Method." *The American Review of Public Administration* 43 (5): 602–18.
- Whetten, David A. 1989. "What Constitutes a Theoretical Contribution?" *The Academy of Management Review* 14 (4): 490–95.
- White, Guy. 2017. *The Dissertation Warrior*. Happy Valley: Triumphant Heart International.
- WHO, World Health Organization. 2012. "Environmental Monitoring of Clean Rooms in Vaccine Manufacturing Facilities." https://www.who.int/immunization_standards/vaccine_quality/env_monitoring_clea nrooms_final.pdf.
- Williamson, Timothy. 2002. "On Vagueness." In New British Philosophy: The Interviews, edited by Julian Baggini and Jeremy Stangroom. London: Routledge.
- Wilson, James Q. 2000. *Bureaucracy: What Government Agencies Do and Why They Do It.* New York: Basic Books.

Wittgenstein, Ludwig. 1984. Culture and Value. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.

-. (1953b) 2009. Philosophische Untersuchungen. 4th ed. Oxford: Blackwell.

- World Bank. 2004. "Brazil. Country Procurement Assessment Report." World Bank. http://hdl.handle.net/10986/14590.
 - ——. 2016. "Benchmarking Public Procurement 2017." World Bank Publications. http://bpp.worldbank.org/~/media/WBG/BPP/Documents/Reports/Benchmarking-Public-Procurement-2017.pdf.
- Wright, Bradley, and Sanjay Pandey. 2011. "Public Organizations and Mission Valence: When Does Mission Matter?" *Administration & Society* 43 (1): 22–44.
- Yin, Robert K. 1981. "The Case Study Crisis: Some Answers." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 26 (1): 58–65. https://doi.org/10.2307/2392599.
- Zanatta, Rafael. 2019. "Prefácio." In *A cidade inteligente. Tecnologias urbanas e democracia.*, by Evgeny Morozov and Francesca Bria. Sao Paulo: Ubu.
- Zanferdini, André. 2011. "Licitações e editais de empreendimentos públicos de construção e sua influência no processo de projeto." Sao Carlos: Universidade Federal de Sao Carlos. https://repositorio.ufscar.br/handle/ufscar/4660.
- Zevi, Bruno. 1957. Architecture as Space. How to Look at Architecture. New York: Horizon Press.

Appendix 1: List of UASGs

UASG	Procuring entity
020001	Senado Federal
040001	Supremo Tribunal Federal - STF
080002	Tribunal Superior do Trabalho - 11ª Região/AM
080016	Tribunal Superior do Trabalho - 10ª Região/DF
080026	Tribunal Superior do Trabalho - 24ª Região/MS
090003	Justiça Federal - Seção Judiciária do Pará
090005	Justiça Federal - Seção Judiciária no Piaui
090012	Justiça Federal de 1º Grau – Seção Judiciária da Bahia
090023	Justiça Federal - Seção Judiciária do Distrito Federal
090027	Tribunal Regional Federal 1ª Regiao
090038	Justiça Federal - Seção Judiciário do Estado do Tocantins
110322	Gabinete de Segurança Institucional da Presidência da República
120196	Ministério da Defesa - Grupamento de Apoio da Saude
120626	Ministério da Defesa - Grupamento de Apoio de Pirassununga
152663	Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia Catarinense – Campus Luzerna
153032	Universidade Federal de Lavras - MG
153038	FAPEX - Fundação de Apoio à Pesquisa e à Extensão
153047	Hospital Universitário Cassiano Antônio Moraes
153052	Universidade Federal de Goiás
153079	Universidade Federal do Paraná
153103	Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Norte
153167	Colégio Pedro II
154032	Universidade Federal de Ciências da Saúde de Porto Alegre
154046	Universidade Federal de Ouro Preto
154070	Hospital Universitário Júlio Muller
154618	Instituto Federal Baiano - Campus Governador Mangabeira
155008	Hospital Universitário do Piauí
155009	Hospital Universitário de Brasília
155124	Hospital Universitário Maria Aparecida Pedrossian
158009	Instituto Federal do Parana
158156	Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia do Acre – IFAC
158275	Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia de Minas Gerais
158304	Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia do Sul de Minas Gerais Campus Machado
158341	Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia de Rondônia Campus de Colorado do Oeste
158377	Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia do Norte de Minas Gerais Campus Salinas
158658	Universidade Federal da Integração Latino-Americana
158720	Universidade Federal do Sul da Bahia

UASG	Procuring entity
160036	Comando Militar do Nordeste 6ª Região Militar
160066	Comissão Regional de Obras da 11ª Região Militar
160078	Colégio Militar de Campo Grande
160163	Comando da 8ª Região Militar
170010	Secretaria da Receita Federal do Brasil
170018	Superintendências Regionais da Receita Federal - 1a. Região Fiscal
170088	Superintendência Regional da Receita Federal - 6ª Regiao/MG
170131	Superintendência de Administração do Ministério da Fazenda/SP
170134	Delegacia da Receita Federal do Brasil em Araçatuba/SP
170217	Delegacia da Receita Federal do Brasil em Belém - DRF/BEL
170388	Delegacia da Receita Federal do Brasil em Dourados/MS
170394	Corpo de Bombeiros Militar do Distrito Federal
170516	Delegacia da Receita Federal em Anapolis
179085	Banco do Nordeste do Brasil S/A
200035	Procuradoria da República em Minas Gerais
200038	Procuradoria da República no Espírito Santo
200043	Procuradoria da República no Estado do Rio de Janeiro
200108	Procuradoria Regional do Trabalho - 18ª Região
200121	1ª Superintendência de Polícia Rodoviária Federal
200139	2º Distrito Regional de Polícia Rodoviária Federal/TO
200207	Procuradoria da República da 5ª Região
201014	Banco Nacional de Desenvolvimento Econômico e Social - BNDES
250025	Ministério da Saúde - Núcleo Estadual em Minas Gerais
254445	Instituto de Tecnologia em Imunobiologicos - Bio Manguinhos
254462	Fundação Oswaldo Cruz
255025	Fundaçao Nacional de Saude - SP
255026	Fundação Nacional de Saúde - Coordenacao Regional de Sergipe
343003	IPHAN - 3ª Coordenação Regional - MA
343007	IPHAN - 7ª Coordenaçao Regional em Salvador
343011	IPHAN - 11 ^a Coordenação Regional
343034	Instituto do Patrimônio Histórico e Artístico nacional - IPHAN/MS
343036	IPHAN - 19 ^a Superintendência Regional em Teresina
343041	Instituto do Patrimônio Histórico e Artístico Nacional - IPHAN Superintendência do Estado do Amapá
344001	Fundação Casa de Rui Barbosa
380941	Delegacia Regional do Trabalho em Minas Gerais
389086	Conselho Regional de Engenharia e Agronomia de Mato Grosso do Sul
400066	Superintendência Regional do Trabalho no Espírito Santo
420001	Ministério da Cultura
443001	Agência Nacional de Aguas
530001	Ministério da Integraçao Nacional

UASG	Procuring entity
765701	Hospital Central da Marinha
765705	Unidade Integrada de Saúde Mental da Marinha
765706	Sanatorio Naval de Nova Friburgo
767000	Diretoria de Assistência Social da Marinha
787700	Hospital Naval de Brasilia
925138	Banco Central do Brasil - Gerência Administrativa em São Paulo
925152	Conselho Regional de Contabilidade de Minas Gerais
925175	CONFEA - Conselho Federal de Engenhaa e Agronomia
925387	Prefeitura Municipal de Belém
925856	Secretaria de Estado de Saúde Pública do Pará
925942	Tribunal de Justiça do Estado do Pará
926066	Companhia de Desenvolvimento Econômico do Pará - CODEC
926195	Universidade Estadual de Roraima
926245	Centrais de Abastecimento do Distrito Federal S.A.
926697	Assembleia Legislativa do Estado do Rio Grande do Norte

Appendix 2: Data extraction for CATSERV table

Data regarding the service type codes used in the procurement electronic platform (CATSERV table) are available on the site http://compras.dados.gov.br/docs/home.html.

To have access to these data, I created a file on MS-Access, and then I imported XML tables directly from the site. However, it is only possible to have access to sets of 500 records. There were 2039 service type codes, therefore I had to import six datasheets, using the following addresses:

- http://compras.dados.gov.br/servicos/v1/servicos.xml
- http://compras.dados.gov.br:8080/servicos/v1/servicos.xml?offset=500
- http://compras.dados.gov.br:8080/servicos/v1/servicos.xml?offset=1000
- http://compras.dados.gov.br:8080/servicos/v1/servicos.xml?offset=1500
- http://compras.dados.gov.br:8080/servicos/v1/servicos.xml?offset=2000
- http://compras.dados.gov.br:8080/servicos/v1/servicos.xml?offset=2500

I named the imported tables *T_servicos_0000*, *T_servicos_0500*, *T_servicos_1000*, *T_servicos_1500*, *T_servicos_2000*, *T_servicos_2500*, respectively.

Once all datasheets were imported, I appended all of them into a single table using the following command:

Create Query > SQL mode: INSERT INTO T_servicos_0000 SELECT T_servicos_1000. * FROM T_servicos_1000;

This operation must be done for every datasheet, $T_servicos_0000$ being the final table which will contain all records, and $T_servicos_1000$ being one of the tables containing sets of 500 records. In the end, I had one table $T_servicos_0000$ containing 2039 records.
Appendix 3: Accessing procurement documents

from Painel de preços

It is possible to access a list of procurement procedures and their respective procurement documentation by the site <u>http://paineldeprecos.planejamento.gov.br/PainelServicos.html</u>, following the steps below. Steps 4 to 10 need to be repeated for each procedure.

Step 1: Select the service code (in this case, 51, 78 and 20591).



Step 2: Select the year(s) (in this case, 2016 and 2017).



Step 3: The results show the totals for the types of procedures selected. Click on *AVANÇAR ANALISE*, at the bottom right.



Step 4: The system lists all the selected procedures. Click on the eye-shaped blue icon at the left to get the details of a procedure.

	16.552	,85			R:	\$ 2.842,1 4				MEINOR PRECO R\$ 0,47		
ANTIDAD	e de itens de co	MPRA: 66									ORDENAR: Valor unitário	
apções 🛛	Identificação da Compra	Nümero do Item	Modalidade	Código do CATSER	item	Unidade de Fornecimento	Quantidade ofertada	Valor unitário	Fornecedor	Órgão	UASG - Unidade Gestora	Data da Compra
⊗ x	00059/2017	00001	Dispensa de Licitação	51	ESTUDOS E PROJETOS URBANISTICOS / PAISAGISTICOS / ARQUITETO-NICOS	METRO	200	R\$ 0.47	BF ARQUITETURA E ENGENHARIA LTDA - ME	COMANDO DO EXERCITO	160393 - COLEGIO MILITAR DE PORTO ALEGRE/RS	28/06/2017
o x	00036/2016	00004	Pregão	51	ESTUDOS E PROJETOS URBANISTICOS / PAISAGISTICOS / ARQUITETO-NICOS	м	112.000	R\$ 0,80	TW PROJETOS EIRELI - EPP	EMPRESA BRASILEIRA DE SERVIÇOS HOSPITALARES	155124 - HOSPITAL UNIV. M [®] APARECIDA PEDROSSIAN	27/06/2016
⊗ ×	00044/2016	00027	Pregão	51	ESTUDOS E PROJETOS URBANISTICOS / PAISAGISTICOS / ARQUITETO-NICOS	METRO QUADRADO	40.000	R\$ 0.80	J I PROJETOS E CONSTRUCOES LTDA - EPP	INST.FED.DE EDUC.CIENC.E TEC.DD SUL DE MG	158304 - INST.SUL DE MG/CAMPUS MACHADO	23/03/2017
• ×	00021/2016	00012	Pregão	51	ESTUDOS E PROJETOS URBANISTICOS / PAISAGISTICOS / ARQUITETO-NICOS	METROS QUADRADOS	1.550	R\$ 1.00	PRONTO ENGENHARIA EIRELI - ME	INST.FED.DE EDUC.,CIENC.E TEC. DE RONDONIA	158341 - INST.FED.DE RONDONIA/CAMPUS COLORADO DO DESTE	20/06/2016
×	00036/2016	00005	Pregão	51	ESTUDOS E PROJETOS URBANISTICOS / PAISAGISTICOS / ARQUITETO-NICOS	м	37.000	R\$ 1,00	TW PROJETOS EIRELI - EPP	EMPRESA BRASILEIRA DE SERVIÇOS HOSPITALARES	155124 - HOSPITAL UNIV. MP APARECIDA PEDROSSIAN	27/06/201
⊗ ×	00021/2016	00008	Pregão	51	ESTUDIOS E PROJETOS URBANISTICOS / PAISAGISTICOS / ARQUITETO-NICOS	METROS	5.000	R\$ 1.00	PRONTO ENGENHARIA EIRELI - ME	INST.FED.DE EDUCCIENC.E TEC. DE RONDONIA	158341 - INST.FED.DE RONDONIA/CAMPUS COLORADO DO OESTE	20/06/2016
×	00021/2016	00011	Pregão	51	ESTUDOS E PROJETOS URBANISTICOS / PAISAGISTICOS / ARQUITETO-NICOS	METROS QUADINADOS	2.500	R\$ 1.00	PRONTO ENGENHARIA EIRELI - ME	INST.FED.DE EDUCCIENC.E TEC. DE RONDONIA	158341 - INST,FED.DE RONDONIA/CAMPUS COLORADO DO OESTE	20/05/201
×	00027/2015	00031	Pregão	51	ESTUDIOS E PROJETOS URBANISTICOS /	м	30.000	R\$ 1,30	ANDRE AUGUSTO PREVEDELLO - ME	INST. FED. DE EDUC. CIENC E TEC.	158156 - INST. FED. DE EDUC. CIENC.E	30/06/2016
os de 1	ao 50							1 2				



Step 5: Under the column "Links", at the top right, there are links to the procurement documentation ("Edital") and to information concerning protests ("Informaçoes adicionais da ATA"). To download the documentation, click on *Edital*.

Step 6: The system demands a confirmation. Type the confirmation code and click on *Confirmar*. A zip file containing the documentation will be available. In some cases, there is a zip file inside the first zip file.



Step 7: Open the zip file. In the example below, the first zip file unzipped is shown, containing another zip file and a pdf file holding information about the service items being procured.

Arquivo	Editar Vi	sualizar F	avoritos	Ferramenta	s Ajuda	`							0	^
	Extrair	♥ Testar	📫 Copiar	Mover	¥ Apagar	ii Info								
• C:\	Users\Lei	onardo\Do	ownloads\	155124050	00362016000	.zip\								
Nome PREGA	.O 36.201 oltens155	6.zip) 12405000	36201600)0,pdf	Tamanh 5 336 63 63 20	 Tamanho 5 318 008 60 204 	Modifica 2016-04 2016-04	Criado	Acessado	Atributos	Criptogra Comentá	CRC Metodo 4CB62832 Deflate AF74F7EE Deflate	Sistema FAT FAT	Versão 20 20
<														,

Step 8: Open second zip file. In the example below, it holds the remaining tender documents.





Step 9: To get access to information concerning protests, click on *Informaçoes Adicionais da ATA* (from step 5).

Step 10: Click on Visualizar Recursos.



Step 11: If it is the case, the protest(s) will show up, as in the example below. From this screen, it is possible to download the original protest ("Recurso"), the explanation provided by the winner of the bid ("Contra-Razao do Fornecedor"), the analysis of the procurement official ("Decisao do Pregoeiro") and the final decision by the competent authority ("Decisao da Aut. Competente").



Appendix 4: List of selected solicitation documents

origin	UASG	procedure number	solicit. mode
keyword "architecture"	200035	0012/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	254445	0215/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	154070	0001/2017	RDC
keyword "architecture"	154046	0004/2017	request for quotations
keyword "architecture"	153254	0021/2015	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	153163	0005/2016	RDC
keyword "architecture"	153114	0164/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	153114	0009/2016	request for quotations
keyword "architecture"	153103	0024/2017	RDC
keyword "architecture"	153079	0001/2017	request for quotations
keyword "architecture"	153079	0001/2016	request for quotations
keyword "architecture"	153061	0001/2016	RDC
keyword "architecture"	173039	0026/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	173039	0028/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	154070	0003/2017	RDC
keyword "architecture"	200108	0008/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	158304	0039/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	153038	0073/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	153045	0017/2016	open tendering
keyword "architecture"	153045	0018/2016	open tendering
keyword "architecture"	200207	0013/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	179085	0098/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	200121	0009/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	179085	0112/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	200095	0025/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	200049	0042/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	200044	0011/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	200043	0017/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	153052	0005/2017	request for quotations
keyword "architecture"	154618	0015/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	153052	0001/2016	open tendering
keyword "architecture"	160141	0001/2016	request for quotations
keyword "architecture"	158275	0014/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	158423	0001/2016	request for quotations
keyword "architecture"	158581	2581/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	158147	0013/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	158009	0003/2017	RDC
keyword "architecture"	158720	0001/2017	RDC
keyword "architecture"	158720	0003/2017	RDC

origin	UASG	procedure number	solicit. mode
keyword "architecture"	158720	0004/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	158892	0014/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	160017	0002/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	160036	0006/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	158009	0002/2017	RDC
keyword "architecture"	160036	0025/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	154070	0002/2017	RDC
keyword "architecture"	170018	0003/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	155008	0038/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	170131	0022/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	155009	0001/2016	RDC
keyword "architecture"	155009	0002/2016	RDC
keyword "architecture"	155009	0002/2017	RDC
keyword "architecture"	155124	0003/2017	RDC
keyword "architecture"	155009	0005/2017	RDC
keyword "architecture"	160078	0001/2017	request for quotations
keyword "architecture"	170010	0006/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	170010	0001/2016	request for quotations
keyword "architecture"	926697	0053/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	155124	0001/2017	RDC
keyword "architecture"	020001	0001/2017	open tendering
keyword "architecture"	254445	0291/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	155009	0003/2017	RDC
keyword "architecture"	925138	0028/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	090012	0041/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	080026	0001/2017	request for quotations
keyword "architecture"	925175	0001/2017	request for proposals
keyword "architecture"	925153	0079/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	925153	0067/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	080016	0019/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	090003	0031/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	925425	0010/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	925135	0029/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	090005	0009/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	090011	0024/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	090012	0001/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	090012	0006/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	254445	0001/2017	RDC
keyword "architecture"	925153	0053/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	070012	0018/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	926523	0001/2015	request for quotations

origin	UASG	procedure number	solicit. mode
keyword "architecture"	926245	0025/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	926245	0018/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	926245	0002/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	040001	0072/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	925390	0001/2016	request for proposals
keyword "architecture"	070008	0011/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	090021	0032/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	925942	0059/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	080002	0016/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	925856	0147/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	925856	0049/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	925848	0010/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	925848	0008/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	060001	0067/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	255025	0001/2017	request for quotations
keyword "architecture"	090012	0023/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	343034	0002/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	343011	0003/2017	request for quotations
keyword "architecture"	090038	0004/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	343003	0002/2017	open tendering
keyword "architecture"	343036	0001/2017	request for quotations
keyword "architecture"	255026	0006/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	343036	0002/2017	request for quotations
keyword "architecture"	255021	0004/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	123001	0009/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	153032	0001/2017	RDC
keyword "architecture"	254446	0006/2016	RDC
keyword "architecture"	254446	0005/2016	RDC
keyword "architecture"	254446	0004/2016	RDC
keyword "architecture"	343003	0001/2017	open tendering
keyword "architecture"	443001	0001/2017	request for proposals
keyword "architecture"	090022	0025/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	533013	0011/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	090023	0029/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	090023	0059/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	090038	0001/2017	request for quotations
keyword "architecture"	510350	0004/2016	request for quotations
keyword "architecture"	160413	0045/2015	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	420001	0001/2017	request for proposals
keyword "architecture"	389086	0006/2017	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	380941	0007/2017	reverse auction

origin	UASG	procedure number	solicit. mode
keyword "architecture"	090037	0011/2016	reverse auction
keyword "architecture"	343041	0006/2017	request for quotations
keyword "urbanismo"	090027	0075/2016	reverse auction
keyword "urbanismo"	154032	0001/2016	prize competition
keyword "urbanismo"	090027	0067/2016	reverse auction
keyword "urbanismo"	925942	0055/2015	reverse auction
keyword "urbanismo"	926066	0006/2017	reverse auction
keyword "urbanismo"	158658	0001/2016	RDC
keyword "urbanismo"	158658	0001/2017	RDC
keyword "urbanismo"	925968	0087/2016	reverse auction
keyword "urbanismo"	160482	0022/2016	reverse auction
keyword "urbanismo"	400066	0001/2017	request for proposals
keyword "urbanismo"	343034	0003/2017	reverse auction
keyword "urbanismo"	170388	0001/2017	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	090022	0031/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	090023	0009/2017	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	530013	0001/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	090027	0032/2017	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	443055	0005/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	344001	0001/2017	request for proposals
keywords "projeto basico"	090038	0002/2017	request for quotations
keywords "projeto basico"	765701	0007/2017	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	110322	0034/2017	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	783701	0001/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	120196	0001/2017	request for quotations
keywords "projeto basico"	120626	0002/2017	open tendering
keywords "projeto basico"	254488	32016/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	152663	0015/2017	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	254462	0010/2017	RDC
keywords "projeto basico"	343007	0001/2017	RDC
keywords "projeto basico"	090004	0046/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	926195	0026/2017	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	060029	0006/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	925989	0011/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	070024	0035/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	080002	0002/2017	open tendering
keywords "projeto basico"	925390	0002/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	925387	0002/2017	open tendering
keywords "projeto basico"	765720	0001/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	925152	0002/2017	request for quotations
keywords "projeto basico"	765705	0001/2018	request for quotations

origin	UASG	procedure number	solicit. mode
keywords "projeto basico"	090004	0047/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	787700	0006/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	090005	0018/2017	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	783701	0002/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	200384	0001/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	767000	0001/2017	open tendering
keywords "projeto basico"	153038	0002/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	765706	0001/2017	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	090003	0011/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	170095	0001/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	170217	0011/2017	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	170217	0009/2017	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	170217	0007/2017	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	170201	0001/2016	request for quotations
keywords "projeto basico"	154503	0002/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	154503	0003/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	153167	0042/2017	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	170134	0006/2017	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	170217	0008/2017	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	155009	0001/2017	RDC
keywords "projeto basico"	170088	0001/2017	request for quotations
keywords "projeto basico"	170075	0001/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	170025	0021/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	170025	0009/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	155017	0128/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	158135	0002/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	170160	0008/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	170516	0008/2017	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	250025	0007/2017	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	170217	0006/2017	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	200139	0001/2017	request for quotations
keywords "projeto basico"	153167	0040/2017	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	170516	0005/2017	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	170394	0001/2016	open tendering
keywords "projeto basico"	153114	0001/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	170328	0001/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	153115	0002/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	170325	0001/2016	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	153167	0037/2017	reverse auction
keywords "projeto basico"	170328	0002/2016	reverse auction
'painel de serviços' website	158304	0044/2016	reverse auction

origin	UASG	procedure number	solicit. mode
'painel de serviços' website	158341	0021/2016	reverse auction
'painel de serviços' website	158377	0040/2017	reverse auction
'painel de serviços' website	158156	0027/2015	reverse auction
'painel de serviços' website	153038	0049/2016	reverse auction
'painel de serviços' website	160036	0014/2016	reverse auction
'painel de serviços' website	155124	0036/2016	reverse auction
'painel de serviços' website	200038	0009/2016	reverse auction
'painel de serviços' website	530001	0016/2017	reverse auction
'painel de serviços' website	153047	0019/2017	reverse auction
'painel de serviços' website	160163	0028/2015	reverse auction
'painel de serviços' website	201014	0002/2016	reverse auction
'painel de serviços' website	160066	0013/2017	reverse auction

Appendix 5: Downloading mandatory documents

Access site <u>https://www.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br/index.php/consultass</u>

Click on Licitaçoes.

	× ComprasNet	× +				-	
→ C A https://www	w.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br	r/index.php/consultass				7	à 0
Serviços	5	Simplifique!	Participe	Acesso à informação	Legislação	Canais	*
para o conteúdo 🚹 🛛 Ir para o menu 💈	2 Ir para a busca 🕄 Ir para o rodapé 4			ACESSIBILIDAI	DE ALTO CONTR	RASTE MAPA	A DO SITE
Portal de GOVERNO FEDERAL	Compras			в	suscar no portal		
				Pe	erguntas frequent	tes Posso	ajudar?
BOAS-VINDAS	INSTITUCIONAL	GESTOR PÚBLIC	0	FORNECEDORES			
SISTEMAS							
SISTEMAS	Compras Governamentais • Atas						۲
SISTEMAS GESTOR PÚBLICO	Compras Governamentais Atas Catálogo de Materiai Certidão Negativa	is					٢
GESTOR PÚBLICO Gestor Público	Compras Governamentais Atas Catálogo de Materiai Certidão Negativa Contratos	is					۲
GESTOR PÚBLICO Gestor Público Eventos	Compras Governamentais Atas Catálogo de Materiai Certidão Negativa Contratos Cotação Eletrônica	is					•
GESTOR PÚBLICO Gestor Público Eventos Cadernos de Logística	Compras Governamentais Atas Catálogo de Material Certidão Negativa Contratos Cotação Eletrônica Gestão de Ata de Re Intenção de Registro	is egistro de Preço/SRP o de Preço - IRP					٢
GESTOR PÚBLICO Gestor Público Eventos Cadernos de Logística Valores Limites e Cadernos Técnicos	Compras Governamentais Atas Catálogo de Material Cartidão Negativa Contratos Cotação Eletrônica Gestão de Ata de Re Intenção de Registro Licitações Pesquisa Textual - E	is egistro de Preço/SRP o de Preço - IRP ditais					٢
SISTEMAS GESTOR PÚBLICO Gestor Público Eventos Cadernos de Logística Valores Limites e Cadernos Técnicos Orientações e Procedimentos	Compras Governamentais Atas Catálogo de Material Cortidão Negativa Contratos Contratos Cotação Eletrônica Gestão de Ata de Re Intenção de Registro Licitações Pesquisa Textual - E Pregões Regime Diferenciado	is egistro de Preço/SRP o de Preço - IRP ditais o de Contratações - RI	DC				•
SISTEMAS GESTOR PÚBLICO Gestor Público Eventos Cadernos de Logística Valores Limites e Cadernos Técnicos Orientações e Procedimentos Desfazimento de bens	Compras Governamentais Atas Catálogo de Material Cartidão Negativa Contratos Cotação Eletrônica Gestão de Ata de Re Intenção de Registro Licitações Pesquisa Textual - E Pregões Regime Diferenciado Sessão Pública Unidades Administra	is egistro de Preço/SRP o de Preço - IRP ditais o de Contratações - RI tivas de Serviços Gera	DC				•

Inform the number of the solicitation document (1).

Inform the UASG code of the procuring entity (2).

Click OK (3).

💕 Licitações	× 🗅 ComprasNet 🛛 🗙	+			- 6 ×
← → C ① Não seguro	comprasnet.gov.br/acesso.asp?url=/Consi	IltaLicitacoes/ConsLicitacao_Filtro.asp			Q ★ 😝 :
Portal de Compras do Govern Compras MINISTÉRIO DO PLANE.	o Fodoral Net JAMENTO, DESENVOLVIMENTO E GESTÃO				MINISTÉRIO DO PLANEAMENTO Brasilia, 01 de Culturo de 2018
Portal de Compras Governa	mentais				SIASG - Ambiente Produção
 LICITAÇÕES DO GOVERNO FEDERAL Preencha os critérios de seleção e cliq Caso não seja informado o número da Os empos de Município e UASG (Unic 	ue em ok. 1 licitação, será obrigatório informar o Período de Public 5. de Compra) serão filtrados de acordo com as licitaçõe	ação e Modalidade. s publicadas no sistema.			
Número da Licitação	32017 (Preencha número e ano. Ex: 1020	15)			
Período de Publicação	(dd/mm/aaaa)	Até d/mm/aaaa)			
Objeto Modalidades	Convite Tomada de Preço Concurso Pregão RDC Todas	Tipos de Concorrência Concorrência SRP Concorrência SRP Concorrência Internacional Concorrência Internacional SRP Todos	Tipos de Pregão Pregão Eletrónico SRP Pregão Eletrónico Pregão Eletrónico Pregão Presencial Todos	Tipos de RDC RDC Eletrônico SRP RDC Eletrônico RDC Presencial Todos	
Unidades da Federação			Selecionar Excluir		
Municípios			Selecionar Excluir		
2 Cód. UASG (Unid.de Compra)	(máximo 5 UASGs) 165124 - HOSPITAL UNIV. Mº APARECIDA PEDR	DSSIAN	Selecionar Excluir		
	● Material Catálogo Nenhum (máximo 20 Ma	teriais)	Selecionar		
Materiais	Servico Catálogo Nenhum (máximo 20 Ser	vices)	- Excluir		
Serviços			Selecionar Excluir		
Cimpar OK 3		J.P.			

In cases where two or more solicitation documents are available under the same number, identify the desired solicitation document and click on *Itens e Download* (4).

Consultas	× 🗅 ComprasNet	×		+		-		×
← → C ① Não seguro	comprasnet.gov.br/acesso.asp?	url=/Con	nsul	ltaLicitacoes/ConsLicitacao_Filtro.asp	Q	*	θ	:
Portal de Compras do Governo Fe Comprasn MINISTÉRIO DO PLANEJAM	^{doral} Et IENTO, DESENVOLVIMENTO E GES	TÃO			MINISTÉRIO DO PI Brasília, 01 de Ou	LANEJAN itubro di	IENTO 2018	
Portal de Compras Governa	mentais				SIASG - Ambiente	Produ	ção	
LICITAÇÕES DO GOVERNO FEDERAL								_
1			C	Campo Grande- MS				
MINISTÉRIO DA EDUCAÇÃO Empresa Brasileira de Servicos De Hospital Universitário Maria Apare Código da UASG: 155124 Pregão Eletrônico Mº 3/2017 Obieto: Objeto: Pregão Eletrônico - , procedimentos crimiços, no ámbito do Endereço: Avenida Senador Filinto M Telefone: (0xx67). 32453328 Entrega da Proposta: a partir de 16 Abertura da Proposta: em 16/01/2 Histórico da eventos cubilicados Itense Download	spitalarcs/Sede cida Pedrossian Anuisição de materiais destinados a cirur o HUMAP - Hospital Universitário Maria Az 8:00 às 11:00 Hs e das 13:00 às 17:00 H uller. 355 Campo Grande (MS) //12/2016 às 08:00Hs 017 às 09:00Hs, no endereço: www.comp	gia de traur parecida Ped S rasnet.gov.l	umati edros	to-ortopedia: fixador externo e parafuso de interferência, para uti ssian/UFMS.	ilização nos paciente	es subr	netidos .	2
2			C	Campo Grande- MS				1
MINISTÉRIO DA EDUCAÇÃO Impresa Brasileira de Servicos Ho Hospital Universitário Maria Apare Código da UASG: 155124 BDE Elerrônico Nº 3/2012 Objeto: CONTRATAÇÃO DE ENCENHARIA PARA PLANEJAMENTO I Universitário Maria Apareida Pedrosos Edital a partir de: 20/11/2017 das 0 Endereco: Avenda Senador Filinto Mi Jelefone: (0xx67). 3345. Entrega da Proposta: 20/11/2017. à Histórico de eventos cubilicados. Rense Download	spitalares/Sede cida Pedrossian EMPRESA ESPECIALIZADA NA ELABORA DE REFORMA E AMPLIAÇÃO NOS SETOR an HUMAP/UPMS 8:00 às 11:00 Hs e das 13:00 às 17:00 H uller, 355 - VI. Ibiranga - Campo Grande.(I s.08:00Hs	L <u>ÇÃO DOS</u> ES <u>DE CEN</u> S MS) (LI	<u>S PR(</u> ENTRC (Licita Nov;	OJETOS BÁSICOS E EXECUTIVOS DE ARQUITETURA HOSPITAL O CIRURGICO (CC) E CENTRAL DE MATERIAIS ESTERELIZADOS O CIRURGICO (CC) E CENTRAL DE MATERIAIS	AR E SEUS COMPL (CME) - dependent	EMENT cias do	ARES DI Hospita	11
Acesso à Informação								

The following screen will display the subject matter of procurement and corresponding items. Click on Download (5).



In (6), type the code for downloading displayed in (7). Click on Confirmar (8).



A zip file containing the solicitation document and the reference term will be downloaded (9).



Files are named according to the following structure:

- For RDC procedures: CCCCCCNNNNNYYYYRRR_RDC, where CCCCCC is the code of the procuring entity, NNNNN is the number of the solicitation document, YYYY is the year when the solicitation document was published, RRR is the number of revisions of the solicitation document (typically RRR is 000, indicating that this is the original document and that the document was not revised), and _RDC indicates that this file concerns an RDC. So, for instance the file named as 158658000012017000_RDC.zip regards the RDC number 00001 published in 2017 by the procuring entity whose code is 158658.
- For all other solicitation methods: CCCCCCMMNNNNNYYYYRRR, where CCCCCC is the code of the procuring entity, MM is the code of the solicitation method, NNNNN is the number of the solicitation document, YYYY is the year when the solicitation document was published, RRR is the number of revisions of the solicitation document. MM can be 01 for request for proposals, 02 for request for quotations, 03 for price-based open tendering, 33 for value-based open tendering, 05 for reverse auction, and 20 for prize competitions. So, for instance the file named as 15403220000012016000.zip regards the prize competition number 00001 published in 2016 by the procuring entity whose code is 154032.

I deduced this structure by comparing the contents of the documents and the names of the files. I found the information regarding codes of solicitation method (MM) in the API, in the address <u>http://compras.dados.gov.br/docs/licitacoes/v1/modalidades_licitacao.html</u>

Appendix 6: Downloading additional documents: reverse auctions

Access the address https://www.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br/index.php/consultass

Click on Atas.



Click on Atas de Pregão



Inform the code of the procuring entity (1).

Inform the number of the procurement procedure (2).

Click OK (3).

ComprasNet × +	- 0	×				
← → C ③ Não seguro comprasnet.gov.br/acesso.asp?url=/livre/pregao/ata0.asp	* 8	:				
Portal de Compras do Governo Federal MINISTÉRIO DO PLANEJAMENTO Brasilia, 01 de Outubro de 2018 Brasilia, 01 de Outubro de 2018 MINISTÉRIO DO PLANEJAMENTO, DESENVOLVIMENTO E GESTÃO						
Portal de Compras Governamentais	SIASG - Ambiente Produção					
➢ CONSULTA ATA DE PREGÃO		^				
 Caso queira fazer a pesquisa pela Uasg clique no botão selecionar. Caso seja informado o código da Uasg, a pesquisa será feita pelo código, a lista de UASGs será ignorada. Pregão						
Lista de Orgaos (Unid. de Compra) 110322 ou Número Pregão 342017 (Preencha número e ano. Ex: 102005) 2 Período de Abertura de General (dd/mm/aaaa) Até (dd/mm/aaaa) Limpar OK 3		Ţ				
Acesso à Informação						

Click on the number of the procurement procedure (4).

ComprasNet	× +		- 🗆 X
← → C (i) Não se	eguro comprasnet.gov.br/acesso.asp?u	url=/livre/pregao/ata0.asp	★ Θ :
Portal de Compras do Go Compra MINISTÉRIO DO PLA	verno Federal ISNET NEJAMENTO, DESENVOLVIMENTO E	GESTÃO	MINISTÉRIO DO PLANEJAMENTO Brasilia, 01 de Outubro de 2018
Portal de Compra	s Governamentais		SIASG - Ambiente Produção
CONSULTA ATAS			
 Clique no número da licitaç 	ão para ver a ata		
Pregão Eletrônico			
Nº do Pregão	Cód. UASG (Unid. de Compra)	Nome da UASG (Unid. de Compra)	Data de Realização
<u>342017</u>	110322	CASA MILITAR	14/12/2017
Voltar			
Acesso à Informação			

To download the report of the reverse auction, click on Ata do Pregão (5).

To download information concerning the winner of the reverse auction, click on Resultado por Fornecedor (6).

To download the preliminary judgement of the reverse auction, click on Termo de Julgamento (7).

To download appeals and the judgement of appeals, click on Visualizar Recursos (8).

To download qualification documents presented by winning bidders, click on Anexos da Proposta (9).

To download the final result of the procedure (after appeals were judged), click on Termo de Homologaçao (10).

To download additional clarifications presented during the procedure, click on Esclarecimentos (11).



In cases where objections were presented, click on Impugnações to download them and to download judgments concerning them (12).



Appendix 7: Downloading additional documents: Law 8.666

Access the address https://www.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br/index.php/consultass

Click on Sessao Publica.



Click on Licitaçao.



Select the solicitation method (1).

Type the code of the procuring entity (2).

Type the number and year of the procurement procedure (3).

Click on Consultar (4).

🗅 SIASGnet - Sessão Pública - Cons 🗙 🕂	-		×
← → C		0	:
Sistema Integrado de Administração de Serviços Gerais Sessão Pública	anejamento to e Gestão e Gestão		
Ambiente: PRODUÇÃO Consultar Licitação	02/10/2018	11:18:25	
Critérios para Seleção Modalidade *: Tornada de Preços ▼ Tipo da Licitação: Todos ▼ SRP: Todos ▼ Situação da Licitação: Todos ▼ Descrição do Item: 120 caracter(es) disponível(is) UF: Todos ▼ Código da Uasg: 170088 2 SUP.REGIONAL RECEITA FEDE de OFERT/MG Lista de UASG: Nº/Ano da Licitação 1 / 2017 3	Lim; Selecic Excluir	a par pnar	
Consultar 4 (*) Os campos ano da licitação e modalidade são obrigatórios.			

To download reports on conformity, qualification and evaluation; additional clarifications presented during the procedure; as well as the final result of the procedure, click on (5).

To download objections and judgments concerning objections, click on (6).

To download appeals and judgements of appeals, click on (7).

SIA S	G Sistem	a Integrado de	iniliea 🥌	Ministé Desen	rio do Planejamento, volvimento e Gestão	
	net Serviça	os Gerais	Succession and	Sec	Seges retaria de Gestão	
Ambiente: PRODUÇÃO		Consultar Lic	itação		02/10/2018 11:	19:09
Critérios para Sele	eção ———					
	Modalidade *:	Tomada de Preços ▼				
Tipo	da Licitação:	Todos				
	SRP:	Todos V				
Situação	da Licitação:	Iodos				
Desc	rição do Item:					
		120 caracter(es) disponível(is)			Limpar	
	UF:	Todos				
Co	digo da Uasg:		1G			
					Seleciona	ur III
L	sta de UASG:				Excluir	
N9/Ap	a da Licitação	1/ 2017 *			~	
Data/Hora Prevista	a de Abertura:					
10152 44 844-1233	575 576 776 576 5					
Consultar						
5		(*) Os campos ano da licitação e me	odalidade são obrigatór	ios.		
		Licitações	3			
A, s		UASG	Modalidade	Nº/Ano da Licitação	Data/Hora Prevista de Abertura	
	170088 - SUF	REGIONAL RECEITA FEDERAL 6A.RF/MG	Tomada de Preços	00001/2017	25/10/2017 09:30:0	0
legistro en la	do.					

Appendix 8: Downloading additional documents: RDC

Access the address https://www.comprasgovernamentais.gov.br/index.php/consultass

Click on Regime Diferenciado de Contratações - RDC



Click on the tab Consultar Atas

Portal de Compras Comp	s do Governo Federal Drasnet				MINISTÉRIO DO PLANEJAMENTO Brasilia, 26 de Novembro de 2018
MINISTÉRIO D Portal de Compr	O PLANEJAMENTO	, DESENVOLVIMENTO E GESTÃO			SIASG - Ambiente Produção
Eletrônico					
onsultar Licitaçõ gendadas Em Ar	es Indamento Realizad	as Revogedas, Anuladas e Abandonadas Consultar Atas			
			Licitações		
10011-0-0	0.111	14 ce 1	2 3 4 5 ++	To Decet	
Nº LICItação	Cod. Uasg	TDIRUNAL DECIONAL DO TRABALHO (SA DECICO)	27/01/2015 08:00	Fim Proposta	Informações da Licitação
2/2010	150232	HOSPITAL UNIVERSITÁRIO/UESC	07/11/2018 08:00	29/11/2018 08:30	
3/2018	150248	HOSPITAL UNIVERSITÁRIO	13/11/2018 08:00	05/12/2018 10:00	Avisos Esclarecimentos Impugnações
\$ 2/2018	152757	INSTITUTO FEDERAL DO RN - CAMPUS NOVA CRUZ	31/10/2018 08:00	27/11/2018 09:30	
\$ 5/2018	153010	MEC-CEFET-CENT FED ED TEC CELSO S FONSECA/RJ	14/11/2018 10:00	10/12/2018 11:00	
6/2018	153010	MEC-CEFET-CENT FED ED TEC CELSO S FONSECA/RJ	09/11/2018 10:00	04/12/2018 11:00	
\$ 1/2016	153031	MEC-UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE SÃO PAULO/SP	03/02/2016 08 00	26/02/2016 08 30	Suspensão Administrativa Avisos Esclarecimentos Impugnações
\$ 8/2016	153031	MEC-UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE SAO PAULO/SP	02/12/2016 09:00	23/12/2016 09:00	Suspensão Administrativa Avisos Esclarecimentos Impugnações
\$ 14/2018	153032	UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE LAVRAS/MEC/MG	21/11/2018 08:00	12/12/2018 09:00	
\$ 16/2018	153032	UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE LAVRAS/MEC/MG	05/11/2018 08:00	27/11/2018 09:00	
		14 .4 1	2 3 4 5 🗪 🖬		
intidade de Licitações	Agendadas: 148				

Acesso à Informação By means of the navigation tools (1), find the page in which the desired procurement procedure is located.

Click on the link Selecionar (2) corresponding to the desired procurement procedure.

CO MINISTE	mpras ÉRIO DO PLANE.	IAMENTO, DE	SENVOLVIMENTO E GESTÃO						
Portal de	e Compras Governa	mentais						SIASG - Ambiente Pro	dução
Eletrônico onsultar L	icitações								
gendadas	Em Andamento	Realizadas	Revogadas, Anuladas e Abandonadas Consultar Atas						
				Licitações					
	-		14 44	12345 **	*1				
alacionar	Nº Licitação	Cod. Uasg	Orgão SECRETARIA DE PORTOS	Início Proposta	Fim Proposta	Inicio Sessão Pública	Enc. Sessão Pública	Informações da L	.icitação
alecionar	1/2015	110680	SECRETARIA DE PORTOS	01/02/2016 10:00	24/02/2016 10:00	24/02/2016 10:00	15/07/2016 15:24		
alecionar	2/2016	110680	SECRETARIA DE PORTOS	04/11/2016 08:00	06/12/2016 10:00	06/12/2016 10:00	28/12/2016 11:29		
elecionar	\$ 5/2016	110680	SECRETARIA DE PORTOS	26/01/2015 09:00	23/02/2015 15:00	23/02/2015 15:00	07/05/2015 15 55		
elecionar	\$ 6/2014	110680	SECRETARIA DE PORTOS	02/02/2015 09:00	27/02/2015 10:00	27/02/2015 10:00	08/04/2015 11:48		
elecionar	\$ 1/2014	120016	GRUPAMENTO DE APOIO DE SÃO JOSÉ DOS CAMPOS	02/12/2014 08:00	23/12/2014 10:00	23/12/2014 10:00	26/12/2014 13:04		
elecionar	% 1/2017	120016	GRUPAMENTO DE APOIO DE SÃO JOSÉ DOS CAMPOS	29/11/2017 08:00	27/12/2017 09:00	27/12/2017 09:04			
ecionar	\$ 1/2016	150148	UNIVERSIDADE TECNOLOGICA FEDERAL DO PARANA	13/07/2016 08:30	04/08/2016 09:30	04/08/2016 09:32	04/08/2016 09:32		
elecionar	\$ 1/2017	150148	UNIVERSIDADE TECNOLOGICA FEDERAL DO PARANA	03/02/2017 08:30	24/02/2017 09:00	24/02/2017 09:00	09/03/2017 10:23		
alecio	1/2018	150148	UNIVERSIDADE TECNOLOGICA FEDERAL DO PARANA	23/08/2018 08:00	17/09/2018 09:00	17/09/2018 09:05	24/09/2018 15:16		
- 2			14 - (4	1 2 3 4 5 10					

Acesso à Informação Type the informed Captcha code in (3) and click on Enviar (4).

😰 Regime Diferenciado de Contrat: 🗴 🗅 ComprasNet 🗴 📴 Courrier - LeonardoLimaE.Sa@er: 🗴 🕴	- 🛛 X
← → C 🛛 Não seguro comprasnet.gov.br/acesso.asp?ul=/Livre/RDC/rdcEletronico.asp?aba=tabAgendadas	९ ☆ 📄 \varTheta :
Portial de Compras de Governo Foderal Comprasnet MINISTÉRIO DO PLANEJAMENTO, DESENVOLVIMENTO E GESTÃO	MINISTÊRIO DO PLANEJAMENTO Brasilia, 26 de Novembro de 2018
Portal de Compras Governamentais	SIASG - Ambiente Produção
RDC Eletrônico	
<form><complex-block><complex-block><complex-block><complex-block><complex-block><form><form><form><form><form></form></form></form></form></form></complex-block></complex-block></complex-block></complex-block></complex-block></form>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
🚺 Assay	

To download the report of the RDC session, click on Ata original (5).

To download information concerning the winner of the reverse auction, click on Resultado por Fornecedor (6).

To download mandatory statements presented by bidders, click on Declaraçoes (7).

To download qualification documents presented by winning bidders, click on Anexos Solicitados (8).

To download the preliminary results of the RDC, click on Termo de Julgamento (9).

To download the final result of the procedure (after appeals were judged), click on Termo de Homologaçao (10).

To download appeals and the judgement of appeals, click on Recursos da Sessao Publica (11).

To download additional clarifications presented during the procedure, objections and the judgement of objections, click on Avisos, Esclarecimentos Impugnações (12).



Appendix 9: Downloading additional documents from procuring entities' website

Access the site of the desired procuring entity.

In this example, the procuring entity is the Ministry of Culture (<u>www.cultura.gov.br</u>).



Under the tab Accesso à informaçao (1), click on Licitações e Contratos (2). This way of accessing information on procurement should be the same for all federal organizations, according to transparency regulations.



From this point on, each organization may present information in a different way. In this case, the Ministry of Culture shows information concerning ongoing procurement – *licitaçoes em andamento* – (3) and past procurement – *licitaçoes encerradas* – (4) under different links. In spite of this particular case being already a case of past procurement, I found the information under ongoing procurement. So, one might need to search in both links.


Scroll the resulting page, which displays the list of procurement procedures and available documents, searching for the desired procurement procedure. One may need to search through different pages (5).

$\leftarrow \rightarrow C$ (i) Não seguro	www.cultura.gov.br/licitacoes/e	em-andamento			☆	θ	:
A investment of the second	www.cultura.gov.br/licitacoes/e pis) dias úteis antes da data o ação poderá ser realizada por ndereço Edifício Parque Cidade s de esclarecimentos referente: à data designada para abertu al. egão 22/2017	em-andamento designada para a abertura da forma eletrônica, pelo e-n Corporate, 7º andar - Bairro s a este processo licitatório ra da sessão pública, exclus	a sessão pública, q nail <u>licitacao@cultt</u> Asa Sul, Brasília/D deverão ser enviad ivamente por meio	ualquer pessoa poderá impugnar ura.gov.br ou por petição dirigid JF, CEP 70308-200, no Protocolo. dos ao Pregoeiro, até 03 (três) o eletrônico via internet, no ende	☆ este a ou dias ereço	8	
Mostrando 1 - 10 de 47 r ACESSO À INFORMAÇÃO Institucional	esultados. O MINISTÉRIO Institucional Municipae	Itens por página 10 EDITAIS E APOIOS Editais de Cultura Editais de Cultura	Página 1 V de 5	I¶ Primeiro ¶Anterior <u>Próximo</u> ▶ <u>↓</u>	Último 🔰		
Ações e Programas Participação Social Auditorias Convénios e Transferências Receitas e Despesas Licitações e Contratos Servidores Informações classificadas Serviço de Informações ao Cidadão – SIC Perguntas Frequentes Dados Abertos Pareceres Juridicos Incentivo Fiscal	Historco O Ministro Agenda do Ministro O Dia do Ministro Discursos Agenda das autoridades Secretarias Entidades Vinculadas Escritórios Regionais	Editai de Contratação Processos seletivos Termo de Compromisso Culturai Legislação Logotipos	Noticias MinC Artigos Publicações Áudios Fotos Vídeos				
	Min seça de Uso: O conteúdo deste site, v excetuando os casos espec	istério da Cultura 2013 - Governo redado ao seu uso comercial, pode ificados em contrário e os contexi	Federal erá ser reproduzido de dos replicados de outr	esde que citada a fonte, as fontes.			

Information available will be displayed under the corresponding procurement document (6).



Appendix 10: Downloading additional documents from the Transparency portal

X 🗅 Início - Portal da transparência 🗙 🕂 ← → C ③ Não seguro | www3.transparencia.gov.br ☆ 0 : Ir para o conteúdo 1 Ir para o menu 2 Ir para a busca 3 Ir para o rodapé 4 Portal da Transparên<u>cia</u> MINISTÉRIO DA TRANSPARÊNCIA E CONTROLADORIA-GERAL DA UNIÃO Sobre o Portal 👻 Painéis 👻 Consultas Detalhadas 👻 Controle social 👻 Rede de Transparência 🛛 Receba Notificações 🗍 Aprenda mais 💌 Busque no Portal da Transparência Busque por orgão, cidade, CNPJ, servidor... Q Todos NTO DA DESPESA EM CONHEÇA O PANORAMA DO GOVERNO FEDERAL TAL DE PAGAN R\$ 3,44 TRILHÕES **R\$ 2,10 TRILHÕES** 0 Políticas públicas Receitas e despesas Acesso rápido Localidade » Documentos diários de Estado e Município Q execução da despesa pública Q 📶 Orçamento anual da despesa Q 📶 Áreas de atuação (Funções) » Execução mensal da despesa pública por: Q 📶 Orçamento anual da receita Q 🔝 Programas de governo AP Órgão Q Lul Benefícios ao cidadão Área de atuação Q 💷 Receitas públicas Q 🔟 Programas e ações Ação/programa orçamentário AM PA CE RN MA Q 🔟 Despesas públicas orcamentários PB PI PE Q Idd. Recursos transferidos Período Q 📶 Emendas parlamentares AL то » Consulta de Pessoa RO Q 🔟 Gastos com cartão de SE BA Jurídica MT pagamento Consulta de Pessoa
 Física GO DF Orgãos e Servidores Contratos e convênios MG ES MS Ⅲ

Lul Cancãoc

Access the Transparency portal on the internet (<u>http://www3.transparencia.gov.br</u>).



Under the tab Consultas Detalhadas (1), click on Licitações (2).

Inform the approximate date of the solicitation document (1), the solicitation method (2), the procuring entity (3) and click on Consultar (4).



🗅 Detalhamento das Licitações - Po 🗙 🕂 o × ← → C 💿 Não seguro | www3.transparencia.gov.br/licitacoes/consulta?paginacaoSimples=true&tamanhoPagina=&offset=&direcaoOrde colunasSelecionadas=detalhar%2CdataReferenci... 🖈 🛛 🗄 « OCULTAR FILTROS DE CONSULTA FILTRO **BUSCA LIVRE** Data de referência de: 01/01/2017 🗙 DATA DE REFERÊNCIA Data de referência até: 01/12/2017 🗙 Modalidade: Convite 🔀 DATA DE ABERTURA Órgão Superior: 40000 - MINISTERIO DO TRABALHO (Órgão Superior) × SITUAÇÃO Tabela de dados MODALIDADE 0 😝 IMPRIMIR 🛃 BAIXAR 🔲 REMOVER/ADICIONAR COLUNAS 🤇 PAINEL LICITAÇÕES VISUALIZAÇÃO GRÁFICA INSTRUMENTO LEGAL DE CONTRATAÇÃO ÓRGÃO / ENTIDADE VINCULADA LICITANTE ≑ INSTRUMENTO LEGAL DE CONTRATAÇÃO ÓRGÃO SUPERIOR LICITANTE 🗢 MODALIDADE DA LICITAÇÃO \$ ÓRGÃO/ENTIDADE DATA DE REFERÊNCIA DATA DE Abertura 🗢 NÚMERO DA LICITAÇÃO 🗢 0 DETALHAR UNIDADE GESTORA 🖨 SITUAÇÃO 🖨 MINISTERIO DO TRABALHO UNIDADEC 5 22/05/2017 Sem MINISTERIO Informação DO TRABALHO Detalhar Evento de Resultado Convite Contrato 00001/2017 0 VINCULO DIRETO Julgamento Publicado ju a pe c d o e si R T E Digite aqui para pesquisar 0 🖽 🚍 🔒 🤮 🧠 🔿 A x^R 🗐 🌈 🧬 FRA 🚬 10

In the resulting page, click on Detalhar (5) to get additional information.

From this page, it is possible to get information regarding contracts awarded (6).

	E ESTA AQUI: INICIO » LICITAÇÕES » DETALHAMENT	TO DAS LICITAÇÕES » DETALHAMENTO DA LICITAÇÃO			
D	etalhamento d	a Licitação		ORIGEM DOS DADOS	
Órg 400	t ão superior 000 - MINISTERIO DO TRABALHO	Órgão / entidade vinculada 40000 - MINISTERIO DO TRABALHO - UNIDADES COM VÍNCULO DIRETO	Unidade gestora responsável 400066 - SUPERINTENDÊNCIA REGIONAL DO TRABALHO/ES	Número da licitação 00001/2017	
Mo COI	dalidade NVITE	Data de abertura	Situação Evento de resultado de JULGAMENTO PUBLICADO	Processo 47650000201201691	
Obj	eto		Quantidade de itens licitados	Contato no órgão/entidade responsável	
BÁS	ETO: CONTRATAÇÃO DE PESSOA FÍSI SICOS E COMPLEMENTARES DO PROJI PERINTENDÊNCIA REGIONAL DO TRAI	CA OU JURIDICA PARA ATUALIZAÇÃO DOS PRO ETO DA OBRA DE REFORMA E AMPLIAÇÃO DA BALHO NO ESPÍRITO SANTO.	JETOS 1		
BÁS SUF	ETO: CONTRATAÇÃO DE PESSOA FISI ICOS E COMPLEMENTARES DO PROJ ERINTENDÊNCIA REGIONAL DO TRAI ERINTENDÊNCIA REGIONAL DO TRAI	CA OU JURIDICA PARA ATUALIZAÇAO DOS PRC ETO DA OBRA DE REFORMA E AMPLIAÇÃO DA BALHO NO ESPÍRITO SANTO.	JETOS 1		
BÁS SUF	ETO: CONTRATAÇÃO DE PESSOA FISI ICOS E COMPLEMENTARES DO PROJ PERINTENDÊNCIA REGIONAL DO TRA ITENS LICITADOS	CA OU JURIDICA PARA ATUALIZAÇAO DOS PRC ETO DA OBRA DE REPORMA E AMPLIAÇÃO DA BALHO NO ESPÍRITO SANTO.	1		
	ETC: CONTRATAÇÃO DE PESSOA FISI CICS E COMPLEMENTARES DO PROJ PRINTENDÊNCIA REGIONAL DO TRAI ITENS LICITADOS PARTICIPANTES DA LICITAÇÃ CONTRATOS RELACIONADO:	CA OU JURIDICA PARA ATUALIZAÇAO DOS PRC TEO DA ORRA DE REFORMA E AMPLIAÇÃO DA BALHO NO ESPÍRITO SANTO.	1		

Appendix 11: Request for information

of additional documents

UASG	Procedure number	Situation	Request of information
090005	0009/2017	cancelled (documentation error)	Requested information by the website sei.trf1.jus.br in 10.10.2018. Reply in 30.10.2018: cancelled due to errors in the solicitation document.
926245	0002/2017	cancelled (no info)	Requested information in 10.10.2018 by email licitacoes@ceasa.df.gov.br Reply in 11.10.2018: cancelled, no reason provided, not replaced.
343034	0002/2017	cancelled (no info)	Requested information in 10.10.2018 by website http://portal.iphan.gov.br/contato Reply in 22.10.2018 demanding a new request by means of the system e-SIC. Requested information by means of the system e- SIC em 23.10.2018. número do protocolo: 01590.000995/2018- 14. Reply in 24.10.2018 informing it was cancelled, no reason provided, not replaced. Not available anymore in Comprasnet as of 30.11.2018.
170394	0001/2016	cancelled (no info)	Requested information by means of the system e-SIC DF in 11.10.2018. número do protocolo: 00053.000083/2018-59. "On hold" in Comprasnet as of 30.11.2018. Reply in 18.10.2018 (e-SIC DF) informing it was cancelled, no reason provided, not replaced.
090027	0032/2017	cancelled (no info)	Requested information by email nulit@trf1.jus.br in 10.10.2018. No reply. Not available anymore in Comprasnet as of 30.11.2018. New request for information in 12.2.2019 by email selic.df@trf1.jus.br and by sei.trf1.jus.br "O seu contato foi recebido e registrado no Processo Administrativo 0003769-43.2019.4.01.8000. Um comprovante foi enviado para o e-mail informado." Replied in 13.2.2018: Cancelled, no information why.
090005	0018/2017	cancelled (no info)	Requested information in 10.10.2018 by the organization's website. No reply. The procurement document states that the subject matter is project for water system renovation. Not considered architectural service. Not available anymore in Comprasnet as of 30.11.2018. For these reasons I did not consider necessary to retrieve additional documents.
170217	0006/2017	cancelled (replaced)	Requested information to the "ouvidoria da Receita" in 10.10.2018. Reply in 22.10.2018: it was cancelled and replaced by process 11/2017.
090023	0009/2017	cancelled (replaced)	Requested information in 10.10.2018 by email selit.df@trf1.jus.br. Reply in 11.10.2018: it was cancelled and replaced by process 29/2017.

UASG	Procedure number	Situation	Request of information
158720	0004/2017	concluded	Requested information by email in 10.10.2018. Email did not work. Requested information again by means of the system e-ouv. Reply in 15.10.2018 informing a link to the documents in the organization's website: https://www.ufsb.edu.br/acesso-informacao/licitacoes- contratos/108-licitacoes/218-regime-diferenciado-de- contratacao/214-2017-licitacoesrdc/ No information regarding winner. Comprasnet informs that there is a winner.
153052	0005/2017	concluded	Requested information by means of the system e-SIC in 11.10.2018. número do protocolo: 23480.023635/2018-62. Replied in 18.10.2018, winner chosen. Information received by email.
925175	0001/2017	not relevant	Requested information by email cpl@confea.org.br in 11.10.2018. No reply. "On hold" in Comprasnet as of 30.11.2018. New request on 12.2.2019 by site http://transparencia.confea.org.br/sic/formulario-eletronico-de- pedido-de-acesso-a-informacao-pessoa-fisica/ Reply in 20.2.2019. Concluded. I received all docs concerning this procedure. In pages 254 and 455 it is consigned that no services exclusive for architects are procured. CAU asked for clarification on page 392. It was confirmed that there is no architectural service.

Appendix 12: Matrix report

20001 0001/2017	Senado Fe	deral								
	open tend	ering	est. value	R\$760.03	7,66 contr. value	R\$445.173,53				
	quant item	ns	concluded							
subject	Contrataça compreen Arquitetôr	ão de empresa o dendo a elabora nico do Senado	especializada p ção de: antepr Federal.	ara prestação de serviço ojetos; projeto legal; e p	os técnicos de Arquite projetos executivos no	tura e Engenharia o Complexo				
obs	Técnica e http://www	Técnica e preço. Sem informaçoes sobre contrato no comprasnet, mas consta informaçao no site do Senado. http://www.senado.leg.br/transparencia/liccontr/licitacoes/licitacoes.asp?m=O								
	Valor arq 1 Uma empr registrado:	total = R\$332.3 resa foi inabilitad s no CAU.	08,18 (43,7% d la por apresen	o valor estimado). tar atestados de arquite	to sem que os atestad	los estivessem				
	b.7) Consi Áreas Téc técnicas ec	deram-se serviç nicas de Atuaçã quivalentes ou s	os de caracter o, a elaboração uperiores àque	ísticas semelhantes às de de anteprojetos e proj elas descritas neste Edita	o objeto desta licitaçã etos executivos que to Il para edifícios comer	o em cada uma das enham características ciais ou de escritórios.				
protes	t Sem inforr nao foram qualificaçae	naçoes no comp aceitos. Esses r o em engenharia	prasnet. Infos r ecursos versar a de segurança	no site do Senado. Dois n sobre um esclarecime no trabalho.	recursos, nao dizem r nto que alterou as exi	espeito a arquitetura, igências quanto a				
Source	https://ww contratos/	w6g.senado.gov licitacoes?objeto	.br/transparen =№=1	cia/licitacoes-e- &data=&ano=2017⪯	goes=false					
001	264	Estu	dos e Projetos	- Instalações Prediais						
	l Anteproje do COTR	eprojetos e projetos executivos de arquitetura e engenharia para a adaptação da antiga oficina mecânica COTRAN para receber a marcenaria. I.230m2								
	est. value	t. value R\$93.366,18 contr. value R\$84.026,77								
	quant		1,00 unit	un value unit						
	quant. crit.	prof	600,00	quant. crit. op.						
	crit. prof.	Habilitaçao: Atestados devendo comprovar que os profissionais (arquiteto) executaram, de forma satisfatória, serviços técnicos de desenvolvimento de anteprojetos e projetos executivos compatíveis com a característica, o vulto e a complexidade do lote objeto da presente licitação do qual esteja participando.								
	crit. op.	Habilitaçao: Possuir em seu quadro arquiteto com experiência na elaboração de anteprojetos e projetos executivos para edifícios comerciais ou de escritório.								
		Proposta técnica avaliada por: Quantidade de experiência em cada area de atuaçao (arq. eng). Dura era eran constidurada:								
		Para arq sera considerado: Projeto Arquitetônico, referente a construção ou reforma de edificação comercial ou de serviços, com área de mínima de: Lote 1: 600m² Lote2: 2.300m² Lote 3: 1.700m²								
		6.1.3. Os atestados técnicos serão devidamente avaliados e, se válidos, atribuir-se-á a cada um deles 01 (um) ponto quando referirem-se às áreas técnicas de Instalações Hidráulicas e Sanitárias, Cabeamento Estruturado, Combate a Incêndio e Orçamentos, e 02 (dois) pontos quando referirem-se á áreas técnicas de Arquitetura e Obras Civis, Estruturas, Instalações								
	obs	Prazo: 305 dia	IS.							
002	264	Estu	dos e P rojetos	- Instalações Prediais						
	I Anteproje	tos e projetos e	xecutivos de a	rquitetura e engenharia	para a adaptação da á	rea de abrigo do atual				
	Serviço de para receb Document	Marcenaria e S per novos setore tação - SGIDOC	erralheria para es, incluindo a 2. 4.654m2	receber escritórios / A reforma da área da Secr	daptação da Unidade etaria de Gestão da Ir	de Apoio I e Bloco 6 nformação e				
	est. value		F	\$374.603,30 contr. valu	Je	R\$166.466,67				

Página I de 55

	quant	1,00 unit	un value unit								
	quant. crit.	prof 2.300,00	quant. crit. op.								
	crit. prof.	Habilitaçao: Atestados deve forma satisfatória, serviços t compatíveis com a caracteri do qual esteja participando.	ndo comprovar que os profissio técnicos de desenvolvimento de ística, o vulto e a complexidade e	nais (arquiteto) executaram, de anteprojetos e projetos executivos do lote objeto da presente licitação							
	crit. op.	Habilitaçao: Possuir em seu projetos executivos para ed	quadro arquiteto com experiên lifícios comerciais ou de escritór	cia na elaboração de anteprojetos e io.							
		Proposta técnica avaliada por: Quantidade de experiência em cada area de atuaçao (arq, eng). Para arq sera considerado: Projeto Arquitetônico, referente a construção ou reforma de edificação comercial ou de serviços, com área de mínima de: Lote 1: 600m² Lote2: 2.300m² Lote 3: 1.700m²									
		6.1.3. Os atestados técnicos deles 01 (um) ponto quanda Sanitárias, Cabeamento Estr quando referirem-se às árer Elétricas, Condicionamento	s serão devidamente avaliados e, o referirem-se às áreas técnicas uturado, Combate a Incêndio e as técnicas de Arquitetura e Obr de Ar e Exaustão	se válidos, atribuir-se-á a cada um de Instalações Hidráulicas e Orçamentos, e 02 (dois) pontos ras Civis, Estruturas, Instalações							
	obs	Prazo: 305 dias									
003	264	Estudos e Projetos	s - Instalações Prediais								
	I Anteprojet	rojetos e projetos executivos de arquitetura e engenharia para a reforma do Bloco da SIS. 3.405m2									
	est. value		R\$292.068,18 contr. value	R\$194.680,09							
	quant	I,00 unit	un value unit								
	quant. crit.	prof 1.700,00	quant. crit. op.								
	crit. prof.	Habilitaçao: Atestados deve forma satisfatória, serviços t compatíveis com a caracteri do qual esteja participando.	litaçao: Atestados devendo comprovar que os profissionais (arquiteto) executaram, de la satisfatória, serviços técnicos de desenvolvimento de anteprojetos e projetos executivos patíveis com a característica, o vulto e a complexidade do lote objeto da presente licitação ual esteja participando.								
	crit. op.	Habilitaçao: Possuir em seu quadro arquiteto com experiência na elaboração de anteprojetos e projetos executivos para edifícios comerciais ou de escritório.									
		Proposta técnica avaliada po	or:								
		Quantidade de experiência	em cada area de atuaçao (arq, e	ng).							
		Para arq sera considerado:									
		Projeto Arquitetônico, referente a construção ou reforma de edificação comercial ou de serviços, com área de mínima de: Lote 1: 600m² Lote2: 2.300m² Lote 3: 1.700m²									
		6.1.3. Os atestados técnicos deles 01 (um) ponto quando Sanitárias, Cabeamento Estr quando referirem-se às área	s serão devidamente avaliados e, o referirem-se às áreas técnicas ruturado, Combate a Incêndio e as técnicas de Arquitetura e Obr	se válidos, atribuir-se-á a cada um de Instalações Hidráulicas e Orçamentos, e 02 (dois) pontos ras Civis, Estruturas, Instalações							
		Elétricas, Condicionamento de Ar e Exaustão									

Página 2 de 55

040001 0072/2	017	Supremo Tr	ribunal Federal	- STF								
		reverse auc	tion	est. value		R\$2.239.618,50	contr. value	R\$1.827.189,90				
		quant items	1	concluded								
	subject	Contratação para elabora técnicos aux	o de empresa p ação de desent kiliares, a serer	para prestação nos técnicos, a n prestados po	de serviço tualização or meio de	os de apoio técnic de sinalização visu postos de traball	o nas áreas de ei ual e acompanhar ho	ngenharia e arquitetura mento de serviços				
	obs	Para postos	de serviço téc	nicos, incluind	lo desenho	s de arquitetura.						
	protest	Impugnaçao sobre preço inexequivel, nao foi aceita.										
	Source	comprasnet										
001		5380 Prestação de Serviços de Apoio Administrativo										
	2	prestação d	e serviços de a	poio técnico r	nas áreas d	e engenharia e ar	quitetura para el	aboração de desenhos				
		técnicos, atu	ualização de sir	nalização visual	e acompa	nhamento de serv	viços técnicos au	xiliares, a serem				
		prestados p	or meio de no	ve postos de t	rabalho.Co	ontrato de 30 me	ses.					
		est. value		R\$	2.239.618,	50 contr. value		R\$1.827.189,90				
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit						
		quant. crit. pr	aant. crit. prof quant. crit. op.									
		crit. prof.	crit. prof.									
		ente op.	nt. op. copia(s) de contrato(s), atestado(s), declaração(des) ou qualquer outro documento idôneo que comprove experiência mínima de 3 (três) anos na prestação de serviços de apoio técnico, ininterruptos ou não, até a data da sessão pública de abertura da licitação; f.4) o documento apresentado deverá comprovar, dentro dos posto de trabalho inclusos no serviço de apoio técnico, no mínimo, um profissional do posto de trabalho de Técnico em Construção Civil (Edificações) ou Eletrotécnico;									
			Posto de Trabalho Quantidade de Profissionais Programador Visual Gráfico: I Técnico em Construção Civil Sênior (Edificações): I Técnico em Construção Civil Júnior (Edificações): 5 Eletrotécnico: 2									
080002 0002/2	017	Tribunal Superior do Trabalho - 11ª Região/AM										
		open tender	ring	est. value		R\$1.145.390.00	contr. value	R\$893.404.20				
		quant items	0	concluded								
	subject	Contratação de construç	o de empresa e ão do Fórum ⁻	especializada e Frabalhista de	m engenha Manaus/Al	ria para revisão e M	adaptação dos p	projetos técnicos da obra				
	obs	Consta ager https://porta contratos?co Com aditivo Nenhum do Solicitei info	ndado no Com al.trt1 I.jus.br/ii ont=lists&ccna o de prorrogaç icumento nem ormaçoes adicio	prasnet, mas h ndex.php/trans me=Contrato ao por 60 mes ata disponivel onais em 5.10.	na informas sparencia/a &act=view ses. 2018	çao sobre contrat quisicoes/listar- &gcb=1966	o na pagina do o	rgao.				
	protest	Nenhuma ir	nformaçao sob	re impugnacoe	es ou recur	SOS.						
	Source	https://porta	al.trt .jus.br/ii	ndex.php/trans	sparencia/a	quisicoes						
001		78	Estu	dos e Projetos	de Arquit	etura						
	I	Contratação de construç 26117,13m2	o de empresa e ão do Fórum ⁻ 2	especializada e Frabalhista de	m engenha Manaus/At	ria para revisão e M.	adaptação dos p	projetos técnicos da obra				
		est. value		R\$	61.145.390,	00 contr. value		R\$893.404,20				
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit						
				Página	a 3 de 55							

		quant	. crit. pi	of		10.446,85	0	quant. crit.	op.	10.44	46,85	
		crit.	prof.	demon Técnica 7.3.3.4. 7.3.3.5. pavime	stre a A a - RRT, I. Elab Os pro ntos, co	Anotação de , conforme t oração de p ojetos acima om caracterí	Respo tabela rojeto descr isticas,	onsabilida abaixo: o arquitete ritos deve , prazos e	de Técnica ônico; m ser elabo complexid	- ART ou Re orados para e lade análogas	egistro edificaçã ao pré	de Responsabilidade ões de múltiplos dio objeto desta licitação.
		crit.	crit. op. A empresa deverá apresentar um ou mais atestados de capacidade técnica, registrados no CREA ou CAU, fornecido por pessoa jurídica de direito público ou privado devidamente identificada, em nome do licitante, compatível em características, complexidades, quantidades e prazos com o objeto da presente licitação. Adotou-se o percentual padrão de 40% das áreas totais.									
	Valor a arq + e Prazo I Termo "I.3. C deste I projeto	rquiteta eng no n 20 dias de refe aberá ad TRT (pro os, nas d	ura = 343.61 mesmo item. s. erência: o licitante ve ograma de r diversas disci	17,00 encedenecess	(30%). or a ident sidades) pa s técnicas	ificação e la ara promov envolvidas.	evantamento ver a revisão ."	das atu e adapt	uais necessidades tação dos			
080016 0019/2	017	Tribu	unal Su	perior o	lo Trabi	alho - 10ª Re	egião/I	DF				
		reve	rse auc	tion	1	est. value		R	\$1.650.000	0,00 contr. v	alue	R\$845.000,00
	subject	Cont e/ou como	ratação projeto o a apro	o de em os de at ovação	presa p é 4.500 dos pro	para prestaçã) m², contem pjetos para ir	ão de npland móvei:	serviços t lo a elabo s do TRT	écnicos de ração de pr da 10ª Reg	engenharia e rojetos de en gião. Item 1: [e arquit Igenhari DF. Iten	etura para as edificações ia e arquitetura, bem n 2: TO.
	obs	A em medi 1. 0 2. 01 3. 01 4. 01 No a deset Uma	ante te ante te (um) (um) e (um) e (um) e nexo s nvolvid empre	deverá rmo de arquitet engenhe engenhe olicita-s o em Bl sa foi d	conssuir comprese iro civil iro elet iro mede e apres M (Buil esclassif	e manter a : comisso do p l; cricista; e cânico. sentar o arqu Iding Informa ficada por co	seguin profiss uivo di ation I onta d	ligital com Model). N Jessa exigi	e técnica m com a em pelo menc lo entanto, ència.	ínima em seu presa: os um projeta essa exigênc	o comp ia nao e	o permanente ou leto com 2.250,00 m² està contida no edital.
	protest											
	Source	comp	orasnet									
001			22225		Servi	iço Engenhar	ria					
	2	contr arqui enge elabo	ratação itetura nharia pração vação o	, por de para ed e arquit de orça los proi	emanda, ificaçõe etura, c mentos etos pa	, de empresa es e/ou proje consultoria te s, emissão de ura imóveis d	a para etos de écnica e laudo	a eventu e até 4.50 a, análise, os e parec bunal Re g	al prestação 0m², conte assessoria, ceres, levan	o de serviços implando a el especificaçõe itamentos, vis rabalho da 10	i técnico laboraç es, estu- storias, L ^a Regiã	os de engenharia e ão de projetos de do de viabilidade técnica, sondagens, bem como io no Distrito Federal
		est. v	alue			F	8\$1.60	00.000.00	contr. valu	Je	8	R\$800.000.00
		duan	t			1.00 unit		Jn	value unit			
		quant	. crit. pi	of		2.250,00		quant. crit.	op.			
		crit.	prof.	Compr Cada u apreser 2.250 r projeto	ovação m dos p ntação c n², de e os reside	de que poss profissionais de acervo té edificações co enciais	sui em indica cnico ompat	n seu quad ados acim compost tíveis com	lro de pess a deverá te o por pelo o objeto c	ioal pelo mer er experiência menos um p deste edital, n	nos: I (u a comp rojeto d não send	um) Arquiteto; rovada por meio da com área mínima de do considerado válido
		crit.	op.	apresei desenv	ntar o a olvido e	arquivo digita em BIM (Buil	al com Iding I	n pelo me Informatic	nos um pro on Model)	ojeto comple	to com	2.250,00 m ²
		obs		Prazo:	30 mes	es. Contrata	nçao d	le um arq	e 3 eng.			
002			22225		Servi	iço Engenhar	ria					

Página 4 de 55

	2	contratação	o, por demanda,	de empresa p	oara a eventu	al prestação d	e serviços técr	nicos de engenharia e			
		arquitetura	para edificaçõe	s e/ou projeto	os de até 4.50	0m², contemp	lando a elabor	ração de projetos de			
		engenharia	e arquitetura, c	onsultoria téc	nica, análise,	assessoria, esp	ecificações, es	tudo de viabilidade técnic			
		elaboração	de orçamentos dos projetos pa	, emissão de la ra imóveis do	audos e pareo Tribunal Reg	eres, levantan ional do Traba	nentos, vistoria albo da 10ª Re	as, sondagens, bem como vião em Tocantins			
		est value	aos projecos pa		R\$50.000.00	contr value		R\$45 000 00			
		quant		L 00 upit	1.450.000,00	voluo unit		1,010,000,00			
		quant erit e	nal		un avent arit	value unit					
		quant. crit. p	roi	2.250,00	quant. crit.	op.					
		crit. prof.	Comprovação Cada um dos p apresentação o 2.250 m ² , de e projetos resido	de que possu profissionais in de acervo técr dificações con enciais	i em seu quad ndicados acim nico compost npatíveis com	Iro de pessoal a deverá ter e o por pelo me o objeto dest	pelo menos: l xperiência con nos um projet e edital, não se	l (um) Arquiteto; nprovada por meio da 20 com área mínima de endo considerado válido			
		crit. op.	apresentar o a desenvolvido e	rquivo digital em BIM (Buildi	com pelo me ing Informatic	nos um projet on Model)	o completo co	om 2.250,00 m²			
		obs	Prazo: 30 mes	es. Contrataça	ao de um arq	e 3 eng.					
080026 0001/20	017	Tribunal Su	perior do Trab	alho - 24ª Reg	ião/MS						
		request for	quotations	est, value		R\$132.926.35	contr. value	R\$82.623.68			
				concluded			Gonerrando				
	12		· ·	· I· I		1					
		modeling), caderno de encargos (especificações, orçamento com curva abc), cronogramas (caminho crítico tipo pert-cpm, físico-financeiro e descritivo) destinados a execução da construção da nova sede que abrigará a Vara do Trabalho de Jardim - MS									
	obs	Consta como agendada no Comprasnet, nao consta contrato no Comprasnet, mas consta resultado no site do orgao. http://www.trt24.jus.br/contas_publicas/licitacoes.jsf arq+ eng no mesmo item. O preço estimado da obra a ser orçado (conforme item 15 do quadro acima) pela contratada será de, no máximo, R\$ 1.200.000,00 Poder judiciario. Nao disponível no site transparência.									
	protest	Sem inform	Sem informações sobre recurso (comprasnet e site do orgao).								
	Source	http://www	.trt24.jus.br/coi	ntas_publicas/l	licitacoes.jsf						
001		20060	Elabo	pração / Anális	se Projeto - E	ngenharia					
	1	Projeto exe paginação o modelo 3D	ecutivo e legal d le piso e forro, - maquete elet	le arquitetura detalhamento rônica). Deser	(Área constru de áreas úmi nvolvimento e	uída = 501,74 das, urbanizaç e entrega final	m²) (acessibilio ão, paisagismo em plataforma	dade, esquadrias, cobertur 9, comunicação visual e 18 BIM. (+ projetos de eng)			
		est. value		F	\$132.926,35	contr. value		R\$82.623,68			
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit					
		quant. crit. p	rof		quant. crit.	op.	250.00				
		crit. prof.	comprovação civil ou arquite CAU), por exe nos subitens 8 8.5.3.1.5.1pervi 8.5.3.2.Projeto	de que possui ato) detentor(i ecução de serv .5.3.1 ao 8.5.3 são ou coorde executivo de	em seu quad es) de Certid viços semelha .4, sem qualq enação de pro arquitetura;	ro de pessoal, ões de Acervo ntes com as c uer limitação r ojetos;	, responsável(i o Técnico (CA aracterísticas c mínima de quai	s) técnico(s) (engenheiro 1 emitida pelo CREA / qualitativas mencionadas ntitativo projetado:			
		crit. op.	um ou mais at público ou priv de serviços, pe	estado(s) de c vado, devidam ela empresa lic	apacidade téc ente registrac itante, com a	nica fornecido do(s) pelo CRI s característic	o(a)(s) por pess EA / CAU, que as semelhantes	soa(s) jurídica(s) de direit e comprove(m) a prestaçã s ao objeto da contratação			
				D' :	F 1 FF						

Página 5 de 55

			com área cons	truída mínima	a de 250m²			
		obs	Prazo: 90 dias.					
			Valor arq: R\$3	8.133,75 (28,	7% do valor estimad	do).		
090003 0031/20		Justiça Feder	al - Seçao Judi	ciaria do Para				
		reverse auct	tion	est. value	R\$4	8.584,53 o	ontr. value	R\$9.300,00
		quant items	I	concluded				
	subject	Contratação de atualizaçã prédio sede	o de empresa e ío e elaboração da Seção Judic	specializada e o dos projeto: iária do P ará	m serviços de enge s arquitetônicos e r e do prédio anexo,	nharia e/ou eadequação intitulado (arquitetura para o das vagas do es Casa Rosada	a prestação de serviços tacionamento do
	obs	Valor contra para o enger época (R\$93	ntado parece b nheiro. O valor 87,00).	em baixo. O g • do salario de	ganhador informa q e auxiliar desenhista	ue vai cobr i é de 700 r	ar um salario de reais, abaixo do s	2 mil reais por mês alario minimo vigente à
	protest	Na ata: "A E permanecer:	mpresa será h á aberto no Sis	abilitada e log stema por 20	o em seguida será a minutos.". Nenhum	berto praz recurso ap	o para intenção o presentado.	de recurso que
	Source	comprasnet						
001		78	Estuc	los e Projetos	s de Arquitetura			
	I	atualização e desenhos ar Sem informa	e elaboração do quitetonicos at içoes sobre a a	os projetos ar cualmente) (de urea.	quitetônicos e read elimitar vagas e inse	lequação da rir vagas pa	as vagas do estac ara deficientes/id	ionamento (nao ha osos).
		est. value			R\$48.584,53 contr	r. value		R\$9.300,00
		quant		1,00 unit	un value	unit		
		quant. crit. pr	of		quant. crit. op.			
		crit. prof.	Comprovaçao	de engenheir	o ou arquiteto (con	n crea ou c	au) no quadro pe	ermanente da empresa.
		crit. op.						
		obs	Prazo: 120 dia:	s. 100% arquit	tetura.			
090012 0001/2	017	Justiça Feder	ral de I° Grau	– Seção Judic	iária da Bahia			
		reverse auct	ion	est. value	R\$24	6.981,60 c	ontr. value	
		quant items	1	cancelled (ne	o suitable bids)			
	subject	Contratação locação de u Bahia e Subs	o de empresa d Im profissional, eções (interior	e arquitetura , a serem exe ⁻ do estado)	para prestação de : cutados na sede da	serviços téo Justiça Fed	enicos, de forma eral - Seção Judio	continuada e com a ciária do E stado da
	obs	ltem cancela subitem 8.1. Critério exa arguitetura.	do na aceitaçã 5.1 do edital. gerado, levou :	o. Motivo: Ne ao cancelame	enhuma das empres nto de duas licitaço	as convoca es - mas na	das detém o doc o se trata de crit	umento exigido no iério técnico de
	protest	•						
	Source	comprasnet						
001		22225	Servi	co Engenharia	1			
	2	Contratação	de empresa d	e arquitetura	para prestação de s	servicos té	nicos, de forma	continuada e com a
		locação de u Bahia e Subs	im profissional, eções (interio	a serem exe do estado)	cutados na sede da	Justiça Fed	eral - Seção Judio	ciária do Estado da
		est. value		1	R\$246.981,60 contr	. value		
		quant		unit	value	unit		
		quant. crit. pr	of	350,00	quant. crit. op.			
		crit. prof.	Certidoes nas • elaboração d • fiscalização o	quais nconste e projeto arq u execução d	e pelo menos a exec uitetônico com área e obras com área co	cução dos s a construída onstruída ig	eguinte serviços: a igual ou superio gual ou superior	or a 350m²; a 350m².
		crit. op.	8.1.5.1 As emp	oresas deverão	o comprovar aptidã	o para dese	empenho de ativi	dade compatível em
				Págin	a 6 de 55			

			característic atestado de (este, com f com um mír	as, quantidades e qualificação técni îrma reconhecida nimo de 20 posto	prazos com o objeto da lid ca, fornecido por pessoa ju), comprovando que tenha s e por período não inferic	citação, logo, o urídica de dire m executado : or a 36 meses.	leverão apresentar 01 (um) ito público ou privado serviço de terceirização				
		obs									
090012 0006/20	017	Justiça Fede	ral de 1º Gr	au – Seção Judiciá	ria da Bahia						
		reverse auc	tion	est. value	R\$246.981,60	contr. value					
		quant items		I cancelled (no	suitable bids)						
	subject	Contratação	o de empres	a para prestação (de serviço continuado de p	rofissional de	arquitetura				
	obs protest	Item cancela exigido no ir Item 8.1.5.1 "comprovar não inferior	em cancelado na aceitação. Motivo: Falta de proposta válida. As empresas participantes não observaram o xigido no item 8.1.5.1 do edital æm 8.1.5.1: comprovando que tenham executado serviço de terceirização com um mínimo de 20 postos e por período ão inferior a 36 meses."								
	Source	comprasnet									
001		5380	Pr	estação de Serviç	os de Apoio Administrativo	2					
	2	Posto de tra	abalho de un	n arquiteto duran	te 12 meses. 30 horas sem	anais.					
		est. value		R	\$246.981,60 contr. value						
		quant		1,00 unit	un value unit						
		quant. crit. pi	rof	300,00	quant. crit. op.						
		crit. prof.	Certidões d	e Acervo Técnico	o e RRT – Registro de Resp	onsabilidade	Fécnica (ou antigas ART –				
		crit. op.	serviços: • o fiscalização Atestado co postos e po	elaboração de pro ou execução de o omprovando que 1 r período não info	ojeto arquitetonico com aro obras com área construída tenham executado serviço erior a 36 meses.	ea construïda igual ou super de terceirizaçi	igual ou superior a 300m²; • ior a 300m². ão com um mínimo de 20				
		obs	os Habilitação técnica parece injustificada, tanto é que nenhuma empresa se qualificou.								
090012 0023/20	017	Justiça Fede	ral de l° Gr	au – Seção Judiciá	ria da Bahia						
		reverse auc	tion	est. value	R\$120.000,00	contr. value	R\$78.210,00				
		quant items		I concluded							
	subject obs protest	CONTRAT PRESTAÇÃ PROJETOS COMPLEXO CIDADE DI	AÇÃO DE E O DE SERVI BÁSICOS E O DOS JUIZ E SALVADO	EMPRESA ESPECI ÇOS DE ELABO EXECUTIVOS P/ ADOS ESPECIAI: R	ALIZADA EM ENGENHAI RAÇÃO DOS ESTUDOS F ARA A CONSTRUÇÃO D S FEDERAIS (JEF) DA SEÇÍ	RIA E ARQUI RELIMINARE O EDIFÍCIO (ÃO JUDICIÁR	TETURA PARA S, ANTEPROJETOS, GARAGEM DO IA DA BAHIA NA				
	Source	comprasnet	:								
001		78	Es	tudos e Projetos	de Arquitetura						
		elaboração Edifício Gar 8.000m2 O Edifício G será para at somando-se deverão ser superiores p	elaboração dos estudos preliminares, anteprojetos, projetos básicos e executivos para a construç Edifício Garagem do Complexo dos Juizados Especiais Federais 8.000m2 O Edifício Garagem será composto, além do pavimento térreo, de pavimentos em subsolo, cujo o será para atender, pelo menos, a demanda mínima de vagas exigidas pela Prefeitura Municipal de somando-se as vagas de estacionamento já existentes. Em cada pavimento, elevadores, escadas e deverão ser estrategicamente localizados em função de previsão de acréscimo futuro de 06 (seis)								
		est. value		R	\$120.000,00 contr. value		R\$78.210,00				

Página 7 de 55

		quant			1,00 unit	un	value	unit				
		quant. crit	. prof			quant. crit.	op.	4.0	00,00			
		crit. prof.	l M Af de ex se a)	(um) Arquite ecânico, dete RT e/ou RRT vidamente re ecução de se ndo consider Proieto de a	eto, I (um) Er entor(es) de 7 , fornecido(s egistrado(s) r erviços simila rada parcela e rquitetura de	ngenheiro Civ Atestado(s) di) por Órgãos di nos órgãos fise res ao objeto de maior rele e edificações s	ril, I (r e Cap da Ad calizad desta vância públic	um) Engenheiro E aacidade Técnica c ministração Públic dores, que compre a licitação a: as ou privadas:	letricista com a(s) r ca ou enti ove(m) a	e I (um) Engenheiro espectiva(s) CAT e dade privada, capacidade para a		
		crit. op.	at er a)	estados técn npresa execu Projeto de a	icos emitidos utou os respe irquitetura de	s por pessoas ectivos serviço e edificações p	jurídi os: oúblic	cas (públicas ou p as ou privadas, co	rivadas), o om pelo m	comprovando que a nenos 4.000m²		
		obs	Pr Ar	azo: 120 dia: •q: 34,5% do	s. valor estima	do (p.21 do e	dital).					
090012 0041/201	7	Justiça Fe	deral	de l° Grau	– Seção Judic	ciária da B ahia						
		reverse a	uctio	n	est. value		R\$I	12.616,04 contr.	value	R\$51.000,00		
		quant iter	ms	I	concluded							
S	ubject	Contrata de reman bem com construçã	contratação de empresa do ramo de engennaria e arquitetura para prestação de serviços de análise in loco de remanescente de obra, atualização de planilha orçamentária, projetos executivos, memoriais descritivos, bem como consecução de alvarás, licenças e demais aprovações necessárias para finalização do projeto de construção do edifício sede da Subseção Judiciária de Guanambi									
c	obs	Arq + Eng	g no	mesmo item								
F	protest											
S	Source	comprasm	net									
001		200	60	Elabo	oração / Análi	ise Projeto - E	Ingen	haria				
	1	serviços de análise in loco de remanescente de obra, atualização de planilha orçamentária, projetos executivos, memoriais descritivos, bem como consecução de alvarás, licenças e demais aprovações necessárias para finalização do projeto de construção do edifício sede da Subseção Judiciária de Guanambi (revisao e atualização de projeto executivo) área total construída é de 2.075,59 m ²										
		est. value				R\$112.616,04	cont	tr. value		R\$51.000,00		
		quant			1,00 unit	un	value	unit				
		quant. crit	prof			quant. crit.	op.	5	500,00			
		crit. prof.	Ca pr ex pr pa a)	omprovação oposta, enge ecução de se ojetos pertir rcela de maie Projeto de a	do licitante c nheiro/arqui erviços de ca nentes e com or relevância rquitetura de	le possuir em teto, detentor racterísticas s patíveis em ca : e edificações p	seu c res de emella aracte pública	quadro técnico, na Atestado que co nantes ao objeto c vrísticas, qualidade as ou privadas;	a data pre mprovem deste Proj e e quantic	vista para a entrega da 1 a capacidade para a eto Básico; Jade, sendo considerada		
		crit. op.	at cc a)	estados de ca mprovando Projeto de a	apacidade téo que a empre rquitetura de	cnica emitidos sa executou c e edificações p	por pos res públic	pessoas jurídicas (pectivos serviços: as ou privadas, co	públicas o m pelo m	ou privadas), nenos 500m²;		
		obs	Pr Va	azo: 85 dias Ilor arquitett	ura: 20.692,90	0 (18,4% do v	alor c	prçado).				

Página 8 de 55

090023 0029/2	017	Justiça Fede	eral - Seção Jud	iciária do Distr	ito Federal						
		reverse aud	tion	est. value		R\$241.667,51	contr. value	R\$81.700,00			
		quant items	s	concluded							
	subject	Contrataçã	o de empresa e	especializada er	n engenhar	ia e arquitetura p	ara prestação de	serviços para			
		elaboração do edifício	dos estudos pr Sede III da Seçã	reliminares, ant ío Judiciária do	eprojetos, Distrito Fe	projetos básicos, deral.	executivos e proj	eto legal para reforma			
	obs	Arq + com	plementares (e	ng) no mesmo	item.						
		O uso do p (Súmula 25	pregão nas cont 7/2010/TCU);	ratações de se	rviços com	uns de engenharia	a encontra ampar	o na Lei 10.520/2002			
	protest	Uma impug	nacao (negada)	questionando	taxas refer	entes a aprovação	o dos projetos.				
		Um recurso	o referente a in adel mas apena	exequibilidade s uma declarac:	de preços. ao de que s	A empresa nao a erà responsavel r	presentou docum pelo valor. O recu	ientos comprovando a rso foi negado			
		Situação ne	bulosa.	s unia occiaraçã	ao de que s	ci a i esponsaver p		130 for negado.			
	Source	comprasne	t								
001		20060) Elab	oração / Anális	e Projeto -	Engenharia					
		elaboração	o dos estudos p	reliminares, an	teproietos.	proietos básicos.	executivos e pro	ieto legal para reforma			
		do edifício	Sede III da Seçã	io Judiciária do	Distrito Fe	deral. 11.416m2	eriocan of the	Jore iogai para Ferenia			
		est. value		R	\$241.667,5	I contr. value		R\$81.700,00			
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit					
		quant. crit. p	prof		quant. cri	t. op.	3.000.00				
		crit. prof.	Atestados que	comprovem a	execucao	de servico(s) rela	tivo(s) à elaborac	ão de projetos			
			pertinentes e	compatíveis en	n caracterís	ticas, qualidade e	quantidade, sende	o consideradas			
			parcelas de maior relevância e valor significativo:								
			a) Projeto de	e arquitetura de	e edificaçõe	s					
		crit. op. atestado(s) que comprove(m) que a licitante tenha executado os seguintes serviç respectivas quantidades mínimas:									
		obs	Prazo: 306 dia	IS.	,.	- F F		,			
			Valor arquitet	o: R\$60.339,69	9 (30% do v	alor total)					
090023 0059/2	017	Justiça Fede	eral - Seção Jud	iciária do Distr	ito Federal						
		reverse aud	tion	est. value		R\$242.693,15	contr. value	R\$124.999,72			
		quant items	s	concluded							
	subiect	Contrataçã	o de empresa e	especializada er	n engenhar	ia e arquitetura p	ara prestação de	servicos de elaboração			
	,	de um proj do Distrito legal.	eto para reforr Federal - SJDF	na do edifício S , compreenden	iede I e Ana ido estudos	exo da Justiça Fed preliminares, ant	leral de Primeiro teprojetos, projet	Grau - Seção Judiciária os básicos, executivos e			
	obs	Serviços de	arq + eng no r	mesmo item.							
	protest										
	Source	comprasne	t								
001		20060) Elab	oração / Anális	e Projeto -	Engenharia					
		elaboração	de um proieto	para reforma o	do edifício :	SEDE I e Anexo d	la Secão Iudiciária	do Distrito Federal.			
		compreend	lendo estudos p	, preliminares, ar	nteprojetos	projetos básicos	, executivos e leg	al. Total 10.125m2			
		est. value		R	\$242.693,1	5 contr. value		R\$124.999,72			
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit					
		quant. crit. p	orof	3.000,00	quant. cri	t. op.	3.000,00				
		crit. prof.	Atestados de	servico(s) relat	ivo(s) à ela	poração de projet	tos pertinentes e	compatíveis em			
		ene pron	características significativo:	, qualidade e q	uantidade, :	endo considerad	as parcelas de ma	ior relevância e valor			
			-/		Samaly Oc.	, _F aonado ou priv	, com pero m				

Página 9 de 55

		crit. op.	atestado que mínimas: a) Projeto de	comprove a ex arquitetura de	ecução do	os seguintes es públicas o	serviços com as ou privadas, com	respectiva pelo men	s quantidades os 3.000,00 m²;	
		obs								
090038 0004/2	017	Justiça Fed	eral - Seção Jud	iciário do Esta	do do Toc	antins				
		reverse au	ction	est. value		R\$25.6	335,72 contr. val	ue	R\$19.200,00	
		quant item	S	l concluded						
	subject	Contratação de empresa de engenharia e arquitetura para a fiscalização e assessoramento do recebimento dos projetos relativos à localidade (fase 02) do projeto padrão objetivando a construção da nova sede da Subseção Judiciária de Araguaína-TO								
	obs	Consultori	a de arq + eng	no mesmo iter	n.					
	protest									
	Source	comprasne	et							
001		78	Estu	dos e Projetos	de Arquit	etura				
	5	fiscalização da subseça	e assessorame o judiciaria em	nto do recebin Araguaina. 2.00	nento de p 00m2.	projetos e al	fins relativos à e:	xecução de	obra da nova sede	
		est. value			R\$25.635,	72 contr. v	alue		R\$19.200,00	
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value uni	it			
		quant. crit.	prof	1.000,00	quant. c	rit. op.				
		crit. prof.	Atestado com 1.000m2, distr	provando elab ribuida em dois	oraçao e/c s paviment	ou fiscalizaça os, no minir	ao de projetos d mo.	e arquitetu	ra de, no minimo,	
		crit. op.	Possuir arquit							
		obs								
			Serviço de co projeto ao qu	nsultoria. Deve e foi solicitado	era produz	ir relatorio	técnico observa	ndo a conf	ormidade do	
120196 0001/2	017	Ministério	da Defesa - Gr	upamento de A	Apoio da Sa	aude				
		request for	r quotations	est. value		R\$599.5	500,00 contr. val	ue	R\$382.812,50	
		quant item	s	I concluded						
	subject	CONTRATAÇÃO DE EMPRESA PARA ELABORAÇÃO DOS PROJETOS EXECUTIVOS E CADER ENCARGOS COMPLEMENTARES COM AS ESPECIFICAÇÕES TÉCNICAS E PLANILHAS DE MA SERVIÇOS PARA AMPLIAÇÃO DO PRÉDIO DA UNIDADE DE TRATAMENTO INTENSIVO DO HOSPITAL DA FORÇA AÉREA DO GALEÃO (HFAG), EM CONFORMIDADE COM O PROJETO JÁ FORNECIDO, DESENVOLVIMENTO DO PROJETO BÁSICO DE ARQUITETURA E PROJETO EXECUTIVOS COMPLEMENTARES, COM DETALHAMENTO EM ESCALAS ADEQUADAS PARA FUTURA EXECUÇÃO DAS OBRAS DE REFORMAS, DA ONCOLOGIA E DO PRONTO SOCOF ADULTO, COM ÁREA APROXIMADA DE 4756,00 M, NAS QUANTIDADES E CONDIÇÕES ESTABELECIDAS NESTE EDITAL.							E CADERNOS DE AS DE MATERIAIS E VSIVO DO PROJETO BÁSICO PROJETOS DAS PARA O SOCORRO DIÇÕES	
	obs	All service Nenhuma Uma empr Nao ha inf No docum manifestaç	s (architecture : informaçao sob resa foi desclass ormaçoes sobre iento ata de abe ao do orgao ne	and engineerin re como o valo ificada por pre- e manifestaçao ertura de preço m das empresa	g) in one it or foi deter ço inexequ da empre os, contam as question	tem. rminado. uivel (300 m sa desclassif diversos qu nadas.	iil, abaixo de 70% icada. uestionamentos,	6 da média mas nenhu	de todas as outras). Ima mençao a	
	protest	Sem impugnaçao nem recurso, o que é estranho numa licitaçao desse valor.								
	Source	Comprasn	et							
001		2006	0 Elab	oração / Anális	e Projeto	- Engenhari	a			
	I	Desenvolvimento de projeto basico e elaboração de projetos executivos (arquitetura e engenharia) - obra reforma (272m2) e ampliação (4482,60m2) de hospital - (total: 4756m2).							ngenharia) - obra de	
		est. value		F	\$599.500,	00 contr. v	alue		R\$382.812,50	

Página 10 de 55





Página 12 de 55

7 0019/20	017	Hospital U	niversitário Ca	ssiano Antônio	Moraes				
		reverse au	ction	est. value		R\$551.149,40	contr. value	R\$	I 68.770,00
		quant item	15 2	8 concluded					
	subject	Contrataçã Arquitetur	ão De Empresa ra E Engenharia	a Especializada N , Incluindo Estu	Na Prestação I Idos, Relatóric	De Serviços D os, Memoriais I	e Elaboração Descritivos E	De Projetos Orçamentos	Executivos De
	obs	Registro de "Salienta-se moderniza adequadas atividades	e preço. Items e que o serviço ção e de adequ de trabalho ac da Administraç	refer to "proje o contratado se uação das instala os funcionários d ão inerentes a	to executivo", enquadra cor ações e das ec e pacientes, e este processo	but "projeto l no contínuo, p lificações dos s sua interrupçã ." (REFORMA)	basico" is also pois o HUCAN setores, visan io acarretará)	required. M passa por u do a prover o a descontinui	um processo de condições dade das
	protest								
	Source	comprasne	et						
001		78	Est	udos e Projetos	de Arquitetu	ra			
	1	Projeto Ex	ecutivo de Imp	lantação					
		est. value			R\$5,33	contr. value			R\$1,01
		quant	5.0	000,00 unit	m2 v	alue unit		1	
		quant. crit.	prof	5.000.00	quant. crit.	op.			
		crit. prof	Certidão de	Acervo Técnico	comprovand	o elaboração o	le projeto (ar	nexo n.67)	
		crit op	71 L Chmpre				rição, objeto	igual ou serre	albante ao
		crite op.	indicado no A	Anexo I do edit	al		i içao, objeto	igual ou serii	
		obs							
002		78	Esti	udos e Projetos	de Arquitetu	ra			
	1	Projeto Ex	xecutivo Arqui	tetônico					
		est. value			R\$6,35	contr. value			R\$1,01
		quant	5.	000,00 unit	m2 \	alue unit		1	
		quant. crit.	prof	5.000,00	quant. crit.	op.			
		crit. prof.	Certidão de .	Acervo Técnico	o comprovand	o elaboraçao o	de projeto (a	nexo I p.67)	
		crit. op.	71.1.Compro indicado no A	ovação de que a Anexo I do edit	i licitante forn al	eceu, sem rest	rição, objeto	igual ou seme	elhante ao
		obs							
024		78	Est	udos e P rojetos	de Arquitetu	ra			
	1	Projeto Ex	ecutivo de Ace	essibilidade					
		est. value			R\$3,93	contr. value			R\$1,00
		quant	5.0	000.00 unit	m2	alue unit		1	
		quant. crit.	prof		quant. crit.	op.			
		crit. prof	nihil			-			
		crit. op.	71.1.Compro	ovação de que a	licitante forn	eceu, sem rest	rição, objeto	igual ou sem	elhante ao
			indian da na i	Annual de edit					
		obs	indicado no /	Anexo I do edit	al				
025		obs 78	indicado no A	Anexo I do edit udos e Projetos	al 5 de Arquitetu	ra			
025	1	obs 78 Projeto Ex	indicado no A Estu recutivo de Sina	Anexo I do edit udos e Projetos alização e Comu	al 5 de Arquitetu unicação Visua	ra			
025		obs 78 Projeto Ex est. value	indicado no A Estr recutivo de Sina	Anexo I do edit udos e Projetos alização e Comu	al : de Arquitetu unicação Visuz R\$4,04	ra I contr. value			R\$0,86
025		obs 78 Projeto Ex est. value quant	indicado no 7 Estr recutivo de Sina 5,1	Anexo I do edit udos e Projetos alização e Comu 000,00 unit	al s de Arquitetu unicação Visuz R\$4,04 m2	ra contr. value ralue unit		1	R\$0,86
025	1	obs 78 Projeto Ex est. value quant quant. crit, j	indicado no A Esta recutivo de Sina 5.	Anexo I do edit udos e Projetos alização e Comu 000,00 unit	al s de Arquitetu unicação Visua R\$4,04 m2 quant. crit. 4	ra I contr. value ralue unit op.		1	R\$0,86

Página 13 de 55



Página 14 de 55

			crit. op.	Proposta CREA/C. identifica caracterí Certidõe Projeto c	a tecnica: apresent AU, fornecido por da, em nome do li ísticas, quantidades es que comprovam de Acústica, para e	ação de um o pessoa juríd citante, relati s e prazos con execução de edificação/amb	u mais atestados ica de direito públ vo à execução de m o objeto da pre e serviços: pientes com área i	de capacidade ter lico ou privado d obra de engenha esente licitação. gual ou superior	cnica, registrados no evidamente iria,compatível em a 200m²		
			obs	Item 24 a	and Anexo IV: pes	os					
	020		78		Estudos e Projeto	os de Arquite	tura				
		1	Arquitetura	a - Projetc	de Luminotécnica	a					
			est. value			R\$450.000,0	0 contr. value		R\$360.000,00		
			quant		50.000,00 unit	m2	value unit				
			quant. crit. p	prof		quant. cri	t. op.				
			crit. prof.	 crit. prof. Habilitação:Certidão de Registro e Quitação da Proponente e de seus Responsáveis Técnicos, expedido pelo CREA E/OU CAU do local da sede da Empresa e/ou declaração dos responsávei técnicos de vinculação contratual futura. Proposta técnica: apresentação de um ou mais atestados de capacidade técnica, registrados no CREA/CAU, fornecido por pessoa jurídica de direito público ou privado devidamente identificada, em nome do licitante, relativo à execução de obra de engenharia,compatível em 							
			crit. op.	Proposta CREA/C. identifica caracterí Certidõe Projeto c	a técnica: apresent AU, fornecido por da, em nome do li ísticas, quantidades es que comprovam de Luminotécnica,	ação de um o pessoa juríd citante, relati s e prazos con execução de para edificaçã	u mais atestados ica de direito públ vo à execução de m o objeto da pre e serviços: ão com área igual	de capacidade tér lico ou privado d obra de engenha ssente licitação. ou superior a 12	cnica, registrados no evidamente ıria,compatível em 00m²		
			obs Item 24 and Anexo IV: pesos								
15310	3 0024/2	2017	Universidad	de Federal	do Rio Grande do	o Norte					
			RDC		est. value		R\$194.026,00	contr. value	R\$140.000,00		
			quant item:	s	I concluded						
		subject obs	Contratação de empresa especializada na área de projetos executivos de arquitetura (incluindo todos os relatórios: cadastramento do imóvel, mapeamento de danos e pesquisa histórica de acordo com os padrões do IPHAN), projeto de acessibilidade, projeto de fundação/estrutura, instalações elétricas/dados/voz/spda, instalações hidrossanitárias/drenagem, sistema de combate à incêndio, sistema de climatização, projeto de comunicação visual e sinalização e planilha orçamentária para a restauração do edifício da antiga SEMUT Arq (reforma ed. patrimonial) + complementares + levantamentos no mesmo item.								
		Sourcest		-							
	001	Jource		n.	Ohnes Civia Cál	oulo Estautur					
	001		projetos de Edifício da a 2.087m2	e Arquiteti Antiga SEN	ura e Engenharia p 10T	para elaboraçã	ão do Projeto Exe	cutivo referente	à Restauração do		
			est. value			R\$194.026,0	0 contr. value		R\$140.000,00		
			quant		I,00 unit	un	value unit				
			quant. crit. p	prof	850,00	quant. cri	t. op.	510,00			
			crit. prof.	a)Elabora superior	ação de projeto de a 850m2	e arquitetura,	em edifício de res	stauro com área	de construção		
			crit. op.	it. op. a)Elaboração de projeto de arquitetura, em edifício de restauro com área de construção superior a 510m2							
			obs Prazo: I 50 dias Arq: R\$57.087,78 (29,4% do valor estimado).								
					D/ ·						
					Págir	na 15 de 55					

			FORNECIN ARQUITE	MENTO DE EST FURA, SEGUINI DO LEVANTAM	UDO, PROJET DO AS DIRETR ENTO AROUI	o executiv Izes do iph fetonico e	O E MEMORIAL AN - PORTARIA APROVACÕES I	DESCRITIVO DE Nº420/2010 , UNTO AO IPHAN		
153167 0037/	2017	Colégio Peo	dro II				, ,			
		reverse auc	tion	est. value		R\$205.366.40	contr. value	R\$144.180.00		
		quant items	5	l concluded						
	subject	contratação englobando necessários	o de empres o projetos de s à contrataç	a especializada e e diferentes disci ão de adequação	em serviços de e iplinas, especific o e finalização d	engenharia par ações, orçame e acabamento	ra Elaboração de F entos, cronograma os do Teatro do C	Projeto Básico, as e demais documentos ampus Niterói		
	obs	All services Justification Acórdão 63	architectur : "conforme 32/2012." (A	re and engineeri caracterizado n nexo 1)	ng) in one item. a OT 01/2006 d	lo IBRAOP, r	eferendada pelo T	CU por meio do		
	protest									
	Source	comprasnet	comprasnet							
001		20060) Е	laboração / Anál	ise Projeto - En	genharia				
	I	I Elaboração de Projeto Básico, englobando projetos de diferentes disciplinas. Reforma do do Teatro do Campus Niterói, para subsidiar a futura licitação da obra (1007m2)								
		est. value			R\$205.366,40	contr. value		R\$144.180,00		
		quant		1,00 unit	un v	alue unit				
		quant. crit. p	prof		quant. crit. c	p.				
		crit. prof.	Certidão re	elativo a :			. ~ .			
		a.erquiteto ou engenneiro civil comprovando experiencia na execução de projetos de arquitetura de reforma ou construção de teatros ou edificações de uso cultural, compatível com o objeto da licitação, e b.Ærquiteto ou Cenógrafo comprovando experiência na execução de projetos cenotécnicos de teatros, compatível com o objeto da licitação.								
		crit. op. Atestado relativo a a.Execução de projetos de arquitetura para reforma ou construção de teatros ou edificações de uso cultural, compatível com o objeto da licitação. b.Execução de projetos cenotécnicos para reforma ou adequação de teatros, compatível com o objeto da licitação.								
		obs	arquitetura valor total)	e engenharia no	o mesmo item. '	Valor orçado	de arquitetura: R\$	6166.859,39 (81% do		
53167 0042/	2017	Colégio Peo	dro II							
		reverse auc	tion	est. value		R\$42.757,13	contr. value	R\$24.000,00		
		quant items	5	I concluded						
	subject	contratação englobando necessários Colégio Peo	o de empres projetos de s à contrataç dro II	a especializada e e diferentes disci ão de Reforma e	em serviços de e iplinas, especific de refeitório, co	engenharia par ações, orçame zinha e área o	ra elaboração de p entos, cronograma de serviço do Cam	rojeto básico, is e demais documentos npus Tijuca II do		
	obs	All services	(architectu	re and engineeri	ng) in one item.					
	protest									
	Source	comprasnet	t							
001		20060) Е	laboração / Anál	ise Projeto - En	genharia				
	I	Elaboração área de serv	de Projeto viço do Can	Básico, engloban 1pus Tijuca II, pa	ido projetos de ira subsidiar a fu	diferentes dis Itura licitação	ciplinas. Reforma da obra de reforn	do refeitório, cozinha e na (400m2)		
		est, value R\$42.757.13 contr. value R\$						R\$24.000,00		
		duant		1.00 unit	un v	alue unit				

Página 16 de 55

	I	Projeto de a	adaptação par	a acessibilidade	de pessoas com	mobilidade	reduzida.	
001		78	Estu	udos e Projetos	de Arquitetura			
	Source	comprasnet						
	protest	Houve inter muito tarde de habilitaca	nçao de recur e). No entanto ao da ganhado	so alegando fali , essa intençao ira no sistema c	a de transparênc nao foi aceita. M comprasnet, tam	cia (docume le parece ur pouco no lir	ntos da ganhad na decisao arbi nk informado n	ora foram disponibilizados traria. Nao ha documentos a ata.
	obs							
	100/000	com mobilio	lade reduzida	no Instituto Fe	deral Baiano Car	mpus Gover	nador Mangab	eira
	subject	Contratação	o de empresa	especializada n	a elaboração de	Proieto de a	idaptação para	acessibilidade de pessoas
		duant items	uon	L concluded	F	φτ0.077,06	contr. value	r\φ13. 1 30,00
134010 0015/2	517	reverse aus	tion	est value	mador mangabe	\$48 897 94	contr. value	R\$15450.00
154618 0015/2	17	lostituto Ec	deral Baianc	Campus Gerra	rpador Manasha	ira		
		crit. op.	Deserved LOO -	Anguite to	100% 4			
			Incêndio e Pâ	nico para edific	ações de uso pú	blico;		
			Acessibilidade	e Universal par	a edificações de i	uso público	e Projeto de P	revenção e Combate a
		crit. prof.	atestado(s) d	everá (ão) ser r	referente(s) às ár	eas de maic	or relevância, se	endo no caso: Projeto de
		quant. crit. D	rof	1,00 unit	quant. crit. op.			
		est. value		L 00 upit	(\$261.5/1,04 co	ntr. value		K\$158.124,13
		(informacac	no arquivo d	e resposta a im	ipugnacao).			0.012412
		(executivos normas vige três municip) de adequaçõ entes de Acese pios diferentes	es das instalaçõ sibilidade Unive s. Alguns edifici	ões prediais de v rsal e de Preven os em area histo	arias edificac ção e Comb rica (consul [:]	coes da univers ate a Incêndio ta ao IPHAN).	idade visando atender as e Pânico. Seis edificios em Total 50.919,10m2
	1	Contratação	o de empresa	especializada n	o ramo de Arqui	itetura e Eng	genharia para a	elaboração de projetos
001		20060	Elab	oração / Anális	se Projeto - Enge	nharia		
	Source	http://www.	licitacao.ufop.	br/	estava disponive	reni 1.10.20	10.	
		(http://csu.d referente ac	ersidade lof.ufop.br/site o valor irrisor //www.licitaca	es/default/files/c io. Foi consider	su/files/errata_tp ada improceden estava disponive	o_002_2017 te.	.pdf?m=15248	62169). Uma impugnacao
	protest	Nao dispon	ivel no sistem	a. O valor tota	apresentou uma	a errata, nac	disponivel no	sistema, mas disponivel no
	obs	Consta com processo. Pesquisa co http://comp	no agendada n ntrato = ras.dados.gov.	o sistema. No br/contratos/v	entanto, ha um c l/contratos.html	ontrato reg ?uasg=15404	istrado. Nenhu 16&modalidade	ima informacao sobre o
		adequações de Acessibil	das instalaçõe idade Univers	es prediais de v al e de Prevenq	arias edificacoes ão e Combate a	da universio Incêndio e	lade visando at Pânico	ender as normas vigentes
	subject	Contratação	o de empresa	especializada n	o ramo de Arqui	itetura e Eng	genharia para a	elaboração de projetos de
		quant items	quotationo	I concluded				141001121110
154040 0004/2	517	request for	quotations	est value	R	261.571.04	contr. value	R\$158.124.13
15 40 44 000 4/2	0.1.7	Determined	valor total)					
		obs	escolares ou arquitetura e	cozinhas indus engenharia no	mesmo item. Va	com o obje Ior orçado (to da licitação. de arquitetura:	R\$22.477,44 (52% do
		crit. op.	Atestado rela hidrossanitár	ativo a Execuçã ias, elétrica, gás	o de projetos de s e exaustão mec	arquitetura ânica) para	e complemen reforma ou co	tares (instalações nstrução de edificações
		5.751 p. 5.1	de reforma o compatível co	u construção d om o objeto da	e edificações esc licitação	olares, engl	obando áreas o	le refeitório e cozinha,
		crit. prof.	Certidão rela	tivo a Arquitet	o comprovando	experiência	na execução d	e projetos de arquitetura

Página 17 de 55

		6.543.74m	2								
		est. value			R\$48.897,86 contr. value		R\$15.450,00				
		quant		1,00 unit	un value unit						
		quant. crit. p	prof		quant. crit. op.						
		crit. prof.	8.6.4.Ae elaborá-l contrato	quipe para execução os, conforme suas a , deverá ser apreser	o do projeto será constituída d tribuições e comprovadas med tado comprovação dos vínculc	e profissionais d liante CATs; qu os	com habilitação para ando da assinatura do				
		crit. op.	comprov A compr por meio	vada experiência em rovação da aptidão p o da apresentação de	elaboração de projeto similar ara o desempenho das atividad e certidão(ões).	ora licitado; les pertinentes	desta licitação far-se-				
		obs	Prazo: 90	0 dias. 100% arq.							
008 0038/2	2017	Hospital U	ital Universitário do Piauí								
		reverse auction est. value R\$986.483,50 contr. value R\$411.231,50									
		quant item	s	34 concluded							
	subject	Registro de a prestação ampliação, enquadram	e Preços, o o de serviç visando o nento das a	consignado em Ata, cos de elaboração de atendimento de der áreas do Hospital Un	pelo prazo de 12 (doze) meses projetos de arquitetura e eng nandas definidas pelo PDE (Pla niversitário da Universidade Fe	, para a Contra enharia para re no Diretor Estr deral do Piauí.	tação de empresa pa forma e reforma con atégico) e				
	obs	Registro de arquitetura	e preços. I a.	nfo sobre habilitaça	o em dois lugares diferentes do	termo de refe	rência. 34 itens, dois				
	protest										
	Source	comprasne	et -								
003		20060 Elaboração / Análise Projeto - Engenharia I Construção - Projeto de Arquitetura (hospital)									
	1										
		est. value			R\$42,06 contr. value		R\$3,00				
		quant		2.750,00 unit	m2 value unit	1					
		quant. crit. p	prof	1.375,00	quant. crit. op.	1.000,00					
		crit. prof.	Anotaçã caracteri Apresen Arquitet projeto (12.2.1.2.	ses de Responsabilid sticas e complexida tar, no mínimo, 50% o ou Engenheiro co (Arquitetura e Enger 01 (um) Arquiteto (ade Técnica para Elaboração d de àqueles relativos ao objeto o da área do (s) lote (s) a que pi n experiência comprovada em iharia); com experiência comprovada n	e projetos com da licitação retende concor coordenação e na elaboração d	patíveis em rer:12.2.1.1.01 (um) compatibilização de e projeto executivo;				
		crit, prof.	Anotaçã caracteri Apresen Arquitet projeto (12.2.1.2. Atestado caracteri referênc () 4.2.1.2. E com áre: 12.1.1.1.	ses de Responsabilid (sticas e complexidar tar, no mínimo, 50% o ou Engenheiro coi (Arquitetura e Enger 01 (um) Arquiteto - o (s) onde a licitante (sticas e prazos com ias às parcelas de maior r ia são as seguintes: Elaboração de projet a mínima de 1000 m Elaboração de projet	ade Técnica para Elaboração d de àqueles relativos ao objeto o n experiência comprovada em iharia); com experiência comprovada em comprove ter executado servi o objeto, em edificações hospi aior relevância técnica. elevância técnica a serem cons os de demolição, reforma ou o 2. eto arquitetônico hospitalar co	e projetos com da licitação retende concor coordenação e na elaboração d iços compatívei italares, no (s) o ideradas para o construção civil m área mínima	patíveis em rer:12.2.1.1.01 (um) compatibilização de e projeto executivo; s e pertinentes em jual (is) constem presente termo de em área hospitalar de 1000 m².				
		crit. prof. crit. op.	Anotaçã caracteri Apresen Arquitet projeto (12.2.1.2. Atestado caracteri referênc () 4.2.1.2. E com árei 12.1.1.1.	ses de Responsabilid (sticas e complexida) tar, no mínimo, 50% o ou Engenheiro coi (Arquitetura e Enger 01 (um) Arquiteto o (s) onde a licitante (sticas e prazos com parcelas de maior r ia são as seguintes: Elaboração de projet a mínima de 1000 m Elaboração de projet	ade Técnica para Elaboração d le àqueles relativos ao objeto o da área do (s) lote (s) a que pr n experiência comprovada em iharia); com experiência comprovada n comprove ter executado servi o objeto, em edificações hospi aior relevância técnica. elevância técnica a serem cons os de demolição, reforma ou c 2. eto arquitetônico hospitalar com	e projetos com da licitação retende concor coordenação e na elaboração d iços compatívei italares, no (s) c ideradas para c construção civil m área mínima	patíveis em rer:12.2.1.1.01 (um) compatibilização de e projeto executivo; s e pertinentes em qual (is) constem o presente termo de em área hospitalar de 1000 m².				
020		crit. prof. crit. op. 2006	Anotaçã caracteri Apresen Arquitet projeto (12.2.1.2. Atestado caracteri referênc () 4.2.1.2. E com áre: 12.1.1.1.	ses de Responsabilid sticas e complexidar tar, no mínimo, 50% o ou Engenheiro coi (Arquitetura e Enger 01 (um) Arquiteto o o (s) onde a licitante físticas e prazos com jarcelas de maior r ia são as seguintes: Elaboração de projet a mínima de 1000 m Elaboração de projet	ade Técnica para Elaboração d de àqueles relativos ao objeto o da área do (s) lote (s) a que pr n experiência comprovada em uharia); som experiência comprovada n comprove ter executado servi o objeto, em edificações hospi aior relevância técnica. elevância técnica a serem cons os de demolição, reforma ou c 2. eto arquitetônico hospitalar con e Projeto - Engenharia	e projetos com da licitação retende concor coordenação e na elaboração d iços compatívei italares, no (s) c ideradas para c construção civil m área mínima	patíveis em rer:12.2.1.1.01 (um) compatibilização de e projeto executivo; s e pertinentes em jual (is) constem e presente termo de em área hospitalar de 1000 m².				
020		crit, prof. crit, op. 2006/ Reforma -	Anotaçã caracteri Apresen Arquitet projeto (12.2.1.2. Atestado caracteri referênci () 4.2.1.2. E com árei 12.1.1.1.	ses de Responsabilid sticas e complexidar tar, no mínimo, 50% o ou Engenheiro cou (Arquitetura e Enger 01 (um) Arquiteto no foto (s) onde a licitante foticas e prazos com ias às parcelas de maior r ia são as seguintes: Elaboração de projet a mínima de 1000 m Elaboração de projet a Arquitetura (hospi	ade Técnica para Elaboração d de àqueles relativos ao objeto o da área do (s) lote (s) a que pr m experiência comprovada em uharia); com experiência comprovada n comprove ter executado servi o objeto, em edificações hospi aior relevância técnica. elevância técnica a serem cons os de demolição, reforma ou c 2. eto arquitetônico hospitalar coi e Projeto - Engenharia tal)	e projetos com da licitação retende concor coordenação e na elaboração d iços compatívei italares, no (s) o ideradas para c construção civil m área mínima	patíveis em rer:12.2.1.1.01 (um) compatibilização de e projeto executivo; s e pertinentes em jual (is) constem presente termo de em área hospitalar de 1000 m².				
020		crit. prof. crit. op. 2006 Reforma - est. value	Anotaçã caracteri Apresen Arquitet projeto (12.2.1.2. Atestado caracteri referênc () 4.2.1.2. E com árei 12.1.1.1.	ses de Responsabilid sticas e complexidar tar, no mínimo, 50% o ou Engenheiro (Arquitetura e Enger 01 (um) Arquiteto i o (s) onde a licitante sísticas e prazos com lias às parcelas de m parcelas de maior r ia são as seguintes: Elaboração de projet a mínima de 1000 m Elaboração de projet Elaboração de projet a núnima de 1000 m	ade Técnica para Elaboração d de àqueles relativos ao objeto o da área do (s) lote (s) a que pr m experiência comprovada em iharia); com experiência comprovada n comprove ter executado servi o objeto, em edificações hospi aior relevância técnica. elevância técnica a serem cons os de demolição, reforma ou c 2. eto arquitetônico hospitalar cou e Projeto - Engenharia tal) R\$38,09 contr. value	e projetos com da licitação retende concor coordenação d iços compatívei italares, no (s) d ideradas para c construção civil m área mínima	patíveis em rer:12.2.1.1.01 (um) compatibilização de e projeto executivo; s e pertinentes em jual (is) constem presente termo de em área hospitalar de 1000 m².				
020	J	crit, prof. crit, op. 2006/ Reforma - est, value quant	Anotaçã caracteri Apresen Arquitet projeto (12.2.1.2. Atestado caracteri referênce () 4.2.1.2. F com árei 12.1.1.1.	5es de Responsabilid sticas e complexidar tar, no mínimo, 50% o ou Engenheiro x (Arquitetura e Enger 01 (um) Arquiteto - o (s) onde a licitante sisticas e prazos com ias às parcelas de maior r ia são as seguintes: Elaboração de projet a mínima de 1000 m Elaboração de projet Elaboração de projet a mínima de 1000 m Elaboração de projet 5.000,00 unit	ade Técnica para Elaboração d le àqueles relativos ao objeto o da área do (s) lote (s) a que pr n experiência comprovada em iharia); com experiência comprovada n comprove ter executado servi o objeto, em edificações hospi alor relevância técnica. elevância técnica a serem cons os de demolição, reforma ou c 2. eto arquitetônico hospitalar con e Projeto - Engenharia tal) R\$38,09 contr. value m2 value unit	e projetos com da licitação retende concor coordenação e na elaboração d iços compatívei talares, no (s) o ideradas para o construção civil m área mínima	patíveis em rer:12.2.1.1. 01 (um) compatibilização de e projeto executivo; s e pertinentes em jual (is) constem presente termo de em área hospitalar de 1000 m². R\$8,31				

		crit. prof. Anotações de Responsabilidade Técnica para Elaboração de projetos compatíveis em características e complexidade àqueles relativos ao objeto da licitação							
			Apresentar, no Arquiteto ou E projeto (Arqui 12.2.1.2. 01 (ur	o mínimo, 50% Engenheiro coi tetura e Enger m) Arquiteto (da área do (s) lote (s) a qu m experiência comprovada nharia); com experiência comprova	ue pretende conc em coordenação da na elaboração	orrer:12.2.1.1.01 (um) o e compatibilização de de projeto executivo;		
		crit. op.	Atestado (s) oi características referências às 4.2.1. As parce referência são () 4.2.1.2. Elabor: com área mínii 12.1.1.1. Elabo	nde a licitante e prazos com parcelas de m elas de maior r as seguintes: ação de projet ma de 1000 m ração de proj	comprove ter executado s o objeto, em edificações h aior relevância técnica. relevância técnica a serem o tos de demolição, reforma o 12. eto arquitetônico hospitalar	serviços compatív iospitalares, no (s consideradas para ou construção civ r com área mínim	veis e pertinentes em) qual (is) constem a o presente termo de vil em área hospitalar na de 1000 m².		
		obs	3 contratos ja	assinados (56/	2017, 74/2017 e 9/2018).				
155124 0003/2	2017	RDC	niversitario Mari	est. value	edrossian R\$220.704,00) contr. value	R\$187.598,40		
		quant items	. I	concluded					
	subject	CONTRAT	AÇÃO DE EMI	PRESA ESPEC	IALIZADA NA ELABORA	ÇÃO DOS PROJI	etos básicos e Engenharia para		
	obs	EXECUTIV PLANEJAM CENTRAL	ENTO DE REF DE MATERIAIS	ORMA E AMF S ESTERELIZA	pliação nos setores [dos	DE CENTRO CIF	RÚRGICO (CC) E		
	obs protest	EXECUTIV PLANEJAM CENTRAL	ENTO DE REFI DE MATERIAIS	ORMA E AMF SESTERELIZA	puação nos setores e dos	DE CENTRO CIP	RÚRGICO (CC) E		
	obs protest Source	EXECUTIV PLANEJAM CENTRAL	ENTO DE REFI DE MATERIAIS	ORMA E AMF SESTERELIZA	pulação nos setores e dos	DE CENTRO CIP	RÚRGICO (CC) E		
001	obs protest Source	EXECUTIV PLANEJAM CENTRAL comprasnet 20060	ENTO DE REF DE MATERIAIS	ORMA E AMF S ESTERELIZA	PLIAÇÃO NOS SETORES [DOS	EMENTARES DE	RÚRGICO (CC) E		
001	obs protest Source	EXECUTIV PLANEJAM CENTRAL 20060 ELABORAC COMPLEM SETORES D área total di área referer área referer área referer	OS DE ARQUI ENTO DE REFI DE MATERIAIS E Elabor ÇÃO DOS PRO ENTARES DE E DE CENTRO CI e intervenção e nte às estrutura nte às estrutura nte à possibilida	DELIDRA HOS ORMA E AMF SESTERELIZA Dração / Anális DJETOS BÁSIC ENGENHARIA IRÚRGICO (C em 1.278,80 m Is já existentes Is já existentes Is já existentes	PLIAÇÃO NOS SETORES E DOS e Projeto - Engenharia ::OS E EXECUTIVOS DE AI A PARA PLANEJAMENTO CC) E CENTRAL DE MATE 2 s do Centro Cirúrgico (CC s da Central de Materiais Es ão dos serviços é de 112,01	RQUITETURA H DE REFORMA E ERIAIS ESTERELIZ) é de 944,03 m ²	RÚRGICO (CC) E IOSPITALAR E SEUS AMPLIAÇÃO NOS ZADOS (CME) :) é de 222,77 m ²		
001	obs protest Source	EXECUTIV PLANEJAM CENTRAL 20060 ELABORAC COMPLEM SETORES D área total di área referen área referen área referen área referen área referen	OS DE ARQUI ENTO DE REFI DE MATERIAIS E Elabor ÇÃO DOS PRO ENTARES DE E DE CENTRO CI e intervenção e nite às estrutura nite às estrutura nite à possibilida	DELIDRA HOS ORMA E AMP SESTERELIZA DIGENGENHARIA IRÚRGICO (C em 1.278,80 m Is já existentes Is já existentes Is já existentes R	PLIAÇÃO NOS SETORES E DOS e Projeto - Engenharia :OS E EXECUTIVOS DE AI A PARA PLANEJAMENTO CC) E CENTRAL DE MATE 2 s do Centro Cirúrgico (CC s da Central de Materiais Es ão dos serviços é de 112,00 (\$220.704,00 contr. value	RQUITETURA H DE REFORMA E ERIAIS ESTERELIZ) é de 944,03 m ² sterilizados (CME 0 m ²	RÚRGICO (CC) E IOSPITALAR E SEUS AMPLIAÇÃO NOS ZADOS (CME) E) é de 222,77 m ² R\$187.598,40		
001	obs protest Source	EXECUTIV PLANEJAM CENTRAL 20060 ELABORAQ COMPLEM SETORES D área total d área referen área referen área referen área referen est. value quant	CS DE ARQUI ENTO DE REFI DE MATERIAIS CÂO DOS PRO ENTARES DE E DE CENTRO CI e intervenção e nite às estrutura nite às estrutura nite às estrutura	oração / Anális SESTERELIZA DIETOS BÁSIC SIGENHARIA RÚRGICO (C em 1.278,80 m Is já existentes Is já existent	e Projeto - Engenharia COS E EXECUTIVOS DE AI A PARA PLANEJAMENTO CC) E CENTRAL DE MATE a do Centro Cirúrgico (CC s da Central de Materiais Es ão dos serviços é de 112,01 (\$220,704,00 contr. value un value unit	RQUITETURA H DE CENTRO CIF DE REFORMA E ERIAIS ESTERELIZ) é de 944,03 m ² sterilizados (CME 0 m ²	RÚRGICO (CC) E IOSPITALAR E SEUS AMPLIAÇÃO NOS ZADOS (CME) c) é de 222,77 m ² R\$187.598,40		
001	obs protest Source	EXECUTIV PLANEJAM CENTRAL 20060 ELABORAQ COMPLEM SETORES D área total du área referen área refer	OS DE ARQUI ENTO DE REFI DE MATERIAIS : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : :	oração / Anális oração / Anális oJETOS BÁSIC NGENHARIA IRÚRGICO (C em 1.278,80 m is já existentes is já exis	PLIAÇÃO NOS SETORES E DOS e Projeto - Engenharia COS E EXECUTIVOS DE AI A PARA PLANEJAMENTO CC) E CENTRAL DE MATE 2 s do Centro Cirúngico (CC s da Central de Materiais Es ão dos serviços é de I 12,01 (\$220.704,00 contr. value un value unit quant. crit. op.	RQUITETURA H DE CENTRO CIF DE REFORMA E ERIAIS ESTERELIZ) é de 944,03 m ²	RÚRGICO (CC) E IOSPITALAR E SEUS AMPLIAÇÃO NOS ZADOS (CME) E) é de 222,77 m² R\$187.598,40		
001	obs protest Source	EXECUTIV PLANEJAM CENTRAL 20060 ELABORAQ COMPLEM SETORES D área total d área referer área referer área referer est. value quant quant_crit. prof.	Constant and a constant	oração / Anális oração / Anális DETOS BÁSIC NGENHARIA IRÚRGICO (C em 1.278,80 m Is já existentes is já existentes is já existentes is já existentes de de ampliaç R 1,00 unit ue comprove : QUERIDOS: tA HOSPITAL TO DE REFO RAL DE MATI	e Projeto - Engenharia COS E EXECUTIVOS DE Al A PARA PLANEJAMENTO CC) E CENTRAL DE MATE a do Centro Cirúngico (CC s da Central de Materiais Es ão dos serviços é de I 12,00 (\$220.704,00 contr. value un value unit quant. crit. op. a parcela relevante, de acor ELABORAÇÃO DE PROJI AR E SEUS COMPLEMENT RMA E AMPLIAÇÃO NOS ERIAIS ESTERILIZADOS (C	RQUITETURA H DE CENTRO CIP DE REFORMA E ERIAIS ESTERELIZ) é de 944,03 m ² sterilizados (CME 0 m ² rdo com a tabela ETOS BÁSICOS E TARES DE ENGE S SETORES DE C CME)	RÚRGICO (CC) E IOSPITALAR E SEUS AMPLIAÇÃO NOS ZADOS (CME) E) é de 222,77 m² R\$187.598,40 adiante: E EXECUTIVOS DE INHARIA PARA ENTRO CIRÚRGICO		
001	obs protest Source	EXECUTIV PLANEJAM CENTRAL 20060 ELABORAC COMPLEM SETORES D área total di área referer área referer área referer est. value quant quant_crit. prof.	OS DE ARQUI ENTO DE REFI DE MATERIAIS : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : :	Dração / Anális SESTERELIZA Dração / Anális DETOS BÁSIC ENGENHARIA IRÚRGICO (C em 1.278,80 m Is já existentes is já existentes is já existentes is já existentes is já existentes de de ampliaç R 1,00 unit Le comprove a QUERIDOS: tA HOSPITAL TO DE REFO RAL DE MATI	PLIAÇÃO NOS SETORES E DOS PLIAÇÃO NOS SETORES E DOS PLIAÇÃO NOS SETORES E DOS PLIAÇÃO NOS SETORES E DOS PLIAÇÃO NOS E EXECUTIVOS DE AI A PARA PLANEJAMENTO CC) E CENTRAL DE MATE CC) E CENTRAL E SEUS COMPLEMENT CC) E CENTRAL E SETERILIZADOS (C) CC) CC) E CONTRAL E SETERILIZADOS (C) CC) CC) E CENTRAL E SETERILIZADOS (C) CC) CC) E CONTRAL E SETERILIZADOS (C) CC) CC) E CONTR	RQUITETURA H DE CENTRO CIP DE REFORMA E ERIAIS ESTERELIZ) é de 944,03 m ² cto com a tabela ETOS BÁSICOS E TARES DE ENGE S SETORES DE C CME)	RÚRGICO (CC) E IOSPITALAR E SEUS AMPLIAÇÃO NOS ZADOS (CME) i) é de 222,77 m² R\$187.598,40 adiante: E EXECUTIVOS DE INHARIA PARA ENTRO CIRÚRGICO		

Página 19 de 55

158275	0014/2	017	Instituto Fe	ederal de	Educaç	ão, Ciência	e Tecnologia	a de Mi	nas Gerais			
			reverse au	ction		est. value		R\$5.5	593.760,00	contr. value		R\$1.164.500,00
			quant item	s	18	concluded						
		subject	Contrataçã e Engenhar	io de pes: ria para re	soa jurí eformas	dica especia e/ou const	ilizada para p ruções na ár	restar ea de a	serviços d abrangênci:	e elaboração a do IFMG -	de pro Campi	ojetos de Arquitetura 18 Bambuí.
		obs	Registro de apenas dois	e preços. s realmen	Nenhu te de a	m contrato rquitetura.	firmado até	o mon	nento. 18 in	tens classifica	dos co	omo arquitetura,
		protest										
		Source	comprasne	ŧt								
(203		78		Estud	os e Projeto	os de Arquit	etura				
		1	Anteprojet	o Serviço	de ela	poração de	Estudos Pre	iminar	es.			
			est. value				R\$9,	48 con	itr. value			R\$4,50
			quant		10.00	0,00 unit	m2	value	e unit		1	
			quant. crit. p	orof			quant. ci	it. op.				
			crit. prof.	A licitan em cujo caracter	te deve acervo ísticas :	erá indicar u conste Ate semelhante:	um profission estado de Re s ao do objet	al de n sponsa :o do p	iível superi bilidade Té presente Te	or para cada écnica por e ermo de Refe	espe execuç erência	ecialidade do projeto, ão de serviços de
			crit. op.	atestado desemp o obieto	o de cap enho de o da lici	oacidade téo e atividade tacão.	cnica em nor pertinente e	ne da compa	licitante qu tível em ca	ue comprove aracterísticas	aptidi quant	ão da licitante para idades e prazos com
			obs	1								
(004		78		Estud	os e Projeto	os de Arquit	etura				
		1	Proieto arguitetônico e urbanístico.									
			est, value R\$23,05 contr. value R\$8,50									
			quant		10.00	0,00 unit	m2	value	e unit		1	
			quant. crit. p	prof			quant. ci	it. op.				
			crit. prof.	A licitan em cujo caracter	te deve acervo ísticas	erá indicar u conste Ate semelhante:	um profission estado de Re s ao do objet	al de n sponsa to do p	iível superi bilidade Té presente Te	or para cada écnica por le ermo de Refe	espo execuç erência	ecialidade do projeto, ão de serviços de
			crit. op.	atestado desemp o objeto	o de cap enho de o da lici	oacidade téo e atividade tação.	cnica em nor pertinente e	ne da compa	licitante qu tível em ca	ue comprove aracterísticas,	aptidi quant	ão da licitante para idades e prazos com
			obs									
158377	0040/2	017	Instituto Fe	ederal de	Educaç	ão, Ciência	e Tecnologia	a do N	orte de Mi	nas Gerais C	ampus	Salinas
			reverse au	ction		est. value		R\$1	32.984,83	contr. value		R\$65.600,00
			quant item	s	6	concluded						
		subject	aquisição d	le Serviço	s para l	Elaboração	de Projetos	Básico	de Engenh	aria		
		obs	Demands for bought by engineering selection co	or "as bui unity, the g services riteria is r	ild" drav capacit , it is no not spec	wings in the ties damand ot possible 1 cified, it is c	e preliminary led are in m2 to know hov only in the at	phase (Edita v much tached	of the serv I p.34). Eac each serv document	vice (Edital p. ch item cond ice would co c (termo de r	27). A enses : st. In t eferên	Ithough services are all architecture and he Edital, technical cia - p.34).
		protest										
		Source	comprasne	t								
C	100		51		Estud	os e Projeto	os Urbanístic	os / Pa	aisagísticos	/ Arquitetôn	icos	
		1	Elaboração	de proje	tos con	n vistas a re	eforma e ade	quação	dos alojan	nentos do IF	VMG	
			est. value				R\$59.848,	39 con	itr. value			R\$19.500,00
			quant			1,00 unit	unid	valu	e unit			

Página 20 de 55

	quant. crit. prof	522,60	quant. crit. op.	
	crit. prof. ate	stado de capacidade técni	ca	
	crit. op.			
	obs Qu	uantidade do serviço adapt 8.2.2019).	ada para ser coerente com o ci	ritério de 50% estabelecido no edita
002	51	Estudos e Projetos	Urbanísticos / Paisagísticos / Ar	quitetônicos
	l Elaboração de	projetos com vistas a refo	rma e adequação do refeitório	do IFNMG
	est. value		R\$33.850,84 contr. value	R\$17.500,00
	quant	1,00 unit	unid value unit	
	quant. crit. prof	522,60	quant. crit. op.	
	crit. prof. ate	stado de capacidade técni	ca	
	crit. op.			
	obs Qu	uantidade do serviço adapt 3.2.2019).	ada para ser coerente com o ci	ritério de 50% estabelecido no edita
003	51	Estudos e Projetos	Urbanísticos / Paisagísticos / Ar	quitetônicos
	I Elaboração de	projetos com vistas a refo	rma, adequação e ampliação do	Almoxarifado do IFNMG
	est. value		R\$8.845,00 contr. value	R\$7.000,00
	quant	1,00 unit	unid value unit	
	quant. crit. prof	522,60	quant. crit. op.	
	crit. prof. ate	stado de capacidade técni	ca	
	crit. op.			
	obs Qu	uantidade do serviço adapt 3.2.2019).	ada para ser coerente com o c	ritério de 50% estabelecido no edita
004	51	Estudos e Projetos	Urbanísticos / Paisagísticos / Ar	quitetônicos
	l Elaboração de do IFNMG	projetos com vistas a refo	rma e adequação da oficina med	cânica e garagem dos veículos oficiai
	est. value		R\$18.250,18 contr. value	R\$11.000,00
	quant	1,00 unit	unid value unit	
	quant. crit. prof	522,60	quant. crit. op.	
	crit. prof. ate	stado de capacidade técni	ca	
	crit. op.			
	obs Qu	uantidade do serviço adapt 3.2.2019).	ada para ser coerente com o ci	ritério de 50% estabelecido no edita
005	51	Estudos e Projetos	Urbanísticos / Paisagísticos / Ar	quitetônicos
	l Elaboração de	projetos com vistas a refo	rma, adequação e ampliação do	Abatedouro do IFNMG
	est. value		R\$3.428,03 contr. value	R\$3.400,00
	guant	1.00 unit	unid value unit	
	quant. crit. prof	522.60	quant. crit. op.	
	crit. prof. ate	stado de capacidade técni	ca	
	crit. op.		NAME	
	obs Qu	uantidade do serviço adapt 3.2.2019).	ada para ser coerente com o ci	ritério de 50% estabelecido no edita
006	51	Estudos e Proietos	Urbanísticos / Paisagísticos / Ar	quitetônicos
	l Elaboração de l	projetos com vistas a refo	rma, adeguação e ampliação da	Guarita/Portaria do IFNMG
	est value	,	R\$8 762 39 contr. value	R\$7 200 00
	Cat. Yalue			1\\\\.200,00

Página 21 de 55

		quant		1,00 unit	unid	value unit		
		quant. crit.	prof	522,60	quant. crit	. ор.		
		crit. prof.	atestado de o	apacidade técni	ica			
		crit. op.						
		obs	Quantidade ((13.2.2019).	lo serviço adap	tada para se	r coerente com	n o critério de 50	% estabelecido no edital
158720 0004/2	017	Universida	de Federal do	Sul da Bahia				
		reverse au	ction	est. value	R	\$. 97.396, 9	contr. value	R\$9.048.522,00
		quant item	IS	I concluded				
	subject	CONTRA ELABORA COMPLEX UNIDADE	tação de ei ção de pro (Idade, nece es da ufsb	MPRESA ESPEC JETOS BÁSICO ESSÁRIOS ÀS C	ializada i e execut construç	NA PRESTAÇÃ IVO DE ARQU ÕES, REFORM/	o de serviço: Jitetura e eno As e ampliaçõ) TÉCNICOS DE GENHARIA DE MÉDIA ES DE DIVERSAS
	obs	RDC com A lei do RI orgao nao internet do Trata-se do	registro de pre DC autoriza co tem pagina de o orgao. http:// e um RDC feit	eços. Nao const intrataçao para transparência e www.ufsb.edu.b o na plataforma	ta nenhum c serviços de a nao tem ne pr/acesso-inf de pregao.	ontrato dessa li engenharia, e p nhuma informa ormacao/licitaco	icitaçao no nome rojeto nao é serv çao sobre licitace oes-contratos.	da empresa vencedora. viço de engenharia. O ses e contratos na pagina
	protest	Um recurs	so, sobre aspec	tos formais dos	documento	os apresentados	pela vencedora.	
	Source	comprasne	et					
001		2006	0 Elat	ooração / Anális	se Projeto -	Engenharia		
	I	elaboração	o de projetos b	ásico e executiv	vo de arquite	etura e engenha	ria de média con	nplexidade, pelo regime
		diferenciad	lo de contrataç	ão, necessários	às construç	ões, reformas e	e ampliações de c	iversas unidades da UFSB.
		est. value		R\$1	1.197.396,1	9 contr. value		R\$9.048.522,00
		quant		1,00 unit	1	value unit		
		quant. crit.	prof	1.000,00	quant. crit	. ор.		
		crit. prof.	Atestado de grau de comp Anteprojeto	Capacidade Té elexidade tecno e Projeto Execu	cnica, em pr lógica e ope utivo de Arq	ojetos similares racional equival uitetura: 1000n	s ao objeto desta ente ou superior n2	licitação, em porte e :
		crit. op.	aptidão para prazos com o	desempenho d o objeto da licita	le atividade j ação	pertinente e con	mpatível em cara	cterísticas, quantidades e
		obs	No edital, na	o é exigido o pr	rofissional ai	quiteto paisagis	sta. Valor arq: R\$	584.000
60036 0025/2	017	Comando	Militar do Nor	deste 6ª R egião	o Militar			
		reverse au	ction	est. value		R\$68.123,02	contr. value	R\$46.199,99
		quant item	IS	l concluded				
	subject	contrataçã	o de Projetos (de engenharia e	arquitetura	para o HGEs		
	obs	Serviços de o arquivo o	e engenharia e disponivel é do	arquitetura no projeto basico	mesmo iten 20/2017.	n. O edital faz re	eferência ao proj	eto basico 21/2017, mas
	protest							
	Source	comprasne	et					
001		78	Est	udos e Projetos	de Arquitet	ura		
	1	Projetos de Construção projetos ba	e Arquitetura e o de uma Passa asicos ja fornec	e Engenharia do arela no HGeS). tidos.	Hge (Obra . Arquitetur	s de Adequação a: 160m2. Some	o do Rancho, Ade ente projetos exe	quação da UTI e cutivos compatibilizados,
		est. value			R\$68.123,0	2 contr. value		R\$46.199,99
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit		
		quant. crit.	prof		quant. crit	. ор.		

Página 22 de 55

		crit. prof.	Certidão em n licitante em da profissional e o áreas e/ou volu	ome do profis ta anterior à e lesempenho p umes descrito	ssional resp entrega da p pertinente c s no item 4	onsável técnico, proposta, que co ompatível em ca .1.b. (ver obs.). A	de nível superior, mprovem a capac racterísticas seme Arquitetura nao é	vinculado a empresa tação técnico- Ihantes aos serviços, relevante.				
		crit. op. obs	item 4.1.b: "Serviços mais relevantes: projeto estrutural em concreto armado (465,00m²), projeto instalações elétricas de baixa tensão (925,00m²) e projeto contratado instal. oxigênio/gases/vacou e ar comprimido (160,00m²)." Custo de arquitetura: R\$1.459,20 (2,52% do total - arquivo PBE-21/2017) = R\$9,12/m2.									
60066 0013/	2017	Comissão	Regional de Obr	as da 11ª Reg	ião Militar							
		reverse au	ction	est. value		R\$421.573,31	contr. value	R\$268.420,68				
		quant item	s 21	concluded								
	subject	contratação de serviços de elaboração de projetos de infraestrutura e pavimentação, objetivan complementação da obra de construção da Escola de Comunicação										
	obs	21 items, two classified as architectural services.										
	protest											
	Source	comprasne	t									
013		51	Estud	los e Projetos	Urbanístic	os / Paisagísticos	/ Arquitetônicos					
	I	Projeto Executivo de paisagismo. Area = 36.143,75-14.893,25 (doc. caderno de especificações técnicas)										
		est. value R\$30.022.19 contr. value R\$15										
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit						
		quant. crit. j	prof		quant. cr	t. op.	6.375,00					
		crit. prof.	rof. atestado de responsabilidade técnica relativo a elaboração de projetos básicos e executivos referente ao projeto paisagístico									
		crit. op.	. atestados de capacidade técnica relativo à execução de projetos, compatível em características, quantidades e prazos com o objeto da presente licitação, envolvendo as parcelas de maior relevância e valor significativo do objeto da licitação (projetos de infraestrutura)									
		obs	quant capacitie	es damanded i	n m2							
014		51	Estud	los e Projetos	Urbanístic	os / Paisagísticos	/ Arquitetônicos					
	3	Projeto "A	s Built" de paisa;	gismo								
		est. value			R\$4.254,5	9 contr. value		R\$3.579,80				
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit	1					
		quant. crit.	prof		quant. cr	it. op.	6.375,00					
		crit. prof.	atestado de re referente ao p	sponsabilidade rojeto paisagís	e técnica re stico	lativo a elaboraçã	ão de projetos bás	icos e executivos				
		crit. op.	atestados de c quantidades e relevância e va	apacidade téci prazos com o lor significativ	nica relativo objeto da j o do objeto	o à execução de j presente licitação o da licitação (pro	projetos, compatív o, envolvendo as p ojetos de infraestr	vel em características, arcelas de maior utura)				
		obs	quant capacitie	es damanded i	n m2	. (1		<i></i>				

Página 23 de 55

160078 0001/2017		Colégio Militar de Campo Grande								
		request for	- quotations	est. value		R\$38.095,95	contr. value	R\$22.857,14		
		quant item	s	l concluded						
subject		Elaboração dos projetos executivos para adequação da arquitetura, da rede elétrica, instalações prediais de água potável, gás e esgotos sanitários do Rancho (Setor de Aprovisionamento) do Colégio Militar de Campo Grande								
	obs	Arq + eng no mesmo item. Apenas duas concorrentes, uma foi inabilitada por nao apresentar os atestados técnicos solicitados.								
	protest									
Source comprasr			et							
001		264	Estudos e Projetos - Instalações Prediais							
	I	projetos executivos para adequação da arquitetura, da rede elétrica, instalações prediais de água potável, gás								
		e esgotos s	sanitários do Ra	incho do Colé	gio M ilitar	de Campo Grande	e. Sem informaço	es da area.		
		est. value			R\$38.095	,95 contr. value		R\$22.857,14		
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit				
		quant. crit. J	prof		quant. c	rit. op.	1.277,81			
		crit. prof. Certidão em nome do(s) responsável(is) técnico(s) e/ou membros da equipe técnica que participarão do serviço relativo à execução dos serviços que compõem as parcelas de maior relevância técnica e valor significativo da contratação.								
		 crit. op. atestados em nome do licitante, relativo à elaboração de projeto executivo, compatível em características, quantidades e prazos com o objeto da presente licitação, envolvendo as parcelas de maior relevância e valor significativo da contratação: 7.3.3.2.1. Projeto de arquitetura de reforma de edificação existente, em área de no mínimo 1.277,81m2 								
		obs Prazo: 90 dias. Valor arq: R\$12.905,88 (33,9% do valor estimado).								
170010 0006/2	2017	Secretaria da Receita Federal do Brasil								
		reverse au	ction	ion est. value R\$143.654,32 contr. value				R\$131.000,00		
		quant item	s	I concluded						
	subject	contratação de assessoria à fiscalização da contratação de serviços técnicos especializados de Arquitetura e Engenharia visando elaboração de Anteprojetos, Projetos Básicos Completos								
obs		Classificado como serviço comum, mas "É necessário o assessoramento técnico especializado na fiscalização da elaboração do projeto básico completo na tecnologia BIM" (p.27 do edital).								
	protest	arq +eng no mesmo item.								
	Source	comprasnet								
001		1341	Supe	ervisão / Gere	nciamento	/ Fiscalização - Pro	ojeto Construção	/ Obras Civis		
	5	assessoria à fiscalização da contratação de serviços técnicos especializados de Arquitetura e Engenharia								
		visando elaboração de Anteprojetos, Projetos Básicos Completos. Para reforma de edificio da Receita Federal.								
		Area 8655,97m2.								
		est. value			R\$143.654	,32 contr. value		R\$131.000,00		
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit				
		quant. crit.	prof	4.300,00	quant. c	rit. op.				
		crit. prof.	Arquiteto: co edifício públic	mprovação de o, comercial c	e ter elabor ou de escrit	porado, fiscalizado ou coordenado projeto arquitetônico de critórios, com área maior ou igual 4.300 m²				
		crit. op.								
		obs Prazo: 155 dias. Arq: R\$41.365,15 (28,8% do valor total estimado)								

Página 24 de 55

170018 0003/2017		Superintendências Regionais da Receita Federal - I a. Região Fiscal								
		reverse auc	tion	est. value		R\$126.836,28	contr. value	R\$89.000,00		
		quant items	1	concluded						
subject		seleção de pessoa jurídica especializada para prestação de serviços técnicos de arquitetura e engenharia, visando a elaboração de Projetos básicos de arquitetura e complementares de Engenharia, necessários à reforma e modernização do Depósito de Mercadorias Apreendidas								
	obs	Arq + Eng no mesmo item.								
	protest									
	Source	comprasnet	:							
001		1627	Manu	utenção / Refor	rma Predial					
	1	Projeto Básico de reforma, de adaptações de acessibilidade e de modernização de equipamentos e sistemas. Galpao = 2,121m2, prédio administrativo = 274m2.								
		est. value R\$126.836.28 contr. value R\$89.000.00								
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit				
		quant. crit. p	rof	2.000,00	quant. crit.	op.				
		crit. prof.	Certidao com	orovando expe	riencia na el	aboraçao de pro	ojeto de arquit	etura.		
		crit. op. Certidao comprovando elaboraçao de projetos basicos de edificacoes compativeis: cercamento de terreno com construão de guarita, escritorios.								
		obs Custo arquitetura: R\$21.360,24 (16,8% do total orçado) Area de serviços = 1401,83 (p.89 do termo de referência); quant crit = 2000,00 (p.25 do edital).								
170088 0001/2	017	Superintendência Regional da Receita Federal - 6ª Regiao/MG								
		request for	quotations	est. value		R\$677.199,03	contr. value	R\$377.798,24		
		quant items	. I	concluded						
	subject	Contratação de empresa especializada na elaboração de Projeto Básico Completo de Acessibilidade, de Identidade Visual e de Proteção e Combate a Incêndio, além da elaboração dos Projetos Legais e respectivas aprovações. Total 19 imoveis em diversos municípios de MG, 29.330m2.								
	obs	Técnica e preço. Recebimento das propostas: 25/10/2017, contrato publicado em 16/01/2018. Todos os serviços em um mesmo item, nao é possível distinguir o valor dos itens de arquitetura somente. Valor maior que R\$650 mil - deveria ser concorrência. Considerou como serviço de engenharia. Anexo 1 p.34: "Modalidade e tipo da Licitação: Conforme previsto no art. 23, inciso I, alínea b, da Lei 8.666/93, e com o objetivo de ampliar a participação de empresas desse ramo de negócio, a Tomada de Preço é a modalidade de licitação que melhor se adequou ao caso. Adotou-se o tipo técnica e preço por ser o mais recomendado ao objeto que possui natureza eminentemente intelectual. "								
	protest	 3 impugnacoes, nao diretamente ligadas aos critérios técnicos. A terceira alega que um critério eligibility deveria ser aceito para awarding. A administraçao desconsiderou, pois essa exigência é estabelecida por uma instruçao normativa do MPOG. 3 recursos, todos relativos a critérios técnicos. Esses recursos tratam da avaliaçao da habilitaçao em funcao dos documentos apresentados. Um desses recursos foi aceito, mas sem representar empecilhos à continuaçao da licitaçao. 								
	Source	comprasnet								
001		20060	Elabo	pração / Análise	e Projeto - E	ingenharia				
	I	Projeto Básico Completo de Acessibilidade, de Identidade Visual e de Proteção e Combate a Incêndio, além da elaboração dos Projetos Legais e respectivas aprovações								
		est. value		R	\$677.199,03	contr. value		R\$377.798,24		
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit				
		quant. crit. p	rof		quant. crit.	op.	500,00			
		crit. prof. Eligibility: Elaboração de Projeto Básico ou Executivo de Arquitetura, de edificação compatível (500m2)								
				Página	25 de 55					

		crit. op.	Awarding: "Elaboração de Projeto Básico ou Executivo de Arquitetura, de reforma de edificação compatível, cuja área construída mínima seja de 500m ² ; com expressa indicação no atestado, de que o projeto contemplou em seu bojo, dentre outras coisas, adequações da edificação às normas de acessibilidade: Os atestados que não contarem expressamente que o projeto de reforma contemplou "adequações de acessibilidade", mas que atenderem às condições deste edital, em especial as condições de acessibilidade", mas que atenderem às condições deste edital, em especial as condições de acessibilidade", mas que atenderem às condições deste edital, em especial as condições de acessibilidade", mas que atenderem às condições de edita, e especias declaração no atestado será considerada como comprovação de que o projeto de reforma contemplou adequações de acessibilidade da edificação. Não serão efetuadas análises de desenhos para fins de apuração do que não estiver expressamente declarado no atestado. A simples marcação, em campo próprio da ART ou RRT, de que o projeto atendeu as normas de acessibilidade não será considerada como comprovação de projeto somente para reforma". Uma nota é calculada baseada na quantidade de serviços prestados e na experiência em projetos de adequaçao (anexo V do edital). Também "será atribuida nota à licitante que comprovar que, pelo menos, 01 integrante de sua equipe técnica, indicada no Anexo VI do edital, tenha concluído curso de pós-graduação (doutorado, mestrado ou especialização) ou capacitação, na área de engenharia e arquitetura e cujo conteúdo programático formalmente contemple o tema acessibilidade de edificações".							
obs			"Considera-se edificação compatível (prédio de escritórios), segundo a NBR-9077, os locais para a condução de negócios e prestação de serviços pessoais, tais como: consultórios de médicos e dentistas, escritórios de profissionais liberais, escritórios comerciais em geral, bancos, instituições financeiras em geral e repartições públicas." 500m2 de critério incluido como operacional pois profissional contempla evaluation criterion.							
170131 0022/20	017	Superintend	lência de Admir	istração do l	Ministério da	Fazenda/SP				
		reverse auction		est. value		R\$19.396,60	contr. value	R\$19.000,00		
		quant items	1	concluded						
	subject	Contratação de empresa de arquitetura e engenharia para prestação de serviços para elaboração de projeto completo (básico e executivo) de reformas e adaptações no edifício que abriga a Procuradoria Seccional da Fazenda Nacional								
	obs protest									
	Source	comprasnet								
001		78 Estudos e Projetos de Arquitetura								
	1	projeto completo (básico) de reformas e adaptações para permitir o livre acesso de pessoas portadoras de necessidades especiais no edifício que abriga a Procuradoria Seccional da Fazenda Nacional em São Carlos (900,60m2)								
		est. value				R\$19.396,60 contr. value		R\$19.000,00		
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit				
		quant. crit. pi	rof		quant. crit	. op.	450.00			
		crit. prof.								
		crit. op.	t. op. atestados em nome do licitante, relativo à execução de obra de engenharia, compatível em características, quantidades e prazos com o objeto da presente licitação, envolvendo as parcelas de maior relevância e valor significativo do objeto da licitação: 8.7.2.1. Elaboração de projeto de acessibilidade para acesso de pessoas portadoras de necessidades especiais em edifício com área de 450,00 m ² ou superior.							
		OUS	italj							

Página 26 de 55
170134 0006/2	2017	Delegacia c	la Receit	a Feder	al do Brasil e	m Araçatu	ba/SP		
		reverse aud	ction		est. value		R\$53.602,64	4 contr. value	R\$18.000,00
		quant item	s	1	concluded				
	subject	contratação	o de serv	viços co	muns de enge	enharia.			
	obs								
	protest	Dois recur pretextand apresentad edificação, "adequação consignou pois o edit um projeto	sos. O p lo que a la CAT d não sendo ", é evid que cons al pedia d o de adeo	rimeiro empres e proje do obra dente qu sta proje explicita quaçao.	alega inexequ a confirmou e to de adequação de adequação ue não é esse eto de acessit imente adequ No atestado	uibilidade o castar ciento ção de ace o." O preg o termo o pilidade no açao. Um consta sim	do preço. O preg e de suas obrigaç ssibilidade e sim oeiro julga que "a jue define o cern atestado apreser projeto de novo plesmente "paisa	oeiro nao aceitou oes. O segundo ar de um projeto arq upesar dos dois ite e da exigência." O ttado. No meu en edificio, como é o gismo e acessibilid	esse recurso, gumenta que "não foi uitetônico de uma nova ns conterem a palavra pregoeiro também tender, situaçao absurda, caso do atestado, nao é ade".
	Source	comprasne	t	11.00					
001		20060	D	Elabo	pração / Análi	se Projeto	- Engenharia		
		Acessibilida Jurisdiciona construida:	Acessibilidade do Edifício urisdicionadas, localizada construida: 6401,97m2		ede da Deleg nos município	acia da Rei os de Andr	ceita Federal do I radina, Jales, Lins,	Brasil em Araçatub Penápolis e Pereir	ba/SP e suas Unidades ra Barreto. Area
		est. value				R\$53.602	,64 contr. value		R\$18.000,00
		quant			1,00 unit	un	value unit		
		quant. crit. p	prof			quant. c	rit. op.	300,00	
		crit. op.	ABNT Atestad	NBR 90 dos com sibilidad	050/2015 nprovando ex de em prédio:	ecuçao de s com no r	Projeto Básico/E nínimo 300m² de	xecutivo de Arqui área construída	tetura para adequação
170217 0007/	2017	obs		F 1		D 1/	DDEIDEI		
170217 00077	2017	Delegacia d		a reder	ai do brasil e	m Belem -	DRF/BEL		D#20 700 00
		reverse au	ction		est. value		K\$73.572,4	contr. value	R\$28.700,00
		quant item	S	- 1	concluded	12 101 120			
	subject	Contrataça	io de ser	viços co	omuns de eng	genharia. R	eforma da agênci	a de Capanema	
	obs	Renovation	n of build	ing. On	e item for arc	chitecture	and engineering.		
	protest	Uma impug foi aceita e	gnaçao r o edital	eferente foi repu	e a necessidad ublicado sem	le de se re essa neces	gistrar os atestac sidade. Nao houv	los da empresa no ve recursos.	CREA. A impugnaçao
	Source	comprasne	t						
001		20060	D	Elabo	oração / Análi	se Projeto	- Engenharia		
	I	projeto bas	sico arqu	itetônic	o e projetos	compleme	ntares. Reforma	de imovel de 372r	n2.
		est. value				R\$73.572	,40 contr. value		R\$28.700,00
		quant			1,00 unit	un	value unit		
		quant. crit. p	prof			quant. c	crit. op.		
		crit. prof.	Certida prédios	io em n publico	ome dos resp os ou escritor	oonsaveis t rios.	écnicos relativos	a execuçao de pro	ojeto arquitetônico para
		crit. op.	Atestad arquite	lo com tônico j	pativel em car para prédios p	racteristica publicos o	s com o objeto c u escritorios.	la licitaçao envolve	endo projeto
		obs	arquite total).	tura e e	engenharia no	mesmo it	em. projeto arqu	itetônico orçado e	em R\$8759,73 (13% do

Página 27 de 55

170217 0008/2	70217 0008/2017		la Receita	a Federal do Brasil er	m Belém - DRF/BEL					
		reverse auc	tion	est. value	R\$51.081,25	contr. value	R\$45.000,00			
		quant items	s	I concluded						
	subject	Contratação	o de serv	viços comuns de eng	enharia. Reforma da agência	de Sao Miguel do	Guamà			
	obs	Renovation	of buildi	ng. One item for arc	hitecture and engineering.					
	protest	Uma impug foi aceita e	gnaçao re o edital f	ferente a necessidad oi republicado sem e	e de se registrar os atestado essa necessidade. Nao houve	os da empresa no e recursos.	CREA. A impugnaçao			
	Source	comprasnet	t							
001		20060)	Elaboração / Anális	se Projeto - Engenharia					
	I	projeto bas	sico arqui	tetônico e projetos	complementares. Reforma d	le imovel de 250n	n2.			
		est. value			R\$51.081,25 contr. value		R\$45.000,00			
		quant		1,00 unit	un value unit					
		quant. crit. p	prof		quant. crit. op.					
		crit. prof.	Certida prédios	Certidao em nome dos responsaveis técnicos relativos a execuçao de projeto arquitetônico para						
		crit. op.	Atestad	itestado compativel em características com o objeto da licitação envolvendo projeto						
		obs	arquitet	rquitetura e engenharia no mesmo item. projeto arquitetônico orçado em R\$7.631,25 (15% do rqui						
170217 0009/2	017	Delegacia d	la Receita							
	••••	reverse auc	rtion	est value	contr. value	R\$27 250 00				
		quant items	s		10000022,01		1 (42) 120 (30)			
	subject	Contratação	o de serv	vicos comuns de eng	enharia. Reforma da agência	de Castanhal				
	obs	Renovation	of buildi	ng. One item for arc	hitecture and engineering	de outerman				
	protest	Uma impugnação referente a necessidade de se registrar os atestados da empresa no CREA. A impugnação foi aceita e o odital foi republicado com orca accessidado. Não bouvo requizor								
	Source		o editar i	oi republicado sem e	essa necessidade. Ivao nouve	e recursos.				
001	bource	20060	י ז	Elaboração / Anális	e Projeto - Engenharia					
001		projeto bas	ico arqui	tetôpico e projetos	complementares Reforma d	e imovel de 614n	n ²			
		est value	sico ai qui	tetonico e projetos	R\$66 522 8L contr. value		R\$27,250,00			
		auant		L 00 upit	value unit		1(\$27.250,00			
		quant crit n	prof	1,00 unic	quant crit op					
		crit prof	Cortida	o om nome des resp		overurae de pro	ioto arquitotônico para			
		crit. proi.	prédios	publicos ou escritor	ios.	execução de pro	jeto arquitetonico para			
		crit. op.	Atestad arquitet	o compativel em car ônico para prédios p	acteristicas com o objeto da publicos ou escritorios.	i licitaçao envolve	ndo projeto			
		obs	arquitet total).	ura e engenharia no	mesmo item. projeto arquit	etônico orçado e	m R\$8759,73 (13% do			
170217 0011/2	017	Delegacia d	la Receita	a Federal do Brasil er	m Belém - DRF/BEL					
		reverse auc	ction	est. value	R\$48.769,17	contr. value	R\$25.200,00			
		quant items	s	I concluded						
	subject	Contratação Complemen	io de serv ntares pa	viços de elaboração o ra a Agência da Reco	do Projeto Básico Arquitetô eita Federal do Brasil em Ab	nico e dos Projet aetetuba	os Básicos			
	obs									
	protest									
	Source	comprasnet	t							

Página 28 de 55

001		20060	El	aboração / Análi	se Projeto - E	ngenharia				
	1	Projeto Bási	co Arquitet	ônico e dos Pro	jetos Básicos	Complementar	res para a Agên	icia da Receita Federal do		
		Brasil em At 395m2.	baetetuba. li	nclui projetos de	e engenharia (eletrica, SPDA	etc). Reforma	de edificio. Area total		
		est. value			R\$48.769,17	contr. value		R\$25.200,00		
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit				
		quant. crit. pr	of		quant. crit.	op.				
		crit. prof.	Certidao er	m nome dos res	ponsaveis técr	nicos relativos a	a execuçao de	projeto arquitetônico par		
			prédios pub	olicos ou escrito	rios.					
		crit. op.	Atestado co escritorios.	omprovando a e	laboraçao de	projeto arquite	tônico para pr	édios publicos ou		
		obs	arquitetura do total).	e engenharia no	mesmo item	. projeto arqui1	tetônico orçado	o em R\$6.069,83 (12,5%		
0388 0001/20	017	Delegacia da	a Receita Fe	deral do Brasil e	m Dourados/	MS				
		reverse auct	tion	est, value		R\$238.583.01	contr. value	R\$58.065.40		
		quant items								
	subject	contratação construção	de pessoa j de edificação	jurídica especiali:	zada na elaboi Depósito de	ração de PROJI Veículos Apres	ETO BÁSICO (COMPLETO necessário à		
	obs	Only one ite	em in which	architecture an	d engineering	services are m	ixed together.			
	protest				0 0					
	Sourco	compresent								
001	Source	comprashet	C-		5					
001		22225 Serviço Engenharia								
		Serviço de e								
		est. value			R\$238.583,01	contr. value		R\$58.065,40		
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit				
		quant. crit. pr	of		quant. crit.	op.				
		crit. prof.	Atestado qu de arquiteti	ue comprove ter ura de edificação	r o profissiona compatível	al executado se	rviços relativos	s a elaboração de projeto		
		crit. op.	Certidão de elaborou o	e Acervo Técnic u desenvolveu P	o (CAT) em r rojetos Básico	nome do licitan os para a constr	te onde fique c rução de edifica	comprovado que o licitant ações compatíveis		
		obs	arquitetura ltem 8.7.5: de negócio: construção escritórios	e engenharia no Considera-se ed s e prestação de de guarita, cons comerciais em g	o mesmo item lificação comp serviços pess sultórios de m geral, bancos,	. nao é possive patível (prédio c poais, tais como édicos e dentis instituições fina	l saber o valor le escritórios) : cercamento c tas, escritórios inceiras em ger	so de arquitetura. os locais para a condução de terreno com : de profissionais liberais, ral e repartições públicas.		
516 0005/20	017	Delegacia da	a Receita Fe	deral em Anapo	lis					
		reverse auct	tion	est. value		R\$52.324,28	contr. value	R\$39.000,00		
		quant items		l concluded						
	subject	contratação visando a ela	de pessoa j aboração do Receita Fede	jurídica especializ o Projeto Básico, eral do Brasil pa	zada na presta incluindo o F	ação de serviço Projeto Legal e	s técnicos de a complementar	rquitetura e engenharia, es de Engenharia da		
	obs	Litem com	servicos de	engenbaria e ar	quitetura mist	urados				
	obs	Them com	sei viços de		quitetui a mist	.ui au03.				
	protest									
	Source	comprasnet	i The							
001		78	Es	studos e Projeto	s de Arquitet	ura				
		Projeto Bási informaçoes	ico, incluind s da area.	o o Projeto Lega	al e compleme	entares de Enge	nharia. Reform	na e ampliaçao sem		
		est. value		Págin	R\$52.324,28	contr. value		R\$39.000,00		

		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit							
		quant. crit.	prof		quant. c	rit. op.							
		crit. prof.	Certid execuç Coord	ão em nome de profis ão de serviços relativ enação de projeto coi	sional(is) os à execu npleto; b.	onde fique comprov ução de Projetos Bás Projeto de Arquitet	ada a responsa sicos e/ou Exec sura;	bilidade técnica na cutivos relativos a: a.					
		crit. op.	Certid Execut definid Arquit	ão onde fique compro ivos para a construção o neste Edital, contem etura;	ovado que o de préd oplando: a	o licitante elaborou ios de escritórios, co . Coordenação de pi	ou desenvolve omerciais ou p rojeto complet	eu Projetos Básicos e/ou úblicos, conforme :o; e b. Projeto de					
		obs											
170516 0008/2	017	Delegacia	da Recei	ta Federal em Anapoli	S								
		reverse au	ction	est. value		R\$112.434,36 c	ontr. value	R\$60.000,00					
		quant item	IS	2 concluded									
	subject	contrataçã	o de ser	viços comuns de arqu	itetura e o	engenharia. Reforma	de duas agênc	ias					
	obs												
	protest												
	Source	comprasne	et										
001		78		Estudos e Projetos	de Arqui	tetura							
	I	l Projetos básicos completos para a agência de Ceres (219,41m2)											
		est. value			R\$58.348	,12 contr. value		R\$30.000,00					
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit							
		quant. crit.	prof		quant. c	rit. op.							
		crit. prof.	Certidão em nome do(s) responsável(is) técnico(s) e/ou membros da equipe relativo à execução dos serviços que compõem as parcelas de maior relevância técnica e valor significativo da contratação, a saber: Projeto de Arquitetura;										
		crit. op.	atestados onde fique comprovado que o licitante elaborou ou desenvolveu Projetos Básicos e Executivos para a construção de prédios de escritórios, comerciais ou públicos, compatível en características, quantidades e prazos com o objeto da presente licitação, envolvendo as parcel de maior relevância e valor significativo do objeto da licitação (projeto de arquitetura).										
		obs	arquite	etura e engenharia no	mesmo it	em. nao ha indicaçac	o do valor do p	orojeto arquitetônico.					
002		78		Estudos e Projetos	de Arqui	tetura							
	1	Projetos b	ásicos co	ompletos para a agênc	a de Luziá	ània (201,63m2)							
		est. value			R\$54.086	,24 contr. value		R\$30.000,00					
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit							
		quant. crit.	prof		quant. c	rit. op.							
		crit. prof.		ão em nome do(s) res rviços que compõem a tação, a saber: Projeto	ponsável(as parcela de Arqui	is) técnico(s) e/ou m s de maior relevânci itetura;	embros da eq a técnica e valo	uipe relativo à execução or significativo da					
		crit. op.	atestad Execut caracte de mai	los onde fique compra ivos para a construçã erísticas, quantidades o or relevância e valor s	ovado que o de préd e prazos c ignificativo	e o licitante elaborou ios de escritórios, co rom o objeto da pres o do objeto da licitar	i ou desenvolv omerciais ou p sente licitação, ção (projeto d	eu Projetos Básicos e/ou úblicos, compatível em envolvendo as parcelas e arquitetura).					
		obs	obs arquitetura e engenharia no mesmo item. nao ha indicação do valor do projeto arquitetô										

Página 30 de 55

79085 0098	/2017	Banco do Nordeste	e do Brasil S/A							
		reverse auction	est. value	R\$2.982.746,5	2 contr. value					
		quant items	I cancelled (no	suitable bids)						
	subject	Contratação de ser contínua de atividad	rviços técnicos terceir des de engenharia/arq	izados, contemplando gere uitetura e suporte adminis	enciamento, planeja trativo.	amento e execução				
	obs	ltem cancelado na a Todos os lances for documentos. O valor estimado n – Plenário, publicad	aceitação. Motivo: Co ram mais altos que o r nao havia sido divulgad lo no D.O.U., de 14/0	nsiderando a desclassificaç valor orçado, exceto um q 10: "Não divulgado, com re 8/2012."	ão ou a inabilitação ue foi desclassificad spaldo no Acórdão	o de todas as propostas. do por nao apresentar o do TCU nº 2.080/2012				
	protest	Um recurso solicita engenheiros. Recur negociaçao.	ando revisao de descla so nao foi aceito. Essa	assificaçao. A empresa nao a empresa apresentou pro	cotou corretamer posta de acordo co	te o valor do salario do om o preço orçado, apo				
	Source	comprasnet								
001		22225	Serviço Engenharia							
		atividades de engen equipe dimensionad coordenador técnic de nível médio, 03 (Contrato de doze r	haria/arquitetura e su da para funcionar com co (deve ser um arqui (três) supervisores té meses.	porte administrativo. a até 31 profissionais, comp teto), 01 (um) coordenado cnicos e 02 (dois) supervis	posta por, no máxi pr administrativo, 2 pores administrativo	mo: 01 (um) I (vinte e um) técnicos ss.				
		est. value	R\$	2.982.746,52 contr. value						
		quant	1,00 unit	un value unit						
		quant. crit. op.								
		engenh 8.7.2.1. poderã 20 (vini 8.7.3. c compro na pres	ato de serviço de con iaria e/ou execução de 1. Engenheiro civil ou o ser somados os qua te) Unidades de Servi ópia(s) de contrato(s ove(m) que o licitante stação de serviços ter	sutorna na area de engenn e manutenção predial, com l engenheiro mecânico ou antitativos de 2 (dois) ou n ço (US):), atestado(s), declaração(ĉ e possui experiência mínim ceirizados, compatíveis coi	aria equipa residente engenheiro eletrici nais atestado(s) par ies) ou outros doc a de 3 (três) anos, m o objeto ora licit	r tecnica na area de formada por: sta ou arquiteto; ra se obter, pelo menos, umentos idôneos que ininterruptos ou não, rado;				
70095 0113	/2017	Papas de Naudasta	de Russil S/A							
79065 0112	2017	Banco do Nordeste	e do Brasil 3/A	P\$2 992 744 5	2 contra value	P\$2 401 926 49				
		quant items	L concluded	1.92.702.746,5	2 contra value	1.720,70				
	subject	Contratação de ser contínua de atividad	viços técnicos terceir des de engenharia/arq	izados, contemplando gere uitetura e suporte adminis	enciamento, planeja trativo	amento e execução				
	obs									
	protest									
	Source	comprasnet								
001		22225	Serviço Engenharia							
	2	2 Contratação de ser execução contínua sendo quatro arquit	viços técnicos terceir de atividades de enge tetos ou engenheiros,	izados visando, contempla nharia/arquitetura e supor , durante doze meses.	ndo gerenciamento te administrativo. :	o, planejamento e 31 postos de trabalho,				
				2 002 744 52	R\$2.401.926,					
		est. value	R\$	2.762.746,52 contr. value		R\$2.401.926,48				
		est. value quant	R\$	un value unit		R\$2.401.926,48				

Página 31 de 55

	crit. prof.						
	crit. op.	atestado(s) de privado, que c Edital;	e capacidade t omprove(m) :	écnica, expedido a aptidão para de	(s) por pessoa(s esempenho de ar) jurídica(s) d tividade comp	e direito público ou atível com o objeto do
		8.7.2.1. Enten engenharia e/c com equipe re	de-se por ativ ou assessoria t sidente forma	idade compatíve écnica na área d ada por:	l: prestação de s e engenharia e/c	erviço de cor ou execução d	sultoria na área de e manutenção predial,
		8.7.2.1.1. Enge	nheiro civil o	u engenheiro me	cânico ou enger	heiro eletricis	sta ou arquiteto;
	obs	Custo arquitet	os e engenhe	iros = 33,2% do	total.		
200035 0012/2017	Procurador	ia da República	em Minas Ge	rais			
	reverse auc	tion	est. value	P	\$49.984,00 cor	tr. value	R\$17.500,00
	quant items	. 1	concluded				
subject	Contratação pessoas cor	o de Projeto ex n deficiência do	ecutivo de ar edifício-sede	quitetura e com da Procuradoria	plementares par 1 da República ei	a adequação c m Minas Gera	le acessibilidade a is
obs							
protest							
Source	comprasnet	:					
001	78	Estud	dos e P rojeto:	s de Arquitetura			
	I Projeto exe deficiência o	cutivo de arqui do edifício-sede	tetura e com da Procurado	olementares para oria da República	a adequação de : 1 em Minas Gera	acessibilidade is. 3.200m2	a pessoas com
	est. value			R\$49.984,00 cc	ntr. value		R\$17.500,00
	quant		1,00 unit	un val	ue unit		
	quant. crit. p	rof		quant. crit. op.			
	crit. prof.	8.9.3. Certidão	de profissio	nal(ais) de nível s	superior, ou out	ro devidamen	te reconhecido por
		entidade comp	etente, que r	epresente(m) a e	empresa licitante	. .	
		Para as habilita referentes a ec	ções técnicas dificações que	constantes nos não tenham sim	itens 8.9.2 e 8.9 ilaridade com a	.3 não serão a tipologia do c	ceitos atestados bjeto desta licitação.
	crit. op.	8.9.2. Atestado	o(s) que comp	prove que a emp	resa tenha elabo	rado projeto	de edificação.
		Para as habilita referentes a e	ções técnicas dificações que	constantes nos não tenham sim	itens 8.9.2 e 8.9 ilaridade com a	.3 não serão a tipologia do c	ceitos atestados bjeto desta licitação.
	obs	Prazo: 100 dia 100% arquitet	s. ura.				
200043 0017/2017	Procurador	ia da República	no Estado do	Rio de Janeiro			
	reverse auc	tion	est. value	F	\$24.695,52 cor	tr. value	R\$12.141,29
	quant items	. 1	concluded				
subject	Contratação Complemen Edifício-Sed	o de Empresa H ntares de Enger e da Procurado	Habilitada para haria para Re oria da Repúbl	a a Elaboração de forma e Adequa ica no Rio de Jan	e Projeto Execut ção de Acessibil ieiro	ivo de Arquit idade a Pesso	etura e as com Deficiência, do
obs	Arq + com	olementares en	g no mesmo i	tem.			
protest							
Source	comprasnet	:					
001	22225	Servi	ço Engenharia	1			
	I laboração d Acessibilida 2.600m2	e Projeto Exec de a Pessoas co	utivo de Arqu om Deficiência	iitetura e Compl a, do Edifício-Sed	ementares para e da Procurado	Reforma e Ad ria da Repúbli	lequação de ca no Rio de Janeiro.

Página 32 de 55

		est. value				R\$24.695,	52 contr. value		R\$12.141,29
		quant			1,00 unit	un	value unit		
		quant. crit. p	prof		1.800,00	quant. cr	it. op.		
		crit. prof.	c.1) Ser atestad edificaç constru	rá consid o e cert ção de, r ução, em	derada tecnica idão de acerv no mínimo, 1.8 n uma única ol	mente hab o técnico o 100m² (um ora, cujas a	ilitada a empresa le Projeto execu mil e oitocentos tividades tenham	a que apresentar tivo de arquiteta metros quadrac atendido as reg	r no mínimo I (um) ura e engenharia de dos) de área de gras de acessibilidade
		crit. op.	b) Com compat da emp	nprovaçã tível con presa lici	ão de aptidão n o objeto da tante.	operacion: presente L	al para o desemp icitação, por mei	enho de atividad io de atestado(s	de pertinente e) expedido(s) em nome
		obs	Prazo: Valor a Crit =	105 dias irq: R\$1 1800m2	s. 1.853,85 (48% ! (p.20 do edit	do valor t al); area =:	otal estimado). 200m2 (anexo I-0	C).	
200108 0008	/2017	Procurado	ria Regio	onal do T	Frabalho - 18ª	Região			
		reverse au	ction		est. value		R\$55.032,23	contr. value	R\$25.000,00
		quant item	s	1	concluded				
	obs	projeto exe do Trabalh Serviços de	ecutivo p 10 18ª Re e engenh	para refo gião aria e ar	orma do térre	o e mezan	ino (sobreloja) do	o edifício sede d	a Procuradoria Regional
	protest	Calculo do	os valores	s: p.117	do edital.	mesmo ite	m .		
	protest Source	Calculo do comprasne	et et	s: p.117	do edital.	mesmo ite	m.		
001	protest Source	Calculo do comprasne 78	et	Estud	do edital. los e Projetos	de Arquite	m. etura		
001	protest Source	Calculo do comprasne 78 projetos de (sobreloja) 1.372,50m2	e arquite do edifíc 2	Estud tura e e cio sede	do edital. los e Projetos ngenharia ao da Procurado	de Arquite nível de pr oria Region	m. etura ojeto executivo p al.	para reforma do	térreo e mezanino
001	protest Source	Calculo do comprasne 78 projetos de (sobreloja) 1.372,50m2 est. value	e arquite do edifíc 2	Estud tura e e cio sede	do edital. los e Projetos ngenharia ao I da Procurado	de Arquite nível de pr pria Region R\$55.032,1	m. etura ojeto executivo p al. 23 contr. value	para reforma do	térreo e mezanino R\$25.000,00
001	protest Source	Calculo do comprasne 78 projetos de (sobreloja) 1.372,50m est. value quant	e arquite do edifíc 2	Estud	do edital. los e Projetos ngenharia ao da Procurado	de Arquite nível de pr pria Region R\$55.032,7 un	m. etura ojeto executivo p al. 23 contr. value value unit	para reforma do	térreo e mezanino R\$25.000,00
001	protest Source	Calculo do comprasne 78 projetos de (sobreloja) 1.372,50m est. value quant quant	e arquite do edifíc 2	Estud	do edital. los e Projetos ngenharia ao i da Procurado 1,00 unit 600,00	de Arquita nível de pr ria Region R\$55.032, un quant. cr	m. etura ojeto executivo p al. 23 contr. value value unit it. op.	oara reforma do 600,00	térreo e mezanino R\$25.000,00
001	protest Source	Calculo do comprasne 78 projetos de (sobreloja) 1.372,50m est, value quant crit, prof.	e arquite do edifíc 2 Certidã execuç de Refc adminis	Estud Estud tura e e cio sede	do edital. los e Projetos ngenharia ao I da Procurado 1,00 unit 600,00 da em nome d arviços de elat rquitetura e Ir corporativa o	de Arquita nível de pr ria Region R\$55.032,1 un quant.cr o profissic soração, de sstalações u institucic	m. etura ojeto executivo p al. 23 contr. value value unit it. op. unal integrante do esenvolvimento c elétricas), em nív unal, com área úti	bara reforma do 600,00 o quadro da liciti onfecção ou ativ el executivo, pa	térreo e mezanino R\$25.000,00 ante, de aptidão para a vidade similar, de Projeto ra edificação comercial, , 600 m².
001	protest Source	Calculo do comprasme 78 projetos de (sobreloja) 1.372,50m est. value quant crit. pr crit. prof. crit. op.	e arquite do edifíc 2 Certida execuç de Refc adminis Atestac Projeto comerci	Estud Estud atura e e cio sede ao emitic ão de se orma (A strativa, do de C o de Reficial, adm	do edital. los e Projetos ngenharia ao i da Procurado 1,00 unit 600,00 da em nome d arviços de elab reviços de elab reviços de elab reviços de elab reviços de elab reviços de refe corporativa o apacidade Téc orma (Arquite unistrativa, co	de Arquita nível de pr níva Region R\$55.032, un quant. cr o profissic poração, de isstalações s institulações nica em no titura e Inst	m. stura ojeto executivo p al. 23 contr. value value unit it. op. it. op. it. op. elétricas), em nív inal, com área úti ome da licitante, e alações elétricas), ou institucional, co	oara reforma do 600,00 o quadro da liciti el executivo, pa il de, no mínimo onde reste com), em nível execi om área útil de,	térreo e mezanino R\$25.000,00 ante, de aptidão para a vidade similar, de Projeto ra edificação comercial, , 600 m². provada a elaboração de utivo, para edificação no mínimo, 600 m².

Página 33 de 55

200121 0009/2	017	l ^a Superintendência de Polícia Rodoviária Federal									
		reverse au	ction	est. value	R\$31.525,5	0 contr. value	R\$19.299,99				
		quant item	s	concluded							
	subject	Contrataçã arquitetura CONTRA	ão de empresa e a e engenharia (i TANTE realizar	specializada de ncluindo todas licitação para :	e engenharia ou arquitetur s as peças técnicas pertines a contratação de reforma	a para fornecer pro ntes) que permitan com ampliação do	ojetos executivos de n, posteriormente, a Bloco 02.				
	obs protest	p.1: "O ob comuns de contradiz o p.54: "Os p	jeto da presente e engenharia" com: projetos complet	e licitação é a e mentares de e	escolha da proposta mais v ngenharia são serviços esp	antajosa para a cor pecializados".	ntratação de serviços				
	Source	comprasnet									
001		20060 Elaboração / Análise Projeto - Engenharia									
	1	Projetos e (383,80m2	xecutivos de arq .) com ampliaçac	uitetura e eng o (115,9m2) - o	enharia (incluindo todas a: delegacia (total 499,70m2).	s peças técnicas pe	rtinentes) - Reforma				
		est. value			R\$31.525,50 contr. value		R\$19.299,99				
		quant		1,00 unit	un value unit						
		quant. crit.	prof	400,00	quant. crit. op.	400,00					
		crit. prof.	que comprove ter o ico em edificação								
		crit. op. Atestado que comprove ter a empresa executado serviços de: 7.5.1 (1) elaboração de arquitetônico em edificação institucional e/ou comercial com área igual ou superior a 4									
		obs	O valor calculado no edital (p.54) multiplica o valor de projeto por m2 por 0,25, todavia a tabe do IAB diz que esse valor tem que ser multiplicado por 1,25. Critério = 400m2 (p.13 do edital), area = 499,70m2 (p.29 do termo de referência).								
200207 0013/2	017	Procurado	ria da República	da 5ª Região							
		reverse au	ction	est. value	R\$23.175,6	0 contr. value	R\$13.278,43				
		quant item	s	concluded							
	subject	contratação de empresa especializada para elaboração de projeto executivo de reforma e adaptação do edifício-sede da Procuradoria da República da 5ª Região (projeto de acessibilidade)									
	obs										
	protest	Nao houve	e recursos, mas v	varios pedidos	de esclarecimento sobre	o preço, considera	do muito baixo.				
	Source	comprasne	et								
001		78	Estuc	dos e Projetos	de Arquitetura						
	1	Elaboração Região. 1.3	de projeto exe 35m2	cutivo de refo	rma e adaptação do edifíci	o-sede da Procura	doria da República da 5ª				
		est. value			R\$23.175,60 contr. value		R\$13.278,43				
		quant		1,00 unit	un value unit						
		quant. crit.	prof		quant. crit. op.						
		crit. prof.	Certidão de co c.1) Somente o compor a equi c.2) Para as hal referentes a eo	onstrução ou r o arquiteto po pe engenheiro bilitações técn dificações que	reforma de edificação. de ser responsável técnico so das especialidades dos p icas constantes nos itens b não tenham similaridade c	o pelo projeto de a rojetos complemen o) e c) não serão ac om a tipologia do c	cessibilidade. Poderão ntares apresentados. ceitos atestados objeto desta licitação.				
		crit. op. obs	Prazo: 100 dia	s. Arquitetura	100% do valor. Solicita ce	rtidao de construc	ao ou reforma mas o				
		serviço é projeto.									

Página 34 de 55

250025 0007/2	017	Ministério d	da Saúde - N	Vúcleo Estadual e	em Minas G	erais			
		reverse aud	tion	est. value		R\$69.767,04	contr. value	R\$38.500,00	
		quant items	s	I concluded					
	subject	Contrataçã instalações elaboração devidament para executo o certame o	io de profiss hidrossanitá de projetos te orçados e ção das obra que culmina	ional ou empres árias e demais int concernentes a hintegrarão o Te as a serem realiz rá na contrataçã	a de engenh ervenções i o Prédio do ermo de Ref adas. A terc o da empre	aria objetivando a necessárias para a Arquivo Geral do erência a ser elab eira etapa conten sa executora da o	a elaboração do p s dependências do o NEMS/MG, os s orado visando à c npla subsidiar o pi bra.	rojeto referente às o Ministério da Saúde, erviços serão contratação de empresa regoeiro oficial duarnte	
	obs	O termo de patologias e realizar vist como servi	e referência existentes, p toria nas insi ço comum,	fala que "Tendo para o correto di talações do local para justificar un	em vista a mensionam de execuçã n pregao.	complexidade /pe ento e elaboração io dos serviços". N	culiaridade do obj de sua proposta, No entanto, os se	eto e as inúmeras o licitante DEVERÁ rviços sao classificados	
	Coursest								
001	source	comprashe		-	Desists	Francis			
001	1	20060			ise Projeto	- Engennaria	1	1. I. M4. 1. (1. I.	
		Saúde - Nú	icleo Estadua	al em Minas Ger:	ais, bem cor	niorossanitarias p no demais interve	enções necessária	s e, elaboração de	
		projetos co	oncernentes	ao Prédio do Ar	quivo Gera	l do NEMS/MG (8	.167m2 e 577,00	m2, respectivamente).	
		est. value			R\$69.767,	04 contr. value		R\$38.500,00	
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit			
		quant. crit. p	prof		quant. c	rit. op.			
		 e valor significativo da contratação, a saber. 8.9.3.2. Para o Arquiteto e Urbanista: serviços de projetos arquitetônicos, execução de reformas civis. crit. op. atestados de capacidade técnica em nome do licitante, relativo à execução de obra ou e engenharia, compatível em características, quantidades e prazos com o objeto da prese licitação, envolvendo as parcelas de maior relevância e valor significativo do objeto da licitação, envolvendo as parcelas de maior relevância e valor significativo do objeto Arqui obs Serviços de arquitetura e urbanismo no mesmo item. Valor dos itens: I - Projeto Arqui 						, execução de obras e o de obra ou serviço de ojeto da presente lo objeto da licitação. Projeto Arquitetônico 10% do total	
			(R\$13.953,	.40)					
254445 0215/2	017	Instituto de	e Tecnologia	em Imunobiolog	gicos - Bio №	1anguinhos			
		reverse auc	tion	est. value		R\$682.808,74	contr. value		
		quant items	S	I cancelled (r	no suitable b	bids)			
	subject	Projeto Exe Virais (CPA	ecutivo refe AV) e do Lab	rente as adequaç ooratório de Feb	ões de área re Amarela	classificada grau (LAFAM)	C do Centro de F	Produção de Antígenos	
	obs	ltem cancel do edital.	lado na aceit	tação. Motivo: N	enhuma das	empresas atende	em a todas as exig	ências e especificação	
	protest								
	Source	comprasne	t						
001		78	E	studos e Projeto	s de Arquit	etura			
	I	Projeto Exe Virais (CPA	ecutivo refe V) e do Lab	rente as adequaç ooratório de Feb	ões de área re Amarela	classificada grau ((LAFAM)	C do Centro de F	Produção de Antígenos	
		est. value			R\$682.808,	74 contr. value			
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit			
		quant. crit. p	prof		quant. c	rit. op.			
		crit. prof.	b). Arquite farmacêutio	to, com experiê ca com no mínim	encia na elab no grau "C"	ooração de projeto	o executivo para :	áreas de produção	

Página 35 de 55

		crit. op.	Atestados(s) d direito público classificada no	e Capacidado ou privado, grau "C" ou	e Técnica, em nome da licitan comprovando a elaboração d "B" ou "A".	te, fornecido(s) e projeto execu	por pessoa jurídica de utivo para área produtiva					
		obs	Prazo: 180 dia	s.								
254445 0291/2	017	Instituto de	e Tecnologia em	Imunobiolo	gicos - Bio Manguinhos							
		reverse au	ction	est. value	R\$682.808,74	contr. value	R\$600.000,00					
		quant item	s	concluded								
	subject	Contrataçã	ão de empresa d	le engenharia	a para elaboração de projeto e	executivo para a	a adeguação de duas					
		instalações (CPAV) e f	produtoras de Pavilhão Henriqu	Insumo Farm Je Aragão La	nacêutico Ativo (IFA) a saber (boratório de Febre Amarela (Centro de Prod LAFAM)	lução de Antígenos Virais					
	obs	p.54 do edital: "I 5.ENQUADRAMENTO DO SERVIÇO Serviço de engenharia especializado". Não deveria ser promo										
		Serviço de engenharia especializado". Nao deveria ser pregao.										
	protest	Um recurso alega que nao a ganhadora nao cumpriu com a quantidade minima. Esse recurso nao foi aceito pois nao havia quantidade minima prevista no edital. O segundo recurso solicita que atestado de arquiteto seja valido para projeto executivo. Esse recurso foi aceito e a licitação voltou para a fase inicial.										
	Source	comprasnet										
001		78	Estud	dos e Projeto	os de Arquitetura							
	1	projeto ex	ecutivo para a a	dequação de	duas instalações produtoras o	le Insumo Farm	nacêutico Ativo (IFA) a					
		saber Cent	tro de Produção	de Antígenc	os Virais (CPAV) e Pavilhão He	enrique Aragão	Laboratório de Febre					
		Amarela (L Projeto de	Amarela (LAFAM). Projeto de adequação de laboratorios para atender pormas de OMS. Principalmente presistes menênicos									
		(ventilaçao	projetos metanicos									
		Area: 1.383										
		est. value			R\$682.808,74 contr. value		R\$600.000,00					
		quant		1,00 unit	un value unit							
		quant. crit. p	prof		quant. crit. op.							
		crit. prof.	b.Arquiteto, co limpeza D (equ	executivo com r	no mínimo grau de							
		crit. op.	>p. Atestado comprovando a elaboração de projeto executivo para área classificada grau l B ou A (referente a equivalência das classificações ISO 8 ou ISO 7 ou ISO 5 ou ISO 4, respectivamente).									
		obs	Prazo: 180 dia Valor arq: R\$2	s. 24.372,48 (3,5	5% do total estimado).							
254462 0010/2	017	Fundação (Oswaldo Cruz									
		RDC		est. value	R\$299.539,60	contr. value	R\$254.608,66					
		quant item	s	concluded								
	subject	Contrataçã Modelo Bli	ão de Serviço de M do Pavilhão Ei	e Engenharia rnani Braga	para Levantamento Cadastral	por Scanner a l	Laser e Construção do					
	obs	Ao solicita	r informaçoes p	elo portal de	transparência, recebi a respo	sta que o orgac	o nao possui email para					
		esse assunt	to.									
	protest	Sem infom:	açoes disponivei	s.								
	Source	comprasnet http://www3.transparencia.gov.br/jsp/licitacoes/licitacaoExtrato.jsf?consulta=2&CodigoOrgao=362014 o=2422960										
001		2222	5 Servi	ço Engenhar	ia							
	3	Levantame info da are	evantamento Cadastral por Scanner a Laser e Construção do Modelo BIM do Pavilhão Ernani Braga. Sem nfo da area.									
		est. value			R\$299.539,60 contr. value		R\$254.608,66					

Página 36 de 55

		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit						
		quant. crit	prof		quant. cri	t. op.	500,00					
		crit. prof.	prot. 11.7.4.1. Loordenador do projeto: Engenheiro ou Arquiteto comprovando experiencia em Coordenação de levantamentos por "escaneamento a laser (laser scanning) – 3D". 11.7.4.2. Érquiteto ou Engenheiro Civil comprovando experiência em "Elaboração ou desenvolvimento ou confecção de projeto" ou "Levantamento cadastral de arquitetura – As Built" que tenha sido desenvolvido utilizando o aplicativo Revit da Autodesk ou outro aplicativo BIM similar, desde que tal aplicativo seja compatível com as definições e requisitos da ISO/PAS 16739 e conforme o padrão IFC2x3.									
		crit. op.	Atest comp prese licitaç II.7.3 edifica II.7.3 edifica "fotog	Atestados em nome da licitante, relativo à execução de objeto de mesmo caráter e de igual complexidade ou superior, compatível em características, quantidades e prazos com o objeto da presente licitação, envolvendo as parcelas de maior relevância e valor significativo do objeto da licitação: 11.7.3.1.Elâboração ou desenvolvimento ou confecção de "levantamento cadastral (as built) de edificações com no mínimo 500m ² e 4 pavimentos". 11.7.3.2.Elâboração ou desenvolvimento ou confecção "levantamento cadastral (as built) de edificação com no mínimo 500m ² utilizando escaneamento a laser (laser scanning) – 3D" ou "fotogrametria de alta resolução".								
		obs	Prazo: 180 dias									
255026 0006/20	17	runuação inacional de saude - Coordenacão Regional de Sergipe										
		reverse a	uction	est. value		R\$54.307,	50 contr. value	R\$28.990,00				
	subject obs protest	Contratação de empresa de engenharia ou arquitetura para a elaboração de projeto executivo de adaptação de acessibilidade para portadores de mobilidade reduzida, no edifício sede da Superintendência Estadual da Funasa em Sergipe										
	Source	comprasr	iet									
001		200	20060 Elaboração / Análise Projeto - Engenharia									
	I	estudo té mobilidad area.	cnico pr e reduzi	eliminar (ETP) e Pro da no edifício sede c	ojeto Executivo da Funasa – Su	o de adaptação perintendênci	o para acessibilidad a Estadual de Sergi	e de pessoas de pe. Sem informaçao sobre				
		est. value			R\$54.307,5	0 contr. value	2	R\$28.990,00				
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit						
		quant. crit	prof	1.000,00	0 quant. cri	t. op.	1.000,00					
		crit. prof.	equip los, co	e para execução do onforme suas atribui	o projeto será ições e compr	constituída de ovadas mediar	profissionais com nte CATs	habilitação para elaborá-				
		crit. op.	dever	á ser comprovada e	xperiência em	elaboração d	e projeto similar ad	o ora licitado				
		obs Prazo: 90 dias. 100% arq. Para efeitos de similaridade de objeto para aferição de experiências, a(s) certidão (ões) e atestado(s) serão considerados válidos se referentes a edificações públicas com área construída maior que 1.000,00m2) certidão (ões) e cas com área construída				

Página 37 de 55

343003 0002/2	2017	IPHAN - 3ª	Coordenação	Regional - MA	4						
		open tende	ring	est. value		R\$137.728,14	contr. value	R\$96.590,66			
		quant items	. I	l concluded							
	subject	contratação engenharia, Joao Vital d	o de pessoa juri para a elabora e Matos - Sao I	ídica visando à ção de projeto Luis.	execução os relativo	de serviços técni s à reforma, resta	cos especializados uração e complen	s de arquitetura e nentares. Sobrado da rua			
	obs	Consta com Nao ha info	no agendada, m ormaçoes no sit	nas ha contrato te do orgao (II	o. PHAN) ne	m do Ministério d	la Cultura.				
	protest	Nao dispon	ivel no sistema	ц. О ,	,						
	Source	http://www	nttp://www3.transparencia.gov.br/licitacoes/123837987								
001		78	Estu	dos e Projetos	s de Arqui	tetura					
	1	contratação	o de pessoa juri	ídica visando à	execução	de serviços técni	cos especializado:	s de arquitetura e			
		engenharia,	para a elabora	ção de projeto	os relativo	s à reforma, resta	uração e complen	nentares.			
		Nao ha info	ormaçoes sobre	e a area.							
		est. value			R\$137.728	,14 contr. value		R\$96.590,66			
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit					
		quant. crit. p	rof		quant. d	rit. op.					
		crit. op.	tombamento a acompanhado do serviço a q execução; 2) / estadual (no c Arquiteto: Pro técnico de ela aprovação des habilitação par objeto deste f	nento isolado. Est Responsabilidade tida pelo CAU qu oficial de preserv: servação à semelh / Arquitetura e U venção em edifica al ou estadual, aco cão; compatível com a: e projeto de inter	e atestado deverá ser Técnica – RRT/CAU, e comprove a sua ação a nível federal ou nança do DPHAP-MA). Irbanismo e acervo ação inserida em área de ompanhado da s características do venção em imóvel						
		obs									
343011 0003/2	2017	IPHAN - I I	^a Coordenação	o Regional							
		request for	quotations	est. value		R\$537.174,49	contr. value	R\$483.457,04			
		quant items		concluded							
	subject	Contratação arquitetônio	o de serviços t co de restauraç	écnicos especi ção e complen	ializados d nentares p	e arquitetura e en ara a Fortaleza de	genharia para a el Santa Cruz de Ai	laboração de projeto nhatomirim			
	obs	Consta com Técnica e p Infos em http://www citacao=255 Sem atas ne Nao dispon	no agendada, m reço. .transparenciap 56279 em recursos. ivel no sistema	nas ha contrato publica.gov.br/j 1.	es/licitacaoExtrato	o.jsf?consulta=2&C	CodigoOrgao=204 &idL				
	Source	http://www	3.transparencia	a.gov.br/licitaco	oes/11932	9946					
001	Jource	78	Fstu	dos e Projetos	s de Arqui	tetura					
	1	Objeto da o complemen	contratação ref	fere-se a elabo	oração de p	projeto arquitetor	nico executivo de	restauração e projetos			
		est. value		F	R\$537.174	,49 contr. value		R\$483.457,04			
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit					



		quant. crit. p	prof		quant. crit. op.				
		crit. prof.							
		crit. op.	3.10.1.5. Com apresentação o direito público elaborado pro reconstrução, reconhecido y	provação de ca de pelo menos o ou privado, co jeto de conser reforma, resta alor cultural, p	pacidade técnica 01 (um) Atestad omprovando que vação, manutenç uração ou qualqu rotegido por legi	da empresa OU lo e/ou Certidão e a empresa OU o ão, reparação, pre uer outro tipo de slação federal, est	Responsável Té expedido por po Responsável T eservação, reabi intervenção em adual ou munic	cnico, com a essoa jurídica de écnico tenha illitação, adaptação, n bem de ipal.	
		obs	Prazo: 390 dia	s	recebing ber ieb	siagao rederai, est		ipun.	
			(AFLEOTION)		ODOUTA TÉON				
			(SELECTION	CRITERIA) PR	OPOSTA TECN	ICA:			
			4.2.1. Conheci Administração realizar, a licita licitação, respo Contratação (dos serviços (1 4.2.2. Capacid	mento do Prol , da vistoria ob ante deverá de ondendo tecnic OC) e (ii) Mete MP). ade Técnica da	olema (CP): A pa prigatória ao loca monstrar ter ple amente aos segu odologia e Plano Empresa (CT): c	rtir da análise do I do projeto e das no conhecimento iintes itens (i) ao (de Trabalho que p expresso pelo tem	material técnico diligências que dos serviços ol Objeto e Objeti pretende adotai	 > oferecido pela livremente decidir >jeto desta vos de r para realização da empresa no 	
			conselho de classe (TE) e pela Comprovação de Experiência da empresa (CE) em serviços realizados pela Contratada, similares e compatíveis com o objeto deste Contrato;						
			4.2.3. Capacida (TFC) e pela e execução de s Coordenador Pontuação em minima).	ade da Equipe xperiência de l erviços similaro de Equipe (TE funçao de anc	Técnica (ET): ex; membros da equ es e compatíveis C), Engenheiro C s desde a format	oresso pelo tempo ipe técnica indicac com o objeto des Civil (EC), Arquiter tura e em quantida	o de formação d dos pela licitante te Contrato, qu to/Arquiteto Ur ade de projetos	lo profissional a na prévia Jais sejam, tranista (AU); a (sem area	
343034 0003/2	017	Instituto do	tituto do Patrimônio Histórico e Artístico nacional - IPHAN/MS						
		reverse aud	tion	est. value	R\$2	299.300,00 contr.	value	R\$70.000,00	
		quant item	s I	concluded					
	subject	Projeto arq Ferroviária	uitetônico exec de Campo Gra	cutivo para rec nde/MS	uperação e adeq	uação para uso cu	Itural do Conju	nto da Rotunda	
	obs	Renovation	of historical bu	iilding, includin	g diagnostic of it:	s situation.			
	protest	Impugançad Recursos ti Recurso na	o refere-se ao fa ratam de inexec o foi aceito.	ato de se aceita quibilidade da p	ar engenheiros. In proposta e da mo	mpugnaçao negada dalidade pregao, c	a. quando deveria	ser concurso.	
	Source	comprasne	t						
001		78	Estud	dos e Projetos	de Arquitetura				
	1	projeto arc	uitetônico exec	cutivo					
		est. value		R	\$299.300,00 cor	itr. value		R\$70.000,00	
		quant		1,00 unit	un valu	e unit			
		quant. crit. p	prof		quant. crit. op.				
		crit. prof.	Certidao relati reconstrução,	iva a execuçao reforma, resta	de projeto de re uração, ou qualq	eparação, preserva uer outro tipo em	ação, reabilitaçã n patrimônio cu	o, adaptação, Itural edificado.	
		crit. op.	 atestado ou certidão assegurando a empresa ou responsável técnico ter executado os seguintes serviços: projetos de reparação, preservação, reabilitação, adaptação, reconstrução, reforma, restauração, ou qualquer outro tipo em patrimônio cultural edificado 						
		obs							

Página 39 de 55

343036 0002/2	017	IPHAN - IS	9ª Superintendê	ncia Regional	em Teresin	a				
		request for	- quotations	est. value		R\$185.600,00	contr. value	R\$160.000,00		
		quant item:	s I	concluded						
	subject	contratação arquitetôni	o de empresa es co da Estação F	specializada pa erroviária de	ara execuçã Teresina	o de projeto exe	cutivo de restaur	ação do conjunto		
	obs	Consta con http://comp Informaçoe	mo agendada, m pras.dados.gov.b es nao disponive	as ha contrato r/contratos/d is no site do l	o registrado loc/contrato IPHAN.	/3430365000002	22017			
	protest	Nao dispor	nivel no sistema							
	Source	http://www	/3.transparencia	.gov.br/licitac	oes/116138	033				
001		78	Estud	dos e P rojeto:	s de Arquite	etura				
	1	projeto exe Edificaçao: Paisagismo:	ecutivo de resta 2.015,49m2 : 3.000m2	uração do co	njunto arqu	itetônico da Esta	ção Ferroviária d	e Teresina.		
		est. value		1	R\$185.600,0	00 contr. value		R\$160.000,00		
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit				
		quant. crit. p	prof		quant. cr	it. op.				
		crit. prof.	it. prof. 01 (um) profissional graduado em Arquitetura e Urbanismo, sendo especialista na área de restauração, comprovado por declaração da instituição de ensino; OU tenha desenvolvido no mínimo (01) um trabalho na área de conservação e restauro em edifícios históricos, comprovad por declarações e/ou atestados de capacidade técnica emitidos por entidades públicas ou privadas.							
		crit. op.								
		obs	Prazo: 330 dia Inclui arquiteti	s. ura, engenhar	ia e arqueol	ogia, mas nao ha	informacoes sob	re valores de cada um.		
343041 0006/2	017	Instituto do	o Patrimônio Hi	stórico e Artí	ístico Nacio	nal - IPHAN Sup	erintendência do	Estado do Amapá		
		request for	quotations	est. value		R\$50.000,00	contr. value	R\$36.081,80		
		quant item:	s I	concluded						
	subject	Contratação de serviços técnicos especializados de arquitetura e engenharia para a elaboração de levantamento de cobertura e esquadrias, cálculo e projeto executivo da cobertura, projetos complementares de hidráulica, sanitário e elétrico e planilha orçamentária no âmbito da reforma completa do Manganês Esporte Clube								
	obs	Consta como agendada no sistema. Nenhuma informação de atas, recursos nem impugnações disponível. Contrato foi assinado. Arq + eng no mesmo item.								
	protest	Nao dispor	nivel no sistema							
	Source	http://www	/3.transparencia	.gov.br/licitac	oes/117544	590				
001		78	Estud	los e Projeto:	s de Arquite	etura				
	3	Contrataçã levantamen de hidráulio Esporte Cli Projeto refe	io de serviços té nto de cobertura ca, sanitário e el ube. ere-se a recupe ento do Bem Je	écnicos espec a e esquadrias étrico e plani raçao de patr	ializados de s, cálculo e p lha orçamer rimônio. Na detalbes cor	arquitetura e en projeto executivo ntária no âmbito o ha projeto espe astrutivos)"	genharia para a el o da cobertura, pr da reforma comp ecífico de arquitet	aboração de rojetos complementares leta do Manganês sura, mas "Identificação e		
		est. value	e e born, le		R\$50.000.0	0 contr. value		R\$36.081.80		
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit				
		quant. crit. p	prof	-	quant. cr	it. op.				
		crit. prof.	O Engenheiro - 01 (um) Ates	e o Arquiteto tado de Capa	o: deverá co acidade Téci	mprovar a sua e: nica, emitido por	xperiência por int pessoa jurídica d	ermédio de: e direito público ou		
				Página	a 40 de 55					



estrutural: 8.9.2.1.1 Os projetos a que se refere o subitem acima, para os fins a que se propõe, devem ser elaborados em edificações com área construída mínima de 2.000,00 m² (para o Item 1 do objeto) e com área construída mínima de 220 m² (para os itens 2, 3 e 4 do objeto), limite mínimo dentro do percentual de 50% (cinquenta por cento) dos quantitativos licitados obs 003 20060 Elaboração / Análise Projeto - Engenharia I Contratação de empresa de engenharia e/ou arquitetura para executar serviços comuns de engenharia compreendendo a elaboração de projetos básicos, executivos complementares e outros serviços correlatos, necessários e suficientes à execução das obras de reforma e/ou melhoria do imóvel que abriga a GRTb em Juiz de Fora/MG. Area = 510m2 est. value R\$99.286.23 contr. value R\$48,500.00 quant 1,00 unit value unit un quant. crit. prof quant. crit. op. 220.00 crit. prof. Atestados para Engenheiros e/ou Arquitetos/Urbanistas, de acordo com as atribuições técnicas da categoria profissional envolvida e/ou respectiva especialização, nos termos da regulamentação do conselho profissional competente (CREA/CAU): a) Serviços de elaboração de projetos executivos de arquitetura/detalhamento; Atestados de Elaboração de projetos executivos de arquitetura/detalhamento, instalações crit. op. elétricas normal e estabilizada, sistemas de climatização, sistemas de combate a incêndio e estrutural: 8.9.2.1.1 Os projetos a que se refere o subitem acima, para os fins a que se propõe, devem ser elaborados em edificações com área construída mínima de 2.000,00 m² (para o Item I do objeto) e com área construída mínima de 220 m² (para os itens 2, 3 e 4 do objeto), limite mínimo dentro do percentual de 50% (cinquenta por cento) dos quantitativos licitados obs 004 20060 Elaboração / Análise Projeto - Engenharia | Elaboração de projetos básicos, executivos complementares e outros serviços correlatos, necessários e suficientes à execução das obras de reforma e/ou melhoria do imóvel - Poços de Caldas - MG. Area = 462m2 R\$42.999,00 est. value R\$93.510,22 contr. value 1,00 unit value unit quant un quant, crit, prof quant, crit, op. 220.00 crit. prof. Atestados para Engenheiros e/ou Arquitetos/Urbanistas, de acordo com as atribuições técnicas da categoria profissional envolvida e/ou respectiva especialização, nos termos da regulamentação do conselho profissional competente (CREA/CAU): a) Serviços de elaboração de projetos executivos de arquitetura/detalhamento;

elétricas normal e estabilizada, sistemas de climatização, sistemas de combate a incêndio e

crit. op. Atestados de Elaboração de projetos executivos de arquitetura/detalhamento, instalações elétricas normal e estabilizada, sistemas de climatização, sistemas de combate a incêndio e estrutural: 8.9.2.1.1 Os projetos a que se refere o subitem acima, para os fins a que se propõe, devem ser elaborados em edificações com área construída mínima de 2.000,00 m² (para o Item 1 do objeto) e com área construída mínima de 220 m² (para os itens 2, 3 e 4 do objeto), limite mínimo dentro

do percentual de 50% (cinquenta por cento) dos quantitativos licitados

obs

Página 42 de 55

389086 0006/2	017	Conselho Region	Conselho Regional de Engenharia e Agronomia de Mato Grosso do Sul									
		reverse auction	est. value	R\$83.825,00	contr. value	R\$40.350,00						
		quant items	2 concluded									
	subject	Contratação de e edifício sede do C	mpesa para serviços d CREA-MS em programa	e Consultoria e Etiquetagem 1 de sustentabilidade PBE Edif	de Projeto de Refo ica	orma e Ampliação do						
	obs	Consultoria (arg)	+ etiquetagem.									
	protest											
	Course	company of										
	Source	comprashet										
001		809	Consultoria / Asse	essoria - Engenharia								
	<u> </u>	Consultoria para	avaliação e orientação	do projeto de arquitetura en	n desenvolvimento	e demais projetos						
		complementares Sem informações	a serem contratados. da area									
		set value	Ga al Ca.	D\$47,000,00 seets value		P\$20,200,00						
		est. value		K\$47.000,00 Contr. value		K\$20.300,00						
		quant	1,00 unit	un value unit								
		quant. crit. prof	500,00	quant. crit. op.								
		crit. prot. Certi simila soluç crit. op.	juantidades e prazos, isiderado serviço com aplicação de onstruída.									
		obs Prazo	: 180 dias.									
400066 0001/2017		Superintendência	Regional do Trabalho	no Espírito Santo								
00000 000112017	017	request for prop			contra voluo	D\$94 404 43						
		request for propo	Sais est. value	N.\$123.313,70	contr. value	N\$00.00 4 ,03						
		contratação do ampreso especializado no execução do atualização dos encientes do encentrativos										
	subject	contratação de empresa especializada na execução de atualização dos projetos de engennaria e arquitetura para a reforma e ampliação da Sede da SRT/ES										
	obs	Agendada no Comprasnet, porem consta contrato no sistema. Arq + eng no mesmo item. Segundo o edital: "certo e total. Considerando: • As particularidades dos serviços de engenharia que sera necessários para a adequação dos projetos na obra em execução da SRTE/ES; • A inexistência de serviços correlatos da mesma magnitude em outras obras do serviços publico, que poderiam ser considerados con referencia; • Ausência de critérios específicos nos orçamentos elaborado pela tabela do SINAPI." Entao r deveria ser serviço comum de engenharia. Ressalte-se que as empresas que demonstrem interesse em participar do certame e que não foram convidadas, só poderão participar da licitação se estiverem regularmente cadastradas. Sam informaços cobra regiuro no ejistoma										
	Source	http://www3.tran	sparencia.gov.br/licitac	pes/118913060								
001		51	Estudos e Projetos	s Urbanísticos / Paisagísticos /	Arquitetônicos							
		Atualização dos p arquitetônico e d SPDA, urbanismo (atualização do pr Area arquitetura:	rojetos elétrico,hidros etalhamentos, lógico, a , elétrico para impleme ojeto básico e projeto 2618m2	sanitário, esgoto e água pluvi: nexos ao projeto básico origi entos externos,hidrossanitári s complementares já contrata	al, prevenção e coi inal, climatização, v o para implemento ados em outra oca	nbate a incêndios, entilação e exaustão, s externos. sião).						
		est. value		R\$125.513,96 contr. value		R\$86.604,63						
		quant	1,00 unit	un value unit								
		quant. crit. prof		quant. crit. op.								
			Página	a 43 de 55								

técnica	maior relevância	n as parcelas de r	e compõem	dos serviços que ação.	ivo à execução ativo da contra	Certidão relati e valor significa	crit. prof.			
s parcelas	impatível em o, envolvendo as p	arquitetura ,con esente licitação, :ação	engenharia/ bjeto da pr jeto da licit	de projeto de e prazos com o ol mificativo do ob	tivo à execuçã , quantidades rância e valor s	Atestados rela características, de maior relev	crit. op.			
				rq somente.	eses. a de valor pra	Prazo: doze m Sem estimativa	obs			
						a Cultura	Ministério d	017	1 0001/20	42000
300,00	R\$75.30	contr. value	49.193,07	R\$1	est. value	proposals	request for			
					concluded	1	quant items			
e	para a reforma e	de engenharia p eira Salles.	ementares eição More	uitetura e compl a Maria da Conc	ecutivos de ar a Demonstrat	de projetos exe ão da Biblioteca	Elaboração o modernizaçã	subject		
os para	com dois aditivos	o de contrato, co litado.	informaça ao foi inabi	snet, mas existe o Iphan, mas na	çao no Compi ra trabalha pa	fase de habilitad o da vigência. Ipresa vencedo	Consta em f prorrogaçac Socio da em	obs		
	n aceitos.	tos). Nao foram	e documen	oilitaçao (falta de	is formais da h	sobre exigência	3 recursos s	protest		
		,		damento	licitacoes/em-a	cultura.gov.br/l	http://www.	Source		
			haria	Proieto - Engen	pração / Anális	Elabo	20060		001	
trava Maria	lioteca Demonstra	nização da Biblic	mae moder	ria para a reforr	ares de engenl es.	ecutivos de e complementa io Moreira Salle acao da area.	projetos exe arquitetura da Conceiçã Sem informa	I		
3.500.00	R\$73.		tr. value	149.193.07 con	P		est. value			
	7		e unit	un value	L 00 unit		quant			
				quant crit op	700.00	of	quant crit pr			
s e comple	n caracterísěcas e	compaèveis em	le projetos to Básico e)m2.	de elaboração c jeto deste Proje projetada de 700	execução, Ido, de serviço relaĕvos ao o na área mínima	comprovem a em cada atesta xidade àqueles totalizando um	crit. prof.			
							crit. op.			
				alor estimado).	7,48 (45,2% do	Praxo: 45 dias. Arq: R\$67.537	obs			
					5	cional de Aguas	Agência Nac	017	1 0001/20	44300
000,00	R\$30.00	contr. value	62.302,50	R\$	est. value	proposals	request for			
					concluded	1	quant items			
icos N e O	erentes aos bloco	2 Ocupação refe	Projeto de	a elaboração de	specializada p juas - ANA	o de empresa e Nacional de Ág	Contratação da Agência I	subject		
					as ha contrato	io agendada, m	Consta com	obs		
						ivel no sistema.	Nao disponi	protest		
		9	esumo=53	s/120838427 etalhes.aspx?idR	.gov.br/licitaco aiselicitacoes/l	3.transparencia ana.gov.br/edit	http://www3	Source		
				e Arquitetura	dos e P rojetos	Estuc	78		001	
	onal de Águas	Agência Nacion	s N e O da	entes aos blocos	Ocupação refe	de Projeto de (m2	elaboração o Total: 4000r	1		
	s.	is padronizados.	o de móve	ro): s em uso atual; osta de confecçã	projeto execu ção com móv ação com proj	s finais serão (p finais de ocupa finais de ocupa	Os produto I - Projetos II - Projetos			
0.000,00	R\$30.0		tr. value	\$62.302,50 con			est. value			
	1		e unit	un value	1.00 unit		quant			
3	onal de Águas s. R\$3	9 Agência Nacion is padronizados.	esumo=53 s N e O da o de móve tr. value e unit	s/120838427 etalhes.aspx?idR e Arquitetura antes aos blocos ro): se em uso atual; ssta de confecçã \$62.302,50 con un value	as ha contrato gov.br/licitaco aiselicitacoes/l dos e Projetos Dcupação refe projeto execu ção com mów ação com proj 1,00 unit	io agendada, m ivel no sistema. 3.transparencia ana.gov.br/edit Estuc de Projeto de C m2 s finais serão (p finais de ocupa finais de ocupa	Consta com Nao disponi http://www. 78 elaboração o Total: 4000r Os produto I - Projetos II - Projetos est. value quant	obs protest Source	001	

Página 44 de 55

		quant. crit. prof		quant. crit. op.	1.900,00	
		crit. prof.				
		crit. op. ate ser	estado o qual comprove rviços compatíveis com	que a licitante prestou, ou es o objeto, em no mínimo 1.900	teja prestando, de Om².	forma satisfatória,
		obs Pra	azo: 90 dias. 100% arq.			
0001 0016/2	017	Ministério da Ir	ntegraçao Nacional			
		reverse auction	est. value	R\$7.875.467,12	contr. value	R\$4.779.235,70
		quant items	25 concluded			
	subject	Contratação de preditiva e corr	e empresa de engenhari retiva	a para prestação de serviços c	continuados de mar	nutenção preventiva,
	obs	25 items, one o	lassified as architecture			
	protest	Protest does no with economics	ot concern technical cri al criteria and lack of de	teria, but feasibility of the pric manded documents. This pro	e proposed by the test was rejected.	bidder, compliance
	Source	comprasnet				
016		20591	Consultoria e As	sessoria - Arquitetura		
	2	Arquitetos para interiores	a desempenhar as segui	ntes atividades: Elaboração de	leiautes e projetos	s de arquitetura e
		est. value		R\$661.663.92 contr. value		R\$456.361.8
		duant	2.00 unit	worker value unit		
		quant. crit. prof		quant, crit, op.		
		quit prof		danna ann abr		
		po mír	r período não inferior a nimo de 50% (cinquenta	três anos; comprovar que te a por cento) do número de po	enha executado cor ostos de trabalho a	ntrato(s) com um serem contratados.
5701 0007/2	017	Hospital Centr	al da Marinha			
		reverse auction	est. value	R\$55.000,00	contr. value	R\$33.950,00
		quant items	I concluded			
	subject	contratação de modernização d	empresa de Arquitetur da cozinha do Hospital	ra/Engenharia para elaboração Central da Marinha (310,00 m	de Projeto Básico ²)	para revitalização e
	obs	All services (ar	chitecture and engineer	ing) in one item.		
	protest	Um recurso ale apresentou ate Acredito ser ur	egando que a empresa r stados de serviços de u ma situaçao absurda.	nao apresentou os atestados p rbanismo e alega ser uma emp	ara habilitaçao técr presa séria. O recu	nica. A ganhadora rso nao foi aceito.
	Source	comprasnet				
001		78	Estudos e Projet	os de Arquitetura		
	I	Contratação de modernização e aproximadame	e empresa de Arquitetu da cozinha do Hospital nte 310,00 m².	ra/Engenharia para elaboração Central da Marinha. A interve	o de Projeto Básico nção será feita na á	para revitalização e rea de
		est. value		R\$55.000,00 contr. value		R\$33.950,0
		quant	1,00 unit	un value unit		
		quant. crit. prof		quant. crit. op.		
		crit. prof. Arc car sim	quiteto detentor de ate racterísticas semelhante nilares ao objeto da con	stado de responsabilidade téci s ou sob cuja responsabilidade tratação.	nica por execução e técnica foram exe	de serviço de ecutados serviços
		crit. op. Os pre	Atestados de Capacida estado serviços de carac	de Técnica apresentados deve terísticas técnicas e de tecnol	erão comprovar qu logia de execução e	ie a empresa tenha equivalente ou
			Pági	na 45 do 55	-	

			superior ao objeto deste Edital, e que façam relevância expressa, no mínimo, a: a) Elaboração de projeto de arquitetura para estacionamentos descobertos e cobertos; b) Elaboração de projeto de estrutura metálica de no mínimo, 2 pavimentos; e c) Elaboração de projeto de instalações de redes elétricas e hidráulicas (drenagem).							
		obs	arquitetura Serviço = 1 estacionan	a e engenharia n reforma de hosp nentos.	o mesmo iter vital, mas o cr	n. nao ha indicad itério solicita ex	çao do valor do pr periência com pro	ojeto arquitetônico. vjeto de		
765705 0001/2	810	Unidade Int	tegrada de S	aúde Mental da	Marinha					
		request for	quotations	est. value		R\$129.425,66	contr. value	R\$76.361,14		
		quant items	s	I concluded						
	subject	contratação orientar as (UISM) (ref	o de empres obras neces forma e amp	sa especializada ssárias à moderi blioaçao)	na execução d nização e amp	lo serviço de el: liação do ranche	aboração do proje o da Unidade Integ	to de engenharia para grada de Saúde Mental		
	obs	One item c Infos no Co	comprising e	ngineering and : mas nao ha os d	architecture ocumentos o	riginais apresent	ados pelos licitant	es.		
	protest	Nao ha info	ormacoes so	bre impugnacor			F 1			
	Sourco	compraspo	+	one impagnace.	55 C T CCCI 505					
001	Source	comprashe		1-1	line Decision	Francis				
001	1	20060		laboraçao / Ana	lise Projeto -	Engenharia				
	1	Elaboração Integrada d ampliaçao.	dos Projeto le Saúde Me	os de Arquitetur ntal (UISM), cor	a e Engenhar n 495m2, e ár	a para moderni rea do entorno	zação e ampliação para urbanização c	do rancho da Unidade com 480m2. Reforma e		
		est. value			R\$129.425,6	6 contr. value		R\$76.361,14		
		quant		I,00 unit	un	value unit				
		quant. crit. p	prof		quant. cri	t. op.				
		crit prof	Atestados	relativos à exec	Incão dos sem	lintes servicos:	Para Arquiteto - P	roieto de arquitetura e		
		cric. proi.	urbanizaçã	o. Sem quantida	de.	intes ser riços. i	ala / i quiteto - i	ojeto de al quiteta a e		
		obs	moderniza setores de arquitetura (19,88% do	ção, adaptação, apoio com, pel- a e engenharia n o total)	o mesmo iter	strução de área m² que equivale n. Valor dos pro	que contenha coz em a 50% da área : ojetos de arquitetu	inha e respectivos atingida pelos serviços. ira: R\$25.737,00		
787700 0006/2	016	Hospital Na	aval de Bras	ilia						
		reverse aud	ction	est. value		R\$832.442,15	contr. value	R\$130.000,00		
		quant items	s	I concluded						
	subject	Contrataçã Básico Con Hospital N: Área de Int Final: 5.590	io de empre npleto (PB) aval de Bras tervenção Á 1,00m ²	isa especializada e Projeto Execu ília (HNBRA). A rea Atual: 4.454	para promov tivo (PE) para rea nao infor ,20m², a ser r	er a elaboração a a construção d mada no edital, reformada. Amp	do Estudo Prelimi le prédio que amp porém informada liação: 1.135,80m²	nar (EP), do Projeto lia a estrutura física do nos esclarecimentos: , nova construção Área		
	obs									
	protest									
	Source	comprasne	t							
001		20060) E	laboração / Aná	lise Projeto -	Engenharia				
	1	Contrataçã Básico Con Hospital Na	io de empre npleto (PB) aval de Bras	sa especializada e Projeto Execu ília (HNBRA)	para promov tivo (PE) para	er a elaboração 1 a construção d	do Estudo Prelimi e prédio que amp	nar (EP), do Projeto lia a estrutura física do		
		est. value			R\$832.442, I	5 contr. value		R\$130.000,00		
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit				
		quant. crit. p	prof		quant. cri	t. op.				
				Ράσι	na 46 de 55					
				Fagi	a io de JJ					

925138 0028/2	2017 subject obs protest	crit. prof. crit. op. obs Banco Cer reverse au quant item serviços cc Varios iten Um recurs mas o orgs do edital. F	10.4.1. Docun 10.4.1.1. Deci documentos o um Engenheir ao exigido nes Técnico (CAT assistenciais di demais instala Coordenador (2800m2 exigi 10.4.1.2. Deci atinentes ao c engenharia, de 10.4.1.1.6. Os contratação, ai execução do di Valor da arqui mesmo item. tral do Brasil - ction s ontinuados de ai s de manutença o sobre qual. té to analisou tamil Recurso negado	nentação relativaração da LICI que comproven o ou Arquiteto te Edital, apres o con Arquiteto e saúde conten ções de apoio r dos demais pro- fos de apoio r dos demais pro- fos demais pro- fissi unda os que nã- também deverã de técnica assu contrato. de récnica assu contrato. de récnica Admi est. value concluded daptação de esp o classificados secnica. O recur- pém a documer	a à Capacie FANTE de la a que possu com exper- ientando (n de projetos aplando a co- necessàrias. offissionais co- porfissionais de la porfissionais de la trados no o precisem io ter form mida. A co 77,52 (13% nistrativa e paços interri- como servi so alega qu ttaçao técn	tade Técnico que apresen i, em seu qu iência comp o ato da ass de construção d Tal Engenh oautores do). que todos d houver, ser CREA/CAL vidos na elal demonstrua ação acadên mpatibilidad do valor to m São Paulo R\$1.647.69 nos nas depr ço de arquit e nao foi sol cca e verifico	o-Profissiona tará, no ato Jadro de fund provada em e inatura do C ção ou reforr e Unidade de eiro ou Arqu so profission a profission a profission do profission do profission do profission de será aferid tal). Todos o sua capacida tal). Todos o sua capacida tal). Todos o sua capacida tal). Todos o sua capacida tal). Todos o	l da assinatu cionários e execução d ontrato) C na de estat e Terapia Ir liteto será titeto será titeto será dis envolvid nais da área ubcontrata demais pro- ade técnico superior co superior co a pelo HNI s serviços i alue Bacen, em apresentar resa nao p	ra do Contrato, os sócios, pelo menos e projeto semelhante ertidão de Acervo pelecimentos ntensiva (UTI) e considerado como o objeto do Edital. los nos projetos o de arquitetura e/ou ção. ojetos objeto dessa oprofissional por meio ompatível com a 3RA durante a (arq + eng) no R\$1.644.182.75 . São Paulo docs de qual. juridica. reenche os requisitos
	Source	comprasne	t						
001		78	Estu	dos e P rojetos	de Arquite	tura			
	2	 2 projeto e implantação de leiautes (+desenvolvimento de estudos e projetos que pela sua natu pertinentes à área de engenharia/arquitetura do Banco), além de outros serviços de manutene 15 postos de trabalho, sendo 3 de arquiteto. 42.189,45m2 							
		est, value		K\$	1.047.695,4	o contr. vali	ue		K\$1.044.182,75
		quant crit	prof	500.00	duant ori		-	00.00	
		crit prof	54 Apresent		quant. cri	estado era	ome de roo		is) tácnico(s)
		ent prot.	indicado(s), er de serviços de 5.4.1. Conside com paviment	nitido por emp e complexidade era-se equivalêr co de no mínim	resa idônea operaciona ncia a execu o 500 m², pe	, visado, em al equivalent ção de serv elo período	o CAU, com e à do objeta iços de leiau no mínimo d	ponsavel(el provando a o em licitaç ce em edific e I (um) a	a direção e execução ião; cações comerciais, no;
		crit. op.	5.5. Apresent Licitante tenh comerciais, co	tação de atesta a executado se om pavimento c	do(s), emiti rviço semel de no mínin	do(s) por er hante com 1 no 500 m², p	npresa(s) idô no mínimo 7 pelo período	onea(s), cor (sete) pos no mínimo	nprovando que a tos, em edificações o de 1 (um) ano;
		obs	Prazo: 12 mes	ses. Sem valor a	arq.				

Página 47 de 55

925152 0002/2017	Conselho F	Regional de Con	tabilidade de	Minas Gerais					
	request for	quotations	est. value	1	R\$473.472,85	contr. value	R\$252.529,22		
	quant item	s I	concluded						
subject	Contrataçã arquitetura nova sede	io, sob regime d 1, para elaboraçã administrativa d	e empreitada io de projeto: o Conselho R	a por preço glol s complementa Regional de Cor	bal, de empres res executivo ntabilidade de	sa especializada e s, referentes à ob Minas Gerais	m engenharia e/ou ora de construção da		
obs	Técnica e p A Comissã Nota Final PROPOST • NF = (0	oreço. Informaço o de Licitação d (NF), calculada AS DE PREÇOS ,70 X NT) + (0,	oes apenas no efinirá o venc através da mé , conforme a 30 X NP)	o site do orgao cedor da licitaçã édia ponderada seguinte expre	. Arq + eng no ão à proponer das Notas da essão:	o mesmo item. nte que obtiver a s PROPOSTAS T	maior pontuação na ÉCNICAS E		
protest	Edital solici pressupoe Edital solici empregatic considerar sido descla	zdital solicita apresentaçao de diploma, houve recurso nesse sentido, ja que o registro na entidade de classe pressupoe a conclusao do curso, mas o orgao nao deu provimento ao recurso. Edital solicita mesmos documentos na habilitaçao e na proposta técnica (comprovaçao de vinculo empregaticio de arquitetos e engenheiros). IN 5/2017 (10.4.b) estabelece que nao se deve, nesta fase, considerar os atestados que foram exigidos para fins de habilitação. Uma empresa apresentou recurso por ter sido desclassificada por nao ter apresentado os documentos duas vezes, mas o recurso foi negado.							
Source	http://www	.crcmg.org.br/li	citacoes/inde>	x/nu_ano/2017	/id_modalidad	e/4			
001	2006	D Elabo	oração / Análi	se Projeto - En	genharia				
	 etaboração de projetos complementares executivos, referentes a obra de construção da nova s administrativa do Conselho Regional de Contabilidade de Minas Gerais – CRCMG e unificação d da sede atual (paisagismo + executivo de arquitetura - projeto basico ja existe). 2.000m2 								
	est. value		1	R\$473.472,85	contr. value		R\$252.529,22		
	quant		1,00 unit	un v	alue unit				
	quant. crit. p	prof		quant. crit. c	p.				
	crit. prof.	Atestado com técnicas semel técnicos, exclu sendo eles: • Projeto de ar contemplando das obras;	provando que hantes ao pro sivamente, qu quitetura fina todas as disc	e os profissiona ojeto/serviço pa uanto aos proje al executivo e o iplinas e todo e	is tenham exe ara o qual estã etos e serviço: compatibilizado e qualquer aju:	ecutado serviços d lo sendo indicado s considerados de o, para a 1ª e 2ª fi ste necessário pa	de características ss como responsáveis e maior relevância, ase de implantação, ra a perfeita execução		
	crit. op.								
	obs	Prazo: 145 dia	s						
	arq + paisagismo + luminotecnica + sustentabilidade = R\$26.530,83 (5,6% do total est								

Página 48 de 55

925387 0002/2017	Prefeitura Municipal de Belém									
	open tende	ering	est. value	R\$13.152.300,53	contr. value	R\$7.726.491,15				
	quant items	s	l concluded							
subject	CONTRAT ÁREA DE E EXECUTIV	TAÇÃO DE EN ENGENHARIA 10 DO SISTEM	1PRESA ESPECI E/OU ARQUI 1A VIÁRIO E D	IALIZADA OU EMPRESAS TETURA PARA ELABORA AS ESTAÇÕES DO BRT C	REUNIDAS EM C ÇÃO DO PROJE ⁻ ENTENÁRIO	consorcio na fo básico e				
obs	Técnica e p terminada o http://www Resultado p http://ageno centenario	oreço. Nenhum os recursos de v.belem.pa.gov.l oublicado em ciabelem.com.b	na informaçao n habilitaçao. br/licitacao/licita or/Noticia/1802	o Comprasnet, informaçoe acao/consulta 86/prefeitura-de-belem-con	s disponiveis no si trata-elaboracao-	ite do orgao. Fase atual: do-projeto-do-brt-				
protest	Varios recursos, porém nenhum relativo a habilitação técnica. Consta no site da prefeitura que estã em andamento em 5.10.2018. Contrato assinado em 20.12.2018.									
Source	http://www	v.belem.pa.gov.l	br/licitacao/licita	acao/consulta						
001	442	Estu	idos e Projetos	de Rodovias						
1	ELABORAÇÃO DO PROJETO BASICO E EXECUTIVO DO SISTEMA VIARIO E DAS ESTAÇÕES DO BRT CENTENÁRIO Sem informações sobre a dimensao do projeto									
	est. value		R\$1	3.152.300,53 contr. value		R\$7.726.491,15				
	quant		1,00 unit	un value unit						
	quant. crit. p	prof		quant. crit. op.	10,00					
	crit. prof.									
	crit. op.	Certidão (ões executou ou da presente li compreender 8.5.2.1. Elabo para implanta mínima de 10 executivo, co Projeto de paradas e est urbana horizo Comunicação Projeto de Ci	Certidão (ões) ou Atestado(s) em nome da Licitante comprobatórios de que a Licitante xecutou ou está executando serviço pertinente e compatível em características com o objeto la presente licitação, entendendo por pertinente e compatível em características, ompreendendo, no mínimo, o observado abaixo: 3.5.2.1. Elaborações de projeto básico e executivo de infraestrutura de transportes urbanos ara implantação de sistema viário de transporte de passageiros sobre pneus com extensão nínima de 10 km (Dez quilômetros) de projeto básico e 10 km (Dez quilômetros) de projeto xecutivo, comprovando ter executado, as seguintes tipologias de projeto de arquitetura de laradas e estações; ☐ Projeto Viário; ☐ Projeto de drenagem; ☐ Projeto de sinalização viária urbana horizontal, vertical e semafórica; ☐ Projetos de estruturas e fundações ☐ Projetos de Comunicação visual ou de informações ao usuário; ☐ Projeto de Obra de Arte Especial. ☐ Projeto de Cabeamento estruturado (Elétrico, Logico e Telefonia)							
	an Far	Proposta teci	iica: ver anexo	Ia						
	obs	Prazo: 24 me	ses.							

Página 49 de 55

925856 0049/2	017	Secretaria	de Estado	o de Sa	úde Pública c	lo Pará					
		reverse au	ction		est. value		R\$144.930,47	contr. value			
		quant item	s	1	cancelled (r	no suitable	bids)				
	subject	Contrataca	io de em	oresa e	specializada	para elabor	, acão de proietos e	executivos e o	complementares de		
		arquitetura	a e engen	haria p	ara reforma	e adequaçã	o do centro cirúrg	ico e urgênci	a/emergência do Hospital		
		Regional de	e Cametá	-Pa							
	obs	ltem cance	lado, em	virtude	e da documei	ntação apre	esentada pelos licit	antes estar er	m desacordo ao solicitado		
		em edital.	Ou as pro	opostas	s estarem aci	ma do valo	r estimado, sem po	ossibilidade de	os licitantes igualar sua		
	protost	Varias into	o estimat	10. L p		incitantes i	emanescences par	a nova negoci	açao.		
	protest	varias inte	nçoes de	recurs	o ioram recu	isadas.					
	Source	comprasne	ŧt								
001		78		Estud	los e Projeto	os de Arqui	tetura				
	1	elaboração	de proje	tos exe	ecutivos e co	mplementa	res de arquitetura	e engenharia	a para reforma e adequação		
		do centro 740m2	cirurgico	e urge	ncia/emerger	ncia do Hos	pital Regional de (Lameta			
		projetos e:	xecutivos	arq, u	rbanizacao, c	om. visual					
		est. value				R\$144.930	,47 contr. value				
		quant			1,00 unit	un	value unit				
		quant. crit.	prof			quant. d	rit. op.				
		crit. prof.	8.17.6.	Certida	io referente	a cada um e	los profissionais ir	dicados para	execução dos projetos		
		F	executivos e complementares de arquitetura e engenharia, que comprove a sua respectiva								
			capacid	ade téc	nico-profissi	onal na rea	ização pretérita d	e serviços/pro	ojetos, e experiências		
			profissi	onais ai	nteriores, rel	ativas ao de	esenvolvimento de	projetos exe	ecutivos e Complementares		
				Alvert	de Euroieneo	Smpauvei(is	ida a ela Drafaitura	de sede de la			
		crit. op.	o.17.1. atualiza	Alvara da.	de Funcionar	nento emit	ido pela Prefeitura	da sede do li	icitante, com vigencia		
			8.17.2.	Aprese	ntar atestado	o(s) de ativi	dades anteriores e	exercidas pela	i empresa licitante que		
		comprove aptidão da licitante para execução de serviços compatíveis com o objeto desta									
		licitação. 8.17.3. Declaração do possuje em sou quadro funcional Enconheiro Civil o Anaviente anterestival									
			(is) técr	nico (s)	pela elabora	ição dos pr	ojetos executivos	e complemen	tares de arquitetura e		
			engenh	aria.			•				
		obs	Sem val	or de a	arquitetura.						
			Prazo d	e entre	ega: até 60 (t	rinta) dias a	ipós a assinatura d	o contrato (p	o.32 do edital).		
925856 0147/2	017	Secretaria	de Estado	o de Sa	úde Pública c	lo Pará					
		reverse au	ction		est. value		R\$144.930,47	contr. value			
		quant item	s	1	cancelled (r	no suitable	bids)				
	subject	elaboração do centro	de proje cirúrgico	tos exe e urgê	ecutivos e co ncia/emergêr	omplementa ncia do Hos	res de arquitetura pital Regional de (e engenharia Cametá	a para reforma e adequação		
	obs	ltem cance	lado na a	ceitaçã	o. Motivo: Ite	em cancela	do, em virtude da	documentaçã	o apresentada pelos		
		licitantes e	star em o	lesacor	do ao solicit:	ado em edi	tal. Ou as propost	as estarem ac	tima do valor estimado, sem		
		possibilidad	le dos lic	itantes	igualar sua p	roposta ao	estimado. E por n	ão haver licita	antes remanescentes para		
		nova nego	ciaçao.								
	protest										
	Source	comprasne	t								
001		78		Estud	los e Projeto	os de Arqui	tetura				
	1	elaboração	de proje	tos exe	ecutivos e co	mplementa	ires de arquitetura	e engenharia	a para reforma e adequação		
		do centro cirúrgico e urgência/emergência do Hospital Regional de Cametá 740m2									
		projetos es	kecutivos	740m2 projetos executivos arg. urbanizacao, com. visual							

Página 50 de 55

		est. value			R\$144.930,4	1 7 contr. value				
		quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit				
		quant. crit. p	prof		quant. cr	it. op.				
		crit. prof.	8.17.6. C executiv capacida profissio para em	Certidão referente a os e complementar de técnico-profissic nais anteriores, rela preendimento(s) co	a cada um d res de arquin onal na reali: ativas ao de ompatível(is)	os profissionais etura e engenl zação pretérita senvolvimento com o obieto	s indicados pa naria, que con de serviços/p de projetos e desta licitação	ra execução nprove a su projetos, e e executivos e o.	dos projetos i respectiva xperiências Complementares	
		crit. op.	8.17.1. A atualizad 8.17.2. A compro- licitação 8.17.3. E (is) técn engenha	Jvará de Funcionan la. Apresentar atestado ve aptidão da licitan Declaração de possu ico (s) pela elaborac ria.	nento emitio (s) de ativic ite para exe uir em seu q ção dos pro	do pela Prefeitu lades anteriore cução de servi uadro funcion: jetos executivo	ura da sede do es exercidas p ços compatíve al Engenheiro ps e complem	o licitante, co ela empresa eis com o ol Civil e Arqu entares de a	om vigência licitante que jeto desta liteto, responsáve rquitetura e	
		obs	Sem valo Prazo de	or de arquitetura. e entrega: até 60 (tr	rinta) dias ap	oós a assinatura	a do contrato	(p.32 do ed	ital).	
925942 0059/2	017	Tribunal de	e Justiça d	o Estado do Pará						
		reverse aud	ction	est. value		R\$8.365.133,	33 contr. valu	R R	\$3.217.499,50	
		quant item	s	42 concluded						
	subject	REGISTRO ARQUITET Região Met	EGISTRO DE PREÇO para eventual contratação de serviços relativos à ELABORAÇÃO DE PROJETOS ARQUITETÔNICOS E COMPLEMENTARES para as obras do Tribunal de Justiça do Estado do Pará na Legião Metropolitana de Belém e Interior do Estado do Pará							
	obs	Registro de No sistema	e preços. a (relaçao	Todos os itens class de itens) constam 4	sificados cor 41 itens, poi	no projeto de rém no edital c	engenharia. onsta o item	42.		
	protest	Um recurs item 42, na	o sobre p 10 relativo	reço muito baixo e a arquitetura.	falta de doo	umentos. Foi j	ulgado impro	cedente. Im	ougnaçao sobre o	
	Source	comprasne	t							
006		20060	0	Elaboração / Análi	se Projeto -	Engenharia				
	I	Projeto arc	quitetônic	o - Estudo prelimina	ar. 20.000m	2				
		est. value			R\$9,	67 contr. value			R\$3,69	
		quant		20.000,00 unit	m2	value unit		1		
		quant. crit. p	prof		quant. cr	it. op.	2.000,	00		
		crit. prof.	01 (um) o mesmo serviço(s prédio p	profissional de níve o ser detentor de A s) de elaboração de úblico ou comercia	el superior c Atestado(s) projeto(s) l com carac	om formação e que comprove arquitetônico(s terísticas simila	em arquitetur em que o prof e), em nível ex ares ao do obj	a ou engenh issional(s) te ecutivo, par jeto da pres	aria civil, devendo enham executado a obra(s) em ente licitação.	
		crit. op.	ATESTA licitação Elaboraç atestado apresent	DO comprovando , para obras de préc ão de projetos arqu o com área mínima o tados de no mínimo	que a licitar dios público uitetônicos, de 700,00m o 2.000,00m	nte executou s s ou comerciai em nível execu ² e área total a ²;	erviços similai s, conforme c utivo, com api cumulada por	res ao objet lescrição ab resentação o todos os at	o da presente aixo: a) le ao menos um estados	
		obs								
007		20060	0	Elaboração / Análi	se Projeto -	Engenharia				
	I	Projeto arc	quitetônic	o - Anteprojeto e p	rojeto legal	. 20.000m2				
		est. value			R\$14,	33 contr. value			R\$6,89	
		quant		20.000,00 unit	m2	value unit		1		
		quant. crit. p	prof		quant. cr	it. op.	2.000,	00		
		crit. prof.	01 (um)	profissional de níve	l superior c	om formação e	em arquitetur	a ou engenh	aria civil, devendo	
				Página	a 51 de 55					

		o mesm serviço prédio	no ser detentor de A (s) de elaboração de público ou comercial	testado(s) que projeto(s) arqui l com caracterís	comprovem tetônico(s), e ticas similares	que o profi em nível exe s ao do obje	ssional(s) te ecutivo, para eto da prese	nham executado a obra(s) em ente licitação.			
	crit. op.	ATESTADO comprovando que a licitante executou serviços similares ao objeto da p licitação, para obras de prédios públicos ou comerciais, conforme descrição abaixo: a Elaboração de projetos arquitetônicos, em nível executivo, com apresentação de ao i atestado com área mínima de 700,00m² e área total acumulada por todos os atestado apresentados de no mínimo 2.000,00m²;									
	obs										
800	2006)	Elaboração / Análi	se Projeto - Eng	enharia						
	I Projeto arc	quitetônio	co - Projeto executiv	o. 20.000m2							
	est. value			R\$25,67 c	ontr. value			R\$6,99			
	quant		20.000,00 unit	m2 va	ue unit		1				
	quant. crit. p	prof		quant. crit. op		2.000,0	00				
	crit. prof.	01 (um o mesm serviço prédio) profissional de níve no ser detentor de A (s) de elaboração de público ou comercial	I superior com f atestado(s) que projeto(s) arqui I com caracterís	ormação em comprovem tetônico(s), e ticas similares	arquitetura que o profis em nível exe s ao do obje icos similar	ou engenha ssional(s) ter ecutivo, para eto da prese	aria civil, devendo nham executado a obra(s) em ente licitação.			
	chi, op.	licitação Elabora atestad apreser	o, para obras de préc ção de projetos arqu o com área mínima c ntados de no mínimo	die a licitante e dios públicos ou uitetônicos, em 1 de 700,00m² e ái 2.000,00m²;	comerciais, c nível executiv rea total acur	conforme de ro, com apr nulada por	escrição aba esentação d todos os ate	ixo: a) e ao menos um estados			
	obs										
09	2006)	Elaboração / Anális	se Projeto - Eng	enharia						
	I Projeto arc	quitetônie	co - Projeto de urbar	nização. 30.000n	12						
	est. value			R\$10,23 c	ontr. value			R\$3,69			
	quant		30.000,00 unit	m2 va	ue unit		1				
	quant. crit. p	prof		quant. crit. op		2.000,0	00				
	crit. prof.	01 (um o mesm serviço prédio) profissional de níve no ser detentor de A (s) de elaboração de público ou comercial	l superior com f testado(s) que projeto(s) arqui l com caracterís	ormação em comprovem tetônico(s), e ticas similares	arquitetura que o profi em nível exe s ao do obje	ou engenha ssional(s) te ecutivo, para eto da prese	aria civil, devendo nham executado a obra(s) em ente licitação.			
	crit. op.	ATEST. licitação Elabora atestad apreser	ADO comprovando o, para obras de préc ição de projetos arqu o com área mínima c ntados de no mínimo	que a licitante e dios públicos ou uitetônicos, em de 700,00m ² e áu 9 2.000,00m ² ;	xecutou serv comerciais, c nível executiv rea total acur	iços similar conforme de ro, com apr nulada por	es ao objeto escrição aba esentação d todos os ate	o da presente ixo: a) e ao menos um estados			
	obs										
10	2006)	Elaboração / Anális	se Projeto - Eng	enharia						
	I Projeto arc	uitetônio	co - Projeto de paisa;	gismo. 15.000m	2						
	est. value			R\$7,83 c	ontr. value			R\$3,49			
	quant		15.000,00 unit	m2 va	ue unit		1				
	quant. crit. p	prof		quant. crit. op		2.000,0	00				
	crit. prof.	01 (um o mesm serviço prédio) profissional de níve no ser detentor de A (s) de elaboração de público ou comercial	l superior com f stestado(s) que projeto(s) arqui l com caracterís	ormação em comprovem tetônico(s), e ticas similares	arquitetura que o profi em nível exe s ao do obje	ou engenha ssional(s) ter ecutivo, para eto da prese	aria civil, devendo nham executado a obra(s) em ente licitação.			
	crit. op.	ATEST. licitação	ADO comprovando o, para obras de préc	que a licitante e lios públicos ou	xecutou serv comerciais, c	iços similar conforme de	es ao objeto escrição aba	o da presente ixo: a)			

Página 52 de 55



Página 53 de 55

	014		2006	0 El-	aboração / Análi	se Projeto	- Engenharia		
		1	Projeto ar	- Li	Projeto de acess	sibilidade s	000m2		
			est. value			R\$6	47 contr value	e	R\$2.99
			quant		5 000 00 unit	m2	value unit		1
			quant crit	prof		quant o	rit op	2 000 00	
			quant critic		fissional de níve	quarier .	em formação	2.000,00	u ongonhania civil dovondo
			crit. proi.	o mesmo se serviço(s) d prédio públ	er detentor de A e elaboração de ico ou comercia	ntestado(s) projeto(s) l com cara	que comprov arquitetônico(cterísticas simil	em que o profissi s), em nível exec ares ao do objeto	ional(s) tenham executado utivo, para obra(s) em o da presente licitação.
			crit. op.	ATESTADO licitação, pa Elaboração atestado co apresentado	D comprovando ra obras de préc de projetos arqu m área mínima c os de no mínimo	que a licita dios público uitetônicos de 700,00n o 2.000,00n	nte executou s os ou comercia , em nível exec 1 ² e área total a 2 ² ;	serviços similares is, conforme des sutivo, com apres acumulada por to	ao objeto da presente crição abaixo: a) entação de ao menos um dos os atestados
			obs						
92606	6 0006/2	017	Companhia	a de Desenvo	lvimento Econô	mico do Pa	rá - CODEC		
			reverse au	ction	est. value		R\$145.697	,02 contr. value	R\$48.199,00
			quant item	s	I concluded				
		subject	ct Contratação de empresas de engenharia na área de Arquitetura e Urbanismo para a concepção de técnicos executivos para as obras de estruturação urbanística e arquitetônica do Distrito Industrial Castanhal						
		obs	One item comprising architecture, zoning and urban design						
		protest							
		Source	comprasne	et					
	001		51	Es	tudos e P rojeto:	s Urbanísti	cos / Paisagístic	cos / Arquitetônio	cos
		I	concepção de projetos técnicos executivos: Projeto de Zoneamento, Projeto Arquitetônico de um Bloco Administrativo e Social eo Projeto de Estruturação Viária. 162,15ha						
			est. value			R\$145.697	02 contr. valu	e	R\$48.199,00
			quant		1,00 unit	un	value unit		
			quant. crit. j	prof		quant. c	rit. op.		
			crit. prof.						
			crit. op.	Comprovaç compatíveis atestados fo a qualificaçã consecução mínima de o projetos are	tão de aptidão participada e com o objeto o cornecidos por perticio mínima reque o do objeto, legal curso universitár quitetônicos.	ara a prest lesta licitaç essoas jurío rida à cont mente hab rio e exper	ação dos serviç ão, ou com o i icas de direito ratada é de pro ilitados e regisi iência de no m	cos em caracterís tem pertinente, r público ou priva ofissionais necess trados em consel ínimo 5 (cinco) a	ticas, quantidades e prazos nediante a apresentação de do ários e suficientes para a ho de classe com formação nos na produção de
			and the set						
			ODS						
92619	5 0026/2	017	Universida	de Estadual d	e Roraima				
92619	5 0026/2	017	Universida reverse au	de Estadual d ction	e Roraima est. value		R\$321.333	,33 contr. value	R\$249.112,35
92619	5 0026/2	017	Universida reverse au quant item	de Estadual d ction s	e Roraima est. value I concluded		R\$321.333	,33 contr. value	R\$249. 2,35
92619	5 0026/2	017 subject	Universida reverse au quant item contrataçã referentes	de Estadual d ction s o de empresa à conclusão o	e Roraima est. value I concluded a especializada er do prédio da reit	m engenha toria da Ur	R\$321.333 ria para a elabo iversidade Esta	,33 contr. value pração de projeto adual de Roraima	R\$249.112,35
92619	5 0026/2	ol 7 subject obs	Universida reverse au quant item contrataçã referentes I item con	de Estadual d ction s o de empresa à conclusão o n serviços de	e Roraima est. value l concluded a especializada er do prédio da reit engenharia e arc	m engenha toria da Ur quitetura n	R\$321.333 ria para a elabo iversidade Esta iisturados.	,33 contr. value pração de projeto Idual de Roraima	R\$249.112,35 básico e projeto executivo
92619	5 0026/2	ol 7 subject obs protest	Universida reverse au quant item contrataçã referentes I item con	de Estadual d ction s o de empresa à conclusão d n serviços de	e Roraima est. value I concluded a especializada er do prédio da reit engenharia e arc	m engenha toria da Ur quitetura n	R\$321.333 ria para a elabo iversidade Esta iisturados.	,33 contr. value pração de projeto adual de Roraima	R\$249. 2,35
92619	5 0026/2	ol17 subject obs protest Source	Universida reverse au quant item contrataçã referentes I item con	de Estadual d ction s o de empresa à conclusão o n serviços de	e Roraima est. value I concluded a especializada er do prédio da reit engenharia e arc	m engenha toria da Ur quitetura n	R\$321.333 ria para a elabc iversidade Esta íisturados.	,33 contr. value pração de projeto adual de Roraima	R\$249.112,35

Página 54 de 55

est. value		R	\$321.333	,33 contr. value	R\$249.112,35	
quant 1,00 ur quant. crit. prof		00 unit	un	value unit		
			quant. d	crit. op.		
crit. prof.						
arit. op.	Documentos asse serviços: 16.1.1 ELABORA	egurando ter ÇÃO DE PI	r seu res _j ROJETO	ponsável técnico ou a empres ARQUITETÔNICO;	a, executado os seguintes	
obs	"Todos os membros de nível superior integrantes da equipe técnica da CONTRATADA deverão comprovar experiência específica na área de atuação da equipe técnica antes da emissão da Ordem de Serviço, através de pelo menos dois Atestados de Capacidade Técnica (ACT) e/ou das Anotações de Responsabilidade Técnicas (ART) e/ou Registros de Responsabilidade Técnica (RRT) e o tempo de experiência através de curriculum vitae devidamente comprovado. 14.1. QUALIFIAÇÃO TÉCNICA MÍNIMA: Coordenador Técnico – Engenheiro Civil ou Arquiteto com experiência mínima de 05 (cinco) anos comprovada em coordenação de projeto de edificação; Área de Arquitetura – Engenheiro Civil ou Arquiteto com experiência mínima de 05 (cinco) anos na elaboração de projetos arquitetônicos e paisagísticos de edificações; As exigências acima nao fazem parte do que foi solicitado na habilitação.					

Página 55 de 55

code	type of building	source
EA	external area	From data
GA	garage	From data
Н	hospital	Chiara and Crosbie 2001
HB	heritage building	From data
IN	industrial, workshop or warehouse	From data
KI	kitchen/dining hall	From data
LA	laboratory	From data
LI	library	Chiara and Crosbie 2001
NA	not applicable	From data
OF	office	Chiara and Crosbie 2001
PL	parking lot	Chiara and Crosbie 2001
PS	police station	Chiara and Crosbie 2001
R	residential	Chiara and Crosbie 2001
S	school/university	Chiara and Crosbie 2001
SL	slaughterhouse	From data
ΤН	theatre	Chiara and Crosbie 2001
UD	urban public spaces	From data

Appendix 13: Type of building codes

Appendix 14: Services from CATSER table

codigo	description	in portuguese
51	Studies and projects in urban planning, landscape architecture and architecture	Estudos e Projetos Urbanísticos / Paisagísticos / Arquitetônicos
78	Studies and projects in architecture	Estudos e Projetos de Arquitetura
264	Studies and projects of building facilities	Estudos e Projetos - Instalações Prediais
442	Studies and projects of roads	Estudos e Projetos de Rodovias
809	Consulting and advisory services in engineering	Consultoria / Assessoria - Engenharia
1341	Management or supervision of project or construction of civil works	Supervisão / Gerenciamento / Fiscalização - Projeto Construção / Obras Civis
1627	Building maintenance or renovation	Manutenção / Reforma Predial
5380	Administrative support services	Prestação de Serviços de Apoio Administrativo
18430	Structural design of civil works	Obras Civis - Cálculo Estrutural
20060	Design and analysis of engineering projects	Elaboração / Análise Projeto - Engenharia
20591	Consulting and advisory services in architecture	Consultoria e Assessoria - Arquitetura
22225	Engineering services	Serviço Engenharia

Appendix 15: Items and values

procedure and item	value: estimated	value: contracted
020001 0001/2017 001	R\$93.366,18	R\$84.026,77
020001 0001/2017 002	R\$374.603,30	R\$166.466,67
020001 0001/2017 003	R\$292.068,18	R\$194.680,09
080002 0002/2017 001	R\$1.145.390,00	R\$893.404,20
080016 0019/2017 001	R\$1.600.000,00	R\$800.000,00
080016 0019/2017 002	R\$50.000,00	R\$45.000,00
080026 0001/2017 001	R\$132.926,35	R\$82.623,68
090003 0031/2017 001	R\$48.584,53	R\$9.300,00
090012 0001/2017 001	R\$246.981,60	
090012 0006/2017 001	R\$246.981,60	
090012 0023/2017 001	R\$120.000,00	R\$78.210,00
090012 0041/2017 001	R\$112.616,04	R\$51.000,00
090023 0029/2017 001	R\$241.667,51	R\$81.700,00
090023 0059/2017 001	R\$242.693,15	R\$124.999,72
090038 0004/2017 001	R\$25.635,72	R\$19.200,00
120196 0001/2017 001	R\$599.500,00	R\$382.812,50
152663 0015/2017 001	R\$6.166,67	R\$1.099,99
152663 0015/2017 002	R\$18.000,00	R\$6.999,99
152663 0015/2017 003	R\$22.000,00	R\$11.999,99
152663 0015/2017 023	R\$3.333,33	R\$2.575,99
152663 0015/2017 024	R\$8.000,00	R\$2.870,99
152663 0015/2017 025	R\$9.500,00	R\$2.352,99
153047 0019/2017 001	R\$26.650,00	R\$5.050,00
153047 0019/2017 002	R\$31.750,00	R\$5.050,00
153047 0019/2017 024	R\$19.650,00	R\$5.000,00
153052 0005/2017 018	R\$1.150.000,00	R\$713.000,00
153052 0005/2017 019	R\$750.000,00	R\$600.000,00
153052 0005/2017 020	R\$450.000,00	R\$360.000,00
153103 0024/2017 001	R\$194.026,00	R\$140.000,00
153167 0037/2017 001	R\$205.366,40	R\$144.180,00
153167 0042/2017 001	R\$42.757,13	R\$24.000,00
154046 0004/2017 001	R\$261.571,04	R\$158.124,13
154618 0015/2017 001	R\$48.897,86	R\$15.450,00
155008 0038/2017 003	R\$115.665,00	R\$8.250,00
155008 0038/2017 020	R\$190.450,00	R\$41.550,00
155124 0003/2017 001	R\$220.704,00	R\$187.598,40
158275 0014/2017 003	R\$94.800,00	R\$45.000,00
158275 0014/2017 004	R\$230.500,00	R\$85.000,00
158377 0040/2017 001	R\$59.848,39	R\$19.500,00
158377 0040/2017 002	R\$33.850,84	R\$17.500,00
158377 0040/2017 003	R\$8.845,00	R\$7.000,00
158377 0040/2017 004	R\$18.250,18	R\$11.000,00
158377 0040/2017 005	R\$3.428,03	R\$3.400,00
158377 0040/2017 006	R\$8.762,39	R\$7.200,00
158720 0004/2017 001	R\$11.197.396,19	R\$9.048.522,00
160036 0025/2017 001	R\$68.123,02	R\$46.199,99
160066 0013/2017 013	R\$30.022,19	R\$15.000,00

procedure and item	value: estimated	value: contracted
160066 0013/2017 014	R\$4.254,59	R\$3.579,80
160078 0001/2017 001	R\$38.095,95	R\$22.857,14
170010 0006/2017 001	R\$143.654,32	R\$131.000,00
170018 0003/2017 001	R\$126.836,28	R\$89.000,00
170088 0001/2017 001	R\$677.199,03	R\$377.798,24
170131 0022/2017 001	R\$19.396,60	R\$19.000,00
170134 0006/2017 001	R\$53.602,64	R\$18.000,00
170217 0007/2017 001	R\$73.572,40	R\$28.700,00
170217 0008/2017 001	R\$51.081,25	R\$45.000,00
170217 0009/2017 001	R\$66.522,81	R\$27.250,00
170217 0011/2017 001	R\$48.769,17	R\$25.200,00
170388 0001/2017 001	R\$238.583,01	R\$58.065,40
170516 0005/2017 001	R\$52.324,28	R\$39.000,00
170516 0008/2017 001	R\$58.348,12	R\$30.000,00
170516 0008/2017 002	R\$54.086,24	R\$30.000,00
179085 0098/2017 001	R\$2.982.746,52	
179085 0112/2017 001	R\$2.982.746,52	R\$2.401.926,48
200035 0012/2017 001	R\$49.984,00	R\$17.500,00
200043 0017/2017 001	R\$24.695,52	R\$12.141,29
200108 0008/2017 001	R\$55.032,23	R\$25.000,00
200121 0009/2017 001	R\$31.525,50	R\$19.299,99
200207 0013/2017 001	R\$23.175,60	R\$13.278,43
250025 0007/2017 001	R\$69.767,04	R\$38.500,00
254445 0215/2017 001	R\$682.808,74	
254445 0291/2017 001	R\$682.808,74	R\$600.000,00
255026 0006/2017 001	R\$54.307,50	R\$28.990,00
343003 0002/2017 001	R\$137.728,14	R\$96.590,66
343011 0003/2017 001	R\$537.174,49	R\$483.457,04
343034 0003/2017 001	R\$299.300,00	R\$70.000,00
343036 0002/2017 001	R\$185.600,00	R\$160.000,00
380941 0007/2017 001	R\$668.836,73	R\$167.900,00
380941 0007/2017 002	R\$115.727,73	R\$49.500,00
380941 0007/2017 003	R\$99.286,23	R\$48.500,00
380941 0007/2017 004	R\$93.510,22	R\$42.999,00
389086 0006/2017 001	R\$47.000,00	R\$20.300,00
400066 0001/2017 001	R\$125.513,96	R\$86.604,63
420001 0001/2017 001	R\$149.193,07	R\$73.500,00
443001 0001/2017 001	R\$62.302,50	R\$30.000,00
530001 0016/2017 016	R\$661.663,92	R\$456.361,80
765701 0007/2017 001	R\$55.000,00	R\$33.950,00
765705 0001/2018 001	R\$129.425,66	R\$76.361,14
787700 0006/2016 001	R\$832.442,15	R\$130.000,00
925138 0028/2017 001	R\$1.647.695,43	R\$1.644.182,75
925152 0002/2017 001	R\$473.472.85	R\$252.529.22
925387 0002/2017 001	R\$13.152.300.53	R\$7.726.491.15
925856 0049/2017 001	R\$144.930.47	
925856 0147/2017 001	R\$144.930.47	
925942 0059/2017 006	R\$193.400.00	R\$73.800.00
925942 0059/2017 007	R\$286.600,00	R\$137.800,00
925942 0059/2017 008	R\$513.400,00	R\$139.800,00

procedure and item	value: estimated	value: contracted
925942 0059/2017 009	R\$306.900,00	R\$110.700,00
925942 0059/2017 010	R\$117.450,00	R\$52.350,00
925942 0059/2017 012	R\$86.650,00	R\$34.950,00
925942 0059/2017 013	R\$11.500,00	R\$3.690,00
925942 0059/2017 014	R\$32.350,00	R\$14.950,00
926066 0006/2017 001	R\$145.697,02	R\$48.199,00
926195 0026/2017 001	R\$321.333,33	R\$249.112,35